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letter from the 
managing board 

The year 2007 was a year of market challenges that tested NIBC’s powers 

of flexibility, innovation and teamwork to the full. The performance of our 

organisation in this environment is testimony to the talent and dedication of 

our employees. NIBC delivered sound underlying results in the year 2007, 

laying firm foundations for the future.

NIBC ended the year with profit after tax from continuing operations of EUR 242 million, 
up 4% on 2006 levels. We continued our strategy of diversifying our income sources and 
growing fee income, which resulted in an 11% increase in net fee and commission income.

We remain committed to further growing our fee income as a percentage of our total income, 
and aim to keep the Tier-I ratio above 10%.

NIBC also upheld its all-important focus on clients. We executed a series of successful 
transactions despite the difficult market conditions. Our strategy is to forge solid, long-term 
relationships with our clients, working closely with them to provide integrated tailored 
solutions to their individual needs. 

Although the decision in March not to pursue an initial public offering was a disappointment 
at the time, the energy and effort we devoted to preparing for the listing were well spent.  
They have resulted in a further alignment of our reporting and IT processes and a further 
enhancement of our financial and operational systems.

At the same time, the unity of our employees, all of whom demonstrated adaptability 
throughout the process, has been strong. 

In April, NIBC was one of the first banks to recognise the extent of its sub prime-related losses. 
The instability in the US credit fixed-income markets and continuous credit spread widening 
led to a loss from discontinued operations of EUR 141 million after tax on our US Asset 
Backed Securities investment book in the first half of 2007. We took action and have sold  
our entire sub prime-related portfolio. 



Going forward, NIBC will remain an independent merchant bank following the determination 
not to proceed with the acquisition of NIBC by Kaupthing Bank hf. 

We will maintain our focus on entrepreneurial small and medium-sized companies and expand 
our product range to strengthen our integrated client approach.

NIBC employees have shown their ability to adapt to new developments and continuing 
market challenges. We would like to express our sincere thanks to all employees for their 
determination, drive and hard work in 2007. With clients, teams and partners of this calibre, 
we can look forward to the future with confidence.

On behalf of the Managing Board,

Michael Enthoven
Chairman of the Managing Board, Chief Executive Officer
21 February 2008
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report of the 
 supervisory board

This Annual Report presents the developments and results of NIBC Bank N.V. 

(NIBC Bank or NIBC). The year 2007 has been a turbulent year for NIBC Bank. 

During the first quarter, NIBC Holding N.V. (NIBC Holding) prepared for a listing 

on Euronext Amsterdam. However, in light of the volatile market conditions, 

it was decided not to approach the capital markets for an IPO. Furthermore, 

NIBC Bank suffered a non-recurring mark-to-market loss on its US ABS 

investment book in the first half year of 2007, a part of which relates to the sub 

prime-related portfolio. In August 2007 the shareholders of NIBC Holding N.V. 

entered into an agreement with Kaupthing Bank hf. (Kaupthing) to sell 

and purchase the entire share capital of NIBC Holding. However, due to 

the instability in the financial markets, NIBC Holding and Kaupthing have 

determined not to proceed with the acquisition. The continuing business of 

NIBC Bank performed well, posting a profit after tax of EUR 242 million.

annual accounts and dividend proposal
The annual accounts were drawn up by the Managing Board and audited by 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., who issued an unqualified opinion dated 
21 February 2008. The Supervisory Board advises and proposes that the Shareholders adopt 
the 2007 annual accounts at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 20 March 2008. 
In 2007 the Bank paid an extraordinary dividend of EUR 85 million to NIBC Holding in 
respect of a project to de-risk the US sub prime exposure (project Onca). This transaction 
involved Onca 2007-1, Ltd. (Onca), a company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman 
Islands where NIBC Holding subscribed for an amount of USD 248 million for preference 
shares in Onca. A subsidiary of NIBC Bank sold to Onca its entire portfolio of residential 
US ABS CDOs and US home equity loans. Subsequently, NIBC Holding paid an extraordinary 
dividend in kind (in the form of preference shares in Onca) and in cash to its shareholders. 
Since 24 August 2007, NIBC Bank and NIBC Holding no longer have any exposure to  
the sub prime-related portfolio. In this respect, please refer to the financial results section 
under Balance Sheet and Ratios. Subject to approval of the annual accounts and the profit 
appropriation, this extraordinary dividend will be the final proposed dividend in respect of 
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the financial year 2007. Conditional upon the approval of shareholders referred to above, the 
Supervisory Board endorses the proposed dividend.The Supervisory Board also recommends 
that the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders discharge the Managing Board and 
Supervisory Board for their respective management and supervision during the financial 
year 2007. 

composition of the supervisory board
Name Age Position Appointment End of Term 1

Mr. J.H.M. Lindenbergh 64 Chairman 2005 2008

Mr. J.C. Flowers 50 Vice-Chairman 2005 2009

Mr. D. Rümker 70 Member 2005 2007

Mr. N.W. Hoek 51 Member 2005 2008

Mr. A. de Jong 53 Member 2005 2007

Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh 59 Member 2005 2009

Mr. R.S. Sinha 43 Member 2005 2009

Mr. C.H. van Dalen 55 Member 2005 2008

Mr. A.H.A. Veenhof 62 Member 2005 2007

1.   The indicated dates are as per the Supervisory Board’s retirement schedule and do not refer to expiration  
of the term of appointment.

Mr. C.H. van Dalen, Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh and Mr. A.H.A. Veenhof have been 
appointed upon the recommendation of the Employees Council. Mr. Marron and Mr. Inciarte 
resigned as members of the Supervisory Board, respectively as of 2 May and 30 October 2007. 

composition of the managing board
During the financial year 2007, the Managing Board was composed of the following four members, 
who are also members of the Managing Board of NIBC Holding N.V. At 30 January 2008, 
Messrs. Enthoven and Stegmann have offered the Supervisory Board to step down from their 
respective positions. The Supervisory Board has accepted their resignation. The successor of 
Mr. Stegmann, Mr. Sijbrand, took over the responsibility of Mr. Stegmann as per 22 February 2008. 
Mr. Enthoven will stay in function until his successor has been appointed.

Name Age Position
Membership 

Since

Mr. M. Enthoven 56 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 2005

Mr. J.B.J. Stegmann 47 Vice-Chairman and Chief Risk Officer 2005

Mr. C. van Dijkhuizen 52 Chief Financial Officer 2006

Mr. J.L. van Nieuwenhuizen 46 Member 2005

Mr. Kalff stepped down for an indefinite period of time as advisor to the Managing Board and 
Supervisory Board as of 13 April 2007 because of a potential conflict of interest.
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plenary meetings of the supervisory board
As mentioned in the introduction, 2007 was a turbulent year. Consequently, the Supervisory 
Board met on eleven occasions, instead of the usual six or seven. Meetings were held to discuss 
the corporate strategy and the result of the assessment by the Managing Board of the structure 
and operation of the internal risk management and control systems. The preparation for an 
IPO, the US ABS investment book and the Kaupthing Bank hf. transaction were also matters 
to be discussed in separate meetings. Other matters discussed were quarterly results, strategic 
issues, risk- and control-related topics, the financial reporting process and the impact of IFRS 
thereon, compliance with legislation and regulations, and corporate governance matters. 

The annual accounts and the findings of the external auditor were discussed in the presence 
of the external auditor. The majority of the discussions and decisions of the Supervisory Board 
were prepared in the subcommittees referred to below, in which always at least two members 
of the Supervisory Board are present. Members of the Managing Board were consulted in all 
meetings of subcommittees of the Supervisory Board. 

Members of the Supervisory Board attended two consultation meetings between the Managing 
Board and the Employees Council in which the Kaupthing Bank hf. transaction was also discussed. 

The Supervisory Board met once in the absence of members of the Managing Board to 
discuss the US ABS investment book and the annual accounts with the external auditor, 
its own functioning and that of its individual members, the desired profile, composition and 
competence of the Supervisory Board, and also the functioning of the Managing Board 
collectively and its individual members.

meetings of the committees of the supervisory board
The Supervisory Board is currently supported by four committees consisting of members 
of the Supervisory Board: the Risk Policy Committee, with a subcommittee for purposes 
of related party transactions, the Audit and Compliance Committee, the Remuneration and 
Nominating Committee, and the Strategic Committee. 

Risk Policy Committee
Members Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh (Chairman), Mr. J.C. Flowers, 
  Mr. J.H.M. Lindenbergh and Mr D. Rümker. 
Meetings The Risk Policy Committee met five times in 2007. 
The Risk Policy Committee assists the Supervisory Board in monitoring the risk policy 
and profile in relation to NIBC Bank’s general lending and investment policy and individual 
transactions above a certain threshold. In addition, it advises the Supervisory Board on market, 
credits, investment and operational risks and on progress made with regard to Basel II.  
The main topics that were discussed in 2007 concern the US structured portfolios, liquidity 
and the risk profile of NIBC Bank. Syndication reports, leveraged finance, country risk reports, 
impairment reports and portfolio overviews were also discussed by the Committee. 
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The Committee has also discussed NIBC Bank’s market risk and event risk reports, economic 
capital reports and liquidity risk reports on a regular basis. In 2007, several progress reports 
with regard to Basel II were discussed. 

Related Party Transactions Subcommittee
Members Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh (Chairman) and Mr. J.H.M. Lindenbergh,  
  both of whom meet the independence criteria outlined in the Dutch  
  Corporate Governance Code. 
Meetings The Related Party Transactions Subcommittee met once in 2007.
The Related Party Transactions Subcommittee assists the Supervisory Board in assessing 
material agreements of any kind with a person or group of persons who hold, directly or 
indirectly, 10% of our issued and outstanding share capital or of the voting rights at the  
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, or any person affiliated with any such person(s). 
An agreement will in any event be considered material if the amount involved exceeds 
EUR 10 million. The Supervisory Board has delegated the authority to approve such a 
material transaction to the Related Party Transactions Subcommittee. 

Audit and Compliance Committee
Members Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh (Chairman),
  Mr. C.H. van Dalen, Mr. J.H.M. Lindenbergh and Mr. R. Sinha.
Meetings The Audit and Compliance Committee met seven times in 2007. 
The Audit and Compliance Committee assists the Supervisory Board in monitoring 
NIBC Bank’s systems of financial risk management and internal control and compliance with 
legislation and regulations, the integrity of its financial reporting process and the content of 
the annual financial statements and reports, and in advising on corporate governance and 
corporate social responsibility matters. The main topics that were discussed during 2007 were 
the 2007 budget and long-term planning, the quarterly, semi-annual and annual financial 
reports and related press releases, the US ABS investment book and the impact of the 
accounting choices on the financial figures and related external communication, the impact 
of the market circumstances on NIBC and developments regarding the internal reporting 
process and related risk control environment. 

The Audit and Compliance Committee discussed the reports of external auditor 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., the engagement letter and fee letter of the external 
auditor and the audit plan of the external auditor. The Audit and Compliance Committee 
also discussed the audit plan including progress and main findings and conclusions of the 
Internal Audit department.

The Audit and Compliance Committee evaluated the external auditors and functioning of 
Internal Audit, Group Compliance and Corporate Secretariat, and the Corporate Governance 
policy.

The external and internal auditors were represented at all meetings of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee in 2007. The external auditor had, as described in the charter, 
one meeting without the members of the Managing Board.
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Remuneration and Nominating Committee 
Members Mr. J.C. Flowers (Chairman), Mr. J.H.M. Lindenbergh and Mr. Inciarte 
  (until 30 October 2007).
Meetings The Remuneration and Nominating Committee met five times in 2007.
The Remuneration and Nominating Committee advises the Supervisory Board on the 
remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board and the Managing Board, 
Senior Management and certain other senior employees, provides the Supervisory Board 
with proposals for appointments and re-appointments to the Supervisory Board, its 
Committees and the Managing Board, evaluates the performance of the other Supervisory 
Board Committees, assesses the performance of the members of the Managing Board and the 
Supervisory Board, and monitors the remuneration policy, which entails discussions about 
the total available pool for variable compensation and defining the collective and individual 
performance targets which form the basis for the variable compensation for the individual 
members of the Managing Board. In 2007, the Committee discussed the 2007 remuneration 
policy for the Managing Board and Supervisory Board, the individual compensation 
arrangements for the members of the Managing Board, the overall available funding for 
variable compensation arrangements, the performance of the Managing Board and some 
special compensation arrangements for our Investment Management business. The Committee 
has made recommendations to the Supervisory Board on all these topics.

Strategic Committee
Members Mr. W.M. Van den Goorbergh (Chairman), Mr. C.H. Van Dalen, Mr. J.C. Flowers,
  Mr. J.H.M. Lindenbergh, Mr. D. Rümker and Mr. R. Sinha.
Meetings The Strategic Committee did not meet in 2007. 
The Strategic Committee discusses the strategic options that present themselves to NIBC Bank, 
like the Kaupthing transaction. During 2007, these items were considered to be so important 
that they were discussed during Supervisory Board meetings. Therefore the Strategic Committee 
did not meet in 2007.
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Remuneration report
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements for the Managing Board and the 
Supervisory Board of NIBC Bank. It comprises three parts. The first part outlines the 2007 
remuneration policy and practices, and provides details of the remuneration payable to the 
Managing Board with respect to the performance of 2007 (including performance-related 
remuneration which will be paid in 2008). The second part provides details of the 
remuneration arrangements for the Supervisory Board. The third part provides details of 
the 2008 (and onwards) remuneration policy for the Managing Board. 

This report was prepared by the Remuneration and Nominating Committee (Committee or RNC) 
on behalf of the Supervisory Board. The RNC operates on the basis of a charter, which is 
publicly available on NIBC’s website, and regularly reviews the remuneration and nomination 
policy and practices of NIBC Bank. If and when appropriate, the Committee proposes changes 
to the charter, remuneration and nomination policy and practices to the Supervisory Board.

2007 remuneration policy and practices of 
the managing board

In 2007, the total remuneration levels of the Managing Board continued to be based on a 
market comparison with a labour market peer group, details of which can be found below. 
Remuneration principally consisted of base salary and variable compensation which was 
performance-related and consisted of both a cash bonus and a deferred compensation element. 
Approximately 23% of the total compensation of the Managing Board in 2007 (excluding 
pensions) was made up of variable compensation. The emphasis on the variable part of the 
remuneration package reflects the ambition to create a sustainable high-performance culture 
and is, broadly, in line with the compensation policies at NIBC Bank’s labour market peer group. 

In summary, the remuneration policy for the Managing Board for 2007 was based on the 
following seven principles:

Total target remuneration levels should reflect market median remuneration levels of   n
a labour market peer group consisting of relevant (European divisions of) financial 
institutions active in the Dutch, German and British financial markets. In the event  
of extraordinary performance of the Managing Board, total remuneration levels should  
be broadly in line with 75% (3rd Quartile) levels of the labour market peer group;
Base salary levels of the Managing Board should be broadly in line with market median  n
levels of the labour market peer group;
Annual total remuneration levels of the Managing Board members are differentiated   n
and reflective of their specific role, their relative experience and performance, the market 
levels of remuneration for that role, and the specific market circumstances under which  
the Managing Board operates;
In the event of on-target performance, Messrs. Enthoven, Stegmann and  n
Van Nieuwenhuizen may be awarded a discretionary cash bonus of up to 75% of their base 
salary and a discretionary deferred compensation grant with a value of up to 100% of 
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their base salary. In the case of extraordinary performance and at the discretion of the 
Supervisory Board, a cash bonus may be awarded of up to 100% of their base salary.  
Mr. Van Dijkhuizen may be awarded a discretionary bonus of up to 30% of his base salary 
in the case of on-target performance as well as a discretionary deferred compensation grant 
of up to 40% of his base salary. He may be awarded a cash bonus of up to 40% of his base 
salary in the case of extraordinary performance and at the discretion of the 
Supervisory Board; 
Managing Board members will be employed for an indefinite period of time but are  n
appointed as statutory director for a maximum term of four years;
Upon termination of employment at the request of NIBC Bank without cause,  n
Managing Board members are entitled to severance pay equal to their base salary;
Managing Board members are eligible for membership of an NIBC Bank-sponsored  n
pension plan which consists of a defined benefit (from 1 January 2007 for new 
participants capped at a pensionable salary of EUR 55,000) and a defined contribution 
(from 1 January 2007 capped at a pensionable salary of EUR 400,000) component. 

Labour Market Peer Group
In order to be able to recruit the right calibre of executives for the Managing Board, and to 
secure long-term retention of current Managing Board members, NIBC Bank has taken 
external reference data into account in determining compensation levels. For this purpose, 
a labour market peer group was defined consisting of relevant (European divisions of) financial 
institutions active in the Dutch, German and British markets, with which NIBC Bank competes 
for talent and business. The companies were selected based on strategic considerations 
(e.g.: comparable clients, geographical focus, service, and strategy) and tactical considerations 
(e.g. comparable activities such as Corporate Finance, Financial Markets, and Asset / Investment 
Management for third parties). The labour market peer group consists of the (relevant divisions 
of the) following financial institutions:

ABN AMRO; n
Barclays; n
Bear Stearns (London); n
BNP Paribas; n
Deutsche Bank; n
Fortis; n
ING Bank; n
Kempen & Co; n
Dresdner Bank; n
Rabobank; n
Royal Bank of Scotland. n

Base Salary
In line with the new Remuneration Policy and in view of the fact that the base salaries of the 
members of the Managing Board had not been adjusted since 2002, the RNC has recommended, 
and on 8 February 2007 the Supervisory Board approved, increasing the base salary of  
Mr. Enthoven from EUR 650,000 to EUR 700,000, an increase of 7%, and the base salaries of 

10 | REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORy BOARD



Messrs. Stegmann and Van Nieuwenhuizen from EUR 350,000 to EUR 400,000, an increase 
of 14%. The base salary of Mr. Van Dijkhuizen remained unchanged at EUR 350,000.

Variable Compensation
Each year, the variable compensation pool is determined on the basis of a combination of 
NIBC Bank’s total compensation ratio (total personnel-related expenses as a percentage of total 
revenue) and the pay-out ratio (total variable compensation as a percentage of the operating 
result before tax and pay-out of variable compensation).

Variable compensation consists of a short-term cash element and a short-term deferred 
compensation element. In respect of the financial year 2007 the deferred compensation is 
delivered in the form of depositary receipts issued for shares in NIBC Holding which are 
subject to restrictions (Restricted Depositary Receipts) with 5-year vesting with 1/5 vesting 
each year on the 1st of January of each year.

Bonus
The short-term bonus for all Managing Board members is awarded on the basis of a consistent 
balanced scorecard methodology, whereby corporate financial (50%), corporate non-financial 
(25%) and individual (25%) performance criteria are weighted. For 2007 the agreed corporate 
financial criteria were: net profit, efficiency ratio, comprehensive return on net asset value, 
and non-interest income ratio. Corporate non-financial targets included the growth of our 
alternative investment management activities and our financial institutions client franchise 
and the expansion of our German and our commercial real estate finance businesses. Other 
corporate non-financial targets included the continued improvement of the quality and 
sustainability of our earnings and our operational excellence coupled with providing 
shareholders with a regular, growing dividend. Specific details of the financial criteria are not 
disclosed as these are considered to be commercially sensitive. Targets are revised annually to 
ensure that they remain stretching but realistic.

Given the specific role and responsibilities assigned to the CFO, the CFO’s bonus is not 
dependent on the overall financial performance of the company. Instead it is largely 
determined on the basis of corporate non-financial criteria (50%) and individual performance 
criteria (50%) such as the quality and process (improvements) of the company’s external and 
internal financial reporting and internal controls, the management and mitigation of 
operational risk and the preparation of NIBC Holding for an IPO.

Consequently, in determining the bonuses for 2007, specific consideration was given to the 
performance delivered against the corporate financial, corporate non-financial and individual 
performance criteria. In light of the financial performance in 2007, neither Mr. Enthoven or 
Mr. Stegmann desired or expected to receive any variable compensation for the year and the 
RNC chose to agree with that view. Although sharing responsibility for the achievement of 
corporate financial and non-financial targets, Mr. Van Nieuwenhuizen has managed to deliver 
satisfactory performance for the SBU Corporate Finance, as well as achieve most of his 
individual performance targets. Mr. van Dijkhuizen on the other hand does not share in the 
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responsibility for the achievement of corporate financial targets but only in the corporate non-
financial targets. He did exceed his individual performance targets. Taking all relevant aspects 
into consideration, the RNC decided not to recommend a cash bonus for Mr. Enthoven and 
Mr. Stegmann whilst recommending a cash bonus of 35% of his base salary for Mr. Van 
Nieuwenhuizen and 40% of his base salary for Mr. Van Dijkhuizen. 

Deferred Compensation
For the Managing Board, the annual expected economic value of the deferred compensation  
is up to 100% of base salary granted in the form of Restricted Depositary Receipts. The CFO 
can earn up to 35% of his base salary. For the year 2007 and in line with the aforementioned, 
the RNC decided not to recommend a discretionary deferred compensation grant for  
Messrs. Enthoven and Stegmann whilst recommending for Mr. Van Nieuwenhuizen a deferred 
compensation grant with a value of 35% of his base salary and for Mr. Van Dijkhuizen a grant 
with a value of 40% of his base salary. 

Total direct compensation
Compared to 2006, total direct compensation (base salary, annual cash bonus plus the value of 
the deferred compensation) for Mr. Enthoven has decreased by 61%, for Mr. Stegmann by 60% 
and for Mr. Van Nieuwenhuizen by 32%. Mr. Van Dijkhuizen’s total direct compensation 
increased by 9%.The RNC refers to the tables in Note 54 of the annual accounts for details.

Pensions
Mr. Enthoven became a member of the NIBC Bank Pension Plan with effect from 1 January 
2007 on the same conditions as those that apply to the other employees of the bank.  
This means that he is covered by a defined benefit arrangement up to a pensionable salary  
of EUR 55,000 and a defined contribution arrangement for any pensionable salary in excess 
of that up to the maximum pensionable salary of EUR 400,000. As is the case for all other 
employees, NIBC Bank contributes a flat rate of 20% of his pensionable salary plus the  
franchise towards his pension. This contribution of EUR 75,400 equates to approximately  
11% of his base salary.

Mr. Stegmann is the only member of the Managing Board who is still a member of the special 
directors pension plan and the only active member of that Plan for that matter. A defined 
benefit pension arrangement is in place for Mr. Stegmann (annual accrual of 2%) up to a 
pensionable salary (annual base salary -/- franchise) of EUR 350,000. Furthermore, a defined 
contribution arrangement applies with respect to salary over and above this amount. However, 
a maximum pensionable salary of EUR 400,000 exists.

In 2007, Mr. Van Nieuwenhuizen and Mr. Van Dijkhuizen were entitled to a defined benefit 
pension arrangement up to a pensionable salary of EUR 78,510 (annually adjusted for general 
wage increases in line with the Collective Labour Agreement for Banks in the Netherlands) 
under NIBC Bank’s employee pension plan, and an additional defined contribution 
arrangement with a maximum pensionable salary of EUR 400,000. All premiums are paid for 
by NIBC Bank at a flat rate of 20% of pensionable salary plus the franchise. The pensionable 
age for all Managing Board members is 65.
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Loans
As a policy, NIBC Bank does not provide loans to its executives. As per 31 December 2007, 
there are no loans outstanding.

Contracts of Employment
Except for Mr. Van Dijkhuizen, the contracts of employment of the other members of the 
Managing Board all pre-dated the introduction of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, the 
Tabaksblat Code, and, as such, were not fully compliant with that Code. For instance, these 
contracts contain higher severance pay provisions than allowed and the term of appointment 
as statutory director was for an indefinite period of time. In order to comply with the key 
principles of the Tabaksblat Code, to ensure consistency between the employment contracts of 
the four Managing Board members and to incorporate any legal changes and changes to their 
compensation arrangements, the RNC recommended, and the Supervisory Board adopted, the 
renewal of the employment contracts of all the Managing Board members and the immediate 
incorporation of the new, aforementioned terms. These amended contracts take effect from 
1 January 2007 and include inter alia severance arrangements in line with the Tabaksblat Code 
for all Managing Board members.

Messrs. Enthoven, Stegmann and Van Nieuwenhuizen were re-appointed statutory director  
for NIBC Holding N.V., NIBC Bank N.V. and NIBC Investment Management N.V. on 
20 March 2007 for a 4-year term, whereas Mr. Van Dijkhuizen was re-appointed for a 3-year 
term as he had, effectively, already served one year of his initial 4-year term.

Expense Allowance
All Managing Board members are entitled to an expense allowance which covers specifically 
identified minor expenses.

Other Emoluments
Like all employees, Managing Board members are entitled to a subsidy towards the cost  
of mortgage interest paid and they also receive a contribution towards the cost of medical 
insurance.

remuneration supervisory board
 
The remuneration for the Supervisory Board has not changed in 2007 and, at present, consists 
of remuneration for Chairman of the Supervisory Board of EUR 55,000, for the Vice-Chairman 
of EUR 45,000, and for the members of EUR 35,000, with expenses covered by a fixed expense 
allowance of EUR 5,000.

The Supervisory Board has four committees, each with a different fee structure for its members. 
The annual fee for the Audit and Compliance Committee amounts to EUR 15,000, for the  
Risk Policy Committee, including the Related Party Transaction subcommittee, to EUR 11,500, 
for the Remuneration and Nominating Committee to EUR 10,000, and for the Strategic 
Committee to EUR 11,500. 
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In accordance with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, NIBC Bank does not award 
performance-related pay to the members of the Supervisory Board. As a policy, NIBC Bank 
does not provide stock options, shares or loans to members of the Supervisory Board.  
There are no loans outstanding.

2008 remuneration policy managing board (and onwards)

The RNC has recommended one adjustment to the 2007 Remuneration Policy for the 
Managing Board. This involves the variable compensation opportunities for the Chief Risk 
Officer, who was newly appointed on 22 February 2008. The remuneration policy for 2008 
has been approved by the full Supervisory Board and shall be submitted for establishment 
to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of 20 March 2008.

In summary, the remuneration policy for the Managing Board for 2008 onwards will be based 
on the following principles:

Total target remuneration levels should reflect market median remuneration levels  n
of a labour market peer group consisting of relevant (European divisions of) financial 
institutions active in the Dutch, German and British financial markets. In the event of 
extraordinary performance of the Managing Board, total remuneration levels should be 
broadly in line with 75% (3rd Quartile) levels of the labour market peer group;
Base salary levels of the Managing Board should be broadly in line with market median  n
levels of the labour market peer group;
Annual total remuneration levels of the Managing Board members are differentiated and  n
reflective of their specific role, their relative experience and performance, the market levels 
of remuneration for that role, and the specific market circumstances under which the 
Managing Board operates;
The variable compensation opportunities for the Managing Board members are as follows:  n
  

Cash bonus
Deferred 

compensation

ROLe
On-target 

performance
Extra-ordinary 

performance
On-target 

performance

Chairman and CEO Up to 75% Up to 100% Up to 100%

Member, responsible for 
Corporate Finance Up to 75% Up to 100% Up to 100%

Chief Risk Officer Up to 60% Up to   80% Up to 100%

Chief Financial Officer Up to 30% Up to   40% Up to   40%

All percentages are percentages of these respective base salaries and any award is at the 
absolute discretion of the Supervisory Board;
Managing Board members will be employed for an indefinite period of time but are  n
appointed as statutory director for a maximum term of 4 years;
Upon termination of employment at the request of NIBC Bank without cause, Managing  n
Board members are entitled to severance pay equal to their base salary;
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Managing Board members are eligible for membership of an NIBC Bank-sponsored  n
pension plan which consists of a defined benefit (from 1 January 2007 for new 
participants capped at a pensionable salary of EUR 55,000) and a defined contribution 
(from 1 January 2007 capped at a pensionable salary of EUR 400,000) component. 

Base Salary
In line with the new remuneration policy, the RNC has recommended, and on 21 February 2008 
the Supervisory Board established, increasing the base salary of Mr. Van Dijkhuizen from 
EUR 350,000 tot EUR 400,000, an increase of 14%. The base salary of the other Managing Board 
members remain unchanged.

The Hague, 21 February 2008
Supervisory Board

Mr. J. H. M. Lindenbergh, Chairman
Mr. J. C. Flowers, Vice-Chairman
Mr. C.H. van Dalen
Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh
Mr. N.W. Hoek
Mr. A. de Jong
Mr. D. Rümker
Mr. R.S. Sinha
Mr. A.H.A. Veenhof 
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Members of the Supervisory Board 
as per 31 December 2007

Mr. J.H.M. Lindenbergh Former Board Member of ING Groep N.V.
Background Banking and finance
Chairman of the Supervisory Boards of N.V. Bank voor de Bouwnijverheid, Agendia B.V., 
Centraal Fonds Volkshuisvesting and Spyker Cars N.V.; member of the Supervisory Boards of 
DHV Holding B.V., Gamma Holding N.V., Koninklijke Numico N.V., Ortec International B.V., 
Reggeborgh Vastgoed Beleggingen B.V., the University of Amsterdam, Zeeman Groep B.V., 
and Doctors Pension Fund Services B.V.; member of the Boards of Stichting Univar, Stichting 
Preferente Aandelen Grolsch N.V., Stichting Bescherming TNT, Stichting Vopak, and Stichting 
Preferente Aandelen Wolters Kluwer.

Mr. J.C. Flowers Former partner at Goldman, Sachs & Co. 
Background Banking and finance 
Controls the general partner of each of J.C. Flowers I LP and J.C. Flowers II LP, Director of 
New NIB Ltd, which is the ultimate controlling entity of the Consortium and which is the sole 
Managing Director of Stichting Administratiekantoor NIBC Holding; controls and is the 
founder and a Managing Director of the investment advisory firm J.C. Flowers & Co., 
Director of Shinsei Bank Ltd, Enstar Group Ltd. and Fox-Pitt, Kelton LLC and Kessler Group; 
member of the Supervisory Board of HSH Nordbank AG.

Mr. C.H. van Dalen Member of the Board of Management and Chief Financial 
Officer of TNT N.V. 

Background Finance and chemical industry
Member of the Supervisory Board of Macintosh Retail Group N.V.; treasurer of the NOC*NSF 
(Dutch Olympic Committee and Dutch Sports Federation), member of the Board of ‘Nationaal 
Fonds 4 en 5 mei’ and a member of the Boards of Advisors of Stichting AIESEC Nederland, 
Arthur D. Little Netherlands and NEVIR (Dutch association for Investor Relations).
 
Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh  Former Vice-Chairman and CFO of the Executive Board 

of Rabobank Nederland and member and Chairman of 
the Dutch Bankers Association

Background Banking and finance
Member of the Supervisory Boards of N.V. Bank Nederlandse Gemeenten, DELA Cooperation, 
OPG Groep N.V. and De Weltengroep Holding B.V.; member of the Managing Boards of 
Stichting Administratiekantoor SBT, Stichting Administratiekantoor Heijmans and Vereniging 
AEGON; Chairman of the Managing Boards of Stichting Administratiekantoor Koninklijke 
Wegener and Stichting Administratiekantoor ANWB.
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Mr. N.W. Hoek Chairman of the Executive Board of Delta Lloyd Groep
Background Insurance, finance and petrochemical industry
Member of the Supervisory Board of Stadsherstel Amsterdam N.V.; member of the Board of 
Verbond van Verzekeraars; deputy chairman of the Board of Kifid.

Mr. A. de Jong Former Managing Director at Credit Suisse First Boston Ltd. 
responsible for Investment Banking activities in the Benelux

Background Banking and finance

Mr. D. Rümker Former Executive Vice President of Westdeutsche Landesbank 
and former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the 
Managing Board of Landesbank Schleswig-Holstein

Background Banking and finance
Member of the Supervisory Boards of Damp Holding AG and Investitionsbank Berlin; 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Minimax & Co. GmbH.

Mr. R.S. Sinha Managing Director at J.C. Flowers & Co., Chief Executive 
Officer and Director of J.C. Flowers & Co. UK Ltd.

Background Banking and finance
Director of New NIB Ltd., which is the sole Managing Director of Stichting 
Administratiekantoor NIBC Holding; member of the Supervisory Boards of Servicegesellschaft 
Kreditmanagement GmbH, HSH Nordbank AG, Euromobiliare S.I.M. S.p.A. and Pensions 
Insurance Corporation Holdings; non-executive director of Pension Investment Holding 
Corporation and Fox-Pitt, Kelton LLC.

Mr. A.H.A. Veenhof Chief Executive Officer of Koninklijke Wessanen N.V.
Background Consumer products and technology
Member of the board of InnovatieNetwerk Grensverleggend in Agro en Groen 
(InnovationNetwork Reinventing Agribusiness and Rural Areas); member of the Supervisory 
Boards of the University of Maastricht and Mautner Markhof Handels- und Beteiligungs AG.
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report of the 
managing board

introduction
2007 was a challenging year for NIBC and the banking industry as a whole. The instability in 
the credit markets had a major impact on the pricing of risk and the number of transactions 
coming to market. 

In August NIBC sold its entire US sub-prime related portfolio, removing any further 
losses from this area of the business. Furtermore, the US commercial real estate securities were 
transferred by NIBC Bank to NIBC Holding. In NIBC Bank, the results on both these portfolios 
are presented as discontinued operations. Also in August, Kaupthing Bank hf. and the 
consortium of shareholders of NIBC entered into an agreement to purchase the entire share 
capital of NIBC Holding. In January 2008, due to the instability in the financial markets, NIBC 
and Kaupthing Bank hf. determined not to proceed with the announced acquisition of NIBC 
by Kaupthing, as the current market conditions brought the benefits of the acquisition under 
pressure and no longer formed a solid base on which to build a combined future.

The bank continued to execute transactions successfully while reducing its credit and market 
risk and diversifying its business mix to more liquid assets. Despite these challenging 
transitions, NIBC core business operations delivered a robust performance during the year. 

Overall performance in 2007 from continuing operations showed a solid performance.  
Profit after tax from continuing operations amounted to EUR 242 million, while net profit 
attributable to parent shareholders declined to EUR 98 million.

The positive performance of our continuing operations further underscores NIBC’s 
commitment to income diversification and successful execution. Additionally, NIBC 
maintained a strong Tier-I ratio of above 10% throughout the year. We also made significant 
headway in the key growth areas where we have implemented important business initiatives.

Highlights
Since opening an office in Frankfurt in 2005, NIBC has seen its Germany office grow from  n
strength to strength. With activities in the product areas of leveraged finance, 
infrastructure, residential and commercial real estate finance, and private equity and 
mezzanine finance, our performance in the German market has exceeded expectations 
and will continue to be a strong area of focus going forward;
In preparation for the anticipated initial public offering in 2007, NIBC implemented  n
important organisational changes aimed at further enhancing the operational efficiency of 
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our strategic business units. As a result, reporting lines were further shortened and internal 
processes were streamlined;
NIBC received authorisation from the Dutch central bank in November 2007 to adopt   n
the Advanced Measurement Approach in the implementation of the Basel II framework  
for capital requirements.

Outlook 
Going forward as an independent merchant bank, NIBC believes its sound strategy and 
diversified business model will guide it through the continuing challenging market conditions. 

We will prepare ourselves for continuing changing market conditions and a new pricing 
environment by managing our revenue streams accordingly and resetting our risk parameters. 
We will further extend our in-house credit risk-assessment skills and procedures into 
Financial Markets so that all these activities come from the centre of NIBC’s skill set and 
are not overly reliant on third party ratings.

As a medium-sized merchant bank, NIBC has a unique value proposition based on superior 
sector knowledge and customer intimacy in our focus on the mid-cap market. NIBC has  
the ability to bring the skills of a leading investment bank in a seamless way to the ambitious 
entrepreneurial clients for whom these are most relevant.

business model
NIBC is organised into six Strategic Business Units (SBUs): 

Corporate Finance;  n
Real Estate Markets;  n
Financial Markets;  n
Principal Investments;  n
Investment Management; n
Corporate Center.  n

It is the responsibility of our dedicated client coverage teams to identify opportunities across 
the six SBUs while maintaining long-term relationships with issuer and investor clients.

NIBC’s structure also enables client coverage teams to cooperate with product teams to provide 
tailored solutions and look beyond single products, assets or SBUs in order to focus on  
bank-wide opportunities. This enables NIBC to have a ‘triple play’ approach to doing business; 
advising, financing and co-investing with its clients.

The ‘triple play’ approach means servicing all our clients’ needs through a one-stop shop 
solution. This usually begins with our specialist client coverage teams who provide clients with 
expert M&A and risk management advice in select market segments. At the next stage, NIBC 
provides a range of debt products to meet a client’s specific needs. Lastly, we co-invest with our 
clients through our private equity products.
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The NIBC model is built around four pillars:

> multi-product client franchises
We focus on providing lending, credit fixed-income and other financial products and services 
to mid-cap company clients in specific industry segments, and investment products to 
institutional investors in the global capital markets.

> product / market combinations
The range of products offered is based on NIBC’s core skill of assessing and managing credit 
fixed-income risk and products, focusing on certain geographic markets and industry segments 
for each of the products. As such, NIBC offers innovative corporate finance, risk management 
and investment solutions based on a combination of strategic advice and capital structuring 
expertise.

> asset portfolio management
NIBC has built a core skill of assessing and managing credit fixed-income risk. Through its 
investment management franchise, NIBC offers its institutional investor clients the opportunity to 
benefit from this expertise. NIBC is expanding its investment management activities by developing 
investment funds for private equity / mezzanine, infrastructure and real estate investments.
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> collateralised funding & distribution
NIBC has the ability to structure its assets using a variety of funding and / or distribution 
alternatives, including funds, syndication, securitisation and secondary loan trading.

risk overview
Risk management is an integral part of our commitment to providing consistent, high-quality 
returns to our investors and other stakeholders. It is focused on identifying, assessing, 
measuring and controlling risk and acting proactively to manage it. NIBC’s Risk Management 
Committee is the decision-making authority with regards to risk parameters and management.

Our model seeks to bring the business and risk management together and to stimulate ongoing 
cooperation between the two. 

sbu performance
Corporate finance
Highlights 2007

Operating income at EUR 186 million, a 4% increase; n
Profit after tax at EUR 85 million; n
Further strengthening of the client and product franchise.  n

Behind the 2007 numbers
Corporate Finance continued to perform strongly despite the more difficult market conditions 
in the second half of the year. Operating income grew 4% to EUR 186 million, fuelled by 
increases in net interest income of 17% to EUR 134 million and net fee and commission 
income of 19% to EUR 42 million. Operating expenses remained in line with expectations 
and there were almost no releases of impairments. Together, these factors led to an increase 
in profit after tax of EUR 85 million, 10% higher than the previous year. 

Strategy and focus
Corporate Finance has evolved from focusing on traditional lending activities towards offering 
a broader array of products and services. Additionally, NIBC has shifted its focus away from 
servicing the needs of smaller Dutch clients to providing solutions to a more select number  
of larger mid-cap clients throughout North-Western Europe. Although NIBC is smaller than 
many of its competitors, the bank focuses on offering top-quality services to clients that  
are large enough to have complex needs, but whose size means they are generally underserved 
by the larger investment banks. 
Deal activity in the second half of the year was far more cautious given the challenging 
market conditions (repricing), but Corporate Finance continued to close a number of 
important transactions. The bank’s role as sole mandate lead arranger and bookrunner for 
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the financing of Seajacks International Ltd. exemplifies NIBC’s commitment and ability to 
execute in a challenging environment. More examples are:

Financing of acquisition by AFAB (EUR 116 million senior facilities), a leading financial  n
intermediary in the Netherlands;
NIBC advised the controling shareholder of Grolsch, Stichting NBC, in the evaluation of  n
strategic options and the successful bid of SABMiller Plc on Grolsch brewery; 
NIBC acted as financial advisor to Banco Santander in the consortium bid for ABN AMRO;  n
Raet, the HR and payroll market leader in the Netherlands, has succesfully completed   n
a refinancing in 2007. NIBC acted as sole mandated lead arranger & bookrunner of the 
senior secured credit & second lien facilities in this EUR 276 million transaction; 
SDU, a leading professional publishing and security identification group in the Netherlands  n
and Germany, was acquired from the Dutch State in 2007 by ABN AMRO Capital 
(AAC Capital Partners) and Allianz. NIBC acted as financial advisor to ABN AMRO Capital 
in this EUR 415 million buy-out.

Outlook
As the core of NIBC’s client operations, Corporate Finance will continue to serve as the 
gateway for new client opportunities in the future. Although near-term activities and liquidity 
conditions look set to remain challenging, especially in the credit markets, Corporate Finance 
will continue to serve its clients and selectively seek deal opportunities in line with market 
developments. 

Real estate markets
Highlights 2007

Operating income at EUR 45 million, a decline of 48%; n
Profit after tax at EUR 15 million; n
Notable residential securitisation successes despite challenging market, including the  n
EUR 750 million SOUND II transaction in the difficult second half of 2007;
Continuing success in commercial real estate operations, including two further CMBS  n
transactions under the MESDAG programme in the difficult second half of 2007; 
 A succesful start-up in German residential mortgage business. n

Behind the 2007 numbers
Operating income declined 48% to EUR 45 million in 2007, mainly due to the unprecedented 
turmoil in the credit markets and the widening of credit spreads, which led to mark-to-market 
losses compared to 2006, partly offset by a positive fair value result in structured funding. 
The year-on-year results were also affected by a one-off sale of a substantial portfolio in 2006 
(gain of EUR 25 million in 2006). At the same time, operating expenses increased 15% in 2007, 
reflecting the expansion of commercial real estate activities at the end of last year and the 
growth in FTEs following the development of the bank’s German residential mortgage 
operations. These factors resulted in profit after tax of EUR 15 million in 2007, a 69% decline 
compared to the previous year. 
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Strategy and focus
Despite the global market upheaval in the residential securitisation market, Real Estate Markets 
has achieved notable successes in its core markets of the Netherlands and Germany, where 
residential mortgages continue to exhibit various funding alternatives and sound fundamentals. 
An example of successful capital market distribution despite the difficult market circumstances 
is the closing in third quarter of 2007 of the SOUND II transaction, a EUR 750 million RMBS 
backed by Dutch mortgages that benefit from a NHG guarantee (= a guarantee of the 
Dutch state).

The German market continued to offer strong growth opportunities, and the bank’s German 
office served as a platform for further expansion into this stable market. The acquisitions of 
two performing German residential mortgage portfolios, totalling EUR 756 million, exemplified 
NIBC’s strategic focus on developing its German real estate activities. 

In the commercial real estate market, NIBC continued to strengthen its position with 
the closing of two CMBS transactions in 2007. MESDAG Charlie is a EUR 494 million 
multiborrower CMBS and MESDAG Delta (closed in the third quarter of 2007) is a 
EUR 638 million Dutch CMBS for one client. NIBC has now arranged six CMBS transactions, 
four of them under the MESDAG programme. Also in 2007, NIBC expanded its product 
offering with the introduction of standardised small commercial mortgages for the 
intermediary channel.

Outlook
NIBC believes sentiment in the credit markets overall and the securisation sector in particular 
will remain cautious. However, the bank’s track record of innovation and market expertise are 
important success factors and Real Estate Markets will continue to pursue selective residential 
and commercial real estate opportunities.

The Dutch and German residential mortgage markets, which continue to exhibit sound growth 
and demand, should offer selective financing opportunities going forward. For this reason, 
Real Estate Markets will increase its activities in the German market, where it is adopting a 
similar model to its Dutch operations. 

Financial markets
Highlights 2007

Operating income at EUR 45 million, a decline of 50%; n
Profit after tax from continuing operations at EUR 27 million;  n
Active de-risking of investment portfolios and proprietary trading book linked to  n
challenging market circumstances. 

Behind the numbers
2007 was a challenging year for Financial Markets. Operating income decreased 50% to 
EUR 45 million compared to the previous year. The difficult market conditions led to a decline 
in net trading income, which was partially offset by a positive fair value result in structured 
funding. This led to profit after taxes of EUR 27 million, a decrease of 53% compared to 2006. 
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NIBC Bank has decreased its debt securities portfolio from EUR 7.2 billion (end of 2006) to 
EUR 2.6 billion (end of 2007). This decrease reflects the elimination of risk on the US ABS 
investment book which amounted to EUR 2.2 billion at the beginning of 2007 and reduced 
to nil by the end of 2007. The reduction of debt securities reflects the irrevocable sale of the 
complete US sub prime residential mortgage portfolio and the transfer of the entire 
US commercial real estate securities to a restructuring entity in NIBC Holding. This transfer 
was also made to safeguard distributable profit at the level of NIBC Bank on behalf of the 
Hybrid Tier-I investors. 

Strategy and focus 
Financial Markets focuses on distributing and market making in the bank’s securitised debt 
products on behalf of NIBC’s clients. These securitised debt products include Commercial 
Mortgage Backed Securities (CMBS), Residential Mortgage Backed Securities (RMBS) and 
Collateralised Debt Obligations (CDOs). Financial Markets issues and lead-manages these 
transactions and provides secondary market trading activities. The business unit also provides 
interest-rate derivatives and other hedging instruments to NIBC’s clients and maintains  
a trading book in these derivatives to facilitate clients’ deal flow. 

Financial Markets is also responsible for NIBC’s corporate treasury activities, including the 
funding and liquidity management of the bank. This includes the provision of capital for 
securitisation warehouse lines managed by NIBC, as well as money market trading and market 
making in NIBC’s debt. The business unit also manages the bank’s collateral and investment 
portfolios, including structured investments and financial and sovereign investments.

The difficult market conditions directly affected Financial Markets in two ways: firstly,  
through wider pricing and therefore less primary deal flow; and secondly, a decline in the 
bank’s mark-to-market investment portfolio due to NIBC’s fair value accounting policies. 

In accordance with its active risk management strategy, NIBC is continuously reviewing its 
exposure in Financial Markets. Going forward, Financial Markets aims to further decrease its 
proprietary trading activities and focus primarily on client-driven transactions. It will also 
focus on facilitating NIBC Investment Management’s expanding credit fixed-income asset 
management activities by providing warehousing facilities. 

Financial Markets’ structured finance business, which provides financial engineering solutions 
to clients, remains an important area of growth. NIBC will continue to work closely with 
regulators across international tax jurisdictions to ensure it responds to the latest developments 
while meeting the needs of its clients. 

Outlook
Going forward, NIBC expects the markets for derivatives and securitised debt products  
to remain challenging and investor sentiment to be cautious. Financial Markets will continue  
to actively de-risk its proprietary trading book and investment portfolios in line with its 
strategic goals.
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Principal investments
Highlights 2007

Operating income at EUR 130 million, an increase of 93%; n
Profit after tax at EUR 114 million. n

Behind the numbers
Operating income rose 93% to EUR 130 million in 2007 compared with the previous year. 
This was mainly due to fair value gains on associates, which were partially offset by declines 
in net fee and commission incomes. Profit after tax increased from EUR 47 million in 2006  
to EUR 114 million in 2007. 

Strategy and focus
Principal Investments will continue to be an area of growth for NIBC. The unit will grow its 
portfolio by making investments in funds managed by the SBU Investment Management and 
funds managed by third parties. The NIBC fund transactions are mainly a spin-off from client 
franchise activities. Principal investment focuses on participation in private equity, mezzanine, 
real estate and infrastructure funds. 

Investment management
Highlights 2007

Operating income from EUR 14 million in 2006 to EUR 54 million in 2007; n
Profit after tax at EUR 16 million; n
Assets under management EUR 3.3 billion for NIBC Bank;  n
Landmark transactions include the successful EUR 330 million fundraising for the  n
NIBC European Infrastructure Fund I, NIBC’s first third party equity fund, and the 
purchase of the real estate portfolio of Oranje-Nassau Groep together with a consortium 
of investors related to White Estate investments.

Behind the numbers
Operating income increased to EUR 54 million, mainly as a result of higher net fee and 
commission income, which resulted from new fund initiatives. At the same time, operating 
expenses increased to EUR 35 million primarily due to these new initiatives. Together these 
factors led to an increase in profit after tax of EUR 16 million.

Strategy and focus
Investment Management was created four years ago to separate the asset management activities 
from the bank’s other activities. NIBC is expanding its investment management activities  
by developing investment funds for private equity / mezzanine, infrastructure and real estate 
investments.

Subsequent to NIBC Merchant Banking Fund IA, NIBC has established NIBC Merchant 
Banking Fund IB to serve as its primary vehicle for direct private equity and mezzanine 
investments. 
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These funds have developed a strong track record in providing growth capital to companies in 
Western Europe and seek investment opportunities in companies with stable, predictable cash 
flows and leading market positions. The main objectives of these funds are to realise an 
attractive risk-adjusted return, maintain a meaningful minority / majority position with the 
ability to influence operations, and have a contractual or controllable exit within four to seven 
years from its initial investment.

The success of ongoing fundraising for the NIBC European Infrastructure Fund I, NIBC’s 
first third party equity fund, underscores Investment Management’s track record and makes 
its knowledge in this area available to its institutional investor clients. 

Additionally, the purchase of the real estate portfolio of Oranje-Nassau Groep together with 
a consortium of investors related to White Estate Investments highlights the growing 
cooperation between NIBC and third party investors as the bank grows its real estate 
investments in Europe. By building platforms under the umbrella of our NIBC European 
Real Estate Fund, investments in other real estate segments are also covered.

NIBC Credit Management is responsible for managing a portfolio of credit fixed-income 
investments in a variety of asset classes, such as global corporate credits and selected 
European securitised debt products. 
Investment Management also manages NIBC’s minority interests in general partners of  
a number of third party managed private equity funds. In doing so, NIBC gains a foothold  
in new market segments where it expects a high level of activity in the coming years,  
building a knowledge base, network and expertise in these areas.

Outlook
Investment Management sees strong prospects for growth especially in the alternative asset 
management market, where it will continue to leverage its core competencies in private equity, 
mezzanine, real estate, infrastructure and credit fixed-income to develop its asset management 
activities. Going forward, the business unit will continue to pursue opportunities alongside 
third party investors and institutional investor clients and is earmarked as a key strategic 
growth area for the bank.

Corporate center
Highlights 2007

Operating income at EUR 16 million, a decrease of 65%;  n
Profit after tax EUR (15) million. n

Behind the numbers
Operating income decreased to EUR 16 million, a 65% fall compared to 2006. Corporate 
Center’s operating income is the result of interest income on interest rate mismatch positions 
and interest expenses on subordinated funding / hybrid Tier-I capital. The decline compared  
to 2006 is explained by the inclusion that year of income on unallocated capital, which in  
2007 is accounted for within Financial Markets, and the inclusion of expenses of subordinated 
and Tier-I funding, which in 2006 were accounted for within Financial Markets. 
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Operating expenses were stable despite a higher average number of FTEs and depreciation of 
certain projects compensated by lower other operating expenses. The tax line was positively 
affected by the release of a tax provision. All operating expenses are allocated to the other SBUs 
except for general staff functions and certain one-off non-attributable expenses.

Corporate Center was responsible for preparation work in anticipation of the initial public 
offering planned in 2007 in the areas of financial reporting, risk management and other 
policies. The success of this internal review led to the further enhancement of NIBC’s financial 
and operational systems and the further alignment of its reporting and IT processes.

international offices
In addition to its headquarters in The Hague, NIBC Bank has employees based in offices in 
London, Brussels, Frankfurt and Singapore. At the end of 2007, NIBC Bank had 112 employees 
(FTEs) at its offices worldwide. These international offices are key links in our business chain. 
They draw on the expertise available throughout the organisation and apply it to the local 
markets of which they have first-hand knowledge.

NIBC London
NIBC has maintained a presence in London, Europe’s financial capital, since 1995. It has 
developed a track record there in infrastructure-related financing and equity investment, 
leveraged loan financing for corporate buyouts, and credit management for a series of 
leveraged loan CLO programmes. Related activities include loan syndications, secondary loan 
trading, and securitisation and fund development. The London office of NIBC Bank employs 
53 people. The London office serves as an important profit centre for NIBC. It also acts as  
a strategic base from which NIBC serves clients around the world. 

NIBC Brussels
Belgium is part of NIBC’s home market. It is NIBC Brussels’ ambition to be a sparring partner 
to its clients in their strategic financial decisions. It supports its clients with value-added 
financing structures, funding solutions and advisory services. Clients retain NIBC Brussels 
to act as advisor in structuring and arranging the appropriate financing structure and in 
acquisitions or divestments. The Brussels office employs 11 people and is a major Belgian 
player in leveraged finance, real estate, corporate lending and M&A advisory. It aims to develop 
strong partnerships with the owners and senior management of larger Belgian companies, 
international financial sponsors and institutional investors. 

NIBC Frankfurt
NIBC opened an office in Frankfurt in 2005, gaining a foothold in Europe’s largest economy. 
The establishment of a presence in Germany reflects NIBC’s ambition to become a leading 
merchant bank in North-Western Europe. NIBC’s German operations are focused on debt, 
equity and advisory solutions for leveraged finance, real estate and infrastructure / Public 
Private Partnerships – all sectors in which NIBC excels. At the end of 2007, the Frankfurt office 
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employed 31 people. NIBC’s strategy is to follow current Benelux and UK clients into the 
German market and at the same time to build a local German client base.

NIBC Singapore
The geographical coverage of NIBC Singapore extends from Japan in the north to Australia 
and New Zealand in the south. The NIBC Singapore office was set up in 1996 as a base from 
which to build a position in aviation, shipping and logistics, energy, and offshore oil and gas 
finance markets. The Singapore office employed 17 people at the end of 2007. Since 2003, 
NIBC Singapore has progressively expanded to offer a wide range of investments and 
investment management services such as the distribution of private equity fund products. 

The Hague, 21 February 2008
Managing Board

Mr. Michael Enthoven, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Jurgen Stegmann, Vice-Chairman, Chief Risk Officer
Mr. Kees van Dijkhuizen, Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Jan van Nieuwenhuizen, member

28 | REPORT OF THE MANAGING BOARD



Highlights 2007
Despite difficult market circumstances, profit after tax from continuing operations  n
increased by 4% to EUR 242 million (2006: EUR 233 million);
Because of a loss of EUR 141 million on our US discontinued business in 2007, net profit  n
attributable to parent shareholders amounted to EUR 98 million;
Operating income from continuing operations stabilised at EUR 475 million  n
(2006: EUR 482 million); 
The Tier-I ratio remains at a strong level of 11.7% (2006: 12.3%). n

The continuing business showed a solid performance in 2007. The profit after tax from 
continuing operations came to EUR 242 million, which is 4% above the comparable figure of 
2006. Net profit attributable to parent shareholders amounted to EUR 98 million, compared to 
EUR 243 million in 2006. The difference between the two periods follows from negative results 
from discontinued operations on the US ABS investment book in 2007.

NIBC Bank has decreased its debt securities portfolio from EUR 7.2 billion (end of 2006)  
to EUR 2.6 billion (end of 2007). This decrease includes the full de-risking of the US ABS 
investment book, which amounted to EUR 2.2 billion at the beginning of 2007 and nil at  
the end of 2007. In 2007 the net loss from this discontinued business was EUR 141 million net 
of tax. The de-risking was executed by means of three actions:

The sale of US securities of EUR 0.7 billion during the first half year of 2007; n
The sale of a portfolio of EUR 0.4 billion of all US sub prime residential mortgage ABS  n
securities on 24 August 2007 (NIBC therefore no longer has any US sub prime residential 
mortgage exposure in its portfolios);
The sale of a portfolio of EUR 0.9 billion of all US commercial real estate ABS securities to  n
NIBC Holding in the second half of 2007.

The remaining decrease of EUR 0.2 billion reflects the before tax loss from discontinued 
operations and the devaluation of the US dollar in 2007.

operating income
Despite the difficult market circumstances operating income amounted to EUR 475 million  
in 2007 (2006: EUR 482 million).

In 2007 net interest income remained stable at EUR 238 million (2006: EUR 240 million). 
Loans and receivables displayed increased interest revenues due to the higher average loan 
portfolio during 2007, compensated by a decrease of interest revenues on debt securities.  

financial 
results
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The portfolio of debt securities decreased in 2007 from EUR 7.2 billion to EUR 2.6 billion. 
Interest revenues in 2007 on residential mortgages were at the same level as in 2006, reflecting 
a stable portfolio and stable margins.

Net fee and commission income increased in 2007 by 11%, from EUR 56 million to 
EUR 62 million. The increase was a result of higher advisory and arrangement fees from 
corporate finance activities and higher management fees from the investment management 
business, partially compensated by lower distribution fees, explained by the low securitization 
volume in 2007.

Dividend income increased in 2007 from EUR 35 million to EUR 84 million. The dividend 
income from the principal investments business more than quadrupled in 2007 to 
EUR 38 million driven by high dividends on four equity investments. The dividend income 
from structured investments more than doubled in 2007 to EUR 45 million. The increase  
in dividend income in 2007 reflects both an increase of the underlying portfolio of such 
structured investments as well as an increase in interest rates.

Net trading income decreased in 2007 from a EUR 83 million profit in 2006 to a loss of 
EUR 24 million. The 2007 figure is strongly affected by the instability in the financial markets 
in 2007, resulting in substantial credit spread widening. This credit spread widening led to 
mark-to-market losses of EUR 110 million on the residential mortgage portfolio, of 
EUR 19 million on investment and credit trading portfolios, including related credit spread 
hedges in the financial markets business, of EUR 18 million on the commercial real estate 
warehouse, partially compensated by a mark-to-market gain of EUR 106 million on the 
structured funding portfolio fair valued through profit or loss. The remaining result in net 
trading income includes a profit of EUR 7 million on interest trading and EUR 10 million on 
repurchased funding.

Gains less losses from equity investments and associates increased in 2007 from 
EUR 39 million to EUR 108 million. This substantial increase is driven by EUR 78 million of 
fair value gains on associates held by NIBC’s venture capitalist business Principal Investments 
accounted for as fair value through profit or loss. Furthermore, in 2007 gains were realized on  
a number of exits.

The share in the profit of associates and joint ventures decreased in 2007 from EUR 16 million 
to EUR 1 million. The decrease is explained by the result on the closing of a structured finance 
transaction in 2006.

Other operating income decreased in 2007 from EUR 13 million to EUR 6 million.  
The decrease is explained by the result on the sale of an equity stake in 2006 that was acquired 
in a restructuring process from a corporate client. If restructuring and work-out activities  
lead to a full or partial recovery of an impaired loan that has previously been written-off,  
the resulting gain is classified as other operating income. 
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operating expenses
Operating expenses increased in 2007 by 6% from EUR 199 million to EUR 211 million.

Personnel expenses increased in 2007 by 8% from EUR 125 million to EUR 135 million. The 
increase is almost totally a result of higher salaries, mainly due to a higher average number of 
FTEs, which increased by 10% to 700 in 2007. Furthermore, pension and other post-retirement 
charges increased in 2007 by EUR 8 million, due to a one-off release in 2006 of a health care 
provision, which was compensated by lower flexible rewards by EUR 8 million in 2007. 

Other operating expenses decreased in 2007 from EUR 63 million to EUR 59 million,  
due to cost control in specific areas of our business. 

Depreciation in 2007 increased from EUR 11 million to EUR 17 million, which is fully 
explained by a one-off accelerated depreciation of certain projects in 2007.

impairments of financial assets
In 2007, a net impairment loss was recorded of EUR 2 million, compared to a net reversal  
of impairment losses of EUR 15 million in 2006. This low impairment-level in both years 
demonstrates the soundness of our corporate loan portfolio.

tax
Tax expense decreased in 2007 from EUR 66 million to EUR 20 million, which is mainly 
explained by the increase of income from the equity investment business not subject to tax, 
the decrease of the Dutch corporate tax rate from 29.6% to 25.5% and, to a lesser extent, by 
the lower profit before tax.

assets
NIBC’s total assets at year-end 2007 amounted to EUR 31.8 billion (2006: EUR 32.5 billion).

Cash and balances with central banks and due from other banks (NIBC’s short-term liquid 
assets) increased by 101% to more than EUR 4.0 billion at year-end 2007, representing a strong 
liquidity position.

Loans and receivables (whether measured at amortised cost, available for sale or fair  
value through profit or loss) increased in 2007 by 11% to EUR 8.9 billion. The residential 
mortgage portfolios (both own book and securitized) increased slightly in 2007 by 2% to 
EUR 11.6 billion.
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Debt securities decreased by EUR 4.6 billion, from EUR 7.2 billion to EUR 2.6 billion, mainly 
due to de-risking activities in 2007. The US ABS investment book decreased by EUR 2.2 billion 
to nil as explained above. Furthermore, the EU corporate credits portfolio was downsized by 
EUR 0.7 billion, from EUR 0.8 billion to EUR 0.1 billion and the EU structured credits 
portfolio by EUR 0.5 billion, from EUR 1.9 billion to EUR 1.4 billion. The remaining decrease 
of EUR 1.1 billion is mainly explained by a decrease of the high-rated financial and sovereign 
bond portfolio.

equity
Total shareholders’ equity decreased from EUR 1,716 million at the end of 2006 to 
EUR 1,522 million at the end of 2007. The decrease of EUR 194 million mainly stems from 
the net profit attributable to parent shareholders of EUR 98 million offset by a net decrease of 
EUR 157 million in the revaluation and hedging reserves and dividend payments in 2007 of 
EUR 147 million. The net decrease in the revaluation and hedging reserves mainly results from 
the effect of increased credit spreads on the valuation of assets designated as available for sale 
and of increased interest rates on the fair value of the hedging reserve. The dividend payments 
in 2007 reflect the payment of a normal dividend over 2006 of EUR 61 million in March 2007 
and an extraordinary dividend of EUR 85 million in August 2007.

The Tier-I ratio of NIBC Bank N.V. remained in 2007 at the strong level of 11.7% (2006: 12.3%). 
This is well above the minimum Tier-I requirement of 4% and illustrates the strength of the 
bank’s capital structure. The BIS-ratio increased in 2007 from 13.3% to 13.4%.
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corporate governance 
and compliance

At the heart of NIBC is a dynamic and transparent corporate governance 

structure. NIBC operates a two-tier board system consisting of a 

Managing Board and a Supervisory Board to ensure that proper checks 

and balances exist within the company.

The Managing Board is responsible for the day-to-day management of the business and 
its long-term strategy. The Supervisory Board is responsible for supervising management 
performance and advising the Managing Board. NIBC’s governance model is based on close 
and constructive collaboration between the Supervisory Board and supporting committees, 
the Managing Board and its committees, and NIBC’s shareholders.

This collaboration is exemplified in NIBC’s governance framework of charters, with 
clear guidelines for the assignment of duties and responsibilities, financial reporting, 
risk management, compliance, corporate governance, corporate social responsibility and 
remuneration policies. For more information about our framework of charters please visit 
www.nibc.com.

The Supervisory Board is supported by four committees consisting of members of the 
Supervisory Board: the Risk Policy Committee, with a subcommittee for purposes of related 
party transactions, the Audit and Compliance Committee, the Remuneration and Nominating 
Committee, and the Strategic Committee. For more information about the meetings of the 
committees of the Supervisory Board please refer to the Report of the Supervisory Board on 
page 6 of this Report.

The Managing Board delegates operational decisions to a number of Functional Committees. 
All Functional Committees meet on a regular basis and are characterised by their expertise 
and swift decision-making capabilities as at least two members of the Managing Board are 
present at each meeting. The committees are divided into the following main areas of focus: 

Governance  n
The Governance committees ensure that the company maintains the highest standards of 
corporate governance practices and are responsible for monitoring all areas of management 
performance. The most important committee is the Management Committee, which is 
responsible for the daily management of the company. Other governance committees 
include the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee and the Disclosure Committee.
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Risk  n
The Risk committees are responsible for decision-making in risk management matters. 
They ensure that the assessment and acceptance of credit, market, investment, liquidity, 
and operational risk exposure is made independently of the business originators. 
The Asset & Liability Committee, Transaction Committee, Investment Committee, 
Operating Risk Committee and Credit Markets Committee are the main Risk Committees.
Clients  n
The Engagement Committee is responsible for the prevention of potential commercial 
conflicts of interest and compliance issues in evaluating assignments for our clients.

best practice
NIBC supports and applies the principles of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code (the Code) 
and will continue to apply the Code. NIBC partly complies with the following best practices 
and principles as per 31 December 2007:

Best practice provision II.2.1 through II.2.3, which relate to depositary receipts and options  n
granted to members of the Managing Board. In deviation from best practice provisions 
II.2.1 and II.2.2, the existing option plan described in note 54 provided for the grant of 
options of which neither the grant nor the exercise was conditional upon realising certain 
performance criteria. In deviation from best practice provision II.2.3, depositary receipts 
have been awarded which may be disposed of by the members of the Managing Board 
within five years from the grant thereof. The 2006, 2007 and 2008 restricted depositary 
receipts have a vesting period of five years. 
Best practice provision III.2.1, which provides that the members of a Supervisory Board  n
should be independent, except for one member. NIBC currently has a Supervisory Board 
consisting of 9 members, of which two (Mr. J.C. Flowers and Mr. R.S. Sinha) do not meet 
the independence criteria contained in the Code. Although three other members of the 
Supervisory Board have relationships with investors in the Consortium (Mr. N.W. Hoek, 
Mr. A. de Jong and Mr. D. Rümker), these three members, as well as the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board (Mr. J.H.M. Lindenbergh) and three members nominated by the 
Employees Council (Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh, Mr. C.H. van Dalen and 
Mr. A.H. Veenhof) meet the independence criteria mentioned in the Code. The supervisory 
board rules adopted by the Supervisory Board provide that certain important decisions of 
the Supervisory Board require a simple majority including the supportive vote of at least 
one of the members of the Supervisory Board who has not been nominated by the General 
Meeting (i.e. Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh, Mr. C.H. van Dalen and Mr. A.H. Veenhof). 
If such a resolution does not have the supportive vote of such a member of the Supervisory 
Board, a new Supervisory Board meeting will be convened on not less than a 90 days notice, 
in which second meeting the Supervisory Board meeting will resolve on the relevant matter 
by a simple majority. In this connection, the authority to approve a material transaction 
with an affiliated party was delegated on 12 December 2006 to a subcommittee of the  
Risk Policy Committee of the Supervisory Board consisting of Messrs. Van den Goorbergh 
and Lindenbergh. 
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Principle III.5 and related best practice provisions III.5.10 through III.5.13, which provide  n
that a supervisory board of more than four members should establish a separate audit 
committee, a remuneration committee and a selection and nominating committee. 
NIBC has combined the remuneration committee and the selection and nominating 
committee in a combined Remuneration & Nominating Committee, which performs the 
tasks attributed by the Code to the remuneration committee, as well as the selection and 
nominating committee.
Best practice provisions IV.4.1 through IV.4.3, which relate to the annual publication   n
by NIBC on its website of information relating to NIBC’s voting policies as shareholder of 
listed companies, and the execution thereof. It is not NIBC’s policy to acquire shares in 
listed companies. Such acquisitions may occur occasionally as a side effect of transactions. 
NIBC would not want to emphasize its limited ownership of shares in listed companies and 
has therefore not formulated a voting policy in respect of such shares. 
NIBC applies best practice provision II.2.10, which provides that the remuneration report  n
of a Supervisory Board should contain an overview of the remuneration policy including 
a description of performance criteria, insofar as the description of the performance criteria 
does not reflect commercially sensitive information.
 NIBC considers itself to be in compliance with best practice provision III.7.2, which  n
provides that any investment by a supervisory board member in shares of the company on 
whose supervisory board he serves is a long-term investment, as it believes that ordinary 
shares in its capital held, directly or indirectly, by Supervisory Board members are held  
by such members only by way of long-term investment. 

compliance
Several new initiatives were put into place by Compliance in the year to ensure that personnel 
are aware of, and take steps to comply with, relevant laws and regulations. Among the most 
important were the following:

New Compliance Framework n  
As a result of ongoing compliance activities, NIBC has amended its compliance framework 
and introduced new compliance manuals containing new and revised procedures for global 
and local compliance. 
The NIBC Global Compliance Manual sets out the overall compliance principles, for both 
employees and for NIBC that are applicable throughout the company regardless of location. 
The manual gives an overview of all compliance rules, procedures and registers and 
underlines NIBC’s global vision on compliance issues. 
The Local Compliance Manuals contain all the specific compliance rules that apply 
within a certain jurisdiction where NIBC operates. The Local Compliance Manuals 
incorporate local laws and regulations. All foreign offices of NIBC now have their own 
Local Compliance Manual.
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive n  
NIBC successfully introduced the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID), 
which came into force in November 2007. The new regulatory regime seeks to harmonise 
investment services across the 30 states of the European Economic Area. 
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A Project Delivery Group was charged with steering the efforts and coordinating the 
various committees. External consultants reviewed due diligence procedures and 
supervised the classification of customers into the categories of clients Eligible 
Counterparties, Professional and Retail. These categories are related to varying levels of 
protection that allow the tailoring of services offered according to a broad list of criteria 
such as financial knowledge, experience, risk tolerance and investment purpose and strategy.
Compliance monitoring n  
Next to the general (ongoing) compliance monitoring activities, Group Compliance 
paid specific attention to the compliance-related elements of the Financial Services Act 
(Wet financiële dienstverlening) which have been incorporated in the Financial 
Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht) as from January 1, 2007.
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human resources
With new tools and processes in place, Human Resources focused in 2007 on servicing 
the needs of the business in the areas of Recruitment and Selection, Talent Development 
and Succession Management, and Performance Management and Reward. Our goal is to create 
a sustainable high-performance culture at NIBC.

We have moved ahead with the implementation of our successful HR123 strategy, a framework 
designed to deliver highly effective and professional solutions in a simple and pragmatic way. 
Whereas in 2006 we focused on the (re)design of new and existing HR processes and tools,  
in 2007 we improved our focus on the internal client and improved execution of the new 
processes and tools. Towards that aim we increased the number of HR business partner teams 
who serve as HR contact points for managers in specific business areas.

Performance Management and Reward
NIBC’s new performance management process were fully implemented in 2007, ensuring 
employees are evaluated more effectively against NIBC’s business principles (NIBC7) and 
personal targets. We introduced new calibration sessions for management teams, in which 
the relative performance of employees is discussed on the basis of facts and data resulting 
in broadly supported performance ratings. This gives employees the guarantee that their 
evaluation process is both objective and robust.

Talent Development and Succession Management
We have continued to build our repertoire of development instruments and maintained our 
strong focus on providing inspiring and challenging learning opportunities. Our efforts are 
focused not only on our leadership group but on our entire professional workforce. In the year 
we increased the number of ‘Development Centres’ which help our professionals to obtain  
a better understanding of both their strengths and development needs. At the same time,  
we have made extensive use of the web-based learning tool, MyLearning Plaza, which helps 
our employees find the appropriate training.

Recruitment and Selection
2007 was a year of consolidation in which we replenished the workforce as necessary and 
selectively upgraded positions. At the same time, the continued success of our best talent 
graduate training programme has benefited from increased external recognition. 

our people 
and our values
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A well-balanced value proposition for employees contains an appropriate mix of compensation, 
benefits, learning & development, and organisational climate. As a medium-sized merchant 
bank, NIBC has the opportunity to provide a unique value proposition to prospective 
employees; one which positively differentiates us from our larger competitors. As a result, 
our ability to offer challenging, rewarding, entrepreneurial, inspiring work experience to top 
graduates is second to none.

our business principles 
Dedication to our principles is what makes NIBC the merchant bank of choice. For all our 
stakeholders, these principles – which we call NIBC7 – are the values we choose to stand for 
and live by. 

1 we think clients
We forge strong, long-term relationships with our clients, anticipate their needs and are likely 
to exceed their expectations. We recognise that the needs of each client are unique and aim to 
create lasting value in each situation.

2 we live excellence
We go to great lengths to demonstrate excellence in everything we do. That means having 
and developing excellent personal and professional skills and deploying them with efficiency, 
discipline and flair.

3 we shape solutions
We are alert to market and client needs and quick to spot and act on new opportunities. 
We pride ourselves on having unique people with original ideas and problem-solving skills 
who deliver the right solutions.

4 we work together
We work together, sharing knowledge and supporting each other. Our business model is 
dependent on cooperation across all departments and geographies, giving us a uniquely 
close approach to teamwork that benefits from the diverse perspectives of our people.

5 we drive results
We focus on results. Stretching ourselves to go the extra mile is second nature to us. 
We constantly improve our efficiency and effectiveness, working in a structured, goal-oriented 
way that benefits all our stakeholders.
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6 we develop people
We invest in the personal and professional development of our people because their capability 
and commitment define our success. We reward results in a differentiated way and encourage 
employee share ownership. We provide an environment where the best people choose to work, 
grow, and have influence and impact.

7 we show responsibility
We seek to apply best practice in all areas of our business. We maintain high ethical standards, 
behave in ways that are beneficial to our stakeholders and put the interests of the firm before 
our own personal interests. Our firm is a trusted and socially responsible partner in the 
communities in which we are present.
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The Employees’ Council represents all Netherlands-based NIBC employees 

and is charged with the task of ensuring that management objectives are 

aligned with those of employees. 

In 2007 the Employees’ Council worked alongside the Managing Board of NIBC with regards 
to the acquisition of NIBC Holding N.V. by Kaupthing Bank hf. and delivered advice and 
approval throughout. It carried out due diligence on the strategic background and 
organisational implications of the deal. 

The Employees’ Council has been instrumental in addressing a number of far-reaching issues 
that could have resulted from the transaction and would have likely had an impact on staff. 
Among these issues was that of securing a four-year extension of the Social Protocol, which 
was due to expire in 2008 and which guarantees ‘work-to-work’ benefits for NIBC employees. 
NIBC management and the Employees’ Council are also working on a new People 
Development Plan that could replace the Social Protocol prior to its expiry.

Proposed modifications were also made to the employee equity program, NIBC Choice, which 
were reviewed and formally approved by the Employees’ Council. 

In the year, the Council met formally on six occasions with members of the Managing Board 
and every four weeks informal consultations were held with the both the Managing Board and 
Human Resources. The Employees’ Council also had regular contact with employees 
throughout the year, in the form of face-to-face interaction in both formal and informal 
meetings as well as in occasional polls. On several occasions it provided an overview of the 
most important issues to all employees. 

Some of its main activities were as follows:
The Council worked alongside HR to evaluate the effectiveness of the employee appraisal  n
system (My IPM), helping to establish a clear link between appraisal and remuneration;
Detailed information on HR was provided to the Employees’ Council for the first time.  n
This data provides a valuable insight into worker satisfaction levels and enables the 
Employees’ Council to suggest new ways of improving the NIBC work experience;
A new staff manual was introduced, after close consultations between the Employees’  n
Council and the HR department. The Employees’ Council also approved global and local 
compliance manuals; 
A new procedure on private investment transactions was approved to protect employees’  n
reputations and that of the bank. The procedure is supported by new software tools that 

employees’ 
council
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enable employees to easily clarify whether private transactions are a potential conflict or 
breach of compliance;
After a lengthy process, the Employees’ Council finalised new security procedures for email  n
and internet privacy. It has been agreed that email boxes of all new employees will be 
monitored for a period of time by the Compliance department to prevent unauthorised 
information from entering or leaving the bank. At regular intervals, the Employees’ Council 
will be informed about any actions that result from these new procedures.

The composition of the Employees’ Council did not materially change in 2007, however,  
in 2008, the Council will continue recruiting new members. It is the Council’s objective that 
personnel of all SBUs and layers of the organisation are represented. 

The Employees’ Council would like to take this opportunity to thank the Managing Board for 
its constructive cooperation and all NIBC employees who provided useful input. 

Mr. Jack van Reisen, Chairman
Employees’ Council

Mr. Hans Nagtegaal, Vice-Chairman
Employees’ Council 
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corporate social 
responsibility

At NIBC we believe we have a role to play in protecting the environment 

and promoting the sustainable development of our local communities. 

We are therefore committed to meeting the highest standards of responsible 

business practice in all areas of our operations. Our new Policy Framework for 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) supports our commitment to sustainable 

growth and is central to current operations and future plans.

We also believe that responsible companies benefit an enhanced reputation, better employee 
recruitment and retention and increased customer recognition. To achieve financial success, 
NIBC intends to meet and exceed the CSR expectations of its clients, employees and society 
at large.

new policy framework
The Managing Board of NIBC has approved the Policy Framework for CSR activities, based 
around a three-year agenda from 2007 to 2009. This has been implemented by the CSR 
Committee, which includes members drawn from across the business and which works to 
keep NIBC’s CSR vision closely aligned to the practical activities of the business.

The CSR Committee has co-ordinated and clarified the bank’s desired approach to CSR, basing 
it on three pillars: client interaction, environmental sustainability, and social citizenship. 

client interaction 
The biggest impact NIBC has on society is through its interaction with clients by providing 
financial support and assistance for their activities. NIBC has introduced a range of measures 
to ensure the impact of this interaction does not have a negative effect on society or the 
environment. 

In July 2007, the Managing Board approved the adoption of the Equator Principles for NIBC’s 
project finance business as of January 1, 2008. The Equator Principles are the financial industry 
benchmark used to assess social and environmental risk in project financing, with the aim of 
encouraging responsible investments.
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We have begun training our staff in this area and aim to make the Equator Principles an 
operational part of the NIBC business model. Our resources and expertise will be made 
available so that we can work together with our customers to implement the required 
guidelines.

A ‘CSR test’ has already become an integral part of the process of agreeing credit conditions 
with clients, requiring them to demonstrate CSR-compliance before NIBC releases finance. 
NIBC also intends to demonstrate its commitment to sustainability through its expertise 
in renewable energy financing where it is a market pioneer.

environmental sustainability 
During 2007, NIBC started to measure the direct environmental impact of its operations 
and put targets in place to achieve a reduction. As a first step, during the summer, we began 
measuring all carbon dioxide emissions created by our activities, including from lighting, 
heating and other energy uses. NIBC aims to become a carbon-neutral organisation by making 
meaningful reductions in CO2 emissions, in addition to carbon offsetting.

We have also revised our car leasing policy to incentivise our employees to choose cars that 
cause a lower environmental impact. The policy is weighted towards less polluting cars,  
in the A, B or C class. Alternatively, employees will be offered cash allowances instead of 
running a car.

social citizenship 
Being a responsible corporate citizen means taking care in how we act as an employer and 
remembering that our human capital is our most important asset. At NIBC, we aim to be 
a force for good in society by encouraging our employees to lend their expertise and time to 
projects in the local community.

We also believe many causes are worthy of our financial and in-kind support. Our community 
support initiatives are those that directly benefit our local communities and include 
sponsorships or the provision of time and expertise for sporting, educational, cultural or other 
charitable activities. 

As a starting point for this policy going forward, we intend to mobilise and engage our 
workforce. We will do this by matching 50% of any time or financial contribution they make 
towards a charitable cause. This will enable our employees to provide more meaningful 
assistance to those who need it the most.
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In addition to ad-hoc contributions to initiatives brought forward by our employees, NIBC 
will also select a number of initiatives on an annual basis, for which employees can volunteer 
to participate in.

At the same time, NIBC has also continued to make contributions to various causes linked 
to Dutch cultural heritage, such as the Mauritshuis art gallery and Stichting Philharmonic 
Fond, while children’s charities such as the Ronald McDonald House in The Hague also 
received support.

The CSR Committee will be responsible for monitoring and improving our engagement in 
the community by periodically reviewing our sponsored initiatives and selection of projects. 
To achieve this we will ask all employees who receive support to report on a project’s progress. 
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introduction
The Managing Board is responsible for compliance with relevant legislation and regulation. 
The Managing Board is also responsible for risk management and control systems that aim to 
ensure reliable financial reporting and that aim to reduce the risk of non-realisation of NIBC’s 
(operational and financial) objectives. In addition, the Managing Board is responsible for the 
financing of NIBC Bank N.V. (NIBC).

Financial risk management is the core business of financial institutions. NIBC considers risk 
management an integral part of providing consistent, high-quality returns to its shareholders. 
NIBC’s risk management framework is focused on identifying, assessing, measuring and 
controlling risk and on managing risk pro-actively. To this end, the Managing Board has 
established a sound governance structure around the risk management framework. Within 
this governance structure, decision-making authority rests with NIBC’s Risk Management 
Committee (RMC). The RMC operates under the supervision of the Managing Board and the 
Risk Policy Committee, a sub-committee of the Supervisory Board. The RMC has delegated 
decision-making authority for particular areas of risk management to certain sub-committees, 
which deal with specific elements of the enterprise risk spectrum.

Ultimately, it is the Managing Board, under the supervision of the Supervisory Board, that is 
responsible for NIBC’s risk management and control systems.

The Managing Board together with the RMC determines NIBC’s overall risk appetite and risk 
profile at a strategic level, evaluates the risk management elements of new business and 
products, as well as any reputation risks, and approves major changes to risk policies. The RMC 
and its sub-committees further ensure that assessment and acceptance of credit, market, 
investment, fiduciary, compliance, liquidity and operational risk exposure is made independently 
of the business originators within the Strategic Business Units (SBU). 

In its role as the party responsible for risk management, the Managing Board is supported by 
the SBU heads. The SBU heads submit annually separate In Control Reports, which are based 
upon a semi-annual Control Risk Self Assessment of the activities within their SBUs. Through 
membership of the different risk management committees, members of the Managing Board 
have the ability to effectively and efficiently adapt NIBC’s risk management policy and  
risk management framework, so that it remains responsive to the changes in the financial 
marketplace.

in control 
report
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Risk is inherent to almost every business decision and business activity. To that end, NIBC’s 
risk management and control systems can never give an absolute guarantee that all risks are 
adequately managed or that the company’s objectives will be realised.

risk management policy
In order for the Managing Board to execute its responsibilities, NIBC has developed a risk 
management policy framework tailored to NIBC’s risk exposures and focused on the control of 
the identified risks related to the execution of the different business activities of NIBC. The way 
NIBC manages risk in these areas is set out below. For a more detailed description of how 
NIBC manages risk, reference is made to the Risk Management section. The risk management 
policy framework is designed to ensure compliance with NIBC’s risk management policy and 
forms an integral part of the internal control system. 

NIBC’s risk management policy framework is aligned with IFRS and is intended to meet 
Basel II requirements. The policy framework used to manage risks underpins NIBC’s internal 
decision-making in this respect and allows the organisation to weigh risk against return using 
the concepts of Risk Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC) and Economic Value Added (EVA). 
Further, the risk policy framework allows NIBC to evaluate decisions regarding the allocation 
of NIBC’s economic capital, while at the same time supporting and maintaining NIBC’s credit 
ratings and seeking to accurately calculate impairments.

NIBC’s credit risk management department is responsible for the credit risk management 
of the exposures present in Corporate Finance and Real Estate Markets SBU’s loan portfolios, 
as well as for NIBC Credit Management (Investment Management) leveraged loan portfolios, 
and for investment risk management of the Principal Investments SBU in equity investments. 
All credit and investment risk decisions are taken either in the Transaction Committee or the 
Investment Committee.

NIBC’s market risks are mainly concentrated in its Financial Markets, Real Estate Markets and 
Corporate Center SBUs. In order to manage market risks, NIBC has put in place an extensive 
set of risk limits and uses an advanced risk management system, ‘Algorithmics’, to calculate, 
monitor and project the relevant key risk figures. The Algorithmics system is used to analyse 
and track risks in virtually all transactions within NIBC on a daily basis, except for credit 
spread risk on its mortgage portfolios, which is calculated separately.

Maintaining a prudent funding profile is one of NIBC’s most important liquidity risk 
management tasks. NIBC analyses its funding profile by mapping all assets and liabilities in 
‘time buckets’ corresponding to their maturities. NIBC applies various liquidity stress tests 
scenarios on a regular basis and carries out weekly short-term liquidity forecasts. The short-
term liquidity forecasts are analysed and presented weekly to NIBC’s Asset and Liability 
Committee to create continuous monitoring of the liquidity position.
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The credit and qualitative market assessment of NIBC’s assets in a credit spread environment is 
the responsibility of the Capital Markets Committee. This committee controls the risk at the 
junction between market and credit risk.

The responsibility for monitoring and managing operational risk lies with NIBC’s Operational 
Risk Manager and the Chief Operating Officers of the SBUs who are responsible for the 
implementation of the NIBC-wide operational risk framework (including, amongst others,  
the operational risk associated with new products and business, reputation risk and business 
continuity). In addition, this framework outlines NIBC’s ambition to qualify for the Basel II 
Advanced Measurement Approach. Operational risk within NIBC is managed both at a  
Group level and an SBU level. The Operating Risk Committee provides consistency and 
oversight of significant operational issues and oversees the adoption of best practice between 
the different SBUs.

Finally, in its day to day banking and investment activities, NIBC is exposed to both fiduciary 
and compliance risk. Both of these risk are addressed in the various committees mentioned 
above as part of the bank’s risk policy framework; however, fiduciary risk is specifically 
addressed in the Investment Committee and the Capital Markets Committee, while compliance 
risk is specifically covered by the Engagement Committee.

NIBC’s corporate governance model is based on constructive and transparent cooperation 
between our shareholders, our Supervisory Board with its four sub-committees (Risk Policy 
Committee with a sub-committee for the purposes of related party transactions, Audit and 
Compliance Committee, Remuneration and Nomination Committee and Strategic Committee) 
and our Managing Board. This cooperation is set out in a governance framework of charters, 
including a whistleblower policy. This policy allows employees to report anonymously. 
Reported irregularities are promptly investigated and treated confidentially. In line with the 
Tabaksblat Committee’s recommendations, the framework and charters have been published 
on NIBC’s website.

risk responses
NIBC analyses strategic, financial, compliance and operational risks and evaluates the possible 
responses to achieve the risk level aligned with NIBC’s risk profile and risk appetite. 
In evaluating response options, management considers the effect on both risk likelihood and 
impact. Alternative responses are analysed for their mitigation effect and impact. This review 
forms part of the semi-annual Control Risk Self Assessment process carried out by operational 
risk management. Risk management and control systems are not static and need to be reviewed 
and evaluated regularly.

Accordingly, the Managing Board has executed a number of activities and initiatives to provide 
for the review and evaluation of the bank’s risk management and control systems profile. On a 
regular basis, the overall risk and control environment of NIBC is systematically reviewed in 
the various risk committees. Through self-assessment and semi-annual review, risks in all the 
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Business Units and foreign offices are identified. In this process, an assessment of risk 
management and control systems is made and measures of improvement actions defined. 
On an annual basis, Business Units and foreign offices evaluate their risk and control 
framework together with the results of internal and external audits and produce individual 
In Control Reports.

specific events / attention points of the managing 
board and related actions / improvements in 2007

In 2007, the following events required the specific attention of the Managing Board. These 
events and attention points have led to increased operational risk.

During 2007, instability in the US credit fixed-income markets led to non-recurring losses  n
in the US Asset Backed Securities investment book. For transparency reasons, the exposure 
in the investment book is designated as fair value through profit or loss, whether realised or 
unrealized. NIBC Bank has decreased its debt securities portfolio. This decrease reflects the 
elimination of risk on the US ABS investment book, which was reduced to nil by the end of 
2007. The reduction of debt securities reflects the irrevocable sale of the complete US sub 
prime residential mortgage portfolio and the transfer of the entire US commercial real 
estate securities to a restructuring entity in NIBC Holding. In addition, a number of risk 
management actions were initiated to further strengthen and improve portfolio monitoring 
and reporting. Continued volatility in the credit markets may nevertheless impact the profit 
and loss of NIBC, given other exposure to credit markets and the applicable accounting 
treatment;
During the second half of the year, NIBC was faced with the market-wide credit liquidity  n
crisis and the additional impact on NIBC’s own funding related to a changed rating status. 
In response to this unstable markets environment, NIBC further strengthened its liquidity 
risk management and made it a key area of focus. The Asset and Liability Committee 
(ALCO) refocused its activities on liquidity management to create a continuous monitoring 
of the liquidity position. The monitoring of credit and market risks was delegated to a 
newly created Capital Markets Committe (CMC). In addition, new products and funding 
opportunities were assessed and implemented, providing for a twelve month positive 
liquidity position. Furthermore, it is contemplated that by means of securitisation of certain 
assets, creating ECB eligible assets and corporate deposits, the bank can create additional 
liquidity availability;
In 2007, Information Technology systems performance and stability remained a high focus  n
area. Actions resulting in improvements of systems performance and availability were 
continued in 2007 such as the completion of an infrastructure improvements program 
together with significant improvements made in the course of the year in the bank-wide 
change management procedures. While performance improvement has been observed in 
2007, systems performance and stability disruptions occurred nevertheless during the year.  
Actions were therefore initiated in 2007 to continue the improvements in these areas.  
A co-sourcing project was started in Q4 2007 to satisfy the need for Information 
Technology knowledge and personnel capacity. This project, together with the completion 
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of the infrastructure implementation plan as noted above, will enable NIBC to attain better 
system availability, and improve system and network performance. The Identity and Access 
Management project was initiated in 2007 to improve logical access management processes 
and will be continued in 2008;
In 2007, data quality improvement remained a bank-wide priority in order to support the  n
commercial and risk management processes by a more integrated and uniform 
management of data. This resulted in a revised definition of a Target Architecture for NIBC 
based on experiences and the results of data quality and systems integration projects at 
SBU’s level;
In 2007, a bank-wide financial reporting project was started as planned, in order to allocate  n
internal funding and align risk management reporting to general ledger and book structure, 
to deliver improved segment reporting and to accelerate the monthly financial closing 
process. This project will be continued in 2008.

planned improvements and targets for 2008
Information Technology and Access Management

Information Security n  
In 2008, Information Security will continue as a high priority for the Bank. The Identity 
and Access Management project will be continued and finalised in 2008 starting with the 
most important implementation in January 2008 of an automated synchronisation between 
Human Resources systems recording staff changes and the user directory controlling access 
to all NIBC systems and applications. The second stage of this project is focused on further 
strengthening the role-based access within business applications. Furthermore, the findings 
of the policy gap- and risk analyses will be addressed. Together with a strengthening  
of the information security function itself, this will result in a robust information security 
environment.
Co-sourcing n   
In 2008, the results of co-sourcing project for IT management activities such as 
infrastructure management and helpdesk function will be implemented. This project will 
improve the available technical knowledge and mitigate the personnel capacity risk and the 
risk of key IT personnel leaving NIBC. This is also expected to lead to improved systems 
performance. 
Financial reporting n   
The full operational embedding of an enterprise-wide aligned framework for data 
management will be continued during 2008. The Target Architecture project will be further 
advanced as well as projects at SBU level to complement Group Finance activities. This will 
result in an accelerated financial closing process.
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conclusion
Within the current internal risk management and control system, certain high risk events were 
identified by management in the course of 2007, and where required, corrective measures were 
taken. However, structural changes necessary to realise improved data quality to match NIBC’s 
target architecture are ongoing in 2008.

The risk management and control systems provide reasonable assurance that the Annual 
Accounts do not contain any material inaccuracies. However, there is always the possibility that 
additional steps are required to further improve the internal controls in the future.

As noted above, risk management and control systems can never give an absolute guarantee 
that all risks are adequately managed or that NIBC’s objectives will be realised.
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risk 
 management

The risk management disclosures on pages 52 to 139 constitute an integral part of the financial 
statements on pages 143 to 273.

The year 2007 has been an extraordinarily challenging year for risk management. Sophisticated 
risk management systems, approval of DNB to use internal models for Basel II market and 
credit risk, improvements in model validation and strong governance structure, could not 
fully protect the bank from major losses in the structured credits portfolios in the US. 
Although the Bank did calculate Value at Risk using a long-term history of market data, 
continuously low volatility in the last couple of years led to relatively low Value at Risk (VAR) 
figures. VAR figures should be, and are always accompanied by, stress tests to understand the 
P&L impact of positions in case markets move outside the zone determined by confidence 
intervals. The regular stress tests performed at NIBC did show the risk and potential large 
losses that could arise from these portfolios in historical and theoretical stress scenarios. 
The combination of unprecedented spread widening, now part of the framework of stress tests, 
with sudden and extreme illiquidity in the market, even for AAA bonds that in previous events 
were seen as safe heaven assets, surprised the bank. 

During 2007, instability in the US credit fixed-income markets led to non-recurring losses 
in the US Asset Backed Securities investment book. For transparency reasons, the exposure 
in the investment book is designated at fair value through profit and loss, whether realized or 
unrealized. During the first half of the year 2007, exposure to the US residential and corporate 
markets was sold, eliminating profit and loss exposure attributable to these portfolios. 
In addition, an appropriate set of risk management actions was initiated to further strengthen 
and improve portfolio monitoring and reporting. The set of risk management actions include 
improved credit risk assessments of markets and assets that are in a market risk environment 
(in addition to the rating assessment of rating agencies), as well the establishment of a Capital 
Markets Committee that focuses on the intersection of market risk and credit risk of capital 
markets’ assets. Continued volatility in the credit markets may nevertheless impact the profit 
and loss of the bank given other exposure to credit markets and the applicable accounting 
treatment. 

Risk is inherent in almost every business decision and business activity. To that end, NIBC’s 
risk management and control systems can never provide an absolute guarantee that all risks are 
adequately managed or that the company’s objectives will be realized. 
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overview (unaudited) 

We consider professional risk management to be a core skill for a financial institution. All staff 
are responsible for ‘intelligent’ risk management and we consider the pro-active involvement of 
risk management officers in our commercial activities to be absolutely vital. We seek to balance 
risk and return in order to maintain a moderate and calculated risk profile. Our risk profile is 
shaped by, among other factors:

Our focus on a mid-cap corporate client base. n  Our focus on mid-cap clients in specific 
industry segments means we are often required to assess risks and creditworthiness using 
our own internal assumptions and methodologies, without the benefit of third party credit 
ratings from rating agencies, as would generally be available for larger clients; 
Diversified income streams and funding sources. n  The reliability of our income and 
funding cash flows is enhanced by their breadth and variety of sources;
The high-quality profile of our marketable assets and a well collateralised loan  n
portfolio. We generally seek to hold a well collateralised loan portfolio and other assets 
with high ratings as a means of reducing default risk;
An acceptable level of exposure to any single client and actively managed exposures to  n
industry segments and geographies. Diversification of our loan exposures is intended to 
provide a measure of protection against risk concentration by client and industry segment;
Solid Tier-I and total capital ratios. n  We have maintained a Tier-I capital ratio over 10%, 
which is in excess of that required, over the past seven years, as well as solid total capital 
ratios. This provides us with a significant margin of safety in case of an unanticipated level 
of defaults or losses;
Our refusal to compete on risk. n  We are focused on client needs and will compete on the 
basis of price and client service, among other factors, but we will not adjust our risk 
appetite to win new business; 
Liquidity and Funding Management and Costs. n  We believe that a conservative approach 
to our funding and liquidity is a key element of our risk management framework;
Our commitment to keeping our pension obligations fully funded. n  We believe full 
funding of our pension obligations, as required by the regulations of the Dutch Central 
Bank, will allow us to avoid over-commitment of our capital as well as reduce regulatory 
intervention and boost employee retention.

risk management philosophy
Risk management is focused on identifying, assessing, measuring and controlling risk, and 
acting proactively to manage it. To this end, we have implemented a framework of 
sophisticated and integrated risk management systems intended to quantify our risks and 
meet Basel II requirements, to measure and manage financial risk on a bank-wide basis, and 
to generate risk profiles and stress scenarios. This framework underpins our internal decision-
making, allowing us to weigh risk against return using the concepts of Risk Adjusted Return 
On Capital (RAROC) and Economic Value Added (EVA) to evaluate decisions regarding the 
allocation of our economic capital. RAROC measures the return on an investment as a 
percentage of the economic capital that has to be allocated as a capital buffer to cover the 
business risk of that investment. EVA provides an absolute return figure (after the costs of the 
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capital allocated) on a given investment. The Capital Markets Committee (the CMC) and the 
Transaction Committee (the TC) base their decisions on measurement of the RAROC against 
a given hurdle rate, according to the size and timing of the potential return, to arrive at our 
estimate of the resulting EVA. These tools assist us in selecting transactions that generate a 
satisfactory RAROC and EVA, given the relevant level of risk. For additional information on 
how we calculate and allocate economic capital, see ‘Economic Capital’ below.

We systematically manage the following risk categories most relevant to our business:
Credit Risk: n  The current or future threat to our earnings and capital base as a result of  
a counterparty’s failure to comply with a financial or other contractual obligation, including 
restrictions on or impediments to the counterparty’s transfer of payments from abroad, 
which we refer to as country risk;
Market Risk: n  The current or future threat to our earnings and capital base as a result of  
a change in the value of an asset due to a movement in credit spreads, interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates or equity prices, among others;
Investment Risk:  n The current or future threat to our earnings and capital base of a decrease 
in the value of our investments;
Liquidity Risk: n  The current or future threat to our earnings and capital base as a result 
of the possibility that we will not be able to meet our short-term payment obligations at any 
given point in time without unacceptable costs or losses;
Operational Risk:  n The current or future threat to our earnings and capital base as a result 
of inadequate performance in the day-to-day processing of transactions with clients or 
other parties (including the settlement of these transactions), inadequate procedures and 
measures for timely detection of control failures, quantitative or qualitative shortcomings 
in human resources and deficient decision-making as a result of inadequate management 
information. Operational risk also relates to any damage we may suffer to our reputation  
as a result of these shortcomings, which could impact the perceived value of our business. 
Our human resources group manages risks associated with our employees and is 
responsible for managing employee transitions.

The following table shows our portfolios and their risk characteristics as at 31 December 2007. 
In the table the risk management approach of each asset class is presented (market risk, credit 
risk or investment risk, see previous page). Credit spread risk and interest rate risk refer to the 
major risk factors of these assets, as will be explained in the market risk section in section 
‘Market risk management’ as from page 101.
 
The risk presented reflects the main risk addressed to this asset, the asset might be covered 
within other risk areas as well.
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Portfolios and their risk characteristics as at 31 December 2007

SBU Assets

Nominal value 
in EUR millions 

or Basis point 
value1 (interest 

and client 
trading books)

Ref. to 
reconcilia-
tion table 
as follows Main Risk Category

Average 
Rating

CORPORATE FINANCE Corporate loans 7,995 2 1 Credit Risk BB / BB-3

REAl ESTATE MARKETS Residential mortgages 4,596 4 2 Market risk – credit spread risk AA-
Commercial Real Estate and 
Infrastructure eligible for sale / 
securitisation por tfolios 3 1,661 3 Market risk – credit spread risk A+ / A

RMBS / CMBS notes 5 213 5 4 Market risk – credit spread risk BB / BB-

FINANCIAl MARKETS FIxED INCOME

Money market and trading 4,000 BPV Market risk – interest rate risk AA 7

Fair value interest trading 6 0 BPV Market risk – interest rate risk

Financial Markets mismatch 0 Market risk – interest rate risk

Interest rate & derivatives (40,000) BPV Market risk – interest rate risk AA 7

INvESTMENT AND CREDIT 
TRADINg PORTFOlIOS

Credit trading (33,182) BPV Market risk – credit spread risk

Financials & Sovereigns 933 Market risk – credit spread risk

Structured Investments 1,494 Market risk – credit spread risk

Credit Fixed Income Funds 107 Market risk – credit spread risk

Corporate credits 101 Market risk – credit spread risk

Securitised debt products 8 1,378 Market risk – credit spread risk

Leveraged loans warehoused 
for securitisation 0 Market risk – credit spread risk

First loss positions 9  
(market value) 36 Market risk – credit spread risk

SUBTOTAl  
(NOMINAl ExPOSURE) 4,091 5 A- / BBB+

PRINCIPAl INvESTMENTS Mezzanine loans  
(fair market value) 125 6 Credit risk B

Equity (fair market value) 289 7 Investment risk Equity

TOTAl 414

CORPORATE CENTER ALCO strategic mismatch 411 Market risk – interest rate risk AA 7

1.  Basis Point Value (BPv) is the change in the present value of an asset due to a one basis point increase in either credit spreads or interest rates, as explained 
further in ‘Market Risk Management – Overview’. This means, for instance, that an asset with a BPV of 10 moves EUR 10 in response to a one basis point shift. 
The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark to market of the position.

2. Drawn and undrawn exposure amounts.
3. Ratings are internal counterparty ratings, which do not take into account level of collateralisation.
4.  Excludes Provide Orange (a synthetic RMBS), includes the pipeline of residential mortgages and includes internal securitisations. Internal securitisations are 

transactions executed for liquidity purposes. In an internal securitistion, the notes from the securitisation are not sold to external investors but are retained on 
the Bank’s balance sheet. Therefore there is no transfer of risk to a third party, and all risk is retained by the Bank. The pipeline of residential mortgages includes 
outstanding mortgage offers to clients. 

5.  Equity tranche notes and mezzanine interests we retain from our RMBS / CMBS programmes.
6. Trading book for trading interest rate derivatives (e.g. swaps, FRAs).
7. Ratings from external rating agencies for counterparties of our Financial Markets SBU.
8. Held in Financial Markets.
9.  Include retained first loss positions in our Securitised Debt and Leveraged Loans securitisations, and some small positions in equity tranches of third party 

securitisations. The fair value of these positions was EUR 36 million at 31 December 2007. 
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The following table shows our portfolios and their risk characteristics as at 31 December 2006. 

The risk presented reflects the main risk addressed to this asset, the asset might be covered 
within other risk areas as well.

Portfolios and their risk characteristics as at 31 December 2006

SBU Assets / trading books

Nominal value 
in EUR millions 

or Basis point 
value 1 (interest 

and client 
trading books)

Ref. to 
reconcilia-
tion table
as follows Main Risk Category

Average 
Rating

CORPORATE FINANCE Corporate loans 9,104 2 1 Credit Risk BB- / BB+3

REAl ESTATE MARKETS Residential mortgages 3,840 4 2 Market risk – credit spread risk AA-
Commercial Real Estate and 
Infrastructure eligible for sale / 
securitisation por tfolios 3 945 5 3 Market risk – credit spread risk A

RMBS / CMBS notes 5 112 4 Market risk – credit spread risk B+

FINANCIAl MARKETS FIxED INCOME

Money market and trading (18,000) BPV Market risk – interest rate risk AA 7

Fair value interest trading 6 (28,000) BPV Market risk – interest rate risk AA 7

Financial Markets mismatch 250

Interest rate & derivatives (74,000) BPV Market risk – interest rate risk AA 7

INvESTMENT PORTFOlIOS

Credit trading (113,000) BPV Market risk – credit spread risk

Financials & Sovereigns 2,056 Market risk – credit spread risk

Structured Investments 1,422 Market risk – credit spread risk

Credit Fixed Income Funds 223 Market risk – credit spread risk

Corporate credits 809 Market risk – credit spread risk

Securitised debt products EU 8 1,931 Market risk – credit spread risk

Securitised debt products US 8 2,216

Leveraged loans warehoused 
for securitisation 174

First loss positions 9 

(market value) 49

SUBTOTAl  
(NOMINAl ExPOSURE) 8,907 5 BBB+

PRINCIPAl INvESTMENTS Mezzanine loans  
(fair market value) 192 6 Credit risk BB- / B+

Equity (fair market value) 171 7 Investment risk Equity

TOTAl 363 BBB+

CORPORATE CENTER ALCO strategic mismatch 600 Market risk – interest rate risk AA 7
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1.  Basis Point Value (BPv) is the change in the present value of an asset due to a one basis point increase in either credit spreads or interest rates, as explained 
further in ‘Market Risk Management – Overview’. This means, for instance, that an asset with a BPV of 10 moves EUR 10 in response to a one basis point shift. 
The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark to market of the position.

2.  Drawn and undrawn exposure amounts.
3. Ratings are internal counterparty ratings, which do not take into account level of collateralisation.
4.  Excludes Provide Orange (a synthetic RMBS) includes the pipeline of residential mortgages and includes internal securitisations. Internal securitisations are 

transactions executed for liquidity purposes. In an internal securitistion, the notes from the securitisation are not sold to external investors but are retained on 
the Bank’s balance sheet. Therefore there is no transfer of risk to a third party, and all risk is retained by the Bank. The pipeline of residential mortgages includes 
outstanding mortgage offers to clients. 

5.  Equity tranche notes and mezzanine interests we retain from our RMBS / CMBS programmes.
6.  Trading book for trading interest rate derivatives (e.g. swaps, FRAs).
7. Ratings from external rating agencies for counterparties of our Financial Markets SBU.
8. Held in Financial Markets.
9.  Includes retained first loss positions in our Securitised Debt and Leveraged Loans securitisations, and some small positions in equity tranches of third party 

securitisations. The fair value of these positions was EUR 49 million at 31 December 2006. 

The following table shows an overview of the reconciliations between the amounts of the 
different assets in the risk characteristics tables and the balance sheet as at 31 December 2007 
and 2006.

In general, in the risk characteristics table, risk exposure figures are at nominal value and 
figures in the balance sheet are at fair value. NIBC carries risk over the nominal value of assets 
and therefore the balance sheet figures differ from risk management figures.  
The table should be read in conjunction with the comments on pages 59-61:

Reconciliation of the risk exposure table to the balance sheet
2007 2006

1. lOANS AND RECEIvABlES (AC, AFS, FvtPl) BAlANCE SHEET 8,934 8,019

1.1  Commercial real estate / infrastructure 
eligible for sale / securitisation por tfolios (1,661) (945)

1.2 Mezzanine loans (125) (192)

1.3 Undrawn facilities 2,148 2,750

1.4 Fair value 80 (107)

1.5 Credit loss provisions 67 83

1.6 Fees 22 25

1.7 Call & Notice (232) (297)

1.8 Suspense accounts (3) (123)

1.9  Corporate Finance equity positions in 
corporate loans table reclass from note 7 2 14

1.10 Financing NIBC N.V. (492) (170)

1.11 Mesdag Delta (638)

Other (108) 47

TOTAl CORPORATE lOANS RISK ExPOSURE TABlE 7,995 9,104

2. RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES OwN BOOK BAlANCE SHEET  5,285  4,438 

2.1 Fair value 110 105

2.2 Pipeline 120 212

2.3 Provide Orange (964) (989)

Other 45 74

TOTAl RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES RISK ExPOSURE TABlE  4,596  3,840 
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Reconciliation of the risk exposure table to the balance sheet (continued)
2007 2006

3. lOANS AND RECEIvABlES (FvtPl) BAlANCE SHEET 1,374 952

3.1 SLT Por tfolio 1 (133) 0

3.2 CLO Backbook (113) 0

3.3  Undrawn facilities CMBS / Infrastructure 2 
FVtPL) 97 0

3.4 Fair value 17 (7)

3.5  Infrastructure eligible for sale / securitisation 
por tfolio AfS (drawn + undrawn) 93 0

3.6  CMBS eligible for sale / securitisation 
por tfolio AfS (drawn + undrawn) 325 0

Other 1 0

TOTAl COMMERCIAl REAl ESTATE / 
INFRASTRUCTURE ElIgIBlE FOR SAlE / 
SECURITISATION PORFOlIOS RISK ExPOSURE TABlE  1,661  945 

4. DEBT SECURITIES REClASS FROM NOTE 5  4  3 

4.1 Eliminated RMBS / CMBS notes  165  68 

4.2 Due from other banks included in balance sheet, not in table 44  40 

TOTAl RMBS / CMBS /  
INFRASTRUCTURE NOTES RISK ExPOSURE TABlE 213  112 

5. DEBT SECURITIES AfS BAlANCE SHEET 311

 DEBT SECURITIES FvtPl BAlANCE SHEET 2,329 7,202

 STRUCTURED INvESTMENTS BAlANCE SHEET 1,212 914

5.1  Retained Infrastructure equity note  
in Debt Securities reclass to note 4 (4) (3)

5.2 Fair value 71 183

5.3 Off-balance 317 1,244

5.4 Leveraged loans in loans and receivables 125

5.5 Credit trading assets (215) (630)

Other 70 (128)

TOTAl FINANCIAl MARKETS RISK ExPOSURE TABlE 4,091 8,907

6. lOANS AND RECEIvABlES REClASS FROM NOTE 1 125 192

6.1 Mezzanine loans risk exposure table 125 192

7. EqUITy INvESTMENTS BAlANCE SHEET 291 185

7.1 Corporate Finance equity reclass to note 1 (2) (14)

EqUITy PRINCIPAl INvESTMENTS (PI) RISK ExPOSURE TABlE 289 171

CREDIT TRADINg ASSETS FINANCIAl 
MARKETS (ON- AND OFF-BAlANCE SHEET) 215 630

TOTAl 19,185 24,093

1.  Secondary Loan Trading.
2. Commercial Real Estate / Infrastructure loans.
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> 1 Loans and receivables
The balance sheet amount consists of loans and receivables at Amortised Cost (AC), 
Available for Sale (AfS) and at Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVtPL).

1.1: Commercial real estate / infrastructure eligible for sale / securitisation portfolios: n  
this amount is included in the balance sheet item Loans and receivables and presented 
separately in the risk exposure table under note 3 below;
1.2: Mezzanine loans: n  this amount is included in the balance sheet item Loans and 
receivables and presented separately in the risk exposure table under note 6 below;
1.3: Undrawn facilities: n  undrawn exposure amount is part of total corporate loan risk 
exposure, but it is an off-balance sheet amount and therefore corrected for risk 
management purposes; 
1.4: Fair value: n  fair value adjustment is the difference between the nominal exposure used 
for risk management purposes and the fair value of the corporate loans as presented on the 
balance sheet;
1.5: Credit loss provisions:  n the impairment losses on loans and receivables are added for risk 
management purposes in order to correct the balance sheet amount to nominal exposure;
1.6: Fees: n  capitalized fees included in loans and receivables are added for risk management 
purposes in order to correct the balance sheet from fair value to nominal exposure;
1.7: Call & Notice: n  cash collateral held by NIBC with non-bank counterparties which is 
classified as loans and receivables on the balance sheet. This amount is used for mitigating 
derivative exposure and is not part of risk exposure; 
1.8: Suspense accounts:  n accounts to settle in- and outgoing payments and relates to timing 
differences;
1.9: Corporate Finance equity positions:  n Corporate Finance equity positions are included 
in the balance sheet item Equity Investments and therefore reclassed from note 7 below;
1.10: Financing NIBC NV:  n this is an intercompany loan from the parent of NIBC and is 
therefore not part of the risk exposure;
1.11: Mesdag Delta: n  the credit risk for this consolidated securitisation has been sold, and is 
therefore not part of the risk exposure.

> 2 Residential mortgages own book

2.1: Fair value:  n fair value adjustment is the difference between the nominal exposure used 
for risk management purposes and the fair value of the the residential mortgages own book 
as presented on the balance sheet; 
2.2: Pipeline: n  includes outstanding mortgage offers (undrawn commitments) to clients and 
is already part of the risk exposure. The option value of the pipeline is presented separately 
under liabilities on the balance sheet; 
2.3: Provide Orange: n  this is a synthetic securitisation on the balance sheet that is still 
part of ‘Residential mortgages own book’. However, credit (spread) risk has been sold by an 
underlying credit default swap, and therefore this transaction is not part of risk exposure in 
risk table.

59

ANNUAL REPORT NIBC BANK N.V. | 2007



> 3 Loans and receivables (FVtPL)
Loans and receivables on the balance sheet include several loan portfolios and for risk 
management purposes the loan portfolio eligible for sale / securitisation are disclosed 
separately and derived as follows from the balance sheet amount. 

3.1: SLT portfolio: n  secondary loan trading book is part of loans and receivables (FVtPL), 
but is not part of the loan portfolio eligible for sale / securitisation;
3.2: CLO Backbook: n  leveraged loans backbook is part of loans and receivables (FVtPL), but 
is not part of the loan portfolio eligible for sale / securitisation;
3.3: Undrawn facilities CMBS / Infrastructure: n  undrawn exposure amount is part of 
Commercial real estate / Infrastructure risk exposure, and it is an off-balance sheet amount 
and therefore corrected for risk management purposes; 
3.4: Fair value: n  fair value adjustment is the difference between the nominal exposure used 
for risk management purposes and the fair value of the corporate loans eligible for sale / 
securitisation as presented on the balance sheet;
3.5: Infrastructure eligible for sale / securitisation portfolio (drawn + undrawn):  n
this portfolio is part of loans and receivables (AfS), and since part of this loan portfolio the 
amount is added to loans eligible for sale / securitisation;
3.6: CMBS eligible for sale / securitisation portfolio (drawn + undrawn): n  this portfolio is 
part of loans and receivables (AfS), and since part of this loan portfolio the amount is added 
to loans eligible for sale / securitisation.

> 4 Debt securities

The amount of EUR 4 million reflects a retained equity note of an infrastructure securitisation, 
included in the balance sheet item Debt Securities and is therefore reclassed from note 5 below.

4.1: Eliminated RMBS / CMBS notes: n  due to the consolidation of securitisations on the 
balance sheet, these retained positions are netted with the notes on the liability side of the 
balance sheet. In risk terms, these positions are part of the risk exposures of the assets;
4.2: Due from other banks: n  reserve accounts that are part of retained risk of 
securitisations, therefore part of RMBS / CMBS / Infrastructure exposure in table, but 
reflected in balance sheet item Due from other banks.

> 5 Debt securities / Structured Investments

5.1: Retained Infrastructure equity note in Debt Securities: n  this amount of EUR 4 million 
reflects a retained equity note of an infrastructure securitisation, which is part of Debt 
Securities, but not part of Financial Market assets (part of RMBS / CMBS / Infrastructure 
notes in the risk exposure table);
5.2: Fair value: n  fair value adjustment is the difference between the nominal exposure used 
for risk management purposes and the fair value of the debt securities / structured 
investments as presented on the balance sheet;
5.3: Off-balance: n  risk exposure is defined as nominal value for risk management purposes, 
while on the balance sheet only the difference between the nominal value and the fair value 
is reported under ‘Derivatives Financial Assets’;
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5.4: Leveraged loans n : leveraged loans are part of SBU Financial Markets and included 
under loans and receivables on the balance sheet in 2006;
5.5: Credit trading assets: n  for risk management purposes, the on- and off-balance 
positions of Credit trading are shown in terms of interest rate BPV or credit spread BPV 
and not as nominal risk exposure, as can be verified in the risk exposure table.

> 6 Loans and receivables
6.1: Mezzanine loans:  n mezzanine loans are part of loans and receivables on the balance 
sheet, and presented separately for risk management purposes. The amount is reclassed 
from note 1 on the previous page.

> 7 Equity Investments
The balance sheet amount consists of Equity investments Available for Sale (AfS) and at 
Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVtPL).

7.1: Corporate Finance equity:  n corporate finance equity is part of equity investments  
on the balance sheet, and is reclassed to note 1, corporate loans on the previous page.

The ALCO strategic mismatch of nominal value of USD 600 million (in 2007) is an interest 
rate swap position. Therefore, these off-balance instruments are not shown at nominal value on 
the balance sheet (only the fair value is on the balance sheet). For risk purposes, the nominal 
value of the swap position is shown in the risk exposure table.
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risk governance structure 
Under the supervision of our Managing Board and the Risk Policy Committee of our 
Supervisory Board, formal authority and ultimate decision-making in respect of risk 
management matters is the responsibility of our Risk Management Committee (RMC) and 
its sub-committees, ensuring that assessment and acceptance of credit, market, investment, 
liquidity and operational risk exposure is made independently of the business originators 
within the SBUs. 

Our risk management committees and departments, which comprise our risk governance 
structure, are set out in the following chart:

The RMC determines our overall risk appetite and risk profile at a strategic level, evaluates the 
risk management elements of new activities and products as well as any reputational risks, and 
approves major changes to risk policies. The RMC has delegated decision-making authority for 
particular areas to the sub-committees described below. All four members of our Managing 
Board are members of the RMC, which also includes representatives from the Transaction 
Committee and the ALCO. As necessitated by the topics to be discussed, specialists in certain 
areas are also invited to the meetings of the RMC. The RMC meets on an ad hoc basis.

The responsibilities of our risk management sub-committees are explained below:
The  n Operating Risk Committee (ORC) is responsible for determining and overseeing the 
implementation of measures to bring and maintain operational risk within acceptable 
limits, and reducing the frequency and impact of operational risk events in a cost-effective 
manner. The ORC monitors the design, presence, and operation of the bank’s internal risk 
management and control systems. To this end, the ORC reviews and approves the 
operational risk framework of the bank, project budgets and prioritization, new products, 
outsourcing, internal audit measures of improvement and business continuity. The ORC 
further monitors the effectiveness of the measures taken to limit the bank’s exposure to 
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operational risk through the semi-annual control risk self assessment and the annual 
In Control report completed by every (S)BU. The Operational Risk Manager reports 
functionally to the ORC. All the members of our Managing Board are members of the 
ORC. The ORC meets on a bi-weekly basis;
The  n Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) monitors the development of our balance sheet 
and risk profile. The ALCO monitors market risks, credit risks at an aggregate level, our 
capital structure and our liquidity position both at an aggregate balance sheet level and at 
a portfolio level. The ALCO also approves large transactions such as securitisations, sets 
overall limits on risk exposures, and manages our strategic interest rate position. The 
ALCO receives reports on all breaches of risk limits on a quarterly basis. Three members 
of our Managing Board are members of the ALCO. The ALCO meets on a weekly basis;
The  n Transaction Committee (TC), the Bank’s Credit Committee, sets and guides our general 
policy and procedures regarding counterparty risk on a portfolio level and makes decisions 
on senior debt transactions, impairments, country risk and lending and underwriting 
strategies, as well as evaluating opportunities for potential subsequent distribution of the 
asset. The TC sets limits and monitors exposure and impairments. Three members of our 
Managing Board are members of the TC. Meetings of the TC take place twice a week;
The  n Investment Committee (IC) is responsible for investment risk. The IC approves policies, 
procedures and transactions with respect to equity, mezzanine, and subordinated debt 
exposures as well as impairments and revaluations. Three members of our Managing Board 
are members of the IC. The IC meets on a weekly basis;
The  n Engagement Committee (EC) is responsible for the prevention of potential commercial 
conflicts of interest and compliance issues in evaluating potential assignments for our 
clients. Three members of our Managing Board are members of the EC. The EC meets on 
a weekly basis;
The  n Capital Markets Committee (CMC) focuses on assets in a credit spread environment by 
means of qualitative market and credit assessments. The committee operates on the 
intersection of market risk and credit risk. Two members of our Managing Board are 
members of the CMC. The CMC meets on a weekly basis.

Overlap of committee membership among Managing Board members contributes to 
consistency in communication and decision-making. In all our risk management committees, 
at least two members are members of our Managing Board.

In order to promote a consistent approach to risk management across all our commercial 
activities, our centralised risk management functions are based in two risk management 
departments, the Credit Risk Management department (CRM) and the Risk Management 
department (RM), covering all our SBUs. These departments support the various risk 
management committees dedicated to monitoring the different risk categories we face (see 
following chart). The primary responsibility of CRM and RM is to identify, measure, evaluate, 
and report on all credit, market, investment, liquidity, and operational risks to which we are 
exposed, including country risk. Our CRM and RM departments carry out daily risk control 
and monitoring activities, and also prepare and implement review and control policies for all 
risk portfolios. CRM and RM support our risk management committees by carrying out the 
following risk management responsibilities:
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CRM is responsible for the credit risk management of the Corporate Finance and Real  n
Estate Markets SBUs, as well as for our leveraged loan portfolios, and for investment risk 
management of the Principal Investments SBU. CRM develops and implements policies  
and procedures regarding credit risk and investment risk, advises on credit and investment 
proposals and reviews potential impairments. For additional information on the duties  
and responsibilities of CRM see page 69 ‘Credit Risk Management – Overview’. CRM also 
contributes to Basel II activities.
RM is responsible for managing risks for our Real Estate Markets, Financial Markets and  n
Corporate Center SBUs. Key risks in these SBUs are market risk (interest rate and credit 
spread risk) and, within Financial Markets, credit risk from Over The Counter (OTC) 
derivatives, which despite being classified as a non-market risk is monitored by RM as part 
of its comprehensive management of all Financial Markets’ risks. On a bank-wide level, 
RM is responsible for liquidity and operational risk. RM maintains the systems we use to 
measure market and counterparty risk, and supports our asset and liability management 
policies as established by the ALCO. RM also contributes to our operational risk 
management and Basel II activities.

The following table presents the primary responsibilities of CRM and RM by SBU: 

CRM and RM generate a number of risk reports relevant to their areas of responsibility. 

These reports are delivered to the appropriate risk management sub-committees as part of our 
overall risk control framework.
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overview of the asset base
The following charts present our total asset portfolios, nominal value EUR 19.2 billion as at 
31 December 2007 and EUR 24.1 billion as at 31 December 2006, held across all our SBUs, 
by portfolio, rating, geography, and currency. For purposes of our risk management systems, 
we analyse our total asset base, as presented in the following charts, by:

Considering both drawn and undrawn amounts; n
Considering nominal value rather than fair market value of our assets; n
Excluding securitised residential mortgages with the exception of retained credit risk. Total  n
assets depicted in the following charts do not include certain items from our consolidated 
balance sheet, including securitised residential mortgages and non-cash assets which have 
minimal risk exposure. It also does not reflect our interest rate mismatch position.

In 2007 the risk exposure assets as presented in this section declined as a result of lower debt 
securities of our Financial Markets SBU.

NIBC Bank has decreased its debt securities portfolio from EUR 7.2 billion (end of 2006) 
to EUR 2.6 billion (end of 2007). This decrease includes the full de-risking of the US ABS 
investment book, which amounted to EUR 2.2 billion at the beginning of 2007 and nil at the 
end of 2007. In 2007 the net loss from this discontinued business was EUR 141 million net 
of tax. The de-risking was executed by means of three actions:

The sale of US securities of EUR 0.7 billion during the first half year of 2007; n
The sale of a portfolio of EUR 0.4 billion of all US sub prime residential mortgage ABS  n
securities (NIBC therefore no longer has any US sub prime residential mortgage exposure 
in its portfolios);
The transfer of a portfolio of EUR 0.9 billion (fair value end of 2007 EUR 0.7 billion) of all  n
US commercial real estate ABS securities to NIBC Holding.

The remaining decrease of EUR 0.2 billion reflects the before tax loss from discontinued 
operations and the devaluation of the US dollar in the first half year of 2007.
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Assets by Portfolio 1

 

1.  Loans include Corporate Loans, Commercial Real Estate / Infrastructure eligible for sale / securitisation portfolios and 
Mezzanine Loans. 

2. Residential Mortgages include Residential Mortgages and RMBS / CMBS / Infrastructure notes. 

Based on total nominal risk management exposure of EUR 19.2 billion as at 31 December 2007 
and EUR 24.1 billion as at 31 December 2006. 

Assets by Rating 1

 

1.  As at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006, based upon external ratings except for corporate loans and 
mortgages which are according to our internally-developed credit-rating methodology, as described below under  
‘Lending portfolio – credit ratings (page 70) and Credit Risk management – Real Estate Markets (page 87)’.

Based on total nominal risk management exposure of EUR 19.2 billion as at 31 December 2007 
and EUR 24.1 billion as at 31 December 2006. 
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Assets by geography 1

 

1.   As at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006. Calculated according to the region in which the borrowers’ cash 
flows are generated. In certain cases, where the borrower’s cash flows cannot be allocated to a specific geography, we 
allocate to the region of the domicile of the borrower.

Based on total nominal risk management exposure of EUR 19.2 billion as at 31 December 2007 
and EUR 24.1 billion as at 31 December 2006. 

Assets by Currency
 

Based on total nominal risk management exposure of EUR 19.2 billion as at 31 December 2007 
and EUR 24.1 billion as at 31 December 2006. 
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The following table shows how the assets on the balance sheet can be reconciled to the total 
nominal risk management exposure as at 31 December 2007 and 2006.

The following additional items explain the underlying differences:
Cash:  n this is the amount on the account at the Dutch Central Bank and is therefore not part 
of the Bank’s risk exposure;
Due from other banks: n  deposits etc. with banks that are not part of the risk exposure assets 
but that are part of counterparty risk exposure which is described on page 96;
Securitised Residential Mortgages: n  as the credit (spread) risk has been transferred to the 
noteholders by means of securitisations, these assets are not part of the Bank’s risk 
exposure, however these are part of the balance sheet;
Derivatives financial assets held for trading / hedging: n  the fair value of derivative 
positions is largely neutralised by the derivative positions on the liability side of the balance 
sheet. The net effect is covered under counterparty risk; see section ‘Credit risk 
management – Financial markets’ on page 95 for credit risk disclosures and section ‘Market 
risk management’ as from page 101 for market risk disclosures on derivatives;
Non financial assets:  n these assets as described in notes 28 to 33 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements are not considered in the financial risk analyses. 

Risk Management adjustments as explained in section Risk management philosophy on page 53: 
this is the sum of all adjustments disclosed in the tables on page 57-58, which shows the 
detailed reconciliation from balance sheet to nominal risk exposure figures.

Overview of the Asset Base
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

BAlANCE SHEET 31,793 32,450

DIFFERENCES BETwEEN BAlANCE SHEET AND 
RISK ExPOSURE

Cash and balances with central banks (balance sheet) (874) (239)

Due from other banks (balance sheet) (3,145) (1,762)

Securitised Residential Mortgages (balance sheet) (6,356) (6,988)

Derivatives financial assets held for trading (balance sheet) (2,641) (1,937)

Derivatives financial assets held for hedging (balance sheet) (85) (300)

Non financial assets (balance sheet) (330) (466)

Risk Management adjustments as explained on page 53 1 725 3,189

Other 98 146

RISK ExPOSURE 19,185 24,093

1.  Risk Mangement adjustments include: 
 -  Loans and receivables: undrawn exposure EUR 2,148, fair value EUR 80, provisions EUR 67, fees EUR 22, call and 

notice EUR (232), ‘suspense accounts EUR (3), financing NIBC N.V. EUR (492), mesdag Delta EUR (638), other 
EUR (108); 

 - Commercial real estate / infrastructure eligible for sale / securitisation portfolios: fair value 17;
 - Residential mortgages own book: Provide orange EUR (964), pipeline EUR 120, fair value EUR 110, other EUR 45;
 -  Debt securities: fair value EUR 71, elimination RMBS / CMBS notes EUR 165, off-balance items Financial Markets 

EUR 317.
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credit risk management
Overview
CRM is responsible for the credit risk management of the Corporate Finance and Real Estate 
Markets SBUs (with respect to commercial properties), as well as for Financial Markets 
leveraged loan portfolios (2006), and for the investment risk management of the Principal 
Investments SBU. CRM also develops and implements policies and procedures regarding credit 
and investment risk, reporting to the TC, the IC, our Managing Board and the Risk Policy 
Committee of our Supervisory Board. CRM is responsible for creating awareness with respect 
to general or specific credit and investment risks based on market circumstances and 
developments. For the SBUs and loan portfolios it monitors, CRM assesses counterparty risk 
and validates counterparty credit and facility ratings based on our internally-developed rating 
system as discussed below under ‘Lending portfolio – credit ratings,’ under which we carry out 
a review of each counterparty at least once a year. CRM also assesses and advises on credit and 
investment proposals and reviews and potential impairments. CRM conducts continuous 
monitoring through monthly reports on payment arrears, tracking backlogs of credit reviews, 
and reviewing quarterly reports on impairments of the portfolios managed by Principal 
Investments and Corporate Finance, including Distressed Assets. On a quarterly basis, CRM 
prepares and presents portfolio reports to the TC on exposures per credit rating, industry 
segment, country, region, and currency. 

Credit Risk Management Principles 
Our main credit risk management principles are: 

We authorise credit risk exposure independent of the business originators in the SBUs;  n
Before committing to any transaction, we require authorisation by the relevant committee  n
or at least two authorised individuals (the ‘four-eyes principle’); 
We perform systematic risk analysis with the aim of identifying, measuring, and evaluating  n
all risks;
When appropriate, we consult with subject matter experts who are independent of the  n
functions responsible for commercial and / or financial performance to undertake risk 
analysis and supervision; 
We only undertake transactions within generic market and product limits and individual  n
counterparty limits. 

Credit Risk Management – Lending
The following section presents an analysis of the risk characteristics as at 31 December 2007 
and 2006 of our corporate loan portfolio, which comprises the assets originated by our general 
corporate financing activities and held by our Corporate Finance SBU and Real Estate Markets 
SBU (with respect to commercial properties), as well as the mezzanine financing portfolio held 
by our Principal Investments SBU and Financial Markets’ leveraged loan portfolios (2006). 
Tables in this ‘Risk Management’ section, which reflect multiple currencies, are expressed in 
euros, converted using the euro exchange rate as of 31 December 2007 and 2006. Amounts in 
this ‘Credit Risk Management – Lending’ section reflect total exposure amounts (drawn and 
undrawn), without taking impairment amounts, collateral or other risk mitigation measures 
into account.
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The credit risk for corporate loans includes the loan portfolios eligible for sale / securitisation 
portfolios. The total corporate loan portfolio can be specified as follows:

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Corporate Loans risk exposure table page 57 (note 1) 7,995 9,104

Commercial real estate / infrastructure eligible for sale / 
securitisation por tfolios risk exposure table page 58 (note 3) 1,661 945

Mezzanine loans risk exposure table page 58 (note 6) 125 192

TOTAl CORPORATE lOAN ExPOSURE TABlES / gRAPHS PAgE 69-86 9,781 10,241

Management of credit exposures 
We base credit decisions regarding our corporate loan portfolio on: 

One Obligor Exposure n  (OOE), combining all committed and potential future exposure 
related to a counterparty;
Counterparty credit rating, which reflects the  n probability of default (PD) of the 
counterparty. 

The TC and the IC approve the vast majority of individual credit proposals, and CRM approves 
the proposals which are generally smaller in scale. All approvals of individual credit proposals 
are granted only after CRM makes a credit risk assessment and weighs it against aggregate 
limits we set per country, per industry segment, and per individual counterparty. In principle, 
the maximum final exposure we will accept to any single counterparty is approximately 5% of 
our Tier-I Capital. As an internal guideline, the maximum final take and hold exposure we 
will accept to any industry sub-sector is, in principle, 25% of our Tier-I Capital. As at 
31 December 2007, the total final take and hold exposure amount (drawn and undrawn) of our 
twenty largest loans (excluding temporary positions) accounted for 13% of our total corporate 
loan portfolio exposure (both drawn and undrawn) and 57% of our total BIS Capital (defined 
as our Tier-I and Tier-II capital), respectively 13% and 68% as at 31 December 2006.

The data generated by our internally-developed rating system is used as a key input for 
extensive credit portfolio analysis, taking into account data covering our entire portfolio, 
industry segment concentration, and diversification effects and RAROC and EVA, as 
discussed above.

Corporate lending portfolio – credit ratings
We qualified for the ‘Advanced Internal Rating Based’ approach under Basel II when reporting 
the credit risk element of our regulatory capital. This requires that we maintain and validate 
a sophisticated internal credit rating methodology for each type of credit product we offer. 
We have applied our internally-developed credit rating methodology since 2000. 
This methodology consists of two elements: a counterparty credit rating which reflects the 
probability of default of the borrower, and an anticipated loss element that expresses the 
potential loss in event of default. Our internally-developed rating system assesses credit risk 
solely based upon probability of default, without taking into account the mitigating effects of 
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available collateral. During 2007, we improved a loss given default model, as further specified 
on page 133 – ‘Basel II Compliance’. 

Regularly, we map counterparty credit ratings that we derive from our internal credit rating 
methodology to the Standard & Poor’s rating methodology in order to gauge the consistency 
and reliability of our internal methodology. 

Statistical validation of our internal credit rating model requires confirmation against historical 
data from a significantly large pool of defaulted customers. Although we currently rely largely 
upon our own historical data to perform statistical validation, we initiated the Pan-European 
Credit Data Consortium in order to facilitate greater availability of data across the industry. 
This data pooling initiative currently has 30 members, including some of the largest banks in 
Europe. Over time, we believe the information collected through the data pooling initiative 
will support our ability to carry out sophisticated credit risk analysis and more efficiently 
allocate economic and regulatory capital. 

The credit quality of our corporate loan portfolio can be assessed by reference to the internal 
rating system adopted by NIBC.

Our exposure to different credit rating levels as at 31 December 2007 and 2006, as categorised 
according to our internally-generated credit ratings, is set out in the following chart. 

Our internally-generated credit ratings are numbered from 1 to 10, which are mapped with the 
corresponding credit ratings of Standard & Poors and are labelled from AAA to D.
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% of Total excluding impaired 1 corporate loan exposure 2007
 

% of Total impaired 1 corporate loans outstandings 2007
 

1.  Impaired: we classify loans that meet one or more of the impairment criteria as ‘impaired’ and classify the entire 
outstanding amount of the loan, including other facilities of the same debtor which do not meet the impairment criteria, 
as an ‘impaired outstanding’.
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% of Total excluding impaired 1 corporate loan exposure 2006
 

% of Total impaired 1 corporate loans outstanding 2006
 

1.  Impaired: we classify loans that meet one or more of the impairment criteria as ‘impaired’ and classify the entire 
outstanding amount of the loan, including other facilities of the same debtor which do not meet the impairment criteria, 
as an ‘impaired outstanding’.

Total corporate loan exposure amount (both drawn and undrawn) of EUR 9.7 billion 
(2006: EUR 9.9 billion). Certain assets in our corporate loan portfolio, totalling EUR 0.1 billion 
(2006: EUR 0.3 billion), are not rated according to our internally-generated credit ratings for 
various reasons.
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The rating distribution of our corporate loan portfolio (which represented approximately 
51% of our total assets, excluding the securitised mortgages we hold on our balance sheet as 
at 31 December 2007 and 43% as at 31 December 2006). Almost all of our exposures are in the 
‘BBB’ to ‘B’ range, as measured by our internal ratings methodology. 

Corporate lending portfolio – industry segment and geographical composition 
The following charts and tables provide an overview of the total exposure amount (both drawn 
and undrawn) of our corporate loan portfolio per industry segment, rating distribution per 
segment and total exposure amount per region as at 31 December 2007 and 2006. Although 
our business operations and client activities focus on our seven client coverage teams, for risk 
management purposes we categorise industry segments according to the breakdown in the 
following charts and tables. These categories are those commonly used throughout the 
financial services industry, making comparative analysis and use of third party data possible.

The following table presents the distribution of the total exposure amount (both drawn and 
undrawn) of our corporate loan portfolio, by industry segment, as at 31 December 2007 and 2006.

(Including non rated exposure)

2007 2006

Exposure 1 % of portfolio Exposure % of portfolio

Real Estate  2,489 25.5%  2,231 21.8%

Shipping  1,488 15.2%  1,472 14.4%

Manufacturing  1,388 14.2%  2,061 20.1%

Trade 1,347 13.8% 1,347 13.2%

Infrastructure 1,156 11.8% 744 7.3%

Health / Education  733 7.5%  682 6.7%

Utilities  291 3.0%  422 4.1%

Food / agriculture  171 1.7%  350 3.4%

Financial Services  137 1.4%  194 1.9%

Aviation  116 1.2%  179 1.7%

Other sectors  465 4.8%  559 5.5%

TOTAl lOAN PORTFOlIO 2 9,781 100.0% 10,241 100.0%

1.  Includes EUR 0.1 billion for 2007 and EUR 0.3 billion for 2006 in assets which are not rated according to our internally-generated credit ratings  
for various reasons.

2. Includes loans for securitisation and / or syndication.
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The following tables present the distribution of credit ratings, as categorised according to the 
counterparty credit rating generated by our internal credit rating model and by industry 
segment in our corporate loan portfolio as at 31 December 2007 and 2006.

Distribution of Credit Ratings by Industry Segment 2007 (Excluding non rated exposure)

AAA AA A BBB BB B CCC+ CCC CC / C D Total

Aviation 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.02% 0.12% 0.66% 0.03% 0.11% 0.50% 0.04% 1.48%

Financial Services 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1.12% 0.47% 0.00% 0.00% 0.15% 0.00% 1.73%

Food / Agriculture 0.00% 0.00% 0.54% 0.83% 0.00% 0.65% 0.04% 0.00% 0.01% 0.01% 2.07%

Health / Education 0.00% 0.41% 0.12% 2.03% 3.08% 1.36% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 6.99%

Manufactering 0.00% 0.06% 0.00% 2.76% 4.00% 4.34% 0.02% 0.01% 0.27% 0.00% 11.47%

Other 0.00% 0.01% 0.11% 0.44% 1.78% 2.78% 0.01% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 5.14%

Real Estate 0.00% 0.31% 0.35% 2.06% 18.86% 6.78% 0.11% 0.00% 0.12% 0.04% 28.65%

Shipping 0.00% 0.00% 0.14% 2.03% 11.08% 1.39% 0.03% 0.00% 0.00% 0.02% 14.69%

Trade 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1.27% 5.68% 6.63% 0.00% 0.11% 0.09% 0.00% 13.78%

Infrastructure 0.00% 0.11% 0.00% 3.76% 3.03% 2.14% 0.18% 0.00% 1.49% 0.00% 10.70%

Utilities 0.00% 0.00% 0.15% 1.55% 0.99% 0.59% 0.01% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 3.30%

gRAND TOTAl 0.00% 0.90% 1.40% 16.76% 49.75% 27.78% 0.44% 0.23% 2.62% 0.11% 100.00%

Proportion of total corporate loan portfolio, outstanding drawn amount of EUR 7.6 billion and 
is excluding the undrawn exposure of EUR 2,148 million.

Distribution of Credit Ratings by Industry Segment 2006 (Excluding non rated exposure)

AAA AA A BBB BB B CCC+ CCC CC / C D Total

Aviation 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.08% 0.52% 0.73% 0.29% 0.50% 0.06% 0.19% 2.36%

Financial Services 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.95% 1.18% 0.03% 0.01% 0.04% 0.00% 2.20%

Food / Agriculture 0.00% 0.00% 0.58% 1.59% 0.49% 0.31% 0.29% 0.00% 0.01% 0.01% 3.28%

Health / Education 0.00% 0.50% 0.15% 1.44% 1.53% 0.64% 0.00% 0.29% 0.00% 0.00% 4.54%

Manufactering 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 2.70% 5.90% 8.79% 0.42% 0.40% 0.19% 0.06% 18.47%

Other 0.00% 0.01% 0.14% 0.71% 3.69% 1.71% 0.02% 0.00% 0.00% 0.01% 6.29%

Real Estate 0.00% 0.33% 0.41% 4.96% 12.01% 5.46% 0.12% 0.00% 0.12% 0.00% 23.42%

Shipping 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 2.36% 10.40% 2.52% 0.03% 0.00% 0.00% -0.18% 15.14%

Trade 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 1.96% 7.20% 3.29% 0.14% 0.11% 0.23% -0.01% 12.91%

Infrastructure 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 2.09% 1.57% 1.43% 0.19% 0.72% 0.28% 0.00% 6.27%

Utilities 0.00% 0.00% 0.17% 1.27% 2.71% 0.44% 0.15% 0.16% 0.22% 0.00% 5.12%

gRAND TOTAl 0.00% 0.85% 1.45% 19.17% 46.96% 26.49% 1.68% 2.17% 1.16% 0.08% 100.00%

Proportion of total corporate loan portfolio, outstanding drawn amount EUR 7.5 billion and is 
excluding the undrawn exposure of EUR 2,750 million.
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The following charts present the distribution of the total exposure amount (both drawn and 
undrawn) of our corporate loan portfolio as at 31 December 2007 and 2006, by geographic 
region, according to the country in which the borrower’s cash flows are generated.

Corporate loan exposure per region 2007
 

Corporate loan exposure per region 2006
 

Total exposure amount (drawn plus undrawn) EUR 9.8 billion (2006: EUR 10.2 billion).
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As at 31 December 2007, 40% of our total exposure amount (both drawn and undrawn) by 
region related to the Benelux region, and approximately 84% of our geographical exposure 
(both drawn and undrawn) was within Europe.

Corporate lending portfolio – leveraged finance 
Because of the increasingly aggressive debt structures especially during the first half of 2007 in 
the Leveraged Finance market, we exercised restraint in approving new Leveraged Finance debt 
especially with regard to covenant lite transactions and second lien debt and decreased our 
portfolio from EUR 1.7 billion to EUR 1.26 billion at year end. By the end of January 2008 
the portfolio was reduced to EUR 0.95 billion. The portfolio comprises of over 80 transactions 
with an average size of EUR 15 million. The portfolio is spread over 8 different industry 
segments. The largest single exposure comprises less than 5% of the total exposure and is well 
collateralized. In general the companies have strong and sustainable market positions in their 
respective markets, which are important risk mitigants. 

It is our policy to focus on mid-market transactions in the UK, German and Benelux markets 
which are characterized by significantly lower leverage ratios compared to the large Jumbos 
and Nordic transactions, and in general better expected recovery ratios. Besides leverage and 
recovery ratios, an adequate equity cushion including a financially committed management 
are relevant issues in our approval considerations.
Furthermore, we focus on selected core equity sponsors with excellent track records to further 
mitigate the transaction risk. 
As a result of the above considerations, the number and size of new transactions in 2007 
was very low.

Corporate lending portfolio – commercial real estate portfolio of Real Estate Markets SBU 
The Commercial real estate loan portfolio of the SBU REM (EUR 1,958 million of the total 
EUR 2,489 million commercial real estate exposure of NIBC) consists of 124 mortgage loans 
to 35 counterparties. At year end, EUR 1,716 million (88%) of the total exposure was drawn.

The portfolio is diversified across various commercial real estate classes and various countries. 
Loans financing multi-family properties account for 68% of the portfolio, loans financing office 
and retail properties account for 6.6% and 2.5% respectively. Hotel financing constitutes 12.7% 
and construction financing constitutes 5.9% of the portfolio. The remainder of 4.3% of the 
portfolio comprises loans financing miscellaneous properties, including mixed use and 
industrial properties.

The commercial real estate is located for 39.4% in Germany, for 45.4% in the Netherlands and 
for 0.7% in other European countries.
The weighted average LTV of the entire portfolio is 73.9%. Of the total portfolio, 
EUR 103 million exposure relates to so called B-notes (2nd lien exposure).

NIBC is continuing to distribute its portfolio through a broad array of distribution methods. 
The price levels achieved in the most recently closed distribution transactions (mainly in the 
banking market) provide the benchmark for the Mark-to-Market valuation per ultimo 2007.
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Corporate lending portfolio – country risk 
Country risk is potentially an important cause of increased counterparty default risk since 
a large number of related individual debtors could default at the same time. Our policy is to 
attempt to minimise country risk by monitoring the following elements: 

Gross country exposure n : as a rule, we allocate exposure to the country in which the 
borrower’s cash flows are generated. We define our gross country exposure as the aggregate 
maximum exposure (both drawn and undrawn) to all our borrowers or guarantors in a 
given country;
Net country exposure n : our net country exposure is our gross country exposure modified to 
take into account the value of certain moveable assets, such as ships and aircraft, securing 
loans to borrowers in a given country. The fair market value of such collateral is, after 
applying a valuation formula, deducted facility by facility from our gross exposure under all 
lending facilities in a given country to generate our net country exposure; 
Country limits n : we maintain a country limit system to manage country risks by net 
country exposure for certain countries. In general, we do not apply a country limit to 
OECD countries. For other selected countries, we use a methodology based on government 
bond ratings provided by Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s to determine country limits.

The following table shows the gross and net exposures in our corporate loan portfolio, 
for countries bound by a country limit, as at 31 December 2007 and 2006.

gross exposure 
in EUR millions % of portfolio

Net exposure 
in EUR millions % of portfolio

REgION

South East Asia  486 4.97%  224 2.29%

Non-OECD Europe  136 1.39%  85 0.87%

Caribbean  132 1.35%  41 0.42%

Other  241 2.46%  121 1.23%

TOTAl  996 10.18%  471 4.81%

Proportion of total corporate loan portfolio, exposure amount (drawn plus undrawn) 
EUR 9.8 billion.

gross exposure 
in EUR millions % of portfolio

Net exposure 
in EUR millions % of portfolio

REgION

South East Asia  463 4.52%  236 2.30%

Non-OECD Europe  193 1.89%  106 1.03%

Caribbean  108 1.06%  73 0.72%

Other  167 1.63%  86 0.84%

TOTAl 931 9.09% 501 4.89%

Proportion of total corporate loan portfolio, exposure amount (drawn plus undrawn) 
EUR 10.2 billion.
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Most of our gross and net exposure relates to our deep sea shipping portfolio. Our South East 
Asia exposure originates mainly from pre-delivery shipping finance activities, which are for the 
most part guaranteed by South East Asian export banks. For 2006, most of our Caribbean 
exposure originates from the financing of utilities which was sold of during 2007.

Corporate lending portfolio – collateral risk mitigation
Corporate loans can be collateralised1 by assets such as mortgages and receivables, by leases, or 
by liens on property, machinery and equipment or by third party guarantees and other similar 
agreements. If so, we deem the loan to be collateralised. Of our corporate loan portfolio by total 
exposure amount (both drawn and undrawn), 85% was collateralised as at 31 December 2007 
and 75% was collateralised as at 31 December 2006. The following table shows the collateral 
profile of our corporate loan portfolio by industry segment and by proportion of exposure as at 
31 December 2007 and 2006. 

Breakdown of Collateral by Industry Segment and Proportion of Exposure 2007
 

Total exposure amount (drawn plus undrawn) EUR 9.8 billion.
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Collateralised Not collateralised

1.  Collateralised: Corporate loans can be (partly) secured by assets such as mortgages and receivables, by leases, or by liens on 
property, machinery and equipment or by third party guarantees and other similar agreements. If so, we deem the loan to be 
collateralised.
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Breakdown of Collateral by Industry Segment and Proportion of Exposure 2006
 

Total exposure amount (drawn plus undrawn) EUR 10.2 billion.

In general, we request collateral to protect our interests. We ascribe value to collateral accepted 
for loans and guarantees, based on the assumption that documentation is effective and that 
enforcing our legal rights to the collateral will be successful. The type and quantity of the 
collateral depends on the type of transaction, the counterparty and the risks involved. The most 
significant forms of collateral securing our loans are tangible assets, such as real estate and 
equipment. We initially value collateral based on fair market value when structuring the 
transaction and evaluate the collateral (semi)-annually during the lifetime of the transaction. 
We typically confirm legal enforceability of our interest in collateral with independent third party 
experts. To arrive at the collateral value, we use external appraisers whenever possible, as well as 
methodologies based on common market practice. The realisable value of certain moveable 
assets, such as ships and aircraft, securing loans in the sectors shipping and aviation equals 
EUR 3,082 million as at 31 December 2007 and EUR 2,876 million as at 31 December 2006. 
Nearly all commercial real estate portfolio is collateralised. Also other parts of the corporate loan 
portfolio are to a large extent collateralised (see figures above) but the collateral value is more 
difficult to determine, hence we, conservatively, value the collateral at nil.

Corporate lending portfolio – past due amounts
An arrear in payment occurs when a debtor is unable or unwilling to fulfil its obligations on 
any payment (including instalments and interests). If the past due arrear is more than 90 days 
old, one of the impairment criteria we apply is met and an impairment test is required in order 
to determine if an impairment amount is necessary.

The following table provides an overview of our corporate loan portfolio at 31 December 2007 
and 2006, showing the total drawn exposure amounts for loans (both collateralised and not 
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collateralised) that have payments in arrear and the amounts of such arrears (comprising 
instalments and interest). The payments in arrear include arrears due to administrative causes.

Payments in Arrear 2007
Exposure amount of outstandings  

(including amounts in arrear) 
 

Amount in Arrear

IN euR mILLIONS Collateralised
Not

collateralised Total
% of

outstandings Collateralised
Not

collateralised Total
% of

outstandings

AgE OF PAyMENTS 
IN ARREAR

Up to 30 days  176  29  205 2.7%  31  2  33 0.4%

30 - 60 days  10  -  10 0.1%  -  -  - 0.0%

60 - 90 days  7  -  7 0.1%  -  -  - 0.0%

SUBTOTAl  
lESS THAN 90 DAyS  193  29  222 2.9%  31  2  33 0.4%

over 90 days  73  63  136 1.8%  10  26  36 0.5%

no payment arrear  6,415  860  7,275 95.3%

gRAND TOTAl 6,680  952  7,632 100.0%  41  28  69 0.9%

Payments in Arrear 2006
Exposure amount of outstandings  

(including amounts in arrear) 
 

Amount in Arrear 

IN euR mILLIONS Collateralised
Not

collateralised Total
% of

outstandings Collateralised
Not

collateralised Total
% of 

outstandings

AgE OF PAyMENTS 
IN ARREAR

Up to 30 days  128  40  168 2.2%  3  -  3 0.0%

30 - 60 days  -  14  15 0.2%  -  14  14 0.2%

60 - 90 days  38  -  38 0.5%  -  -  - 0.0%

SUBTOTAl  
lESS THAN 90 DAyS  166  54  221 2.9%  3  15  18 0.2%

over 90 days  292  87  378 5.0%  32  17  49 0.6%

no payment arrear  5,433  1,462  6,895 92.0%  -  -  - 

gRAND TOTAl 5,890  1,603  7,494 100.0%  35  32  66 0.9%

Total undrawn exposure was EUR 2,148 at 31 December 2007 (2006 EUR 2,750) and is 
excluded from this table.
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Corporate lending portfolio – impairment amounts
Policies
We review the status of each of our loan counterparties at least once a year. In addition to this 
annual review, credit officers of the Corporate Finance SBU, Real Estate Markets SBU, Principal 
Investments SBU, Financial Markets SBU, and CRM continually monitor the quality of 
counterparties in our portfolios. We classify loans that meet one or more of the impairment 
criteria as ‘impaired’ and classify the entire outstanding amount of the loan, including other 
facilities of the same debtor which do not meet the impairment criteria, as an ‘impaired 
outstanding’. Being deemed an impaired outstanding does not necessarily lead us to assign 
an impairment amount to a loan. By taking into account certain factors, and in particular the 
available collateral securing that loan, we calculate an impairment amount on an impaired 
outstanding only if the total impaired outstanding is greater than the sum of the net present 
value of the ‘realisable collateral value’ and any other cash flow we expect on the loan. 
We determine the realisable collateral value for a given element of collateral based upon our 
best estimate of what it could be sold, executed or liquidated for in the market, taking into 
account disposal and transaction costs. All loans are evaluated on an individual basis. Once we 
determine that an impaired outstanding requires an impairment amount, we classify the entire 
loan as a ‘non-performing outstanding’. 

Impairments by industry segment and geographic region 
Of the total impaired outstandings of EUR 451 million at 31 December 2007 and EUR 416 million 
at 31 December 2006, a total of EUR 165 million at 31 December 2007 and EUR 170 million at 
31 December 2006 bore an impairment amount, and the drawn exposure amounts of the loans 
with impairment amounts were therefore classified as non-performing outstandings. 

The following table sets out impairment data in relation to our corporate loan portfolio by 
industry segment as at 31 December 2007 and 2006. 

Impairment amounts by Industry Segment 2007
Impaired outstandings Non-performing outstandings Impairment amount

In EUR millions In % In EUR millions In % In EUR millions In %

Infrastructure 132 29.3% 86 51.9% 22 37.2%

Manufacturing 97 21.4% 23 14.0% 14 24.0%

Real Estate 67 14.9% 12 7.5% 7 11.0%

Aviation 50 11.0% 32 19.6% 11 19.2%

Health / Education 45 10.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Trade 44 9.9% 7 4.1% 3 5.4%

Financial Services 11 2.5% 2 1.4% 0 0.4%

Food / Agriculture 3 0.7% 1 0.6% 0 0.8%

Shipping 2 0.3% 2 0.9% 1 1.9%

Utilities 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Other 0 0.0% 0 0.0% 0 0.1%

gRAND TOTAl 451 100.0% 165 100.0% 59 100.0%
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As at 31 December 2007, total Corporate Loan portfolio EUR 9.8 billion, both drawn and 
undrawn. 

The balance sheet impairment amount is EUR 67 million, the difference of EUR 8 million is 
due to the fact that the figure in this table includes only the value of the loan and not the 
provisions or other related payments.

Impairment amounts by Industry Segment 2006
Impaired outstandings Non-performing outstandings Impairment amount

In EUR millions In % In EUR millions In % In EUR millions In %

Manufacturing 117 28.2% 19 11.0% 15 17.9%

Aviation 75 18.0% 47 27.4% 19 22.5%

Infrastructure 71 17.2% 35 20.7% 20 24.1%

Trade 59 14.2% 24 14.0% 8 10.2%

Utilities 28 6.6% 28 16.2% 3 4.0%

Health / Education 21 5.0% 1 0.0% - 0.0%

Real Estate 11 2.6% - 5.2% 7 8.1%

Financial Services 6 1.4% 9 3.5% 4 4.8%

Shipping 2 0.4% 6 0.9% 1 1.4%

Food / Agriculture 1 0.2% 2 0.7% 1 1.1%

Other 25 6.1% 1 0.4% 1 6.0%

gRAND TOTAl 416 100.0% 170 100.0% 79 100.0%

As at 31 December 2006, total Corporate Loan portfolio EUR 10.2 billion, both drawn and 
undrawn. 

The balance sheet impairment amount is EUR 83 million, the difference of EUR 4 million is due 
to the fact that the figure in this table includes only the value of the loan and not the provisions 
or other related payments.

The twenty most significant impaired outstandings represented 54% of our total impaired 
outstandings as at 31 December 2007 and 78% as at 31 December 2006. Although aviation was 
the segment with the highest percentage of impaired outstandings in 2007, when related to the 
total loan exposure, our total lending to the aviation segment represented only 1.2% of our total 
loan exposure (drawn and undrawn) as of 31 December 2007 and 1.7% as at 31 December 2006. 
In 2007, we made no new loans in this segment as this is a run-off portfolio. Infrastructure, 
constituting 11.8% of our total loan exposure (drawn and undrawn) as of 31 December 2007 
and 7.3% as at 31 December 2006, is the segment with the second highest percentage of impaired 
outstandings over the two years period.
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2007 2006

In EUR millions In % 1 In EUR millions In % 1

Impaired outstandings 451 5.9 416 5.5

Non-performing outstandings 165 2.2 170 2.3

Impairment amount 59 0.8 79 1.1

1. As a proportion of total drawn corporate loan exposure.

For any impairment amount, we have taken a charge in our consolidated income statement. 

The following table presents historical information on the distribution of the impairment 
amounts by industry segment as at the dates indicated. 

Distribution of Impairment Amounts by Region, as at 31 December
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

United Kingdom 21 19

The Netherlands 18 28

Germany 9 7

North America 7 13

South East Asia 4 8

EU (except The Netherlands, Germany and UK) - 3

Caribbean - 1

Non-EU Europe - -

Other - -

TOTAl 59 79

Corporate lending portfolio – write-offs (unaudited)
Since the information provided here concerns non required disclosures the section has been 
marked as unaudited.

Once we have determined that a loan is unlikely to be recovered by restructuring the loan or 
by other means, we determine the write-off amount. The amount written off will be deducted 
from the asset value of the loan and the related impairment amount. 
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The following tables (unaudited) present information on the movement of the impairment 
amounts and write-offs by industry segment as at the dates presented. 

Change of Impairment Amounts and write-offs by Industry Segment 2007
Impaired amount as at 31 December

2006 2007
Change from  

previous period write-off during 2007

Aviation 19 11 (8) 2

Financial Services 4 1 (3) -

Food / Agriculture 1 - (1) -

Manufacturing 15 12 (3) 4

Real Estate 7 7 - -

Shipping 1 1 - -

Trade 8 6 (2) -

Infrastructure 20 18 (2) -

Utilities 3 - (3) -

Other 1 3 2 5

TOTAl 79  59  (20)  11

Change of Impairment Amounts and write-offs by Industry Segment 2006
Impaired amount as at 31 December

2005 2006
Change from  

previous period write-off during 2006

Aviation 39 19 (20) 13

Financial Services 5 4 (1) -

Food / Agriculture 1 1 -

Manufacturing 8 15 7 1

Real Estate 8 7 (1) -

Shipping 2 1 (1) -

Trade 5 8 3 -

Infrastructure 31 20 - -

Utilities 7 3 (4) -

Other 7 1 (6) 1

TOTAl 113 79 (34)  15

Impairment amounts as a percentage of our total risk weighted assets have been declining over 
time, and decreased to 0.4% in 2007 from 0.5% in 2006. Over the past 15 years, our annual 
write-offs have averaged 0.3% of the total drawn and undrawn exposures in our corporate loan 
book, and were most recently 0.15% in 2006 and 0.11% in 2007.
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The following table (unaudited) analyses the amounts written off by industry segment as at the 
dates presented.

write-offs by Industry Segment, as at 31 December
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Aviation  2 13

Financial Services  - -

Food / Agriculture  - -

Manufacturing  4 1

Real Estate  - -

Shipping  - -

Trade  - -

Infrastructure  - -

Utilities  - -

Other  5 1

TOTAl  11 15

The following table (unaudited) analyses the amounts written off by geography as at the dates 
presented. 

write-offs by geography, as at 31 December
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

gEOgRAPHIC REgION

Caribbean - -

EU (except The Netherlands and United Kingdom) 2 -

North America - 11

Non-EU Europe - -

South East Asia 2 -

United Kingdom - -

The Netherlands 5 4

Other - -

TOTAl  11 15

Corporate lending portfolio – distressed assets
Borrowers assessed as being impaired are generally managed by the Distressed Assets 
department within our Corporate Finance SBU, according to policies set by the TC. 
Upon transfer, the Distressed Assets department analyses the situation and begins working 
on a plan to improve the risk profile of the borrower. The aim of this process is to optimise the 
recovery. In some cases, a restructuring of the borrower’s balance sheet in combination with a 
reorganisation of the borrower may be the recommended solution. In other cases, a foreclosure 
on our security rights may offer the highest recovery rate. For foreclosures, we may employ an 
intermediary for the recovery. 
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Credit Risk Management – Real Estate Markets
The residential mortgage portfolio own book consists of residential mortgage loans originated 
in the Netherlands and Germany. The Dutch residential mortgage portfolio own book contains 
prime loans originated on a white label basis via business partners following sound 
underwriting criteria. Furthermore, as of the end 2007, 14% of the mortgage loans have a 
Dutch government guarantee (an NHG guarantee) in accordance with the general terms and 
conditions set by the Stichting Waarborgfonds Eigen Woningen (WEW). The high quality of the 
portfolio is also characterized by low average loan to foreclosure value (original LTFV of 85%) 
and high seasoning (3.3 years as at 31 December 2007). These portfolio attributes lead to an 
overall high percentage of the portfolio with AAA internal rating class allocation (96%).
 
The major part of the German residential mortgage portfolio was acquired from third parties 
via two portfolio purchases. The purchased portfolios contain highly seasoned loans with low 
loan to market values. These loans were originated following conservative underwriting 
criteria. A small proportion of the portfolio was originated in the previous year by REM 
Germany according to criteria that are in line with current market practices. The overall 
German residential mortgage portfolio has a considerable seasoning (7.3 years as at 
31 December 2007) with low average loan to market value (original LTMV of 70.7%).

In order to control the credit risk of our residential mortgage portfolio, we have formulated an 
acceptance policy framework to screen residential mortgage applications. Acceptance depends 
on the following criteria: 

Conformity with the  n Code of Conduct (Gedragscode) on Mortgage Credits (CCMC) of the 
Dutch Bankers’ Association, which we have signed up to and pledged compliance with;
We check an applicant’s credit history with the Dutch National Credit Register ( n Bureau 
Krediet Registratie or BKR), a central credit agency used by financial institutions in the 
Netherlands, which records five years of financial commitments and negative credit events;
We secure mortgage loans by first ranking mortgage rights;  n
We apply a maximum loan to foreclosure value of 130% and require payment protection  n
insurance for amounts exceeding 125% loan to foreclosure value;
We set underwriting criteria for those of our mortgages that have a Dutch government  n
guarantee (an NHG guarantee) in accordance with the general terms and conditions set by 
the Stichting Waarborgfonds Eigen Woningen (WEW). The WEW finances itself by a one-
off up-front charge to the borrower as a percentage of the principal amount of the mortgage 
loan. The NHG guarantee covers losses on the outstanding principal, accrued unpaid 
interest, and disposal costs, caused by foreclosure.

Real Estate Markets – geographic risk
The following tables display the credit risk per region for the assets of our Real Estate Markets 
SBU, both residential and commercial / infrastructure portfolios that are eligible for sale or for 
securitisation, as at 31 December 2007 and 2006. In the following tables, and throughout this 
section Credit Risk Management – Real Estate Markets, we present credit risk exposure 
excluding securitised residential mortgages we hold on our balance sheet (for which we 
maintain no credit risk), although we do retain credit risk on the portion of the equity tranche 
notes and mezzanine interests we retain from our RMBS / CMBS programmes (included in the 
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analysis of this section and Real Estate Markets analysis in general). We allocate exposure to a 
region based on the geographical location in which the borrower’s or counterparty’s cash flows 
are generated. 

Credit Risk per Region 2007
Credit risk exposure  

in EUR millions
% of total  

credit risk exposure

The Netherlands 4,480 69.2%

United Kingdom 391 6.0%

EU (except The Netherlands and United Kingdom) 1,599 24.7%

North America - 0.0%

Southeast Asia - 0.0%

Caribbean - 0.0%

Other - 0.0%

TOTAl 6,470 100.0%

Credit Risk per Region 2006
Credit risk exposure  

in EUR millions
% of total  

credit risk exposure

The Netherlands 4,025 82.2%

United Kingdom 151 3.1%

EU (except The Netherlands and United Kingdom) 721 14.7%

North America - 0.0%

Southeast Asia - 0.0%

Caribbean - 0.0%

Other - 0.0%

TOTAl 4,897 100%
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The credit risk for real estate markets includes commercial real estate and infrastructure loan 
portfolios eligible for sale / securitisation portfolios. The total real estate markets can be 
specified as follows:

Reconciliation
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES OwN BOOK  BAlANCE SHEET 5,285 4,438

Fair value 110 105

Pipeline 120 212

Provide Orange (964) (989)

Other 45 74

TOTAl RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES  RISK ExPOSURE TABlE 4,596 3,840

lOANS AND RECEIvABlES (FvtPl)  BAlANCE SHEET 1,374 952

SLT Por tfolio (133)

CLO backbook (113)

Undrawn CMBS / Infrastructure FVtPL 97

Fair value 17 (7)

Infrastructure eligible for sale / securitisation 
por tfolio AfS (drawn + undrawn) 93

CMBS eligible for sale / securitisation por tfolio 
AfS (drawn + undrawn) 325

Other 1

TOTAl COMMERCIAl REAl ESTATE / 
INFRASTRUCTURE ElIgIBlE FOR SAlE / 
SECURITISATION PORFOlIOS RISK ExPOSURE TABlE 1,661 945

DEBT SECURITIES REClASS FROM NOTE 5 4 3

Eliminated RMBS / CMBS notes 165 68

Due from other banks 44 40

TOTAl RMBS / CMBS NOTES RISK ExPOSURE TABlE 213 112

TOTAl 6,470 4,897

Residential Mortgages – collateral management
The underlying property is the primary collateral for any mortgage loans we grant, though 
savings and investment deposits may also serve as additional collateral. Our residential 
mortgage portfolio is divided into two categories to provide insight into the quality of the 
collateral: one portfolio of ‘not fully collateralised’ mortgages, in which the original property 
value is less than the amount of the original loan, and another portfolio of ‘fully collateralised’ 
mortgages, in which the original property value is greater than or equal to the amount of the 
original loan. We make a further distinction between NHG mortgages that have been 
guaranteed by the WEW, mortgages whose credit risk has been hedged by a credit default swap, 
and mortgages that are neither guaranteed nor hedged. 

The following tables show both the nominal exposure value and the collateral value. 
The collateral value is defined as the fair value (loans originated before 2001) or the initial 
foreclosure value (loans originated after 2001, which is our estimate of the sale value of the 
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underlying property upon foreclosure, as at the date the mortgage was originated) of the 
collateral of the real estate property (i.e. not including savings and investment deposits) 
underlying our residential mortgage portfolio, as at 31 December 2007 and 2006, both in 
respect of the mortgages own book and those we have securitised and maintain on our balance 
sheet. Based on the general estimated increase in house prices in the years after 2001 and the 
seasoning of our portfolio, the fair value of the collateral equals ca. EUR 9.0 billion (Residential 
mortgages own book) and EUR 9.7 billion (securitised residential mortgages). For 2006, these 
figures are EUR 7.1 billion and EUR 9.4 billion respectively.

Exposure and collateral value of the residential mortgage portfolio 2007
Fully collateralised Not fully collateralised

IN euR mILLIONS Exposure Collateral value Exposure Collateral value

RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES 1

Not guaranteed by NHG 3,097 6,305 734 504

NHG guaranteed 379 606 221 201

Hedged by credit default swaps 2 745 1,165 219 208

TOTAl 4,221 8,076 1,174 913

Total exposure

TOTAl RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES 1 5,395

FAIR vAlUE ADjUSTMENT 3 (110)

RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES OwN 
BOOK ON OUR CONSOlIDATED 
BAlANCE SHEET 5,285

1.  Excluding the pipeline of residential mortgages. The pipeline consists of mortgage offers to clients
2.   This is hedged through the Provide Orange synthetic RMBS, on which we maintain no credit risk. The fair value of the credit default swap was zero at 

31 December 2007.
3.   ‘Fair value adjustments’ refers to the difference between the nominal exposure and the fair value of our residential mortgages as carried on our consolidated 

balance sheet under IFRS.

Fully collateralised Not fully collateralised

IN euR mILLIONS Exposure Collateral value Exposure Collateral value

SECURITISED RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES

Not guaranteed by NHG 3,620 6,258 356 334

NHG guaranteed 1,731 2,366 831 776

TOTAl 5,351 8,624 1,187 1,110

Total exposure

TOTAl SECURITISED RESIDENTIAl 
MORTgAgES 1 6,572

FAIR vAlUE ADjUSTMENT (216)

SECURITISED RESIDENTIAl 
MORTgAgES ON OUR CONSOlIDATED 
BAlANCE SHEET 6,356

1.  'Fair value adjustments' refers to the difference between the nominal exposure and the fair value of our securitised residential mortgages as carried on our 
consolidated balance sheet under IFRS.
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Exposure and collateral value of the residential mortgage portfolio 2006
Fully collateralised Not fully collateralised

IN euR mILLIONS Exposure Collateral value Exposure Collateral value

RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES1

Not guaranteed by NHG 2,168 4,255 234 206

NHG guaranteed 608 912 569 497

Hedged by credit default swaps 2 542 809 422 391

TOTAl 3,318 5,976 1,225 1,094

Total exposure

TOTAl RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES1 4,543

FAIR vAlUE ADjUSTMENT 3 (105)

RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES 
OwN BOOK ON OUR 
CONSOlIDATED BAlANCE SHEET 4,438

1. Excluding the pipeline of residential mortgages. The pipeline consists of mortgage offers to clients. 
2.  This is hedged through the Provide Orange synthetic RMBS, on which we maintain no credit risk. The fair value of the credit default swap was zero 

at 31 December 2006. 
3. ‘ Fair value adjustments’ refers to the difference between the nominal exposure and the fair value of our residential mortgages as carried on our consolidated 

balance sheet under IFRS.

Fully collateralised Not fully collateralised

IN euR mILLIONS Exposure Collateral value Exposure Collateral value

SECURITISED RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES

Not guaranteed by NHG 3,786 6,081 1,080 995

NHG guaranteed 904 1,199 1,211 1,107

TOTAl 4,690 7,280 2,291 2,102

Total exposure

TOTAl SECURITISED RESIDENTIAl 
MORTgAgES 6,981

FAIR vAlUE ADjUSTMENT 1 7

SECURITISED RESIDENTIAl 
MORTgAgES ON OUR 
CONSOlIDATED BAlANCE SHEET 6,988

1.  ‘Fair value adjustments’ refers to the difference between the nominal exposure and the fair value of our securitised residential mortgages as carried on our 
consolidated balance sheet under IFRS.
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The following tables show the internal rating class allocation of the residential mortgage 
portfolio including the pipeline on which we bear credit spread risk as at 31 December 2007 
and 2006, based on our internal rating methodology for tranching a portfolio of residential 
mortgages.

Rating class allocation of the residential mortgages 2007
Amount

in EUR millions In %

INTERNAl RATINg ClASS

AAA  4,406 95.9%

AA  62 1.4%

A  48 1.0%

BBB  35 0.8%

BB  25 0.5%

B  5 0.1%

Not rated  14 0.3%

TOTAl 4,596 1 100.0%

1. Excludes Provide Orange a synthetic RMBS, includes the pipeline of residential mortgages. 

Rating class allocation of the residential mortgages 2006
Amount

in EUR millions In %

INTERNAl RATINg ClASS

AAA  3,715 96.7%

AA  40 1.0%

A  31 0.8%

BBB  24 0.6%

BB  17 0.5%

B  3 0.1%

Not rated  9 0.2%

TOTAl  3,840 1 100.0%

1. Excludes Provide Orange a synthetic RMBS, includes the pipeline of residential mortgages. 

Reconciliation
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES OwN BOOK BAlANCE SHEET 5,285 4,438

Fair value 110 105

Pipeline 120 212

Provide Orange (964) (989)

Other 45 74

TOTAl RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES RISK ExPOSURE TABlE 4,596 3,840
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The following table shows how we allocate the EUR 118 million portfolio of retained residential 
equity tranches and mezzanine interests of past RMBS programmes as per 31 December 2007 
and EUR 108 million as per 31 December 2006 (excluding retained tranches of commercial 
real estate securitisations , which are added in the reconciliation table on pages 57-58), to 
different rating classes, using our internal rating methodology. Due to the ‘seasoning’ effect, 
whereby older portfolios are considered to be of lower risk due to borrowers’ established 
records of payment, we can now qualify approximately 68.9% of the portfolio of our equity 
tranche and mezzanine investments as ‘investment grade’ as at 31 December 2007 and 56.2% 
as at 31 December 2006. 

Rating class allocation retained notes residential mortgage securitisations 
as of 2007

Amount
in EUR millions In %

INTERNAl RATINg ClASS

AAA 45 37.9%

AA 11 9.1%

A 9 7.7%

BBB 17 14.2%

BB 16 13.8%

B 5 4.6%

Not rated 15 12.7%

TOTAl  118 100.0%

Rating class allocation retained notes residential mortgage securitisations 
as of 2006

Amount
in EUR millions In %

INTERNAl RATINg ClASS

AAA  29 26.9%

AA  9 8.3%

A  11 10.2%

BBB  12 10.8%

BB  24 22.3%

B  4 3.3%

Not rated  20 18.2%

TOTAl  108 100.0%
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2007 2006

Eliminated RMBS notes same notes as liabilities 74 68

Due from other banks included in balance sheet, not in table 44 40

TOTAl RMBS NOTES SUB TOTAl 118 108

Retained tranches of commercial real estate 
securitisations 95 4

TOTAl RMBS / CMBS /  
INFRASTRUCTURE NOTES RISK ExPOSURE TABlE 213  112 

In addition to this, we hold approximately EUR 95 million of retained pieces of securitisations 
of Commercial Real Estate and Infrastructure as at 31 December 2007 (average rating BBB) 
and EUR 4 million as at 31 December 2006.

Corporate loan eligible for sale / securitisation portfolio – Commercial Real Estate and 
Infrastructure
Our Real Estate Markets SBU also has commercial real estate assets and Infrastructure 
(Public Private Partnership) infrastructure loans, which are part of our total corporate loan 
portfolio exposure (drawn plus undrawn). The following table shows total exposure amount 
(drawn and undrawn) and the CMBS (Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities) and 
Infrastructure eligible for sale / securitisation portfolios as at 31 December 2007 and 2006.

Commercial Real Estate and Infrastructure 2007
Amount  

in EUR millions In %

Commercial real estate loans  1,245 75%

Infrastructure loans  416 25%

TOTAl  1,661 100.0%

Commercial Real Estate and Infrastructure 2006
Amount  

in EUR millions In %

Commercial real estate loans  768 81%

Infrastructure loans  176 19%

TOTAl  945 100.0%

Commercial real estate assets and Infrastructure infrastructure loans are generally fully 
collateralised by the underlying property. 
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Reconciliation
2007

lOANS AND RECEIvABlES (FvtPl) BAlANCE SHEET 1,374

SLT Por tfolio (133)

CLO backbook (113)

Undrawn CMBS / Infrastructure (FVtPL) 97

Fair value 17

Infrastructure eligible for sale / securitisation por tfolio AfS  
(drawn + undrawn) 93

CMBS eligible for sale / securitisation por tfolio AfS  
(drawn + undrawn) 325

Other 1

TOTAl COMMERCIAl REAl ESTATE / INFRASTRUCTURE 
ElIgIBlE FOR SAlE / SECURITISATION PORFOlIOS RISK ExPOSURE TABlE 1,661

Reconciliation
2006

lOANS AND RECEIvABlES BAlANCE SHEET  952 

Fair value (7)

Infrastructure eligible for sale / securitisation por tfolio included in loans and advances in balance sheet 

TOTAl COMMERCIAl REAl ESTATE / INFRASTRUCTURE 
wAREHOUSES  RISK ExPOSURE TABlE  945 

Credit Risk Management – Financial Markets 
RM manages the credit risk of Financial Markets’ operations. Credit risk in our Financial 
Markets SBU originates as either issuer risk from our investment and trading activities or 
as counterparty risk from OTC derivatives contracts. We measure issuer risk for banking 
products, such as deposits, based on nominal exposure amounts. We value counterparty risk 
on non-derivatives contracts and bonds on a daily basis and include exposure overviews based 
on their market value. For derivatives contracts, we calculate credit exposure as the 
replacement value plus an add-on percentage of the exposure amount, which reflects the 
potential future change in replacement value. The exposures are measured and controlled 
per issuer or counterparty group using an extensive limit framework. We set limits per issuer 
or counterparty depending on rating and maturity. Within our Financial Markets SBU, the 
credit risk limit framework only allows investment grade exposures, with the exception of 
the investment portfolios, which has some very small issuer limits of less than EUR 5 million 
for BB and B rated investments. We have no exposures in non-rated assets, except for 
EUR 26 million of investments in the retained equity tranches in our Securitised Debt 
and Leveraged Loans securitisations, and EUR 10 million in equity tranches of third party 
securitisations as per 31 December 2007 and respectively EUR 41 million and EUR 8 million 
as per 31 December 2006.
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Financial Markets – country risk
The following tables display the credit risk per geographic region for the assets of our Financial 
Markets SBU as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 taking into account the value of collateral. 
We allocate exposure to a region based on the geographical location in which the counterparty 
or issuer’s cash flows are generated. In relation to the credit crisis, in 2007 total assets of FM 
declined as a result of the sale of the US RMBS subprime portfolio as well as the transfer of 
the exposure of our US CMBS and CRE CDO portfolio from NIBC Bank to NIBC Holding. 
Also the de-risking of other portfolios contributed to the decrease of assets.

Credit Risk per geographic Region 2007

IN euR mILLIONS
Credit risk exposure 1 

in EUR millions
% of total  

credit risk exposure

EU (except The Netherlands and the UK) 2,597 40%

The Netherlands 1,439 22%

Non-EU Europe 936 14%

United Kingdom 798 12%

North America 607 9%

South East Asia 112 2%

Other 36 1%

Caribbean 14 0%

TOTAl 6,539 100%

1. Defined as issuer (credit risk for bonds) and counterparty risk (credit risk for derivatives). 

Credit Risk per geographic Region 2006
Credit risk exposure 1 

in EUR millions
% of total  

credit risk exposure

EU (except The Netherlands and the UK) 3,598 33%

North America 3,248 30%

The Netherlands 2,119 20%

United Kingdom 1,423 13%

Non-EU Europe 339 3%

South East Asia 74 1%

Other 36 0%

Caribbean 10 0%

TOTAl 10,847 100%

1. Defined as issuer (credit risk for bonds) and counterparty risk (credit risk for derivatives).
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Financial Markets – debt securities and structured investments by rating
The following table presents an analysis of the debt securities and structured investments by 
rating agency designation as at 31 December 2007 and 2006, based on Standard & Poor’s 
ratings or their equivalent. 

Debt securities and structured investments 2007
Nominal exposure 

amount 
in EUR millions In % 

RATINg ClASS

AAA 1,317 30.6%

AA 1,545 35.9%

A 843 19.6%

BBB 276 6.4%

BB 250 5.8%

B (4) 1 (0.1)%

Equity 78 1.8%

TOTAl 4,306 100%

1. The negative position in single B assets is due to a short position by a credit default swap.

Debt securities and structured investments 2006
Nominal exposure 

amount 
in EUR millions In % 

RATINg ClASS

AAA 2,509 26.3%

AA 3,585 37.6%

A 1,664 17.5%

BBB 1,260 13.2%

BB 265 2.8%

B 166 1.7%

Equity 88 0.9%

TOTAl 9,537 100.0%

The rating distribution illustrates the asset quality of FM’s investment portfolios as at 
31 December 2007 – more than 92% of the nominal value of the assets is investment grade and 
66.5% have ratings of ‘AA’ or higher and as at 31 December 2006 respectively 94% and 63.9%. 

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

FINANCIAl MARKET ASSETS RISK ExPOSURE TABlE (PAgES 55-56) 4,091 8,907

Credit trading assets Presented in terms of BPV (tables pages 55-56) 215 630

TOTAl FINANCIAl MARKET TABlE RATINg DISTRIBUTION 4,306 9,537
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Financial Markets – derivatives, foreign exchange and other risk
A derivative is a financial instrument, the value of which is derived from the value of another 
financial instrument. Examples of derivatives include swaps, futures, future rate agreements, 
various types of options, and credit derivatives. We use derivatives to hedge or enter into risk 
positions. We mainly use derivatives to manage interest rate risk, to hedge or enter into 
individual credit positions, and to manage portfolio credit risks. We account for derivatives 
at fair market value, and present them on our balance sheet as assets or liabilities at fair value. 

The following tables present the derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a 
gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet 
to the contractual maturity date as at 31 December 2007 and 2006. The amounts disclosed in 
the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

Derivatives, as per 31 December 2007
IN euR  0-3 months  3-12 months  1-5 years  >5 years  Total 

DERIvATIvES HElD FOR TRADINg

FX Forward

Inflow 26,550,997 13,110,063 - - 39,661,059

Outflow (20,216,797) (23,292,989) - - (43,509,787)

Interest rate derIvatIves

Inflow 1,582,098,844 6,282,621,212 14,718,682,267 10,045,864,021 32,629,266,345

Outflow (1,567,804,752) (6,222,759,702) (14,758,514,003) (9,609,170,132) (32,158,248,589)

CredIt derIvatIves -

Inflow 2,105,874 8,754,377 32,134,409 3,028,530 46,023,191

Outflow (3,213,281) (11,423,996) (40,975,653) (6,789,907) (62,402,838)

DERIvATIvES HElD FOR HEDgINg

FX Forward

Inflow - - - - -

Outflow - - - - -

Interest rate derIvatIves

Inflow 114,315,231 1,079,107,863 2,750,136,485 316,059,261 4,259,618,839

Outflow (114,535,240) (980,540,984) (2,496,768,525) (228,953,597) (3,820,798,346)

CredIt derIvatIves

Inflow - - - - -

Outflow - - - - -

TOTAl INFlOw 1,725,070,946 7,383,593,514 17,500,953,161 10,364,951,812 36,974,569,434

TOTAl OUTFlOw (1,705,770,070) (7,238,017,671) (17,296,258,181) (9,844,913,637) (36,084,959,560)
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Derivatives, as per 31 December 2006
IN euR  0-3 months  3-12 months  1-5 years  >5 years  Total 

DERIvATIvES HElD FOR TRADINg

FX Forward

Inflow 2,831,947,620 49,125,122 92,844,669 103,891,407 3,077,808,818

Outflow (2,821,274,949) (44,092,383) (84,303,173) (132,622,626) (3,082,293,132)

Interest rate derIvatIves

Inflow 1,329,799,571 3,085,715,488 18,739,679,276 6,608,769,360 29,763,963,695

Outflow (1,328,585,280) (3,178,462,023) (18,563,277,448) (6,171,882,395) (29,242,207,146)

CredIt derIvatIves

Inflow (169,845,692) (246,279,873) (1,648,274,781) (70,131,876) (2,134,532,222)

Outflow 153,170,811 263,264,197 1,669,595,632 48,698,410 2,134,729,050

DERIvATIvES HElD FOR HEDgINg

FX Forward

Inflow 35,523,444 198,948,170 434,262,985 132,622,626 801,357,225

Outflow (35,205,908) (199,828,749) (444,068,052) (103,891,407) (782,994,116)

Interest rate derIvatIves

Inflow 218,463,155 580,230,053 1,305,642,460 432,579,310 2,536,914,979

Outflow (208,514,982) (560,784,052) (1,301,732,681) (533,476,728) (2,604,508,442)

CredIt derIvatIves

Inflow 172,834,498 257,639,417 1,691,373,036 79,222,629 2,201,069,579

Outflow (160,307,127) (279,641,475) (1,724,086,277) (61,228,470) (2,225,263,349)

TOTAl INFlOw 4,418,722,597 3,832,160,872 20,438,379,802 7,050,439,423 36,246,582,074

TOTAl OUTFlOw (4,400,717,434) (3,906,326,980) (20,270,724,158) (6,717,889,183) (35,802,537,136)
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The following table presents the weighted and unweighted credit equivalent of our derivatives 
portfolio as at the dates indicated. We measure the credit risk of our derivatives portfolio by 
analysing the positive replacement values of the contracts plus a mark-up on the positive 
replacement value for future potential increases in credit risk. This positive replacement value 
plus mark-up is deemed the ‘unweighted credit equivalent,’ and is determined by the nature 
and terms of the derivative contract. In determining the credit risk of our derivatives portfolio 
for the purposes of calculating BIS Capital and other regulatory capital ratios, we calculate the 
‘weighted credit equivalent,’ taking into account the risk weights of the specific counterparty 
types and the effect of collateral (including any netting arrangements) according to BIS 
standards.

weighted and unweighted credit equivalent of our derivatives portfolio
As at 31 December 2007 As at 31 December 2006

IN euR mILLIONS Unweighted weighted Unweighted weighted

Interest rate contracts 2,258 182 1,689 142

Foreign exchange contracts 1,578 271 1,186 82

Equity contracts 127 25 204 41

TOTAl CONTRACTS 3,963 479 3,079 265

We have no open equity positions from derivatives contracts creating equity market risk. 
As indicated in the table above, we do however maintain some counterparty risk on our equity 
positions, derived from certain ‘equity contracts’ originated in connection with our structured 
funding products and, to some degree, from the transactions of NPD which were novated to us 
after the liquidation of NPD. We hedge all these counterparty equity risk positions back-to-
back, meaning swaps are entered into in order to neutralise the market risk. 

Financial Markets – collateral management
To the extent possible, we attempt to limit the credit risk from derivatives that have a positive 
replacement value. Therefore, we only enter into OTC derivatives contracts with investment 
grade counterparties, with the exception of small derivatives contracts entered into with clients. 
We also enter into bilateral collateral agreements with market participants to mitigate credit 
risk on OTC derivatives, usually by means of Credit Support Annexes (CSAs). Our main 
counterparties in these CSAs are large international banks with ratings of ‘A’ or higher, and 
predominantly ‘AA’. 

We value our derivatives contracts daily, and we generally carry out weekly cash collateral 
payments to account for changes in the market value of the contracts included in a CSA. 
The net cash collateral position at nominal value was an amount of EUR 70 million receivable 
at 31 December 2007 and EUR 187 million payable at 31 December 2006. The terms and 
conditions of our CSAs are in line with general International Swaps and Derivatives 
Association credit support documents. Our main policies concerning collateral contracts 
are the following: 
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We use cash only to settle collateral amounts weekly and, in some cases, monthly;  n
We base interest payments on cash collateral on the Euro Overnight Index Average or the  n
Overnight Index Swap rates, unless this meets strong opposition from the counterparty, in 
which case we seek to negotiate another solution; 
The counterparty is, in general, the valuation agent although in some cases we may use a  n
third party as valuation agent. We check the valuation of the counterparty at least once per 
month and we reconcile differences with the counterparty. For counterparties with a rating 
below A, we carry out a weekly check; 
Collateral agreements are generally applicable to all transactions entered into with the  n
relevant counterparty, including credit derivatives and other structured deals; 
We submit collateral agreements to our RM group and legal staff for approval;  n
We periodically inform the TC about the status and progress of collateral counterparties  n
and policies. 

One master CSA is in place for all interest rate swap derivative contracts that we enter into with 
each of several SPVs established for securitisation of mortgage portfolios. 

market risk management
Overview
Our market risks are predominantly credit spread and interest rate-related. Our policy is to 
hedge significant currency risk and other risks (such as commodity and equity risk) and due to 
this policy, we believe, the risks are not material. 

We face market risks in certain of our SBUs, and particularly in our Financial Markets and  n
Real Estate Markets SBUs, as described below. An amount of market risk is also present in 
the Corporate Center SBU in the form of interest rate risk as a result of the ALCO strategic 
mismatch positions we take on a regular basis. In contrast to other financial institutions, 
our assessment and management of market risk goes beyond the market risks resulting 
from our trading portfolios, and covers a larger range of our commercial activities; 
Within our Financial Markets SBU, we face trading market risks by managing short-term  n
trading positions in interest rate and credit products, including credit default swaps, which 
we hold to be able to meet client requests for such products. Also within our Financial 
Markets SBU we face non-trading market risks through the day-to-day management of our 
corporate treasury activities and the investment portfolios;
Our Real Estate Markets SBU faces non-trading market risks by originating assets such as  n
residential mortgages and commercial real estate loans, assets that are eligible for sale /
securitisation.

In order to manage market risks, we have put in place a set of risk limits and implemented 
a risk management system (called Algorithmics) to allow analysis of market risk and calculate 
and project the relevant risk figures. With the exception of the credit spread risk on our 
mortgage portfolios, which is calculated separately, the Algorithmics system analyses risk in 
virtually all our transactions, giving an overview of all our market risks. For all trading and 
investment portfolios in the Financial Markets, Real Estate Markets and Corporate Center 
SBUs, we maintain a standard set of risk measures, which we recalculate daily. 
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Market risk of residential and commercial mortgages is currently calculated outside 
Algorithmics because at this moment we are not able to divide the cashflows of these assets 
into different rating buckets in Algorithmics. Based upon our tranching model, we are able to 
do so in a separate environment. In the near future, we plan to implement this methodology 
in Algorithmics. Currently this means that we are not able to calculate diversification effects 
between these assets and other assets in Algorithmics. The results on an aggregated level are 
therefore relatively conservative.

The risk measures tracked daily by Algorithmics include:
Credit spread  n Basis Point Value (BPV) – the change in the present value of a position due 
to a one basis point increase in credit spreads;
Interest rate BPV – the change in the present value of a position due to a one basis point  n
increase in interest rates;
Credit spread  n Value at Risk (VAR) – looking at four years of historical credit spread data, 
the adverse impact of one-day changes in market prices assuming a 99% confidence level;
Interest rate VAR – looking at one year of historical interest rate data, the adverse impact  n
of a one-day changes in market prices assuming a 99% confidence level; 
Total VAR – looking at one year of historical interest and credit spread data, the adverse  n
impact of one-day changes in market prices assuming a 99% confidence level.

A 99% confidence level means that there is a 1% probability that a one-day loss in a one-year 
period will be larger than the VAR. A wide set of scenarios, including scenarios intended as 
stress testing and vulnerability identification, both based on historical events and on possible 
future outcomes, complements our risk analysis. 

Limitations of the market risk framework are the following:
BPV measures do not take into account the volatility of underlying interest rates and credit  n
spreads. For example, it does not discriminate between differences in volatility between 
high grade and low grade credit spreads;
This shortcoming is partly mitigated by the VAR measure. However, because VAR is based  n
upon historical data, it may over- or underestimate future volatility;
Because of this and the 99% confidence interval, it is necessary always to complement the  n
analysis by a framework of stress testing.

We measure VAR not only for trading activities in FM (which are limited), but also for non-
trading activities, including FM’s investment portfolios, the activities of our Real Estate 
Markets SBU and for Corporate Center’s role in running our ALCO strategic mismatch 
positions. In this respect, we seek to maintain a comprehensive risk management system that 
attempts to account for VAR broadly and conservatively. 

We set overall limits for these variables within each SBU per portfolio, in some cases per 
collection of portfolios and by department or group, at SBU level and also per currency, and 
group of securities with similar maturity level and industry segment. We define limits for 
interest rate and credit spread BPV as well as interest rate and credit spread VAR, total VAR, 
and for certain other risk parameters for option positions. We determine these risk limits by 
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basing our risk allocations on the economic capital allocated to the SBU or to the operating 
department within the SBU, and derive risk limits appropriate to the level of allocated 
economic capital. A detailed issuer framework limits specific risk in all portfolios and seeks to 
ensure adequate diversification of risk. Any significant breach of market risk or counterparty 
risk limits is reported to our Chief Risk Officer, who also receives income statement reports for 
the trading books on a daily basis. 

Credit Spread, Interest Rate and Currency Risk – General
Credit spread risk
As explained more fully in our discussion of economic capital allocations (see ‘Economic 
Capital Usage and Allocations’ below), credit spread risk is the largest element (measured by 
the amount of economic capital allocated to the risk) of our total market risk. We face credit 
spread risk mainly in those assets that tend to have high credit ratings. The average weighted 
credit rating, according to our external ratings and internally-developed credit rating 
methodology, for assets that carry credit spread risk was ‘A / A-’ as at 31 December 2007 and 
A- as at 31 December 2006. 

The main sources of our credit spread risk are: FM, as a result of its investment portfolios; 
our Real Estate Markets SBU, as a result of its residential and commercial mortgage eligible 
for sale / securitisation portfolios and pipeline, and of the credit spread risk we retain on the 
portion of the equity tranche notes and mezzanine interests we retain from our RMBS / CMBS 
programmes. 

The following tables show details of the credit spread BPV and credit spread VAR for all our 
activities for the twelve months ended 31 December 2007 and 2006. 

Credit spread risk figures 2007
IN euR tHOuSaNdS Credit spread BPv Credit spread vAR

High (4,022) 24,108

Average (5,172) 13,488

Low (6,832) 5,819

The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark-to-market of the positions. 

Credit spread risk figures 2006
IN euR tHOuSaNdS Credit spread BPv Credit spread vAR

High (4,714) 11,470

Average (5,174) 8,492

Low (5,881) 6,524

The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark-to-market of the positions.

Credit spread BPV and Credit Spread VAR are calculated on a weekly basis for Real Estate 
Markets and on a daily basis for our other assets.
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We manage credit spread risk by setting limits on the level of credit spread BPV and credit 
spread VAR we will accept on each portfolio, department and SBU. We monitor these limits 
daily to ensure that our credit spread risk tolerance is not exceeded. In addition, at a 
consolidated level, we hedge portions of our credit spread risk through the use of derivative 
instruments at times upon market circumstances, carried on our ‘credit trading’ books.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises in all activities where our assets and liabilities have different repricing 
dates. As a result of these repricing date mismatches between assets and liabilities, their fair 
market values may react differently when interest rates change. We use derivatives to manage 
interest rate risk, and measure and manage interest rate risk using interest rate BPV and 
interest rate VAR as applied to all fixed and floating rate assets and liabilities including loans, 
mortgages, investments, trading assets, and funding.

We measure interest rate risk on a daily basis. Our goal is to concentrate assets with similar 
interest rate risk in dedicated trading and mismatch books and to minimise the sensitivity 
of our net interest income to changes in interest rates for all other activities. We set limits by 
portfolio, currency, and time period. 

The ALCO may decide to invest a portion of our equity in strategic interest rate mismatch 
positions by means of interest rate swaps, taking long-term interest rate positions funded  
by short-term interest rate positions. The interest rate risk generated by these ALCO strategic 
mismatch positions is assigned to our Corporate Center.
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Interest rate BPV and VAR
The following table shows details of the low, average, and high values for both interest rate BPV 
and interest rate VAR for all our activities during the twelve months ended 31 December 2007 
and 2006.

Overall interest rate risk NIBC 2007
BPv vAR

IN euR tHOuSaNdS low Average High End of year low Average High End of year

Interest rate trading (458) 64 507 (38) 337 3,372 7,460 385

Mismatch positions 1 (729) (487) (268) (268) 4,794 7,355 11,194 4,888

Residual risk other books 2 (185) (54) 147 (40) 671 1,455 3,609 1,220

TOTAl (1,196) (477) 1 (346) 1,680 6,146 15,955 4,380

1. Both ALCO strategic mismatch and FM mismatch books (merged in 2007).
2.  Defined as the remaining interest rate risk (after hedging) of the CTB, FM’s structured investments, fund investments and financials and sovereigns portfolios, 

FM investment books and the unhedged interest rate risk of our Real Estate Markets SBU. 

The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark-to-market of the position. 

Overall interest rate risk NIBC 2006
BPv vAR

IN euR tHOuSaNdS low Average High End of year low Average High End of year

Interest rate trading (120) 127 416 (120) 236 2,076 4,649 3,553

Mismatch positions 1 (438) (190) 44 (410) 72 2,224 7,042 6,938

Residual risk other books 2 (203) (63) 238 (138) 1,026 2,529 4,341 4,187

TOTAl (697) (127) 216 (697) 602 2,567 8,527 8,527

1. Both ALCO strategic mismatch and FM mismatch books (merged in 2007).
2.  Defined as the remaining interest rate risk (after hedging) of the CTB, FM’s structured investments, fund investments and financials and sovereigns portfolios, 

FM investment books and the unhedged interest rate risk of our Real Estate Markets SBU. 

The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark-to-market of the position. 

Interest Rate BPV and Interest Rate VAR are calculated on a weekly basis for Real Estate 
Markets and on a daily basis for our other assets.

The average interest rate BPV was negative EUR 477,000 with an average interest rate VAR 
across all our activities of EUR 6,146 million as at 31 December 2007 and respectively negative 
EUR 127,000 and EUR 2,567 million as at 31 December 2006.

Impact change in market interest rates on net income and shareholders’ equity 
Assuming the financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2007 and 2006 were to remain 
until maturity or settlement without any action on our part to alter the resulting interest rate 
risk exposure, an immediate and sustained increase of 1% in market interest rates across all 
maturities would increase our net interest income for the following year by approximately 
EUR 16 million (compared to an increase of EUR 17 million as at 31 December 2006) and 
decrease our shareholders’ equity by approximately EUR 16 million (compared to a decrease of 
EUR 44 million as at 31 December 2006).
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Interest rate and credit spread risk movements (unaudited) 
The following graph illustrate the development of interest rate and credit spread BPV on a 
bank-wide basis for all our assets except for our corporate loan portfolio and the assets of 
our Principal Investments SBU from 1 January 2004 until 31 December 2007. 

BPv figures NIBC Bank Nv - 2004-2007

The following graph illustrates the development of interest rate and credit spread VAR on a 
bank-wide basis for all our assets except for our corporate loan portfolio and the assets of our 
Principal Investments SBU from 1 January 2004 until 31 December 2007. 

vAR figures NIBC Bank Nv - 2004-2007

Credit spread risk, as measured by credit spread BPV in the chart above, increased in 2004 as a 
result of increased warehousing of mortgages and securitised debt products (including RMBSs, 
CMBSs, CDOs and CLOs). The increased volume of securitisations in 2005 moved these assets 
into SPVs and caused a decline in our credit spread risk exposure. In 2006, our total VAR 
experienced fluctuations, including both decreases and increases, as a result of continuing 
securitisations following periodic build-ups in our warehouses of securitised debt products and 
leveraged loans. In 2007, credit spread BPV steadily declined as a result of the sale of the US 
RMBS subprime portfolio as well as the transfer of the US CMBS and CRE CDO portfolio 
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from NIBC Bank to NIBC Holding. Also, other portfolios were de-risked to a certain extent. 
Credit spread risk, as measured by credit spread VAR in the chart above, has steadily declined 
over the period under review until 2006, largely due to lower volatility in the market and due 
to our securitisations. Despite the de-risking in 2007, credit spread VAR increased in 2007 as 
a result of higher credit spread volatility. 

Interest rate risk, as measured by both interest rate BPV and interest rate VAR in the previous 
charts, steadily declined between 2004 and 2005, largely due to our closing of our interest rate 
mismatch positions in 2005. New mismatch positions in late 2006 increased our interest rate 
risk. In 2007, interest rate risk declined due to smaller trading positions as well as the closing 
of some mismatch positions. The remaining fluctuations in interest rate risk result mainly from 
changing positions in our interest rate trading books.

As a result of decreasing volatilities in interest rates and credit spreads since 2004, our total 
VAR has been moving downwards until the beginning of 2007. A rise in the volatility of these 
interest rate and credit spread factors in 2007 led to higher VAR figures.

Currency risk 
We have the policy to hedge our positions in foreign currencies (including those of our 
subsidiaries) by funding investments in the appropriate foreign currency or hedging the 
exposures using cross currency swaps or FX contracts. On a monthly basis, the group finance 
department within the Corporate Center SBU determines our currency positions and reports 
them to the ALCO. When currency positions exceed our foreign currency exposure limit 
for that currency, we reduce our positions to bring our exposure back within the limit.  
Our total foreign currency position, by nominal amount, is generally under EUR 50 million  
in accordance with historical figures over the last few years.

Trading Market Risk – Financial Markets
FM faces trading market risks by managing trading positions in interest rate and credit 
products. FM’s proprietary trading positions are a limited portion of our business, are of  
a short-term nature and are originated via client transactions and the team’s view on future 
developments in the interest rate and credit spread markets. We always hedge positions  
in other risk types, such as commodity risk. Products used in managing trading market risk 
include swaps, futures, forward rate agreements, options, bonds, and credit derivatives. 

Non-Trading Market Risk – Financial Markets 
Market risks on our non-trading books are generated in the Financial Markets SBU, by means 
of investment portfolios, in the Real Estate Markets SBU, which has residential mortgages, 
commercial real estate and infrastructure loans that are eligible for sale / securitisation and in 
the Corporate Center SBU, as a result of the strategic mismatch positions. 
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Financial Markets
FM has several investment portfolios that invest in different types of fixed-income assets and 
thereby generate non-trading market risk. Through its fund investments, FM provides capital 
to externally managed credit fixed-income funds. Through its structured investments, FM 
invests in highly rated structured debt. Furthermore, FM manages a financials and sovereigns 
portfolio consisting of highly rated exposures on financial institutions and sovereigns.  
FM holds several other credit fixed-income portfolios to enhance overall yields. These include 
interests in global corporate and securitised debt products and the retained equity tranches of 
our securitisations of securitised debt products and leveraged loans. FM’s activities are subject 
to interest rate risk, credit spread risk, and counterparty default risk.

FM’s interest rate risks in these portfolios are hedged by using interest rate swaps and futures. 
Credit spread and FM’s counterparty default risks are therefore the predominant market risks 
in FM’s investment portfolios. 

In accordance with FM’s investment policies, FM considers counterparty risk when first 
selecting its investments. Therefore FM focuses its investments in highly rated assets, primarily 
in bonds and credit derivatives issued by financial institutions and sovereign debt with an 
average external credit rating from Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s and / or Fitch of ‘AA’ and a 
minimum external credit rating of ‘A’. FM’s portfolios of bonds issued by financial institutions 
and sovereigns create eligible assets under ECB rules. These assets can be used to draw funding 
from the ECB, improving our liquidity position. 

In addition, FM is able to take advantage of our expertise in credit fixed-income management 
by selecting investments in a relatively small portfolio of credit fixed-income funds through 
participations in credit hedge funds and credit funds, for which no external rating criteria apply.

The following tables show the rating class allocation of FM’s investment portfolios, using 
a combination of internal and external ratings as at 31 December 2007 and 2006.  
The FM risk exposure assets consist mainly of debt securities, structured investments and  
off-balance sheet assets.

In 2007, the risk exposure assets as presented in this section, mainly declined as a result 
of lower debt securities of our Financial Markets SBU.

NIBC Bank has decreased its debt securities portfolio from EUR 7.2 billion (end of 2006) 
to EUR 2.6 billion (end of 2007). This decrease includes the full de-risking of the US ABS 
investment book, which amounted to EUR 2.2 billion at the beginning of 2007 and nil at the 
end of 2007. In 2007 the net loss from this discontinued business was EUR 141 million net of 
tax. 
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The de-risking was executed by means of three actions:
The sale of US securities of EUR 0.7 billion during the first half year of 2007; n
The sale of a portfolio of EUR 0.4 billion of all US sub prime residential mortgage ABS  n
securities (NIBC therefore no longer has any US sub prime residential mortgage exposure 
in its portfolios);
The transfer of a portfolio of EUR 0.9 billion (fair value end of 2007 EUR 0.7 billion) of  n
all US commercial real estate ABS securities to NIBC Holding;

The remaining decrease of EUR 0.2 billion reflects the before tax loss from discontinued 
operations and the devaluation of the US dollar in the first half year of 2007.

The following chart presents the distribution of FM’s investment portfolios, by asset type, 
as at 31 December 2007 and 2006.

Asset types:
Securitised Debt Products EU: European structured credits e.g. RMBS, CMBS, ABS; n
Structured Investments: investments in highly rated structured debt; n
Credit Fixed Income Funds: participations in credit hedge funds and credit funds; n
Financials & Sovereigns: debt instruments issued by financial institutions & by  n
governments;
Corporate Credits: debt instruments issued by corporates; n
Credit trading: Corporate Credits / Securitised Debt Products as described above; n
Leveraged Loans: lending to companies with a high ratio of debt to market value; n
Equity tranche notes: retained equity tranches in our Securitised Debt and Leveraged Loans  n
securitisations.

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

FINANCIAl MARKET ASSETS RISK ExPOSURE TABlE (PAgES 55-56) 4,091 8,907

Credit trading assets Presented in terms of BPV (tables pages 55-56) 215 630

TOTAl FINANCIAl MARKET gRAPHS PAgES 110-111 4,306 9,537
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Financial Markets by Asset Type
 

2007: Total nominal value EUR 4,306 million (Total Financial Markets and Credit trading assets).  
2006: Total nominal value EUR 9,537 million (Total Financial Markets and Credit trading assets).
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The following chart presents the distribution of the issuers of the assets in FM’s investment 
portfolios, by geographic region, as at 31 December 2007 and 2006. We allocate exposure to a 
region based on the geographical location in which the counterparty or issuer’s cash flows are 
generated. 

Financial Markets by geographic Breakdown
 

2007: Total nominal value EUR 4,306 million (Total Financial Markets and Credit trading assets). 
2006: Total nominal value EUR 9,537 million (Total Financial Markets and Credit trading assets).

The geographic distribution illustrates that the majority of these assets were originated by 
European issuers. 
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The following table presents an overview of our European and US Securitised Debt Products, 
per rating class at the end of 2007 and 2006.

Securitised Debt products, nominal values 2007 1

IN euR mILLIONS AAA AA A BBB BB Below BB grand Total

EU

ABS 22 12 (1) 1 5 - 39

CDO 206 48 (36) 22 24 - 264

CMBS 235 85 43 35 7 - 404

RMBS 333 61 107 132 36 1 672

TOTAl 796 206 113 190 72 1 1,378

1. Fair value at 31 December EUR 1.3 billion.

Securitised Debt products, nominal values 2006
IN euR mILLIONS AAA AA A BBB BB Below BB grand Total

US

CMBS / CRE CDO exosure 200 193 259 730 29 2 1,413

CDO 20 66 240 50 - - 377

RMBS 224 78 61 53 4 1 420

Other ABS 6 - - - - - 6

TOTAl US 450 337 560 834 33 2 2,216

EU

ABS 71 15 5 6 15 - 112

CDO 282 53 1 18 17 - 370

CMBS 206 129 56 47 11 - 448

RMBS 487 118 222 141 28 4 1,000

TOTAl EU 1,046 314 285 212 71 4 1,931

TOTAl 1,496 651 845 1,045 104 6 4,147

The following table summarises the key risk statistics of FM’s investment portfolios and 
proprietary trading activities for the twelve months ended 31 December 2007 and 2006. Credit 
spread BPV of FM declined in 2007 as a result of the sale of the US RMBS subprime portfolio 
as well as the transfer of the US CMBS and CRE CDO portfolio from NIBC Bank to NIBC 
Holding. Also the de-risking of other portfolios contributed to the decrease of the credit spread 
BVP. Despite the de-risking in 2007, credit spread VAR increased in 2007 as a result of higher 
credit spread volatility. Interest BPV and VAR figures have fluctuated with trading positions as 
well as the former FM mismatch position until that was part of FM until June 2007.
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Key risk statistics Financial Markets 2007
Interest rate Credit spread

IN euR tHOuSaNdS BPv vAR BPv vAR Total vAR

High 398 10,115 (810) 13,749 13,723

Average (89) 3,328 (2,124) 3,972 5,558

Low (741) 292 (3,760) 2,580 2,726

The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark-to-market of the position.

Key risk statistics Financial Markets 2006
Interest rate Credit spread

IN euR tHOuSaNdS BPv vAR BPv vAR Total vAR

High 227 3,982 (2,553) 8,553 9,560

Average (36) 1,761 (3,006) 4,929 5,829

Low (324) 490 (3,627) 2,213 2,190

The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark-to-market of the position.
Interest BPV and VAR and Credit spread BPV and VAR are calculated on a daily basis.

Real Estate Markets 
The predominant business of our Real Estate Markets SBU is the origination of real estate 
financing, both residential mortgage financing in the Netherlands and the rest of EU and 
commercial real estate financing in Western Europe. These assets are subsequently eligible for 
sale / securitisation. Building a pipeline of, and eventually originating, assets such as residential 
mortgages and commercial real estate loans in order to sell / securitise them generates certain 
non-trading market risks. The most material non-trading market risk we face is credit spread 
risk from the residential mortgages. 

Building a pipeline of residential mortgages, and subsequently originating them, results in 
credit spread risk, caused by changes in the value of the mortgages due to movements in credit 
spreads. Building a pipeline and originating residential mortgages also results in interest rate 
risk on our fixed-rate mortgages, resulting from the impact of interest rate changes on fair value 
adjustments to mortgage assets we have committed to in our pipeline, those we have built up in 
our warehouse and to those mortgages we have already securitised. Finally, our residential 
mortgage origination activities create credit risk, due to the possibility of borrower default. 

By securitising our residential mortgage assets, we transfer a measure of the credit spread and 
credit risk of those assets to the investors, retaining only credit spread and credit risk on the 
portion of the equity tranche notes and mezzanine interests we retain from our RMBS 
programmes. In most cases, we as an originator retain the interest rate and prepayment risk 
after securitisation. We hedge these interest rate risks – i.e. on building a pipeline, on 
origination and on securitisation with swaps, taking into account the expected rate of pre-
payment on the portfolio. Real Estate Markets is also exposed to, and maintains after 
securitisation, a certain degree of risk that mortgage borrowers will prepay their mortgages 
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earlier than expected, resulting in possible fair value adjustment losses (although largely 
compensated by borrower penalties). This prepayment risk is managed by allocating economic 
capital that reflects adverse potential losses due to prepayments. 

Origination of commercial mortgages and infrastructure loans results in similar credit spread, 
credit, interest rate and pre-payment risks to those resulting from residential mortgages. 
We transfer a measure of credit spread and credit risk to the noteholders in the same manner 
as with our RMBS securitisations, again retaining credit and credit spread risk on the portion 
of the equity tranche notes and mezzanine interests we retain from our CMBS and 
infrastructure programmes. Because commercial mortgages and infrastructure loans are 
predominantly floating rate, we derive less interest rate risk from these loans than from 
our residential mortgage loans, which are predominantly fixed rate. For those commercial 
mortgages that are fixed rate, after securitisation we retain both the interest rate risk as well 
as the pre-payment risk. FM hedges the interest rate risks of our commercial real estate and 
infrastructure portfolios. 

Although we sell the majority of the equity tranche notes and mezzanine interests to investors, 
we retain some equity tranche notes and mezzanine interests on our own balance sheet, to 
demonstrate commitment to investors. Our Real Estate Markets SBU retains credit spread and 
credit risk from our RMBS programmes on the portion of the equity tranche notes and 
mezzanine interests we retain. As at 31 December 2007, the total nominal value of the equity 
tranche notes and mezzanine interests issued under our RMBS programmes which we still held 
was EUR 118 million and EUR 108 million as at 31 December 2006 (excluding retained equity 
tranches of commercial real estate securitisations). A breakdown of the credit rating of these 
equity tranche notes and mezzanine interests is presented in section ‘Residential Mortgages – 
Collateral management’ as from page 89. Also with respect to Commercial real estate and 
infrastructure securitisations we have retained some notes, totalling EUR 95 million at 
31 December 2007 and EUR 4 million at 31 December 2006 (average rating BBB).

For our Real Estate Markets SBU, we use the BPV and VAR measures described above to 
measure and control market risks. The following table shows the key risk statistics of our Real 
Estate Markets SBU for the twelve months ended 31 December 2007 and 2006. In 2007 credit 
spread BPV rose as a result of larger residential mortgages and commercial real estate 
portfolios (eligible for sale / securitisation). Credit spread VAR and total VAR rose even more 
as a result of increased credit spread volatility.
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Key risk statistics of our Real Estate Markets SBU 2007
Interest rate Credit spread

IN euR tHOuSaNdS BPv vAR BPv vAR Total vAR

High 62 906 (1,771) 21,011 21,300

Average (22) 417 (3,007) 9,472 9,933

Low (130) 125 (3,627) 2,047 2,562

The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark-to-market of the position.

Key risk statistics of our Real Estate Markets SBU 2006
Interest rate Credit spread

IN euR tHOuSaNdS BPv vAR BPv vAR Total vAR

High 105 939 (1,827) 4,297 4,647

Average (14) 336 (2,126) 3,437 3,760

Low (103) 101 (2,547) 3,005 3,175

The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark-to-market of the position.

Interest BPV and Interest VAR are calculated on a daily basis whereas Credit spread BPV and 
Credit Spread VAR are calculated on a weekly basis. As a result, averages are calculated on daily 
data for Interest risk and on weekly data for Credit Spread risk. For Total VAR, the calculation 
is on ‘daily’ data, where the Credit spread data has been made daily by keeping the weekly 
numbers constant the days of the weeks.

The previous table indicates that credit spread risk is the predominant element of market risk 
faced by our Real Estate Markets SBU. We manage the credit spread risks of our Real Estate 
Markets SBU as described in section ‘Credit Spread, Interest Rate and Currency Risk – General 
– Credit spread risk’ on page 103. We limit and hedge interest rate risk within our Real Estate 
Markets SBU. In 2007 credit spread VAR and total VAR figures of REM increased significantly 
due to increased volatility of the credit spreads.

Other
Other non-trading market risk mainly results from interest rate risk from the ALCO strategic 
mismatch positions we take on a regular basis. 
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The following tables summarise the key risk statistics of our other non-trading market risk for 
the twelve months ended 31 December 2007 and 2006.

Key risk statistics of our Corporate Center SBU 2007
Interest rate Credit spread

IN euR tHOuSaNdS BPv vAR BPv vAR Total vAR

High (174) 6,461 - - 6,461

Average (366) 5,371 - - 5,371

Low (453) 2,669 - - 2,669

The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark-to-market of the position.

Key risk statistics of our Corporate Center SBU 2006
Interest rate Credit spread

IN euR tHOuSaNdS BPv vAR BPv vAR Total vAR

High 50 4,629 (1) 95 4,642

Average (81) 1,245 (40) 42 1,250

Low (283) 110 (179) 3 108

The figures between brackets have a negative impact on the mark-to-market of the position.

Interest BPV and VAR and Credit spread BPV and VAR are calculated on a daily basis. 

The previous table shows a maximum (absolute) interest rate BPV of negative EUR 453,000 in 
2007 and a maximum of negative EUR 283,000 for 2006. This is a result of new ALCO strategic 
mismatch positions taken in 2007. In the course of 2007 some mismatch positions were closed 
again.

We manage our other non-trading interest rate risks and credit spread risk as described in 
section ‘Credit Spread, Interest Rate and Currency Risk – General – Interest rate risk’ as from 
page 104.
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investment risk management
Overview
Our investment risk relates to positions in mezzanine or private equity investments that are all 
recorded in the Principal Investments SBU, and are managed by the Principal Investments SBU 
(direct investments) and the Investment Management SBU (limited partnership investments in 
NIBC Funds). Investment risk for mezzanine financing is comparable with credit risk, which is 
the risk that a change in the credit quality or default of a counterparty will affect the value of 
our position. Credit risk has been described in section ‘Credit Risk Management’ as from 
page 69.

Investment risk for our equity investments is the risk that the value of the investment will 
deteriorate and is part of the market risk approach.

The main investment risk management principles we apply are: 
We authorise investment risk exposure independent of the business originators;  n
Before we commit to an investment, we require authorisation by the relevant committee or  n
at least two authorised individuals according to the ‘four-eyes principle’; 
We perform systematic risk analysis on the investment, with the aim of identifying,  n
measuring, and evaluating all risks, and utilising experts who are independent of the 
functions responsible for commercial or financial performance; 
We make ‘know your customer,’ ‘customer due diligence’ and ‘corporate social  n
responsibility’ principles an integral part of our overall investment assessment and approval 
process. 

Management of Investment Exposures
Responsibility for the management of direct investment exposures rests with the Principal 
Investment SBU, and for the management of NIBC Funds with the Investment Management 
SBU. Risk policies are recorded in the Investment Risk Manual and the (fund) Risk Manual 
respectively. For equity investments without quoted market prices, the fair value of the 
investments is estimated per quarter, and the valuation principles set forth by the International 
Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines are applied to the extent these are 
consistent with IAS 39. The International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 
Guidelines set out recommendations, intended to represent current best practice, on the 
valuation of private equity and venture capital.

The assets of the Principal Investments SBU are primarily private equity and warrant positions 
with low liquidity. Because the size of the Principal Investments portfolio is limited, we assess 
concentration risk per individual new asset. In the investment risk assessment process, we take 
into account the impact of a specific asset on both our market and geographical exposure profiles.

Investment Process 
Every investment proposition is assessed by an investment team, consisting of at least one 
senior investment manager and an analyst working within our Principal Investments SBU. 
After an initial screening, the investment team may decide to reject the proposition or to 
prepare a preliminary analysis to determine if the investment is worth pursuing. 
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The preliminary analysis is then discussed in a weekly team meeting and, if we make the 
decision to continue, we undertake a due diligence and market analysis and ultimately write 
and submit an investment proposal to the Investment Committee (IC) for a final decision on 
the  investment.

We assign all non-equity investment exposures an internal risk rating, which is validated 
by CRM. After approval by the IC, either an internal or external lawyer will draft the 
documentation, which (in the latter case) will be approved by our legal team. 

Investment Control Process
We review all investment exposures quarterly and the internal risk rating at least annually. 
The relevant investment manager drafts the review and makes a valuation of the investment 
based on International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines consistent 
with IFRS. The IC approves the valuations. 

Exit Process 
In each quarterly review we will update our exit strategy on given investments if applicable. 
Once an exit has been decided upon by the investment team, the investment manager drafts 
an exit proposal outlining, among other things, the timing of exit, the reason for the exit, and 
the expected revenues. This form is submitted to the IC for approval. 

Composition of Investment Exposure 
The direct investment portfolio of Principal Investments consists primarily of mezzanine and 
private equity investments, including private and listed common equity investments, preference 
and common shares, and shareholder loans. The indirect investment portfolio consists of 
Limited Partnership interests in own funds (non-consolidated) and third party funds. 

The fair value of Principal Investments’ investment portfolio was broken down as follows as at 
the dates indicated: 

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Direct Investments 320 299

Indirect Investments 94 63

TOTAl INvESTMENTS 414 363

The following table shows the key risk statistics of the equity investment portfolio in the case of 
a 1% change of equity.

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

DIRECT INvESTMENTS

Total core asset por tfolio 3.20 2.99

Non-core asset por tfolio 0.94 0.63

TOTAl DIRECT INvESTMENTS 4.14 3.63
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Large Holdings and Concentrations 
Principal Investments has holdings larger than 5% in one listed company, Kendrion N.V. 
We value this asset at the bid price. Other large shareholdings are private equity holdings. 

liquidity risk management
Overview
Maintaining a comfortable liquidity and funding profile is one of our most important risk 
management objectives. We analyse our funding profile by mapping all assets and liabilities in 
time buckets corresponding to their maturities. Based on projections prepared by the SBUs and 
the current asset and liability profiles, we prepare a short-term liquidity forecast and stress test 
on a weekly basis and present it to the ALCO to create continuous monitoring of the liquidity 
position.

A comfortable liquidity position, meaning the ability to meet our financial obligations even if 
we are unable to raise any new funding over the next twelve months, is one of the cornerstones 
of our liquidity strategy. We have sought to enhance our liquidity profile by managing our loan 
and mortgage portfolios. A part of our investment portfolio qualifies as eligible assets that may 
be held as collateral with the ECB in order to raise short-term funding with the ECB. As at 
31 December 2007, our ECB eligible funding capacity (being the sum of drawn and unused 
funding) had increased to EUR 4.8 billion (including EUR 0.9 billion of securities borrowed 
from an entity controlled by NIBC Holding N.V. under a securities borrowing agreement) 
compared to EUR 2.2 billion as at 31 December 2006. Our ECB eligible funding capacity 
equates to approximately 95%-100% of the fair value of ECB eligible assets; the haircut depends 
on the precise nature of the assets. We expect to use part of this funding capacity in the normal 
course of business over the forthcoming months, while the remaining portion functions as a 
liquidity buffer to be used in times of stress. We also have a three-year EUR 850 million 
committed credit facility with a group of international financial institutions, which further 
enhances our liquidity position. 

Stress Scenario (unaudited)
Since the information provided here concerns theoretical future predictions the section has 
been marked as unaudited.

We model liquidity using a ‘stress’ scenario on a weekly basis. This short-term stress scenario 
(12 months) assumes a world-wide liquidity shortage in which no market funding can be 
raised and external sales or securitisations are not possible. In order to maintain our business 
franchise, we assume that production continues at a minimum level. Some other additional 
NIBC-specific issues are considered, and for example we assume that 50% of the undrawn 
exposure on corporate loans is drawn within the next year. Furthermore, conservative 
assumptions for prepayments, callable funding, and collateral cash out (payments from CSAs) 
are made. 
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Assumptions of 2007 stress tests are adjusted in comparison to 2006 (as a result of changing 
levels of liquidity of assets), and aligned with current liquidity crisis.

We plan further internal securitisations that will create additional eligible assets that can be 
used to collateralise ECB funding. ECB funding can be drawn on the total amount of eligible 
assets, excluding a buffer of EUR 500 million, which we need for intra-day payments. Lastly, 
we  assume we will be able to use our committed liquidity facility of EUR 850 million, and 
other sources of funding. 

We plan to have created a further pool of EUR 3.0 billion of ECB eligible assets over the twelve 
months to 31 December 2008.

Other available liquidity as presented below is comprised of:
Our projected pool of ECB eligible collateral (reduced by the haircuts demanded by  n
the ECB) at each month end;
Reduced by the funding needs created by maturing liabilities and other projected cash  n
outflows (e.g. from new business); and
Increased by the inflow of funds arising on assets maturing during the month. n

The following charts show our strong liquidity position in the stress scenario.

Stress Scenario per 31 December 2007 (unaudited)
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Stress Scenario per 31 December 2006 (unaudited)

The results of the stress scenario demonstrate that we expect to be able to meet our financial 
obligations, maturing over the next twelve months, even if we were unable to raise any new 
funding, and without using our committed credit facility.

Funding
NIBC’s funding policy is to seek a healthy balance between its funding requirements and 
demand from investors by maintaining a presence in, and regularly returning to, the debt 
capital markets for additional funds under its different funding programmes in order to 
maintain its reputation as a flexible, responsive, and reliable issuer. Approximately two-thirds 
of NIBC’s annual funding requirements are met through the issuance of either fixed rate or 
floating rate plain vanilla debt securities, including notes and commercial paper. 
Approximately one-third of the total annual funding is derived from ‘structured funding’, 
which involves the issuance of debt securities with embedded options tailored to specific 
investors’ need. All embedded options in structured funding are hedged back-to-back in order 
to minimise the risk associated with the various types of embedded options. The hedging 
activity effectively creates synthetic floating rate funding. 

As a result of the current credit and liquidity crisis, the funding policy is at this moment 
difficult to apply in attracting new funding. New funding initiative as for example corporate 
deposits have been introduced. Other new initiatives have been started and will be 
implemented in 2008.
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An overview of the funding portfolio at 31 December 2007 and 2006, is shown in the following 
charts. The primary source of funding is the issuance of debt securities through both private 
placements and public offerings. The current investor base is predominantly located in 
Germany, the UK, France, Japan and the Benelux region, as well as other countries in Europe, 
Asia, and North America.

Breakdown of Funding Character
 

Breakdown of Funding Currency
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Breakdown of Funding Paper
 

Maturity Profile
The contractual maturities of our financial contracts form the basis of our liquidity analysis. 
In the following tables, we summarise the maturity profiles of all the assets and liabilities on 
our balance sheet as at 31 December 2007 and 2006. The following tables are based on 
projected cash flows according to legal payment dates.

In the following tables, a portion of our funding is short-term funding we draw to originate 
assets for securitisation. Because the assets originated for our securitisation warehouses are 
generally long-term assets which remain on our balance sheet for only a relatively short time, 
the funding we draw to originate these assets is generally shorter-term than the corresponding 
assets in the following table.
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Consolidated balance sheet, for the period ended 31 December 2007

IN euR mILLIONS Not dated
Payable on 

demand
Due within  

3 months

Due between 
3 and 12 
months

Due between 
1 and 5 years

Due after  
5 years  Total 

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 874 874

Due from other banks 684 2,418 5 38 3,145

Loans and receivables 230 97 423 704 1,454

Securitised loans and receivables 638 638

AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE ASSETS

Loans and advances to customers 535 337 2,144 2,452 5,468

Equity Investments 144 144

Debt Securities 15 296 311

FINANCIAl ASSETS FAIR vAlUE 
THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS 
(INClUDINg TRADINg)

Loans and receivables - 8 53 1,313 1,374

Residential mortgages own book 11 14 87 5,173 5,285

Securitised residential mortgages 2 2 17 6,335 6,356

Debt securities 155 133 439 1,602 2,329

Structured investments 70 371 618 153 1,212

Equity Investments 147 147

Derivative financial assets held for 
trading 169 686 958 828 2,641

Derivative financial assets used for 
hedging 3 2 27 53 85

Investments in associates 44 44

Intangible assets -

Proper ty and other fixed assets  
(for own use) 72 72

Investment proper ty 1 1

Current tax assets 40 40

Deferred tax assets 20 20

Other assets 153 153

TOTAl ASSETS 408 1,558 3,593 1,848 4,839 19,547 31,793
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Consolidated balance sheet, for the period ended 31 December 2007

IN euR mILLIONS Not dated
Payable on 

demand
Due within  

3 months

Due between 
3 and 12 
months

Due between 
1 and 5 years

Due after  
5 years  Total 

liabilities

Due to other banks 607 1,966 901 1,042 184 4,700

Other deposits 20 304 560 239 402 1,525

Other borrowings 2 2

FINANCIAl lIABIlITIES FAIR vAlUE 
THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS 
(INClUDINg TRADINg)

Debt securities in issue structured 360 223 1,595 1,942 4,120

Own debt securities in issue 26 67 92 33 218

DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE

Own debt securities in issue 1,304 2,568 4,935 170 8,977

Debt securities in issue related to 
securitised mortgages 70 528 5,293 1,323 7,214

Other liabilities 243 243

Current tax liabilities 0

Deferred tax liabilities 24 24

Employee benefit obligations 5 6 11

Subordinated liabilities – amortised cost 7 52 173 232

Subordinated liabilities – fair value 
through profit and loss 10 48 469 527

TOTAl lIABIlITIES  
(ExClUDINg DERIvATIvES) 1 - 627 4,030 5,112 13,326 4,698 27,793

Estimated interest cash flows 301 739 2,176 991 4,208

TOTAl lIABIlITIES  
(ExClUDINg DERIvATIvES) 
INClUDINg ESTIMATED 
INTEREST RATE CASHFlOwS - 627 4,331 5,851 15,502 5,689 32,001

1. For the cash flows of derivatives, see table on page 98.

In the previous table, the maturity of all assets at fair value are based on discounted cashflows.
In the previous table, all liabilities are based on undiscounted cash flows.

In the previous table, all liabilities are measured at amortised costs (and the maturity of these 
liabilities is based on undiscounted cash flows). Financial liabilities at fair value through P&L 
are restated to nominal amounts.
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Consolidated balance sheet, for the period ended 31 December 2006

IN euR mILLIONS Not dated
Payable on 

demand
Due within  

3 months

Due between 
3 and 12 
months

Due between 
1 and 5 years

Due after  
5 years  Total 

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 239 239

Due from other banks 863 877 3 6 13 1,762

AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE ASSETS

Loans and advances to customers 707 761 3,656 1,943 7,067

Equity Investments 185 185

FINANCIAl ASSETS FAIR vAlUE 
THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS 
(INClUDINg TRADINg)

Corporate loan warehouse 21 3 48 880 952

Residential mortgages own book 45 17 9 4,367 4,438

Securitised residential mortgages 14 2 1 6,971 6,988

Debt securities 318 180 606 6,098 7,202

Structured investments 58 76 335 445 914

Derivative financial assets held 
for trading 83 184 1,211 459 1,937

Derivative financial assets used 
for hedging 30 10 195 65 300

Investments in associates 23 23

Intangible assets

Proper ty and other fixed assets  
(for own use) 81 81

Investment proper ty 8 8

Current tax assets 40 40

Deferred tax assets 3 3

Other assets 311 311

TOTAl ASSETS 297 1,102 2,153 1,587 6,070 21,241 32,450

1. In the table above, the maturity of all assets at fair value are based on discounted cash flows.
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Consolidated balance sheet, for the period ended 31 December 2006

IN euR mILLIONS Not dated
Payable on 

demand
Due within  

3 monts

Due between 
3 and 12 
months

Due between 
1 and 5 years

Due after  
5 years  Total 

liabilities

Due to other banks 354 1,759 2 1,059 227 3,401

Other deposits 1,638 237 366 548 2,789

Due to customers 3 10 13

FINANCIAl lIABIlITIES FAIR vAlUE 
THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS 
(INClUDINg TRADINg)

Debt securities in issue structured 249 587 2,267 1,265 4,368

DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE

Own debt securities in issue 1,000 281 7,334 720 9,335

Debt securities in issue related 
to securitised mortgages - 448 2,177 4,621 7,246

Other liabilities 488 488

Current tax liabilities -

Deferred tax liabilities 60 60

Employee benefit obligations 5 12 17

Subordinated liabilities – amortised cost 8 59 189 256

Subordinated liabilities – fair value 
through profit and loss 0 62 370 432

TOTAl lIABIlITIES  
(ExClUDINg DERIvATIvES) 1 - 354 4,646 2,116 13,339 7,950 28,405

Estimated interest cash flows 244 637 2,222 18 3,121

TOTAl lIABIlITIES  
(ExClUDINg DERIvATIvES) 
INClUDINg ESTIMATED 
INTEREST RATE CASHFlOwS - 354 4,890 2,753 15,561 7,968 31,526

1. For the cash flows of derivatives, see table on page 99.

In the previous table, the maturity of all assets at fair value are based on discounted cashflows.
In the previous table, all liabilities are based on undiscounted cash flows.

In the previous table, all liabilities are measured at amortised costs (and the maturity of these 
liabilities is based on undiscounted cash flows). Financial liabilitities at fair value through P&L 
are restated to nominal amounts.
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operational risk management (unaudited)

Since the information provided here concerns non-required disclosures the section has been 
marked as unaudited.

We define operational risk as the risk of direct or indirect loss resulting from inadequate or 
failed internal processes or systems, from human error or external events including legal risk 
that affect our image, operational earnings and / or have adverse effects on capital value. 
Because of our relatively small size, we face a greater impact from loss of any client 
relationships than our larger competitors, and therefore have also included reputation and 
strategic business risk as subcategories of operational risk. Because of the sophistication of our 
products, we face higher risks of operational errors, which also contribute to reputation risks. 

The responsibility for monitoring and managing operational risk lies with our Operational 
Risk Manager and the business unit manager, who are responsible for implementing the 
enterprise-wide operational risk framework. This framework sets out the roles and 
responsibilities for management supervision, as well as those tools and methods used within 
the bank for identifying, measuring, reporting, monitoring, and controlling operational risk. 
Sound Practices for the Management and Supervision of Operational Risk, published by the 
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, has been used in the development of the operational 
risk framework to ensure robust and effective management and supervision. In addition, this 
framework outlines our ambition to work towards qualification for the Advanced Measurement 
Approach (AMA) under Basel II. In order to qualify for AMA, we must satisfy the Dutch 
Central Bank that, at a minimum, our Managing Board and Supervisory Board and senior 
management are actively involved in risk management, and that our risk management system 
is independent, conceptually sound and implemented with integrity. Finally, we need to ensure 
that there are sufficient resources available to execute the purpose and strategy of operational 
risk management and the business units as well as implement control, compliance, and audit 
functions.

We manage operational risk at both a group and strategic business unit level. The Operating 
Risk Committee (ORC) provides consistency and oversight of significant operational issues, 
and oversees the adoption of best practice across the bank. At the SBU level and below, 
managers are responsible for adherence to the operational risk management policy framework, 
for oversight of all operational risks specific to the business, and for reporting of all operational 
events and losses. The Operational Risk Manager, working in conjunction with business unit 
managers, has developed tools to assist in managing, monitoring, reporting, and reducing the 
effects of operational risk. The tools utilised by managers provides for an integrated view of 
the risk self assessment, control identification, action planning, and loss and event registration. 
This integrated view assists in identifying, evaluating, and reducing operational risk and 
planning mitigation measures. The evaluation process assists in identifying emerging 
operational risk issues and determining how they should be managed. From the information 
gathered through the process, we have developed a set of key risk and control indicators. 
These indicators have the potential to be used to identify trends and issues at both the group 
and SBU level. An analysis of these key risk indicators, when combined with the systematic 
collection of operational loss and event data, enables us to manage operational risk pro-actively.
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We have sought to build operational risk management into all our business processes. 
We monitor operational risk on a daily basis and perform self assessments semi-annually. 
The year-end self assessment forms the basis for our ‘In Control Report’ and the Risk System 
and Control System section of this annual report. ‘In control’ reporting seeks to ensure that the 
operational risk management policy framework is integrated into the daily activities of all our 
employees and that it forms an integral part of our internal control system. The reporting 
system is focused on control of the identified risks related to the operational execution of the 
different business activities.

economic capital (unaudited)

Since the information provided here concerns non-required disclosures the section has been 
marked as unaudited.

Overview
Economic capital is the amount of capital which we notionally allocate as a buffer against 
potential losses from business activities, based upon our assessment of risks. The economic 
capital we allocate to each SBU is based on the risk of that SBU’s activities, as measured by VAR 
and other risk factors, as described below under ‘Economic Capital Allocations’. Relating the 
risk-based economic capital of each SBU to its profit results in a calculation of its RAROC. 
Economic capital, RAROC, and EVA are key tools used in support of our capital usage process, 
assisting us in allocating our shareholders’ equity as efficiently as possible based on expectations 
of both risks and return. We report usage of economic capital for the activities of our Financial 
Markets, Real Estate Markets, and Corporate Center SBUs on a weekly basis, and for our 
Corporate Finance and Principal Investments SBUs on a monthly basis. The ALCO resets the 
maximum allocation level of economic capital to, and within, our SBUs quarterly, taking into 
account business expectations and our desired risk profile. Economic capital allocation is based 
on a one-year risk horizon, using a 99.9% confidence level. This confidence level means that 
there is a 0.1% probability that losses in a period of one year will be larger than the allocated 
economic capital. 

Adopting Advanced Internal Rating Based approach under Basel II will result in convergence 
between economic capital usage and regulatory capital required, as for both the loan and 
mortgage portfolios we can expect a lower regulatory capital charge.

Economic Capital Usage and Allocations
We allocated economic capital to all our SBUs on the basis of limits set by the ALCO, and 
calculate the amount of economic capital usage of each SBU based on the risk of its activities, 
as measured by VAR and other risk factors. 

For our Corporate Finance SBU, which uses a major part of our economic capital, we  n
calculate economic capital usage using the Basel II regulatory capital formula and add-ons 
for concentration risks and operational risks. For a description of Basel II, see section 
‘Basel II compliance’ as from page 133;
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For our Financial Markets, Real Estate Markets, and Corporate Center SBUs, we use a VAR  n
framework to determine economic capital usage. We calculate economic capital usage for 
our Financial Markets and Corporate Center SBUs using VAR calculated with four years 
of historical data; 
For our Principal Investments SBU, we calculate economic capital usage for mezzanine  n
investments by applying the Basel II regulatory capital formula and an add-on for 
operational risks. For the equity investments we use fixed percentages;
For our Investment Management SBU, we calculate economic capital usage according to the  n
level of operational risk.

The economic capital that is not used by an SBU is defined as excess economic capital. 

The following table (unaudited) shows our average economic capital usage, by SBU, and the 
diversification effects for the periods indicated.

Average economic capital usage by SBU 1, 3 
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Corporate Finance 504 483

Real Estate Markets 220 123

Financial Markets 242 174

Principal Investments 124 110

Investment Management 14 5

Corporate Center 151 63

AvERAgE ECONOMIC CAPITAl USAgE 1,255 959

Diversification effect (109) (24)

TOTAl AvERAgE ECONOMIC CAPITAl USAgE NET 
OF DIvERSIFICATION EFFECT 1,146 935

TOTAl AvERAgE UNUSED ECONOMIC CAPITAl 2 274 449

1.  All figures are excluding the allocation made for BIS II; reputation risk (EUR 100 million), business risk (EUR 18 million) 
and model risk (EUR 20 million).

2.  Defined as the difference between the economic capital usage and the available capital that can be allocated to the 
business activities.

3.  Figures deviate from segment reporting. Segment reporting is based upon allocated economic capital. This table is based 
upon economic capital usage.

The diversification effect across all our SBUs measures the extent to which risks, as measured by 
the amount of economic capital allocated, are to some degree correlated with one another and 
therefore provide a natural hedge. For instance, we hold two opposite interest rate positions, any 
loss from one of them will to some degree be cancelled out by a gain in the other. In a similar 
fashion, certain interest rate risks may offset certain credit spread risks. A diversification effect 
therefore effectively means that the aggregate risk of multiple positions is smaller than the sum 
of those risk positions measured on a stand-alone basis. 

The average economic capital usage of our Corporate Finance SBU increased by 
EUR 21 million, or 4% to EUR 504 million in 2007, compared to EUR 483 million in 2006. 
The increase between 2007 and 2006 was a result of larger portfolios in the first 6 months 
of 2007.
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The average economic capital usage of our Real Estate Markets SBU increased by 
EUR 97 million, or 79%, to EUR 220 million in 2007, compared to EUR 123 million in 2006. 
The increase between 2007 and 2006 was a result of the increased volatility in European CMBS 
and RMBS spreads.

The average economic capital usage of our Financial Markets SBU increased by 
EUR 68 million, or 39% to EUR 242 million in 2007, compared to EUR 174 million in 2006. 
The increase between 2007 and 2006 was a result of the increased volatility in US and 
European structured credits spreads.

The average economic capital usage of our Principal Investments SBU increased by 
EUR 14 million, or 13% to EUR 124 million in 2007, compared to EUR 110 million in 2006. 
The differences between economic capital usage in these years are mainly due to fluctuations 
in the size and risk weighting of Principal Investment’s portfolios.

The average economic capital usage of our Investment Management SBU increased by 
EUR 9 million, or 174% to EUR 14 million, compared to EUR 5 million in 2006. The increase 
between 2007 and 2006 was a result of the reallocation of assets under management to 
Investment Management. 

The average economic capital usage of our Corporate Center SBU increased by 
EUR 88 million, or 140%, to EUR 151 million in 2007, compared to EUR 63 million in 2006. 
The increase between 2007 and 2006 was a result of an increase in the average size of strategic 
mismatch positions in 2007. 

The diversification effect increased by EUR 85 million, or 354%, to negative EUR 109 million 
in 2007, compared to negative EUR 24 million in 2006. The larger diversification effect in 2007 
compared with the end of 2006 was predominantly the result of the larger average strategic 
mismatch position in 2007. 

Risk Categories
We also break down our total economic capital into several risk categories to assist in 
monitoring our risk profile as established by the ALCO. The following table (unaudited) shows 
our average economic capital usage as at the dates indicated per risk category, defined as follows:

‘Credit risk accrual’ risk refers to credit risk from the Corporate Finance SBU’s corporate  n
loan portfolio and counterparty risk from OTC derivatives;
‘Credit spread trading’ risk refers to credit spread risk from our residential and commercial  n
mortgages in our warehouse and pipeline, and from FM’s investment portfolios;
‘Interest rate non-trading’ risk refers to risks arising from the strategic mismatch position  n
and the residual interest rate risk containing mortgages, CTB portfolios, and Financial 
Markets books; 
‘Interest rate trading’ risk refers to risks arising from our ‘Interest and Derivatives Trading’,  n
‘Money Market and Repo-Trading’ and ‘Fair Value Interest Rate’ trading books of FM; 
‘Equity and mezzanine’ risk mainly arises from investments of our Principal Investments SBU; n
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‘Operational and other risks’ arises from the potential risk of inadequate performance in  n
the day-to-day processing of transactions, inadequate procedures and measures for timely 
detection of control failures, shortcomings in human resources, and poor decision-making 
as a result of inadequate management information. 

Average economic capital usage per risk category 1

2007 2006

IN euR mILLIONS
Economic  

capital usage
% of total economic 

capital used
Economic  

capital usage 
% of total economic 

capital used

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk accrual 568 40% 500 50.0%

MARKET RISK

Credit spread trading 413 29% 235 23.5%

Interest rate non-trading 45 3% 42 4.2%

Interest rate trading 155 11% 28 2.7%

INvESTMENT RISK

Equity & mezzanine 125 9% 108 10.8%

OPERATIONAl AND OTHER RISK

Operational and other 114 8% 88 8.8%

TOTAl ECONOMIC CAPITAl 1,420 100% 1,000 100%

Diversification effect (274) (65)

TOTAl ECONOMIC CAPITAl NET 
OF DIvERSIFICATION EFFECT 1,146 935

1. All figures are excluding the allocation made for BIS II; reputation risk (EUR 100 million), business risk (EUR 18 million) and model risk (EUR 20 million).

Credit-related risks are our most significant risk categories, accounting for approximately 
EUR 981 million, or 69% of our economic capital usage as at 31 December 2007. Credit-related 
risk in this context includes both credit spread trading risk and credit risk accrual. 

Interest rate-related risks accounted for approximately EUR 200 million, or 14% of our 
economic capital usage. Interest rate-related risks in this context include both interest rate 
trading and interest rate non-trading risks. Compared to 2006, in 2007, we had on average 
larger mismatch positions and larger trading positions.
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basel II compliance (unaudited)

Since the information provided here concerns non-required disclosures the section has been 
marked as unaudited.

The Basel Accords
In 1988, the first Basel Accord was introduced with the goal to introduce capital requirements 
for banks to avoid systemic risk and to create a level playing field in the international banking 
sector (Basel I). This resulted in the first Capital Adequacy Directive in 1990. In 1999 the Basel 
Committee introduced a new risk-based capital framework for the banking sector (Basel II). 

Basel II sets forth the details for an increase in risk-sensitive minimum capital requirements for 
banks in comparison to Basel I. The objective of Basel II is to improve the capital adequacy of 
the banking industry by making it more responsive to risk. Banks are encouraged to improve 
their risk management techniques and use their own risk estimates as a basis for the minimum 
capital requirements. 

The Basel II framework is based on 3 ‘pillars’:
Pillar 1  n describes the capital adequacy requirements for 3 risk types; Credit risk, Market 
risk, and Operational risk;
Pillar 2 n  describes the additional supervisory review process where regulators analyse the 
internal capital adequacy assessment process of the individual banks;
In  n Pillar 3 the required risk reporting standards are reflected to support additional market 
discipline in the international capital markets.

With respect to Pillar 1, the Basel Committee has set out a number of requirements with regard 
to risk measurement and risk control on both credit risk and operational risk. The market risk 
regime remains largely unaffected, with only a few additional requirements from Basel I. 
Basel II has given banks the option to choose between various approaches, each with a different 
level of sophistication in risk management, ranging from ‘standardised’ to ‘advanced’.

Basel II at NIBC
For measuring Credit risk under Pillar 1, NIBC has adopted the Advanced Internal Rating 
Based approach as further specified in Basel II. This choice is a logical extension of the 
development and use of our internal rating systems. Many of these systems have been 
operational since 2000 and are fully embedded in the organisation. In 2007, NIBC received 
approval from its regulator to start using the Advanced Internal Rating Based framework for 
regulatory reporting in 2008. 

For measuring Operational risk, NIBC has adopted the Standardised Approach on an initial 
basis, but ultimately we intend to move towards the Advanced Measurement approach, both as 
further specified in Basel II.
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For measuring market risk, NIBC will switch to an internal model VAR approach (Value-at-
Risk) in 2008. Until 2007 the Value at Risk method was internally used for monitoring the 
trading books while the standardised measurement method was used to report NIBC’s market 
risk to the Dutch Central Bank.

Under Pillar 2, NIBC has implemented its economic capital framework during 2007. 
This framework is fully embedded in the organisation with weekly reporting to the Asset and 
Liability Committee (ALCO). Amongst the topics covered in Pillar 2 are NIBC’s risk appetite, 
capital planning, and concentration and diversification effects. 

The basis for Pillar 2 is NIBC’s Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP).

NIBC will start the Pillar 3 risk reporting based on the activities of NIBC in 2008.

financial risk management
In addition to the information set out below, we refer to the comprehensive risk management 
information.

Capital Adequacy
The principal ratios for reviewing the capital adequacy of NIBC Bank N.V. are the Tier-I ratio 
and the BIS ratio. These ratios, which were implemented by the Bank for International 
Settlements (BIS), are intended to promote comparability between financial institutions. 
They are still based on the 1988 Basel Capital I Accord. A comprehensive revision of this Basel 
Capital Accord, which is currently underway, will bring it closer in line with the concept of 
economic capital.

The bank monitors developments in the ratios on a monthly basis, including comparison 
between the expected ratios and the actual ratios. These ratios indicate capital adequacy to 
hedge onbalance risks including off-balance sheet commitments and market risks and other 
risk positions expressed as risk-weighted items in order to reflect their relative risk. During the 
year ended 31 December 2007, NIBC complied amply with the capital requirements imposed 
by the Dutch Central Bank, which require a minimum Tier-I ratio of 4% and a minimum BIS 
ratio of 8%.

In 2007 the Tier-I ratio decreased from 12,3% to 11.7% and the BIS ratio increased from 13.3% 
to 13.4%.

In the following table is the summary of the risk positions comparing the notional amount and 
the risk-weighted amount. Tier-I capital consists of share capital, reserves (excluding the 
hedging reserve and the revaluation reserve), retained earnings and hybrid Tier-I capital, net of 
intangible fixed assets and proposed dividend. Total capital (BIS) consists of Tier-I capital plus 
the revaluation reserve and subordinated loans adjusted for deductible items.
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Capital adequacy NIBC Capital Bank N.v.
Balance sheet / Notional amount Risk-weighted amount

2007 2006 2007 2006

BAlANCE SHEET ASSETS 

Cash  874  239  -  - 

Banks  3,145  1,762  360  207 

Loans and receivables amortised cost  2,092  -  2,092  - 

Financial assets available for sale  5,923  7,252  5,610  6,398 

Financial assets fair value through profit or loss (including trading)  19,429  22,731  4,386  3,119 

Investments in par ticipating interests  44  23  44  23 

Proper ty and other fixed assets (for own use)  72  81  72  81 

Investment proper ty  1  8  1  8 

Tax assets  60  43  -  - 

Other assets  153  311  99  157 

TOTAl  31,793  32,450  12,664  9,993 

OFF-BAlANCE SHEET POSITIONS

Credit related commitments  3,396  4,594  1,636  1,887 

Derivatives contracts  141,313  125,342  478  265 

TOTAl  144,709  129,936  2,114  2,152 

OTC Derivative instruments – Interest contracts  126,921  111,272  182  142 

OTC Derivative instruments – Foreign exchange contracts  13,853  13,256  271  82 

OTC Derivative instruments – Equity contracts  539  814  25  41 

TOTAl DERIvATIvE CONTRACTS  141,313  125,342  478  265 

Unassigned market-risk components  620  2,636 

TOTAl RISK-wEIgHTED ASSETS  15,398  14,781 

Capital BIS %

2007 2006 2007 2006

BIS CAPITAl RATIOS

Tier-I capital  1,794  1,813 11.7% 12.3%

Tier-I + Tier-II capital (BIS)  2,199  2,164 13.4% 13.3%
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concentration of currency risk

Consolidated balance sheet, for the period ended 31 December 2007
IN euR mILLIONS EUR USD gBP jPy Other Total

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 874 - - - - 874

Due from other banks 2,784 317 35 - 9 3,145

Loans and receivables 1,188 151 68 30 17 1,454

Securitised loans and receivables 638 - - - - 638

AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE ASSETS

Loans and receivables 3,004 1,247 1,136 20 61 5,468

Equity investments 109 30 5 - - 144

Debt securities 311 - - - - 311

FINANCIAl ASSETS FAIR vAlUE 
THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS 
(INClUDINg TRADINg)

Loans and receivables 999 25 347 - 3 1,374

Residential mortgages own book 5,285 - - - - 5,285

Securitised residential mortgages 6,356 - - - - 6,356

Debt securities 1,739 351 227 9 3 2,329

Structured investments 1,040 171 1 - - 1,212

Equity investments 147 - - - - 147

Derivative financial assets held 
for trading (4,441) 5,087 749 641 605 2,641

Derivative financial assets used 
for hedging 244 (157) (2) - - 85

Investments in associates 44 - - - - 44

Intangible assets - - - - - -

Proper ty and other fixed assets  
(for own use) 72 - - - - 72

Investment proper ty 1 - - - - 1

Current tax assets 40 - - - - 40

Deferred tax assets 20 - - - - 20

Other assets 139 (1) 13 1 1 153

TOTAl ASSETS 20,593 7,221 2,579 701 699 31,793
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Consolidated balance sheet, for the period ended 31 December 2007
IN euR mILLIONS EUR USD gBP jPy Other Total

liabilities

Due to other banks 4,163 536 - - 1 4,700

Other deposits 1,217 262 35 - - 1,514

Other borrowings 2 - - - - 2

FINANCIAl lIABIlITIES FAIR vAlUE 
THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS 
(INClUDINg TRADINg)

Debt securities in issue structured 2,686 718 224 391 133 4,152

Own debt securities in issue 142 - - 6 67 215

Derivative financial liabilities held 
for trading (2,804) 2,549 1,738 300 591 2,374

Derivative financial liabilities used 
for hedging (458) 1,728 (230) (144) (843) 53

DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE

Own debt securities in issue 6,252 1,100 819 139 725 9,035

Debt securities in issue related 
to securitised mortgages 7,027 187 - - - 7,214

Other liabilities 413 (200) 30 - 1 244

Current tax liabilities (6) 3 1 - 2 -

Deferred tax liabilities 34 (4) (6) - - 24

Employee benefit obligations 11 - - - - 11

Subordinated liabilities 377 339 - - 17 733

TOTAl lIABIlITIES 19,056 7,218 2,611 692 694 30,271

SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy

Share capital -

Other reserves -

Retained earnings -

Net profit attributable to parent 
shareholders -

TOTAl PARENT SHAREHOlDERS’ 
EqUITy 1,518 8 (15) - - 1,511

Minority interest 11 11

TOTAl SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy 1,529 8 (15) - - 1,522

TOTAl lIABIlITIES AND 
SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy 20,585 7,226 2,596 692 694 31,793

NET ON BAlANCE SHEET 
FINANCIAl POSITION 8 (5) (17) 9 5 -
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Consolidated balance sheet, for the period ended 31 December 2006
IN euR mILLIONS EUR USD gBP jPy Other Total

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 239 - - - - 239

Due from other banks 1,550 179 19 - 14 1,762

AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE ASSETS

Loans and advances to customers 3,592 1,752 1,638 17 68 7,067

Equity Investments 156 26 3 - - 185

FINANCIAl ASSETS FAIR vAlUE 
THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS 
(INClUDINg TRADINg)

Corporate loan warehouse 952 - - - - 952

Residential mortgages own book 4,438 - - - - 4,438

Securitised residential mortgages 6,988 - - - - 6,988

Debt securities 3,671 2,996 518 17 - 7,202

Structured investments 856 15 43 - - 914

Derivative financial assets held 
for trading (5,341) 4,675 1,569 815 219 1,937

Derivative financial assets used 
for hedging 511 (210) (1) - - 300

Investments in associates 23 - - - - 23

Intangible assets - - - - - -

Proper ty and other fixed assets  
(for own use) 81 - - - - 81

Investment proper ty 8 - - - - 8

Current tax assets 40 - - - - 40

Deferred tax assets 5 (2) - - - 3

Other assets 125 181 7 - (2) 311

TOTAl ASSETS 17,894 9,612 3,796 849 299 32,450
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Consolidated balance sheet, for the period ended 31 December 2006
IN euR mILLIONS EUR USD gBP jPy Other Total

liabilities

Due to other banks 2,786 413 201 - 1 3,401

Other deposits 2,303 330 156 - - 2,789

Due to customers 10 3 - - - 13

FINANCIAl lIABIlITIES FAIR vAlUE 
THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS 
(INClUDINg TRADINg)

Debt securities in issue structured 2,659 1,075 202 566 51 4,553

Derivative financial liabilities held 
for trading (5,977) 4,364 3,129 272 223 2,011

Derivative financial liabilities used 
for hedging (179) 2,036 (747) (186) (791) 133

DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE

Own debt securities in issue 6,688 846 813 200 788 9,335

Debt securities in issue related to 
securitised mortgages 7,037 209 - - - 7,246

Other liabilities 491 (37) 33 - 1 488

Current tax liabilities (3) - - - 3 -

Deferred tax liabilities 49 5 5 - 1 60

Employee benefit obligations 17 - - - - 17

Subordinated liabilities 286 385 - - 17 688

TOTAl lIABIlITIES 16,167 9,629 3,792 852 294 30,734

SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy

Share capital -

Other reserves -

Retained earnings -

Net profit attributable to parent 
shareholders -

TOTAl PARENT SHAREHOlDERS’ 
EqUITy 1,664 41 9 - 2 1,716

Minority interest - - - - - -

TOTAl SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy 1,664 41 9 - 2 1,716

TOTAl lIABIlITIES AND 
SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy 17,831 9,670 3,801 852 296 32,450

NET ON BAlANCE SHEET FINANCIAl 
POSITION 63 (58) (5) (3) 3 -
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IN euR mILLIONS NOTE 2007 2006

Interest and similar income 2 1,644 1,232

Interest expense and similar charges 2 1,406 992

NET INTEREST INCOME 2 238 240

Fee and commission income 3 65 58

Fee and commission expense 3 3 2

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 3 62 56

Dividend income 4 84 35

Net trading income 5  (24) 83

Gains less losses from equity investments and associates 6 108 39

Share in profit of associates 28 1 16

Other operating income 7 6 13

175 186

OPERATINg INCOME 475 482

Personnel expenses 8 135 125

Other operating expenses 59 63

Depreciation 9 17 11

OPERATINg ExPENSES 211 199

Impairment of financial assets 10  2  (15)

TOTAl ExPENSES 213 184

OPERATINg PROFIT 262 298

Result on disposal of subsidiaries 11  -  1 

PROFIT BEFORE TAx FROM CONTINUINg OPERATIONS 262 299

Tax 12 20 66

PROFIT AFTER TAx FROM CONTINUINg OPERATIONS 242 233

RESUlT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 52  (141)  10 

NET PROFIT 101 243

Result attributable to minority interest 13  3  - 

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABlE TO PARENT SHAREHOlDERS 98 243

Consolidated Income Statement 
For the year ended 31 December
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 
At 31 December

IN euR mILLIONS NOTE 2007 2006

Assets

FINANCIAl ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Cash and balances with central banks 14 874 239

Due from other banks 15 3,145 1,762

Loans and receivables 16 1,454  - 

Securitised loans 17 638  - 

FINANCIAl ASSETS AT AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE

Loans and receivables 18 5,468 7,067

Equity investments 19 144 185

Debt securities 20 311  - 

FINANCIAl ASSETS AT FAIR vAlUE THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS  
(INClUDINg TRADINg)

Loans and receivables 21 1,374 952

Residential mortgages own book 22 5,285 4,438

Securitised residential mortgages 23 6,356 6,988

Debt securities 24 2,329 7,202

Structured investments 25 1,212 914

Investments in associates 26 147  - 

Derivative financial assets held for trading 27 2,641 1,937

Derivative financial assets used for hedging 27 85 300

Investments in associates 28 44 23

Proper ty and other fixed assets (for own use) 29 72 81

Investment proper ty 30 1 8

Current tax assets 31 40 40

Deferred tax assets 32 20 3

Other assets 33 153 311

TOTAl ASSETS 31,793 32,450
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IN euR mILLIONS NOTE 2007 2006

liabilities

Due to other banks 34 4,700 3,401

Other deposits 35  1,514  2,789 

Other borrowings 36  2  13 

FINANCIAl lIABIlITIES AT FAIR vAlUE THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS  
(INClUDINg TRADINg)

Debt securities in issue structured 37  4,152  4,553 

Own debt securities in issue 38  215  - 

Derivative financial liabilities held for trading 27  2,374  2,011 

Derivative financial liabilities used for hedging 27  53  133 

DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE

Own debt securities in issue 39  9,035  9,335 

Debt securities in issue related to securitised mortgages 40  7,214  7,246 

Other liabilities 41  244  488 

Deferred tax liabilities 42  24  60 

Employee benefit obligations 43  11  17 

SUBORDINATED lIABIlITIES 

Amortised cost 44  236  256 

Fair value through profit or loss 45 497 432

TOTAl lIABIlITIES 30,271 30,734

SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy

Share capital 46 80 80

Other reserves 46 296 470

Retained earnings 1,037 923

Net profit attributable to parent shareholders 98 243

TOTAl PARENT SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy 1,511 1,716

TOTAl MINORITy INTEREST 11 -

TOTAl SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy 1,522 1,716

TOTAl lIABIlITIES AND SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy 31,793 32,450
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Consolidated Statement of  
Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Attributable to parent shareholders

IN euR mILLIONS
Share  

capital
Other 

Reserves
Retained 
earnings

Net  
Profit

Minority 
Interest Total

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 2006  80  433  1,057  158  -  1,728 

Net result on cash flow hedging instruments  -  (12)  -  -  -  (12)

Revaluation loans and receivables  -  15  -  -  -  15 

Revaluation equity investments  -  20  -  -  -  20 

Revaluation proper ty in own use  -  14  -  -  -  14 

TOTAl gAINS AND (lOSSES) RECOgNISED DIRECTly 
IN EqUITy  -  37  -  -  -  37 

Profit appropriation  -  -  158  (158)  -  - 

Net result for the period  -  -  -  243  -  243 

COMPREHENSIvE NET RESUlT  -  37  158  85  -  280 

Dividends 1  -  -  (293)  -  -  (293)

Other movements  -  -  1  -  1 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2006 80 470 923 243 - 1,716

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 2007  80  470  923  243  -  1,716 

Net result on cash flow hedging instruments  -  (11)  -  -  -  (11)

Revaluation loans and receivables  -  (117)  -  -  -  (117)

Revaluation equity investments 2  -  (41)  17  -  -  (24)

Revaluation debt securities  -  (6)  -  -  -  (6)

Revaluation proper ty in own use  -  1  -  -  -  1 

TOTAl gAINS AND (lOSSES) RECOgNISED DIRECTly 
IN EqUITy  -  (174)  17  -  -  (157)

Profit appropriation  -  -  243  (243)  -  - 

Net result for the period  -  -  -  98  3  101 

COMPREHENSIvE NET RESUlT  -  (174)  260  (145)  3  (56)

Dividends 3  -  -  (146)  -  (1)  (147)

Capital contribution of third par ties in a subsidiary 
controlled by NIBC  -  -  -  -  9  9 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2007 80 296 1,037 98 11 1,522

1.   Dividends in 2006 are comprised of EUR 140 million ordinary dividend over 2005, EUR 51 million interim dividend over 2006 and EUR 102 million 
extraordinary dividend.

2.  In 2004, the group sold a number of investments and did not release the corresponding revaluation reserve of EUR 17 million. The correction of this error, 
to transfer the revaluation reserve of EUR 17 million directly to retained earnings, has no effect on the income statements for 2006 and 2007, nor on total 
shareholders’ equity and the balance sheet total at 31 December 2007 and 2006.

3. Dividends in 2007 are comprised of EUR 61 million final ordinary dividend over 2006 and EUR 85 million extraordinary dividend in 2007.
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IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

OPERATINg ACTIvITIES

Net profit  98  243 

ADjUSTMENTS FOR NON-CASH ITEMS

Depreciation and impairment losses  19  (4)

Changes in employee benefit obligations  (6)  (12)

Gains less losses from equity investments and associates  (108)  (39)

Share in profit of associates  (1)  (17)

CHANgES IN OPERATINg ASSETS AND lIABIlITIES

Derivative financial instruments  (217)  (303)

Operating assets  3,122  251 

Operating liabilities  (299)  855 

Dividends received from associates  -  1 

CASH FlOwS FROM OPERATINg ACTIvITIES  2,608 975

INvESTINg ACTIvITIES

Proceeds from the sale of proper ty and other fixed assets  8  11 

Acquisition of proper ty and other fixed assets  (9)  (16)

Disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures  2  14 

Acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures  (25)  - 

CASH FlOwS FROM INvESTINg ACTIvITIES  (24) 9

FINANCINg ACTIvITIES

Net increase / (decrease) in own debt securities in issue  (85)  101 

Net increase / (decrease) in subordinated liabilities  45  11 

Net increase / (decrease) in debt securities in issue structured  (401)  (745)

Dividends paid  (146)  (293)

CASH FlOwS FROM FINANCINg ACTIvITIES  (587) (926)

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EqUIvAlENTS  1,997 58

CASH AND CASH EqUIvAlENTS AT 1 jANUARy  1,979  1,921 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1,997  58 

CASH AND CASH EqUIvAlENTS AT 31 DECEMBER  3,976 1,979

CASH FlOwS FROM OPERATINg ACTIvITIES INClUDE:

Taxes paid  4  150 

RECONCIlIATION OF CASH AND CASH EqUIvAlENTS:

Cash and balances with central banks  874  239 

Due from other banks (maturity ≤ 3 months)  3,102  1,740 

3,976  1,979 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
For the year ended 31 December
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general information
NIBC Bank N.V. (the Company), together with its subsidiaries (NIBC or the Group) is a 
merchant bank focused on the mid-cap segment in Western Europe with a global distribution 
network. NIBC offers innovative corporate finance, risk management, and investment solutions 
to corporate clients, financial institutions, institutional investors, financial sponsors, and family 
offices. NIBC Bank N.V. has offices in The Hague, London, Brussels, Frankfurt, and Singapore. 
NIBC Bank N.V. is domiciled in the Netherlands.

The risk management disclosures on page 52 to 139 constitute part of these financial 
statements. These consolidated financial statements were approved for issue by the Managing 
Board of NIBC.

summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to 
conform to changes in presentation in the current year. The comparative income statement and 
cash flow statement have been re-presented as if an operation discontinued during the current 
period had been discontinued from the start of the comparative period (see note 52).

Basis of Preparation
The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by the European Union.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
as modified by the revaluation of property, available for sale financial asset, financial assets and 
financial liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss, and all derivative contracts.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated 
financial statements are disclosed in the ‘Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements’.

accounting 
policies

148



(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2007
The following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards are 
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007:

Amendments to IAS 1 – Capital disclosures (effective 1 January 2007) and IFRS 7, Financial  n
Instruments: Disclosure IFRS 7 has a significant impact on disclosures. NIBC Bank N.V. 
has implemented this standard in the 2006 Annual Financial Statements;
IFRIC 9, ‘Reassessment of embedded derivatives’: An entity is required to assess whether   n
an embedded derivative is required to be separated from the host contract and accounted 
for as a derivative when the entity first becomes a party to the contract. Subsequent 
reassessment is prohibited unless there is a change in the terms of the contract that 
significantly modifies the cash flows that otherwise would be required under the contract, 
in which case reassessment is required. The application of this interpretation does not have 
a material impact on the Group’s financial statements;
IFRIC 10, ‘Interim financial reporting and impairment’, prohibits the impairment losses  n
recognised in an interim period on goodwill and investments in equity instruments  
and in financial assets carried at cost to be reversed at a subsequent balance sheet date.  
This standard does not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(b)  Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2007 but not relevant to the 
Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards are 
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007 but are not relevant  
to the Group’s operations:

IFRIC 7, ‘Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29’, ‘Financial reporting in  n
hyperinflationary economies’; 
IFRIC 8, ‘Scope of IFRS 2’, requires consideration of transactions involving the issuance   n
of equity instruments where the identifiable consideration received is less than the fair 
value of the equity instruments issued in order to establish whether or not they fall within 
the scope of IFRS 2; 
IFRS 4, ‘Insurance contracts’: this is not relevant to NIBC’s operating activities and  n
therefore has no material effect. 

(c)  Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet 
effective and have not been early adopted by the Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been 
published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2008 or later periods, but the Group has not early adopted them:

IAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’. The amendment to the standard is still subject   n
to endorsement by the European Union. It requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset  
(one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost  
of that asset. The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs will be removed. 
NIBC will apply IAS 23 (Amended) from 1 January 2009, but the Standard is currently not 
applicable to NIBC as NIBC has no qualifying assets;
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IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 and aligns segment reporting with the  n
requirements of the US standard SFAS 131, ‘Disclosures about segments of an enterprise 
and related information’. The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which 
segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting 
purposes. NIBC will apply IFRS 8 from 1 January 2009. The expected impact is still being 
assessed in detail by management;
IFRIC 11, ‘IFRS 2 – Group and treasury share transactions’. IFRIC 11 provides guidance on  n
whether share-based transactions involving treasury shares or involving group entities  
(for example, options over a parent’s shares) should be accounted for as equity-settled or 
cash-settled share-based payment transactions in the stand-alone accounts of the parent 
and group companies. Management is currently investigating the impact of this 
interpretation;
IFRIC 14, ‘IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements  n
and their interaction’. IFRIC 14 provides guidance on assessing the limit in IAS 19 on the 
amount of the surplus that can be recognised as an asset. It also explains how the pension 
asset or liability may be affected by a statutory or contractual minimum funding 
requirement. NIBC will apply IFRIC 14 from 1 January 2008, but it is not expected to have 
a material impact on NIBC’s financial position;
IFRIC 12, ‘Service concession arrangements’. IFRIC 12 applies to contractual arrangements  n
whereby a private sector operator participates in the development, financing, operation, 
and maintenance of infrastructure for public sector services. Management is currently 
reviewing the requirements of IFRIC 12 to determine whether it will have a material impact 
on NIBC’s financial position;
IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’. IFRIC 13 clarifies that where goods or services  n
are sold together with a customer loyalty incentive (for example, loyalty points or free 
products), the arrangement is a multiple-element arrangement and the consideration 
receivable from the customer is allocated between the components of the arrangement 
using fair values. IFRIC 13 is not relevant to NIBC’s operations because NIBC does not 
operate any loyalty programmes.

Company income statement
Under Article 402 of Part 9, Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code, it is sufficient for a 
company’s statutory income statement to present only the income of Group companies and 
other income and expenses after income tax.

basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements are comprised of the financial statements of  
NIBC Bank N.V. and its subsidiaries as at and for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007.

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special-purpose entities) controlled by NIBC. Control 
exists when NIBC has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of 
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potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or presently convertible are considered 
when assessing whether NIBC controls another entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences 
until the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries.  
The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given up, equity 
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of acquisition, plus costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of 
the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net 
assets acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by NIBC Bank N.V.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of impairment of the assets transferred.

Minority interests 
The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with 
parties external to the Group. Minority interests in the net assets and net results of consolidated 
subsidiaries are shown separately on the balance sheet and income statement. 

At the date of acquisition, minority interests are stated at the share of fair value of the net assets 
acquired (excluding goodwill). Subsequent to the date of acquisition, minority interests 
comprise the amount calculated at the date of acquisition adjusted for the minority’s share of 
changes in equity since the date of acquisition. 

Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for NIBC that are recorded in the 
income statement. Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill, being the difference 
between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net 
assets of the subsidiary.

Joint ventures 
A joint venture exists where the Group has a contractual arrangement with one or more parties 
to undertake activities typically, though not necessarily, through entities that are subject to 
joint control.

The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for by proportionate 
consolidation. NIBC combines its share of the joint venture’s individual income and expenses, 
assets and liabilities and cash flows on a line-by-line basis with similar items in the Group’s 
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financial statements. The Group recognises the portion of gains or losses on the sale of assets 
by the Group to the joint venture that is attributable to the other venturers. The Group does  
not recognise its share of profits or losses from the joint venture that result from the Group’s 
purchase of assets from the joint venture until it resells the assets to an independent party. 
However, a loss on the transaction is recognised immediately if the loss provides evidence of 
a reduction in the net realisable value of current assets, or an impairment loss.

With effect from 1 January 2007, to the extent that newly acquired joint ventures are held by 
the Principal Investments business unit, which is considered to be a venture capital 
organisation as that term is used in IAS 31, the Group designates upon initial recognition all 
newly acquired investments in joint ventures as financial assets at fair value through profit  
or loss. These assets are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequent changes in fair value 
are recognised in the income statement in the period of the change in fair value. 

Associates 
Associates are those entities over which NIBC has significant influence, but not control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

Investments in associates acquired before 1 January 2007 are accounted for by the equity 
method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates 
includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition. 

With effect from 1 January 2007, all newly acquired investments in associates held by the 
Principal Investments business unit, which is considered to be a venture capital organisation,  
as that term is used in IAS 28, are designated upon initial recognition as financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss. These assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequent 
changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement in the period of the change in  
fair value.

Under the equity method, the Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses  
is recognised in the income statement; its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is 
recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the 
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or 
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does 
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of 
the associate. 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the 
extent of NIBC’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by NIBC. 

Dilution gains or losses in associates are recognised in the income statement.
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segment reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or 
services that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business 
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a 
particular economic environment that are subject to risks and returns different from those 
of segments operating in other economic environments. In the financial statements, primary 
segment reporting refers to reporting on business segments and secondary segment reporting 
refers to reporting on geographical segments.

Business segments are the primary reporting segments. Group costs are allocated to segments 
on a reasonable and consistent basis. Transactions between segments are generally accounted 
for in accordance with Group policies as if the segment were a stand-alone business with  
intra-segment revenue and costs being eliminated in Corporate Center.

foreign currency translation
Functional and presentational currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured  
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates  
(the functional currency).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, the functional currency and 
presentation currency of NIBC Bank N.V.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates  
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying net investment hedges. 

Changes in the fair value of monetary loans denominated in foreign currency that are classified 
as available for sale are analysed between foreign exchange translation differences and other 
changes in the carrying amount of the loan. Foreign exchange translation differences are 
recognised in the income statement, and other changes in the carrying amount are recognised 
in equity.

Foreign exchange translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities that are stated 
at fair value through profit and loss are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 
Translation differences on non-monetary items classified as available for sale assets are 
included in the fair value reserve in equity.
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Group companies
The results and financial position of all Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at   n
the date of that balance sheet;
Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates  n
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at  
the dates of the transactions);
All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity. n

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in 
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of 
such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is disposed of,  
or partially disposed of, such exchange differences are recognised in the income statement as 
part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated  
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

recognition of financial instruments
A financial instrument is recognised in the balance sheet when NIBC becomes a party to  
the contractual provisions that comprises the financial instrument.

NIBC applies trade date accounting to all financial instruments. All purchases and sales of 
financial assets requiring delivery within the time frame established by regulation or market 
convention are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which NIBC commits to 
purchase or sell the asset.

Forward purchases and sales other than those requiring delivery within the time frame 
established by regulation or market convention are treated as derivative forward contracts.

derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) are derecognised when: 

The rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or n
When NIBC has transferred its contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial  n
assets, and either

substantially all risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred or  n
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substantially all the risks and rewards have neither been retained nor transferred but  n

control is not retained. 

If NIBC has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of NIBC’s continuing involvement  
in the asset.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount 
of consideration that NIBC could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and / or purchased option (including 
a cash settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of NIBC’s 
continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that NIBC may repurchase, 
except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash settled option or similar 
provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of NIBC’s continuing involvement is 
limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires.

If an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a 
new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income 
statement.

changes to the classification of financial instruments 
The Group made the following changes:

Loans and receivables n  
Loans and receivables originated before 1 July 2007 are accounted for at fair value through 
profit or loss (residential mortgages, commercial real estate loans and leveraged loan 
warehouses, secondary loan trading, and distressed asset trading) or available for sale  
(all other corporate lending). With the exception of residential mortgages, loans originated 
after 1 July 2007 are classified as loans and receivables at amortised cost. These loans are 
initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The reason 
for this change is the alignment with industry practice.
Debt securities (assets) n  
With effect from 1 July 2007, newly originated assets in the EU structured credits books  
are classified as available for sale. Assets acquired before 1 July 2007 were classified as  
Held for Trading. The reason for this change is the alignment with best market practice. 
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Equity investments in associates and joint ventures n  
With effect from 1 January 2007, all newly acquired investments in associates and joint 
ventures held by the Principal Investments business unit are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss. Previously acquired investments in associates, where material, were 
accounted for using the equity method and investments in joint ventures were 
proportionately consolidated. The Principal Investments business unit is considered to be a 
venture capital organisation, as that term is used in IAS 28 and IAS 31. This change brings 
NIBC’s accounting into line with industry practice.
Equity investments n  
Equity investments acquired before 1 January 2007 held in the investment portfolio of the 
Principal Investments business unit are classified as available for sale assets in the 
consolidated balance sheet. With effect from 1 January 2007, all newly acquired equity 
investments held by the Principal Investments business unit are designated upon initial 
recognition as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. This change brings NIBC’s 
accounting into line with industry practice for venture capital organisations.
Fixed rate long-term debt securities in issue (liabilities) n  
During the period commencing 1 January 2007, plain vanilla fixed rate long-term debt 
securities (liabilities) were issued together with matching interest rate swaps as part of a 
documented interest rate risk management strategy. An accounting mismatch would arise  
if the debt securities in issue were accounted for at amortised cost, because the related 
derivatives are measured at fair value with movements in the fair value taken through the 
income statement. By designating the long-term debt as fair value through profit or loss,  
the movement in the fair value of the long-term debt will also be recorded in the income 
statement, and thereby off-set the gains or losses on the derivative instrument that is also 
included in the income statement.

classification of financial instruments
Financial assets are classified as:

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, including derivative instruments  n
that do not qualify for cash flow hedge accounting; 
Available for sale financial instruments; n
Loans and receivables at amortised cost. n

Financial liabilities are classified as:
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss including derivative instruments  n
that do not qualify for cash flow hedge accounting;
Borrowings at amortised cost. n

The measurement and income recognition in the income statement depend on the IFRS 
classification of the financial asset or liability. The classification of financial instruments is 
determined upon initial recognition.
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financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two subcategories: financial instruments held for trading and financial 
instruments designated as at fair value through profit and loss at inception.

Financial instruments held for trading
A financial instrument is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally  
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near future with the objective of generating a 
profit from short-term fluctuations in price or dealer’s margin. Derivatives are also categorised 
as held for trading unless they are designated and effective hedging instruments.

The measurement of these financial instruments is initially at fair value, with transaction  
costs taken to the income statement. Subsequently, their fair value is remeasured, and all gains 
and losses from changes therein are recognised in the income statement in net trading income 
as they arise.

Financial instruments designated upon initial recognition as Fair Value 
through Profit or Loss
Financial instruments are classified in this category if they meet one or more of the criteria set 
out below, and provided they are so designated by management. NIBC may designate financial 
instruments at fair value when the designation:

Eliminates or significantly reduces valuation or recognition inconsistencies that would  n
otherwise arise from measuring financial assets or financial liabilities, or recognising gains 
and losses on them, on different bases. Under this criterion, the main classes of financial 
instruments designated by NIBC at fair value through profit or loss are: 

Residential mortgage loans (own book and securitised); n

Investment portfolios; n

Structured investments; n

Associates and joint ventures within our venture capital organisation Principal  n

Investments;
Certain fixed rate long-term debt securities issued after 1 January 2007.  n

Applies to groups of financial assets, financial liabilities or combinations thereof that are  n
managed, and their performance evaluated, on a fair value basis in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy, and where information about the 
groups of financial instruments is reported to management on that basis. Under this 
criterion, equity investments, commercial real estate loans (originated before 1 July 2007), 
leveraged loan warehouses, secondary loan trading, and distressed asset trading are the 
significant classes of financial instruments so designated. NIBC has documented risk 
management and investment strategies designed to manage such assets at fair value, taking 
into consideration the relationship of assets to liabilities in a way that mitigates market 
risks. Reports are provided to management on the fair value of the assets; 
Relates to financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives that  n
significantly modify the cash flows resulting from those financial instruments. Under this 
criterion, the main class of financial instrument designated by NIBC at fair value through 
profit or loss are certain structured funding portfolios. Under this criterion, the main classes 
of financial instruments designated by NIBC at fair value through profit or loss are:
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Debt securities in issue structured; n

Subordinated liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. n

The fair value designation, once made, is irrevocable.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that are managed in 
conjunction with designated financial assets or liabilities are included in net trading income.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (comprising the categories described 
above) are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income 
statement. Subsequent measurement is at fair value and all changes in fair value are reported in 
the income statement as net trading income and gains less losses from equity investments. 
Interest is recorded in interest income using the effective interest rate method, while dividend 
income is recorded in dividend income when NIBC’s right to receive payment is established.

available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated  
as available for sale or are not classified as: 

Loans and receivables;  n
Held-to-maturity investments;  n
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  n

The main classes of financial instruments designated as available for sale financial assets 
include corporate lending advanced before 1 July 2007 (excluding commercial real estate and 
leverage loan warehouses, secondary loan trading, and distressed asset trading), securities in 
the EU structured credits books and liquidity portfolios (acquired after 1 July 2007) and equity 
investments acquired before 1 January 2007. 
Available for sale financial assets are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, but 
may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or 
equity prices. 

Available for sale financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs  
and are subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised directly in  
the revaluation reserve in equity, until the financial instrument is derecognised or impaired.  
When available for sale securities are sold, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in 
equity are recognised in the income statement as Net trading income or gains less losses from 
equity investments.

Interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign currency gains and losses on 
monetary instruments classified as available for sale are recognised in the income statement as 
interest and similar income and net trading income respectively. Dividends on available for sale 
financial instruments are recognised in the income statement as dividend income when NIBC’s 
right to receive payment is established.
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loans and receivables at amortised cost
Loans and receivables at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than: 

Those that NIBC intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are classified as  n
held for trading; 
Those that NIBC upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; n
Those that NIBC upon initial recognition designates as available for sale; n
Those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other  n
than because of credit deterioration.

These loans are initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

borrowings
With the exception of those borrowings designated as at fair value through profit or loss, these 
are initially recognised at fair value net of transaction costs, and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, with the periodic amortisation recorded in 
the income statement.

NIBC classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual terms of the instrument. The Group’s perpetual bonds  
are not redeemable by the holders but bear an entitlement to distributions that is not at the 
discretion of the Group. Accordingly, they are presented as a financial liability. 

Subordinated liabilities are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred. 
Subordinated liabilities without embedded derivatives are subsequently stated at amortised 
cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is 
recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest method. Subordinated liabilities containing one or more embedded derivatives that 
significantly modify the cash flows are designated at fair value through profit and loss.

recognition of day one profit or loss
The best evidence of fair value at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e., the fair value 
of the consideration given or received), unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced  
by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument  
(i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose variables 
include only data from observable markets.
The Group has entered into transactions where fair value is determined using valuation models 
for which not all inputs are market observable prices or rates. Such financial instruments are 
initially recognised at the transaction price, which is the best indicator of fair value, although 
the value obtained from the relevant valuation model may differ. Significant differences 
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between the transaction price and the model value, commonly referred to as ‘day one profit 
and loss’, are not recognised immediately in the income statement.

Deferred day one profit or losses are amortised to income over the life until maturity or 
settlement. The financial instrument is subsequently measured at fair value as determined by 
the relevant model adjusted for any deferred day one profit or loss.

offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet 
when a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts exists and the Group intends 
to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

collateral
The Group enters into master agreements and credit support annexes with counterparties 
whenever possible and when appropriate. Master agreements provide that, if the master 
agreement is being terminated as a consequence of an event of default or termination event,  
all outstanding transactions with the counterparty will fall due and all amounts outstanding 
will be settled on a net basis. In the case of a Credit Support Annex with counterparties, the 
Group has the right to obtain collatoral for the net counterparty exposure.

The Group obtains collateral in respect of counterparty liabilities when this is considered 
appropriate.The collateral normally takes the form of a lien over the counterparty’s assets and 
gives the Group a claim on these assets for both existing and future liabilities. 

The Group also pays and receives collateral in the form of cash or securities in respect of other 
credit instruments, such as derivative contracts, in order to reduce credit risk. Collateral paid 
or received in the form of cash together with the underlying is recorded on the balance sheet. 
Any interest payable or receivable arising is recorded as interest expense or interest income 
respectively.

derivative financial instruments and hedging
NIBC uses derivative financial instruments both for trading and hedging purposes. NIBC uses 
derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate 
risks and to credit spread risk.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured, and are subsequently re-measured, at 
fair value. The fair value of exchange-traded derivatives is obtained from quoted market prices. 
Fair values of over-the-counter derivatives are obtained using valuation techniques, including 
discounted cash flow models and option pricing models. 
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The method of recognising fair value gains and losses depends on whether the derivatives are 
held for trading or are designated as hedging instruments, and if the latter, the nature of the 
risks being hedged. All gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives held for 
trading are recognised in the income statement. 

When derivatives are designated as hedges, NIBC classifies them as either a: 
Fair value hedge of interest rate risk (portfolio fair value hedges);  n
A fair value hedge of interest rate risk and foreign exchange rate risk (micro fair value  n
hedges); 
Cash flow hedge of the variability of highly probable cash flows (cash flow hedges);  n
Hedges of net investments in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).  n

Hedge accounting is applied to derivatives designated as hedging instruments, provided certain 
criteria are met.

Hedge accounting
Where derivatives are held for risk management purposes, and when transactions meet the 
criteria specified in IAS 39, the Group applies fair value hedge accounting, cash flow hedge 
accounting, or hedging of a net investment in a foreign operation as appropriate to the risks 
being hedged. 

At the inception of a hedging relationship, NIBC documents the relationship between the 
hedging instrument and the hedged item, its risk management objective and its strategy for 
undertaking the hedge. NIBC also requires a documented assessment, both at hedge inception 
and on an ongoing basis, of whether or not the derivatives that are used in hedging 
relationships are highly effective in offsetting changes attributable to the hedged risk in the fair 
value or cash flows of the hedged items. Interest on designated qualifying hedges is included in 
net interest income.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when:
It is determined that a derivative is not, or has ceased to be, highly effective as a hedge; n
The derivative expires, or is sold, terminated or exercised;  n
The hedged item matures or is sold or repaid;  n
A forecast transaction is no longer deemed highly probable.  n

Fair value hedge
NIBC applies portfolio fair value hedge accounting and fair value hedge accounting on a  
micro level. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedging 
instruments are recorded in the income statements together with changes in the fair value of 
the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk.

If a hedge relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the cumulative fair 
value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item is amortised to the income 
statement over the remaining period to maturity using the effective interest method. If the 
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hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised immediately 
in the income statement. 

Portfolio fair value hedge 
NIBC applies portfolio fair value hedge accounting to the interest rate risk arising on portfolios 
of fixed interest rate corporate loans (classified as available for sale financial assets) and to 
portfolios of plain vanilla fixed interest rate funding (liabilities classified at amortised cost).

In order to apply portfolio fair value hedge accounting, the cash flows arising on the portfolios 
are scheduled into time buckets based upon when the cash flows are expected to occur. For the 
first two years, cash flows are rescheduled using monthly time buckets; thereafter annual time 
buckets are used. Hedging instruments are designated for each time bucket, together with an 
amount of assets or liabilities that NIBC is seeking to hedge. Designation and de-designation  
of hedging relationships is undertaken on a monthly basis, together with an assessment of the 
effectiveness of the hedging relationship at a portfolio level, across all time buckets.

Ineffectiveness within the 80%-125% bandwidth is recognised in the income statement through 
the actual hedge adjustment. Ineffectiveness outside the 80%-125% bandwidth is recognised by 
not posting a hedge adjustment to the hedged item.

Micro fair value hedge
NIBC Bank N.V. applies micro fair value hedge accounting to the interest rate risk and the 
foreign exchange risk arising from plain vanilla fixed interest rate funding denominated in  
a foreign currency.
Cross currency interest rate swaps are used as hedging instruments. Changes in the fair value 
of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedging instruments are recorded in 
the income statement together with changes in the fair value of the hedged items attributable to 
the hedged risks.

Retrospective effectiveness is tested monthly, by comparing the cumulative clean fair value 
movement (since inception) of the hedged item, due to changes in both benchmark interest 
rates and foreign exchange rates, to the total clean fair value movement of the hedging 
instrument (the cumulative dollar offset method). 

Ineffectiveness within the 80%-125% bandwidth is recognised in the income statement through 
the actual hedge adjustment. Ineffectiveness outside the 80%-125% bandwidth is recognised  
by not posting a hedge adjustment to the hedged item. In this case, the micro hedge relationship 
is de-designated and it is re-designated at the beginning of the new period.

Cash flow hedge
Cash flow hedging is applied to hedge the variability arising on expected future cash flows due 
to interest rate risk on available for sale corporate loans with floating interest rates. Corporate 
loans subject to cash flow hedging are classified as available for sale, and are reported at fair 
value with fair value movements reported as a component of shareholder’s equity. As interest 
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rates fluctuate, the future cash flows on these instruments also fluctuate. NIBC uses interest 
rate swaps to hedge the risk of such cash flow fluctuations.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of hedging instruments that are designated 
and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in equity within the cash flow hedging reserve. 
Any gain or loss in fair value relating to an ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the income statement in the periods in which 
the hedged item will affect profit or loss. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or 
when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss in 
equity at that time remains in equity until the forecast cash flow is recognised in the income 
statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 
loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Net investment hedge
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow 
hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the 
hedge is recognised in equity; the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the income statement. Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in 
the income statement when the foreign operation is sold.

Hedge effectiveness testing
To qualify for hedge accounting, NIBC requires that at the inception of the hedge and 
throughout its life, each hedge must be expected to be highly effective (prospective 
effectiveness). Actual effectiveness (retrospective effectiveness) must also be demonstrated 
on an ongoing basis.

The documentation of each hedging relationship describes how effectiveness will be assessed. 
For prospective effectiveness, the hedging instrument must be expected to be highly effective 
in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk during 
the period for which the hedge is designated. For actual effectiveness, the changes in fair value 
or cash flows must offset each other in the range of 80%-125% for the hedge to be deemed 
effective.

Hedge ineffectiveness is recognised in the income statement in net trading income.

Derivatives managed in conjunction with financial instruments designated as 
at fair value through profit or loss
All gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of any derivatives that do not qualify 
for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement. Derivatives used to 
manage the interest rate and credit spread exposure on certain financial assets and liabilities 
(mainly structured funding, debt securities, and residential mortgage loans) are not designated 
in hedging relationships. Gains and losses on these derivatives together with the fair value 
movements on these financial assets and liabilities are reported within net trading income.
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Fair value
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be 
exchanged or settled between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 
NIBC determines fair value either by reference to a quoted market price for a given financial 
instrument or, when a quoted market price is not available, by using a valuation model. 

Further information on the determination of fair value for financial instruments valued using 
a valuation model and the assumptions therein is set out in the ‘Critical Accounting Estimates 
and Judgements’ section on pages 176-182. 

Embedded derivatives
Some hybrid contracts contain both a derivative and a non-derivative component. In such 
cases, the derivative component is termed an embedded derivative. Certain derivatives 
embedded in financial instruments are bifurcated when their risks and characteristics are not 
closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract is not reported as fair value 
through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are separately accounted for and measured 
at fair value, with fair value movements reported in the income statement.

sale and repurchase agreements
Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements (repos) are reclassified in the financial 
statements as pledged assets when the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or 
re-pledge the collateral; the counterparty liability is included in amounts due to other banks, 
due from other banks or other deposits as appropriate. 

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repos) are recorded as loans and 
receivables to other banks or customers, as appropriate. The difference between sale and 
repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the 
effective interest method. Securities lent to counterparties are also retained in the financial 
statements.

impairment
General
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment 
loss include:
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Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest; n
Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (for example, equity ratio, net income  n
percentage of sales);
Breach of loan covenants or conditions; n
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings; n
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; n
Deterioration in the value of collateral; n
Downgrading below investment grade level. n

The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by local 
management for each identified portfolio. In general, the periods used vary between three 
months and twelve months.

Losses expected from future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised. 

Financial Assets reported at amortised cost
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 
financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial 
assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence 
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, 
it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment.

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or 
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the 
loss is recognised in the income statement. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount 
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under 
the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an 
instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised 
financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining 
and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the 
basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e., on the basis of the Group’s grading process that 
considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status, and  
other relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows 
for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due 
according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.
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Future cash flows from a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment 
are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the group and historical 
loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group. 
Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the 
effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss 
experience is based, and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not 
currently exist.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect, and be 
directionally consistent with, changes in related observable data from period to period (for 
example, changes in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors 
indicative of changes in the probability of losses in the group and their magnitude). The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by 
the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Following impairment, interest income is recognised using the original effective rate of interest 
which was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment 
loss. 

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written-off against the related provision for loan impairment. 
Such loans are written-off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the 
amount of the loss has been determined.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the 
income statement in impairment charge for credit losses.

Financial Assets classified as Available for Sale
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. 

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the 
assets are impaired.

If objective evidence of impairment exists for available for sale financial assets, the cumulative 
loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement – 
is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. 

Following impairment, interest income is recognised using the original effective rate of interest 
which was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment 
loss. 
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Reversals of impairment losses are subject to contrasting treatments depending on the nature 
of the instrument concerned: 

Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not  n
reversed through the income statement; 
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale  n
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, the impairment loss is reversed 
through the income statement.

Non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other 
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment 
at each reporting date. Impairment losses and the reversal of such losses, for non-financial 
assets other than goodwill, are recognised directly in the income statement.

Renegotiated loans 
Loans that are subject to collective impairment assessment and whose terms have been 
renegotiated are no longer considered past due but are treated as new loans only after the 
minimum number of payments required under the new arrangements have been received. 

intangible assets
Property (land and buildings)
Land and buildings are shown at fair value. This fair value is based on the most recent 
appraisals by independent registered appraisers, less straight-line depreciation for buildings 
over the estimated economic life, taking into account any residual value, with a maximum  
of 50 years. Land is not depreciated. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation  
is eliminated against the carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the 
re-valued amount of the asset.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on re-valuation of land and buildings are credited to 
other reserves in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset 
are charged against other reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the 
income statement. Each year, the difference between depreciation based on the re-valued 
carrying amount of the asset charged to the income statement and depreciation based on the 
asset’s original cost is transferred from other reserves to retained earnings.
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Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to NIBC and when the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount and are recognised within other operating income. When re-valued assets are sold, the 
amounts included in other reserves are transferred to retained earnings.

Other fixed assets
Other fixed assets are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 
these assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives (three to five years).

Costs associated with research and maintaining computer software programmes are recognised 
as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the development of 
identifiable and unique software products controlled by NIBC and that generate economic 
benefits exceeding one year are capitalised as intangible assets. Computer software development 
costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives of three to five years.

At each reporting date, NIBC assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
not be recoverable (see above, under impairment – non-financial assets).

investment property
Investment property is property (land or a building or part of a building or both) held to earn 
rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for use in the production or supply of 
goods or services, for administrative purposes or sale in the ordinary course of business.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market 
conditions at the balance sheet date. The fair value is the price at which the property could be 
exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, without any 
deduction for transaction costs it may incur on sale or other disposal. The unrealised gains and 
losses arising from the changes in fair value of the investment property as a result of appraisals 
are included in other operating income in the income statement.

Investment properties are derecognised when they have been disposed of.
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Property related to foreclosures
Property acquired as a result of foreclosures or in settlement of debt is measured at the lower of 
the carrying amount and net realisable value.

leases
The leases entered into by the Group are primarily operating leases and the Group entity is the 
lessee. The total payments made under operating leases are charged to other operating 
expenses in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment 
required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which termination takes place.

cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with 
less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and non-restricted 
balances with central banks and net credit balances on current accounts with other banks. 

Cash balances are measured at face value while bank balances are measured at cost. 

provisions
Provisions are recognised when NIBC has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Given their 
short-term nature, these provisions are not discounted.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed, unless 
they are remote. 

financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments 
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments 
when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are 
given to banks, financial institutions, and other bodies on behalf of customers to secure loans, 
and other banking facilities.
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Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date 
the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the liabilities under such guarantees 
are measured at the higher of the initial measurement, less amortisation calculated to recognise 
in the income statement the fee income earned over the period, and the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising at the balance sheet date.  
These estimates are determined based on experience of similar transactions and history of past 
losses, supplemented by the judgement of management. Any increase in the liability relating  
to guarantees is taken to the income statement under other operating expenses. Any liability 
remaining is recognised in the income statement when the guarantee is discharged, cancelled 
or expires.

employee benefit obligation
Pension obligations
NIBC and its subsidiaries have various pension arrangements in accordance with the local 
conditions and practices in the countries in which they operate. NIBC generally funds these 
arrangements through payments to insurance companies or trustee administered funds, 
determined by periodic actuarial calculations. These various pension arrangements consist  
of a defined contribution plan, a defined benefit plan, or a combination of these plans.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which NIBC pays fixed contributions to  
a separate entity; the contributions are recognised as an expense in the income statement as 
incurred. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or  
a reduction in the future payments is available. NIBC has no legal or constructive obligations  
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the 
benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an 
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors, such as age, 
years of service, and compensation.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of 
plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past 
service costs.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined 
by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have 
terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions in excess of the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the defined 
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benefit obligation are charged or credited to income over the employees’ expected average 
remaining working lives. Past service costs are recognised immediately in administrative 
expenses, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining 
in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, past-service costs are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

Other post-retirement obligations
Some Group companies provide post-retirement healthcare benefits to their retirees. The 
entitlement to these benefits is usually conditional on the employee remaining in service up to 
retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of these 
benefits are accrued over the period of employment using an accounting methodology that is 
the same as for defined benefit pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments, and changes in actuarial assumptions in excess of the greater of 10% 
of the value of plan assets or 10% of the defined benefit obligation, are charged or credited to 
income over the expected average remaining working lives of the related employees. These 
obligations are valued annually by independent qualified actuaries.

Obligations arising in respect of these post-retirement healthcare plans were settled in 2007 
and the plans terminated. 

Share-based compensation 
NIBC operates both equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation plans. 

For equity-settled share-based compensation plans, the fair value of the employee services 
received in exchange for the grant of the share-based compensation is recognised as an expense 
in the income statement as personnel expenses.

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair 
value of the instruments granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions 
(for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are 
included in assumptions about the number of instruments that are expected to become 
exercisable. At each balance sheet date, NIBC revises its estimates of the number of instruments 
that are expected to become exercisable. It recognises the impact of the revision of original 
estimates, if any, in the income statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity. The 
proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital 
(nominal value) and share premium when the instruments are exercised.

For the cash-settled shared-based compensation plan, the fair value of the employee services 
received in exchange for the grant of shared based compensation is recognised as a liability. 
The liability is re-measured at each balance sheet date up to and including the settlement date 
with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement in personnel expenses.
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Profit-sharing and bonus plans
A liability is recognised for cash-settled bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that 
takes into consideration the profit attributable to our shareholders after certain adjustments. 
NIBC recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that 
has created a constructive obligation.

income tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year is comprised of current tax and deferred tax. 
Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised directly in shareholders’ equity, in which case it is recognised in shareholders’ equity. 

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable on the taxable profit for the year, calculated using 
tax rates (and laws) enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current tax assets and liabilities are 
offset when NIBC intends to settle on a net basis and a legal right of offset exists. 

Deferred income tax assets are provided for in full, using the liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates 
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income 
tax liability is settled. 

NIBC’s principal temporary differences arise from the revaluation of certain financial assets 
and liabilities including derivative contracts, the depreciation of property, and provisions for 
pensions and other post-retirement benefits.

Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction 
affects either accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised when it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The tax effects of income tax losses available for carry-forward are recognised as an asset when 
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax related to the fair value re-measurement of available for sale investments and cash 
flow hedges, which are charged or credited directly to equity, is also credited or charged 
directly to equity and is subsequently recognised in the income statement when the deferred 
gain or loss is recognised in the income statement.
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shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Shares are classified as equity when there is not a contractual obligation to transfer cash or 
other financial assets. 

Share issue costs
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity 
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period that the obligation for 
payment has been established, being in the period in which they are approved by the 
shareholders.

interest income and expense
Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the income statement for all interest-
bearing instruments, including those classified as held for trading or designated at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

For all interest-bearing financial instruments, interest income or expense is recognised using 
the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, 
where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability (on an 
amortised cost basis). The calculation includes all contractual terms of the financial instrument 
(for example, prepayment options) but not future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees 
and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the 
effective interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets is impaired, interest income is 
thereafter recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the 
purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

fee and commission income and expense
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been 
provided. Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred 
(together with related direct costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate 
on the loan.

Loan syndication fees are recognised as revenue when the syndication has been completed and 
the Group has retained no part of the loan package for itself or has retained a part at the same 
effective interest rate as the other participants. Commission and fees arising from negotiating, 
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or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party – such as the arrangement 
of the acquisition of shares or other securities, or the purchase or sale of businesses – are 
recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management 
advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts, usually on 
a time-proportionate basis.

Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised pro rata over the period in 
which the service is provided. The same principle is applied for wealth management, financial 
planning, and custody services that are continuously provided over an extended period of time.

Performance-linked fees or fee components are recognised when the performance criteria are 
fulfilled.

net trading income
Net trading income comprises all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial 
assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss and held for trading as well  
as realised gains and losses of financial assets measured at amortised cost, available for sale or 
loss and held for trading (including foreign exchange gains and losses).

dividend income
Dividends are recognised in the income statement when the entity’s right to receive payment  
is established.

discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or that 
is classified as held for sale, and: 

Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;  n
Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or  n
geographical area of operations;
Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. n

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative income statement 
and cash flow statement are re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the 
start of the comparative period.
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cash flow statement
The cash flow statement, based on the indirect method of calculation, gives details of the 
source of cash and cash equivalents which became available during the year and the application 
of these cash and cash equivalents over the course of the year. The cash flows are analysed into 
cash flows from operations, including banking activities, investment activities, and financing 
activities. Movements in loans and receivables and inter-bank deposits are included in the cash 
flow from operating activities. Investment activities are comprised of acquisitions, sales and 
redemptions in respect of financial investments, as well as investments in, and sales of, 
subsidiaries and associates, property and equipment. The issuing of shares and the borrowing 
and repayment of long-term funds are treated as financing activities. Movements due to 
currency translation differences as well as the effects of the consolidation of acquisitions, where 
of material significance, are eliminated from the cash flow figures.

fiduciary activities
NIBC acts as trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of 
assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans, and other institutions. These 
assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not 
assets of the Group.
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critical accounting  
estimates  

and judgements

NIBC makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

Judgements and estimates are principally made in the following areas:
Fair value of certain financial instruments; n
Impairment of loans and receivables; n
Impairment of equity investments classified as available for sale;  n
Securitisations and special purpose entities;  n
Pension benefits;  n
Income taxes. n

fair value of certain financial instruments
Where NIBC determines fair value using valuation models (for example, in the case of 
mortgage loans, corporate loans, and certain debt securities), the valuation is determined by 
discounting to present value the cash flows (after expected pre-payments) that it expects to 
receive from holding the instrument. These models require management to estimate a number 
of parameters, including interest rate yield curves, credit spreads, equity and commodity prices, 
option volatilities, and currency rates. Most (but not all) parameters are either directly 
observable or are implied from instrument prices in the market place. In light of the dramatic 
widening in credit spreads, valuations have become particularly sensitive to this parameter. 
Because of the near absence of liquidity in a number of instruments, directly observable data 
on credit spreads is sparse.

Gains (or losses) are recognised upon initial recognition only when such profits (or losses) can 
be measured by reference to observable current market transactions or valuation techniques 
based on observable market inputs. 

The calculation of fair value for any financial instrument may also require adjustment of the 
quoted price or the value generated by the valuation model to reflect the cost of credit risk 
(where not embedded in underlying models or prices used) or to reflect hedging costs not 
captured in the valuation model (to the extent that they would be taken into account by market 
participants in determining a price). 
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The process of determining fair value for illiquid instruments using valuation models may 
require estimation of the expected maturity of an instrument (and therefore the expected cash 
flows), certain pricing parameters, or other assumptions or model characteristics. Although 
NIBC calibrates its valuation models against industry standards and observable transaction 
prices, the calculation of fair value is an inherently subjective process, particularly when data 
on observable transactions is sparse.

At 31 December 2007, market conditions were characterised by the near absence of liquidity  
in credit markets and a significant widening of credit spreads. In these market conditions, the 
estimation of the fair value of NIBCs residential mortgage loans, corporate loans, and its own 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss is highly judgemental and necessarily 
subjective, given the absence of market transactions and other observable market data. 
Consequently, the ranges within which NIBC has estimated the fair value of these portfolios 
have widened significantly.

Own liabilities designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
At 31 December 2007, the fair value of these liabilities was estimated to be EUR 4,864 million 
(31 December 2006: EUR 4,985 million). This portfolio was designated at Fair Value through 
Profit or Loss and is reported on the face of the balance sheet under the following headings:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (debt securities in issue structured); n
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (own debt securities in issue); n
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (subordinated liabilities). n

 
Debt securities in issue structured consist of notes issued with embedded derivatives that are 
tailored to specific investors’ needs. The return on these notes is dependent upon the level of 
certain underlying equity, interest rate, currency, credit, commodity or inflation-linked indices. 
The embedded derivative within each note issued is fully hedged on a back-to-back basis,  
such that effectively synthetic floating rate funding is created. Because of this economic hedge, 
the income statement is not sensitive to fluctuations in the price of these indices.

In the case of debt securities in issue structured and subordinated liabilities, the fair value of 
the notes issued and the back-to-back hedging swaps is determined using a valuation model 
developed by a third party employing Monte Carlo simulation, lattice valuations or closed 
formulas, depending on the type of embedded derivative. 

For each class of own liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, the expected cash flows  
are discounted to present value using interbank zero-coupon rates. The resulting fair value is 
adjusted for movements in the credit spread applicable to NIBC issued funding.

The valuation of all the above classes of liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is sensitive 
to the estimated credit spread used to discount future expected cash flows. A 10 basis point 
change in the weighted average credit spread used to discount future expected cash flows 
would increase or decrease profit after tax from continuing operations by EUR 14 million 
(2006: EUR 14 million).
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The credit spread used to revalue these liabilities is not directly observable because NIBC’s 
funding is not actively traded and because NIBC has not issued any new funding close to the 
year end. Consequently, the credit spread was estimated taking into account observable data 
on debt issuances by other financial institutions, developments in composite sector curves 
published by Bloomberg, and management estimates made by NIBC Treasury. The 
determination of an appropriate credit spread is necessarily a subjective matter.

Residential mortgages
NIBC determines the fair value of residential mortgages (both those it holds in its warehouse 
and those it has securitised) by using a valuation model developed by NIBC; this model 
assumes that the residential mortgage book is securitised. NIBC discounts expected cash flows 
(after expected prepayments) to present value using interbank zero-coupon rates, adjusted for  
a spread that principally takes into account the credit spread risk of the mortgages and 
uncertainty relating to prepayment estimates. The spread used to reflect credit risk is largely 
based on spreads of comparable RMBS transactions in the market. During the fourth quarter 
of 2007, the RMBS market was characterised by the near absence of primary RMBS 
transactions. In the absence of observable primary RMBS transactions, the credit spread used 
for valuation purposes at 31 December 2007 was derived largely from RMBS spreads quoted  
by a number of investment banks.

At 31 December 2007, the most significant unobservable parameters used in the valuation  
are the applicable credit spreads, prepayment rate estimates, and the applicable discount rate 
loaded for prepayment risk.

Negative changes in the fair market value of mortgages as a result of prepayment rate changes 
are, to a certain extent, mitigated by penalties paid by the mortgagors. 

The determination of the applicable credit spread, prepayment rates, and a spread for prepayment 
risk requires NIBC to make subjective judgements. A one basis point shift in either direction  
of the credit spreads across the mortgage portfolio would have had either a positive or a negative 
impact of approximately EUR 2.1 million (2006: EUR 3.6 million) on the fair value of the 
mortgages as at 31 December 2007. A 1% point shift in the assumption NIBC makes about 
expected prepayments would have had an impact of approximately EUR 11.2 million 
(2006: EUR 0.2 million) on the fair value of the mortgages as at 31 December 2007.

All parameters and estimates are reviewed, challenged, and approved before usage in our 
Parameter Committee. This committee consists of staff from Credit Risk Management, Market 
Risk Management, Credit Portfolio, and senior management and is chaired by the SBU CFO.

Corporate loans
Corporate loans at fair value through profit or loss
Corporate loans designated at fair value through profit or loss consist of assets that are traded 
in the secondary loan market or an active syndications market. The assets on our book are 
mark-to-market by applying market bid quotes. The quotes received from other banks or 
brokers and applied in the mark-to-market process are calibrated to actual trades executed 
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and settled to the extent possible. The secondary loan market is (mainly) an inter-bank market 
with limited deal flow as compared to the corporate bond market. As a result of this limited 
flow, for some assets no quotes were available at 31 December 2007. In these limited instances 
we applied a discounted cash flow valuation of the asset, performed by staff independent from  
the traders / originators. The profit after tax on continuing operations for 2007 is not sensitive 
(in all material respects) to these valuations.

Corporate loans designated as available for sale 
Corporate loans designated as available for sale are mark-to-market applying a valuation model. 
The reason for applying a valuation model is that there is no active market for these assets. 

The model assumes that the loan book is secutitised. The most significant valuation parameters 
are yield curves by currency and the credit discount spread. An average life of the loan book of 
four years is assumed, consistent with NIBC’s historical experience. The valuation is particularly 
sensitive to the credit spread assumptions. This spread reflects two important inputs. The first 
is CLO and CMBS spreads, both derived from independent brokers (J.P. Morgan and Lehman). 
The CLO and CMBS markets were both characterised by the near absence of primary 
issuances. Consequently, in the absence of observable primary transactions, the credit spread 
used for valuation purposes at 31 December 2007 was derived largely from spreads quoted by 
independent banks.

The second input is the model used to tranche the portfolio. NIBC applies the Fitch Vector 
model (version 3.01), including the probabilities of default provided by Fitch. 
All parameters and estimates are reviewed, challenged, and approved before usage in our 
Parameter Committee. This committee consists of staff from Credit Risk Management, Market 
Risk Management, Credit Portfolio, and senior management and is chaired by the SBU CFO.

The year 2007 has witnessed a significant decrease in the revaluation reserve on available for 
sale corporate loans. This decrease was mainly driven by the substantial increases in credit 
spreads (CLO and CMBS). Both the CLO and the CMBS spreads were stable up and until the 
general market turmoil. Since then, the spreads on average quadrupled. This led to a decrease 
in the pre-tax revaluation reserve of EUR 85 million to a debit reserve of EUR 65 million.  
A one basis point shift in the applicable credit spread in either direction would have an impact 
of EUR 1 million (2006: EUR 2 million) on the revaluation reserve, before taxation.

Fair value of equity investments
For equity investments without quoted market prices, NIBC estimates the fair value of the 
instrument using valuation models, and it applies the valuation principles set forth by the 
International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines to the extent these are 
consistent with IAS 39. These models require NIBC to estimate parameters for individual 
investments including maintainable earnings, capitalisation multiples (it applies multiples to 
maintainable earnings to estimate market value), free cash flow, and market-related discount rates. 

The determination of the fair value of an unlisted equity security in this manner is necessarily  
a subjective process. For the equity and warrant portfolio as at 31 December 2007, a 10% 
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increase in the capitalisation multiples that NIBC uses would have produced an increase in  
the fair value of the equity and warrant investments of approximately EUR 25 million  
(2006: EUR 30 million). A 10% decrease in capitalisation multiples would have produced a 
decrease in the fair value of the equity and warrant investments of approximately  
EUR 24.6 million (2006: EUR 11 million).

impairment of loans and receivables
NIBC assesses whether there is an indication of impairment of corporate loans classified as 
available for sale assets or as loans and receivables at amortised cost, on an individual basis and 
at least quarterly. NIBC considers a range of factors that have a bearing on the expected future 
cash flows that it expects to receive from the loan, including the business prospects of the 
borrower and its industry sector, the realisable value of collateral held, the level of 
subordination relative to other lenders and creditors, and the likely cost and likely duration of 
any recovery process. Subjective judgements are made in the process including, among others, 
the determination of expected future cash flows and their timing, the market value of collateral, 
and market discount rates. Furthermore, NIBC’s judgements change with time as new 
information becomes available, or as recovery strategies evolve, resulting in frequent revisions 
to individual impairments, on a case-by-case basis. NIBC regularly reviews the methodology 
and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows, to 
reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

If, as at 31 December 2007, for each of the impaired loans, the net present value of the 
estimated cash flows had been 5% lower than we estimated, we would have recognised an 
additional impairment loss of EUR 6.8 million (2006: EUR 21 million). If, as at 
31 December 2007, for each of NIBC’s impaired loans, the net present value of the estimated 
cash flows had been 5% higher than we estimated, our impairment loss would have been 
reduced by EUR 6.8 million (2006: EUR 5 million). 

impairment of equity investments classified as 
available for sale 

NIBC determines an impairment loss on the available for sale equity investments held in the 
investment portfolio of its Principal Investments business unit when there has been a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its original cost (including previous 
impairment losses). NIBC exercises judgement in determining what is ‘significant’ or 
‘prolonged’ by evaluating, among other factors, whether the decline is outside the normal range 
of volatility in the asset’s price. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is 
evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the company whose securities we hold, 
a decline in industry or sector performance, adverse changes in technology or problems with 
operational or financing cash flows.
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The level of the impairment loss that NIBC recognises in the consolidated income statement  
is the cumulative loss that has been recognised directly in equity. If NIBC had deemed 
‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ all of the declines in fair value of our equity investments below cost, 
the effect would have been a EUR 0.8 million (2006: EUR 5 million) reduction in the profit 
before tax from continuing operations in 2007.

securitisations and special purpose entities
NIBC sponsors the formation of Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) primarily for the purpose of 
allowing clients to hold investments in separate legal entities, to allow clients to invest jointly  
in alternative assets, for asset securitisation transactions, and for buying or selling credit 
protection. NIBC does not consolidate SPEs that it does not control. 

The determination of whether NIBC exercises control over an SPE requires NIBC to make 
judgements about its exposure to the risks and rewards derived from the SPE as well as its ability 
to make operational decisions for the SPE in question. In many instances, elements are present 
that considered in isolation indicate control or lack of control over an SPE, but when considered 
together make it difficult to reach a clear conclusion. In such cases, the SPE is consolidated. 

When assessing whether NIBC has to consolidate an SPE, it evaluates a range of factors, 
including whether:

It will obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of an SPE; n
It retains the majority of the residual ownership risks related to the assets in order to obtain  n
the benefits from its activities;
It has decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits; n
The activities of the SPE are being conducted on NIBC’s behalf according to NIBC’s specific  n
business needs so that it obtains the benefits from the SPEs operations. Such an evaluation 
is necessarily subjective. 

Were the Group not to consolidate the assets, liabilities, and the results of these consolidated 
SPEs, the net effect on the balance sheet would be a decrease in net assets of EUR 10.0 billion 
(2006: EUR 7.9 billion) and the net effect on the income statement in both 2007 and 2006 
would be insignificant. 

Derecognition of assets and recognition of continuous involvement 
NIBC executed transactions under their Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities (CMBS) 
program. The purpose of this program is to offer NIBC real estate clients access to the capital 
markets. NIBC established Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) for the commercial backed securities 
program. All loans transferred to the SPEs are collateralised by commercial real estate 
properties. The SPEs obtain funding from the capital markets by issuing CMBS notes. The 
commercial real estate loans, included in the commercial mortgage backed securities program, 
were originated by NIBC or by other banks prior to the securitisation. The total amount of 
commercial loans originated by NIBC prior to the securitisation and that were subsequently 
transferred to these SPEs amounts to EUR 1,288 million at 31 December 2007. The loans that 
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continued to be recognised to the extent of NIBC’s continuing involvement amounted to 
EUR 710 million at 31 December 2007. The reason for recognizing this continuing 
involvement is that, based on a risks and rewards analysis, NIBC did not transfer substantially 
all risks and rewards associated with the securitised assets. The continuing involvement is 
reflected in the balance sheet as EUR 638 million in loans valued at amortised cost and with  
a corresponding amount in debt securities in issue structured, EUR 64 million in securitised 
mortgages and with a corresponding amount in debt securities in issue structured and 
EUR 8 million in debt securities at fair value through profit or loss which concerns the fair 
value of NIBC’s investment in certain CMBS notes.

pension benefits
The present value of pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined 
on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining  
the net cost (income) of pensions include the discount rate, the expected return on plan assets, 
future salary increases, future inflation, and future pension increases. Any changes in these 
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations. 

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest 
rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows 
expected to be required to settle pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount 
rate, the Group considers the interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to 
maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. 
Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions. 
Additional information is disclosed in note 43. 

Were the discount rate used to differ by 10% from management’s estimates, the carrying amount 
of pension obligations would be an estimated EUR 14 million (2006: EUR 13 million) lower  
or EUR 16 million (2006: EUR 14 million) higher. The service cost would be EUR 0.7 million 
(2006: EUR 0.6 million) lower or EUR 0.8 million (2006: EUR 0.7 million) higher.

income taxes
NIBC is subject to income taxes in a number of tax jurisdictions. NIBC makes estimates in 
determining its worldwide provision for income taxes, and files its tax returns after the 
finalisation of its financial statements. The ultimate tax determination by tax authorities for 
certain transactions arising in the ordinary course of business may remain uncertain for several 
years after their occurrence. NIBC recognises liabilities for taxation when it is probable that the 
relevant taxation authority will require NIBC to pay taxation. Where the final outcome of such 
determination is different from the amounts that were initially estimated and recorded, these 
differences will impact the income tax expenses or deferred tax position in the period in which 
the determination is made.
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> 1 Segment reporting

Segment information is presented in respect of NIBC’s business and geographical segments. 

Primary Reporting Format - Business segments 
NIBC is comprised of the following main business segments, which are referred to as 
Strategic Business Units (SBUs): 

Corporate Finance;  n
Financial Markets;  n
Real Estate Markets;  n
Investment Management; n
Principal Investments;  n
Corporate Center.  n

The SBU Corporate Finance (CF) focuses on originating, structuring, and executing M&A 
advisory, capital markets financing, and risk management solutions for clients. Client coverage 
teams, together with product specialists operating in multidisciplinary teams, deliver a wide 
range of customised products and solutions.

The SBU Financial Markets (FM) focuses on the global distribution of NIBC’s assets to the 
international capital markets. 
The SBU is also responsible for the trading of credit fixed-income products and the corporate 
treasury function and from managing certain assets and liabilities not allocated to the 
commercial SBUs. See below for further comments on the management of shareholder’s equity.

The SBU Real Estate Markets (REM) focuses on the origination and securitisation of residential 
mortgages and commercial real estate financing. The SBU also develops and offers 
securitisation and fund solutions for other asset classes.

The SBU Investment Management (IM) focuses on NIBC’s asset management and fund services 
activities for credit fixed-income securitisations and equity funds.

The SBU Principal Investments (PI) comprises NIBC’s mezzanine investments and private 
equity activities. 

The SBU Corporate Center (CC) supports all activities of NIBC.  This support consists of 
shared services relating to Human Resources, Group Finance, Corporate Communications & 

notes 
to the  consolidated 
financial statements
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Investor Relations, Group Technology & Operations, Legal, Corporate Tax, Internal Audit, 
Compliance, Payments, and Facilities & Services. The SBU CC derives net interest income 
from certain strategic interest rate mismatch positions. Additionally, income of EUR 2 million 
(2006: 2 million) on certain other interest rate mismatch positions and interest expenses of 
EUR 6 million (2006: EUR 4 million) on hybrid Tier-I and subordinated loans were attributed 
to Corporate Center in 2007 and to Financial Markets in 2006.

Costs of certain business units within CC are allocated to the other SBUs based upon a cost 
allocation model with allocation keys depending on the actual usage of services. Certain CC 
costs are however not allocated to the commercial SBUs, such as one-off expenses and expenses 
related to general management support.

The measurement of segment assets and liabilities and segment revenues and results is based 
on the accounting policies set out in the accounting policy notes. Transactions between 
segments are conducted on normal commercial terms and conditions. The funding 
requirements of each segment reflect funding at market interest rates. Segment revenues, 
expenses, results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well 
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Whilst the management of shareholders’ equity takes place within SBU FM, the associated 
funding benefit of this capital is allocated from SBU FM to SBUs (within net interest income) 
as follows:

For SBUs other than Financial Markets, the benefit is allocated to the SBU (and reported  n
within net interest income) based on the SBUs average allocated economic capital for the 
year;
For Financial Markets, the benefit reported within net interest income is based on the SBUs  n
average allocated capital and average excess capital for the year. Average excess capital is 
defined to be the difference between total average shareholders’ equity less goodwill and 
certain reserves for the year less the allocations of economic capital used by the SBUs.

Inter-SBU payments are mainly management fees paid by SBU Financial Markets to  
SBU Investment Management of EUR 6 million (2006: EUR 8 million), and fees paid by  
SBU Principal Investments to SBU Investment Management of EUR 29 million (2006: nil).  
The fees paid by the SBU Principal Investments to the SBU Investment Management concern 
management and performance fees relating to funds in which Principal Investments has 
invested but which are managed by Investment Management. 
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Compared to the presentation in the Annual Report 2006, the following  changes have been 
made:

In 2006, the average unallocated capital was assigned to Corporate Center. With effect from  n
1 January 2007, the average unallocated capital was assigned to Financial Markets. 
Furthermore, economic capital allocations to business units were revised in 2007 to reflect 
changing business usage. As a result of this revised allocation of economic capital, the 
remaining unallocated average economic capital is not significant. The net interest income 
in Corporate Center on unallocated average economic capital in 2006 amounted to  
EUR 18 million. Due to these changes, this benefit is nil in 2007;
In 2007, the return allocated to business units on average economic capital and unallocated  n
capital was increased from 2.80% in 2006 to 3.75% in 2007. In 2007, an amount of 1% on 
average economic capital was charged by Financial Markets to the other Strategic Business 
Units as additional expense for funding the SBU businesses. In 2006, this was not the case. 
The net interest income benefit in Financial Markets in 2007 of this 1% change was  
EUR 13 million (2006: nil).

The primary segment report displays the breakdown of profit after tax from continuing 
operations to business segments. If the result from discontinued operations was to be included 
in the report this result would have been allocated to Financial Markets.

Secondary Reporting Format - Geographical segments 
NIBC operates principally in Western Europe, but also has operations in South-East Asia and 
in the Caribbean. In Europe, operations are conducted in the Netherlands, Belgium,  
the United Kingdom, and Germany. The presented information on the basis of geographical 
segments is based on the location of the entity that generated the revenue.
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Business segments (primary)
Corporate  

Finance
Financial  
Markets

Real Estate  
Markets

Investment 
Management

Principal 
Investments

Corporate  
Center Total

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Interest and similar income  475.1  368.9  328.3  158.8  788.0  632.0  1.2  1.2  28.9  29.0  22.1  41.8 1,643.6  1,231.7 

Interest expense and similar 
charges  340.8  254.0  318.6  154.7  720.9  575.3  0.3  -  18.1  7.9  7.0  - 

 
1,405.7  991.9 

NET INTEREST INCOME  134.3  114.9  9.7  4.1  67.1  56.7  0.9  1.2  10.8  21.1  15.1  41.8  237.9  239.8 

Net fee and commission 
income  42.3  35.5  (9.4)  3.9  5.7  3.9  52.5  13.2  (28.3)  (0.8)  (0.5)  -    62.3  55.7 

Dividend income  0.8  5.4  44.6  20.9  -    -    -    -    38.1  9.1  -    -    83.5  35.4 

Net trading income  0.4  6.3  0.4  50.7  (24.4)  26.1  -    -    -    -    -    -    (23.6)  83.1 

Gains less losses from equity 
investments and associates  1.0  0.8  -    0.1  -    -    -    -    107.1  37.8  -    -    108.1  38.7 

Share in profit of associates  3.8  3.0  (0.1)  12.6  (3.1)  -    -    -    0.7  0.1  -    -    1.3  15.7 

Other operating income  2.9  11.7  0.2  (1.8)  -    -    0.5  -    1.1  (0.1)  1.0  3.0  5.7  12.8 

OPERATINg INCOME  185.5  177.6  45.4  90.5  45.3  86.7  53.9  14.4  129.5  67.2  15.6  44.8  475.2  482.2 

OPERATINg ExPENSES  70.8  75.2  28.1  28.5  25.2  22.0  35.4  14.0  11.5  18.8  40.4  40.5  211.4  199.0 

Impairment of financial assets  2.5  (5.0)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (0.7)  (9.1)  (0.2)  (1.0)  1.6  (15.1)

TOTAl ExPENSES  73.3  70.2  28.1  28.5  25.2  22.0  35.4  14.0  10.8  9.7  40.2  39.5  213.0  183.9 

OPERATINg PROFIT  112.2  107.4  17.3  62.0  20.1  64.7  18.5  -    118.7  57.5  (24.6)  5.3  262.2  298.3 

Result on disposal of 
subsidiaries  0.2  1.2  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    0.2  1.2 

PROFIT BEFORE TAx FROM 
CONTINUINg OPERATIONS  112.4  108.6  17.3  62.0  20.1  64.7  18.5  -    118.7  57.5  (24.6)  5.3  262.4  298.5 

Tax  27.8  32.0  (10.0)  4.5  5.1  15.8  2.2  -    4.6  10.4  (9.3)  2.9  20.4  65.6 

PROFIT AFTER TAx 
FROM CONTINUINg 
OPERATIONS  84.6  76.6  27.3  57.5  15.0  48.9  16.3  -    114.1  47.1  (15.3)  2.4  242.0  232.9 

AvERAgE AllOCATED 
ECONOMIC CAPITAl  550  483  275  174  225  123  50  5  200  110  -  39  1,300  934 

AvERAgE UNAllOCATED 
CAPITAl  -  -  167  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  592  167  592 

SEgMENT ASSETS  7,103  7,827  10,286  12,688  13,706  11,426  -  -  414  377  284  132  31,793  32,450 

SEgMENT lIABIlITIES  6,763  7,413  9,794  12,017  13,050  10,822  -  -  394  357  270  125  30,271  30,734 

CAPITAl ExPENDITURE  1  2  1  7  1  -  -  -  -  -  4  -  7  9 

INvESTMENTS IN 
ASSOCIATES 37 21  -  -  6  -  -  -  150  2  (2)  -  191  23 
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geographical segments (secondary)

The Netherlands Other Europe Caribbean South-East Asia Total

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Interest and similar income 1,379 1,045 233 145  - 13 32 29 1,644 1,232

Interest expense and similar charges 1,221 894 167 77  - 5 18 16 1,406 992

NET INTEREST INCOME  158  151  66  68  -  8  14  13  238  240 

Net fee and commission income 42 42 19 12  -  -  1  2 62 56

Dividend income 83 33 1 1  -  1  -  -  84  35 

Net trading income 1 87  (24) 5  -  (4)  (1)  (5)  (24)  83 

Gains less losses from equity investments and associates 108 33  - 6  -  -  -  -  108  39 

Share in profit of associates 1 16  -  -  -  -  -  -  1  16 

Other operating income 6 1  - 12  -  -  -  -  6  13 

OPERATINg INCOME 399 363 62 104  - 5 14 10 475 482

OPERATINg ExPENSES 184 174 25 22  - 1 2 2  211  199 

Impairment of financial assets  (2)  (17)  4  2  -  -  -  -  2  (15)

TOTAl ExPENSES 182 157 29 24  - 1 2 2 213 184

OPERATINg PROFIT 217 206 33 80  - 4 12 8 262 298

Result of disposal of subsidiaries  - 1  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 1

PROFIT BEFORE TAx FROM CONTINUINg OPERATIONS 217 207 33 80  - 4 12 8 262 299

Tax 11 47 8 18  -  - 1 1 20 66

PROFIT AFTER TAx FROM CONTINUINg 
OPERATIONS 206 160 25 62  - 4 11 7 242 233

EqUITy  1,222  1,215  142  306  -  23  158  172  1,522  1,716 

SEgMENT ASSETS  28,257  28,373  2,882  3,488  -  23  654  566  31,793  32,450 

SEgMENT lIABIlITIES  27,035  27,158  2,740  3,182  -  -    496  394  30,271  30,734 

INvESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 191 23  -    -    -  -    -    -    191  23 

Capital expenditure of EUR 7 million (2006: EUR 9 million) is recognised in the Netherlands.
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> 2 Net interest income
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Interest and similar income 1,644 1,232

Interest expense and similar charges 1,406 992

238 240

For the year ended 31 December 2007, net interest income includes interest on impaired 
financial assets (those at amortised costs or available for sale) of EUR 5 million  
(2006: EUR 2 million).

Interest and similar income include interest income of EUR 849 million  
(2006: EUR 763 million) on assets designated at fair value through profit or loss.  
Interest expense and similar charges include interest expense of EUR 572 million  
(2006: EUR 297 million) on liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Interest income from debt and other fixed-income instruments held for trading or designated 
as fair value through profit or loss is recognised in interest and similar income at the effective 
interest rate.

> 3 Net fee and commission income
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME 

Agency and underwriting fees  35 26

Investment management fees  13 11

Other  17 21

 65 58

FEE AND COMMISSION ExPENSE

Other non-interest related  3 2

 3 2

 62 56

The other non-interest related fees mainly relate to M&A advisory.

> 4 Dividend income
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Equity investments (available for sale)  33 9

Equity investments (fair value through profit or loss)  6  - 

Structured investments (fair value through profit or loss)  45 21

Other  - 5

 84 35
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> 5 Net trading income
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

ASSETS AND lIABIlITIES DESIgNATED AT FAIR vAlUE THROUgH 
PROFIT OR lOSS (INClUDINg RElATED DERIvATIvES):

Residential mortgages  (101)  26 

Other loans  (3)  - 

Liabilities  106  - 

TRADINg RESUlT AND OTHER

Trading result and other (26) 57

 (24) 83

Net trading income includes a foreign exchange gain of EUR 13 million  
(2006: EUR 12 million).

Both the loss on residential mortgages as well as the gain on liabilities in 2007 nearly fully  
relate to substantial credit spread widening in 2007. 75% of the liabilities designated as fair 
value through profit and loss is used for funding the residential mortgage business.

In 2007, NIBC changed certain estimates used in the determination of the fair value of 
mortgage assets. These changes resulted in a one-off credit to net trading income of  
EUR 21 million.

> 6 Gains less losses from equity investments and associates
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Net gain / (losses) on disposal (available for sale) 10 26

Net revaluation gain / (losses) transferred from equity (available for sale) 
on disposal 20  13 

Gains less losses from associates at fair value through profit or loss  78  - 

 108 39

> 7 Other operating income 
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Real estate rental income 1 2

Results from restructuring and work-outs  -  11 

Other  5  - 

6 13
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> 8 Personnel expenses
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Salaries 67 58

Variable compensation  48 56

PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT CHARgES:

Defined benefit plan (note 43) 8 10

Defined contribution plan 2  -   

Other post-retirement charges 2  (6)

Other social security charges 6 6

Other staff expenses 2 1

135 125

The increase in salaries is due to 10% higher average Full Time Equivalents (FTEs) in 2007  
(an average of 700 FTEs in 2007 compared to an average of 634 FTEs in 2006) and an average 
salary rise of 4%.

The higher pension and other post-retirement charges in 2007 are mainly explained by higher 
average FTEs in 2007 and a one-off release of a health care provision in 2006 of EUR 6 million.

Information on the pension charge is included in employee benefit obligations (note 43).

Information on NIBC’s share-based payment plans as well as on the remuneration of the 
management and supervisory boards can be found in note 54.

> 9 Depreciation
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Proper ty 4  3 

Other fixed assets 13  8 

17 11

The increase in the depreciation expense reflects the accelerated depreciation of certain project 
costs that were capitalised at 31 December 2006.
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> 10 Impairment of financial assets
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

IMPAIRMENT

Equity investments classified as available for sale  1  - 

Loans and receivables classified as available for sale  15  14 

16 14

REvERSAlS OF IMPAIRMENT

Loans and receivables classified as available for sale  
(excluding interest on impaired assets)  (14)  (29)

 (14)  (29)

2  (15)

For further details on interest on impaired assets see note 2, Net interest income.

> 11 Result on disposal of subsidiaries
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Result on disposal of subsidiaries -  1 

 -  1 

The result on disposal of subsidiaries in 2006 reflects a profit on the sale of  
NIBC Bank (N.A.) N.V.
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> 12 Tax
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Current tax  18  62 

Deferred tax  2  4 

 20  66 

THE TAx BURDEN CAN BE ANAlySED AS FOllOwS:

Profit before tax from continuing operations  262  299 

Tax calculated at the nominal Dutch corporate tax rate of 25.5%  
(2006: 29.6%)  67  89 

Effect of different tax rates in other countries  1  (2)

Impact of income not subject to tax  (53)  (22)

Impact of expenses not deductible for tax purposes  7  2 

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses  (2)  (1)

 20 66

Effective tax rate 7.6% 22.1%

The impact of income not subject to tax mainly relates to income from equity investments and 
associates, in which NIBC has a stake of more than 5%, being income that is tax exempt under 
Dutch tax law.

NIBC Holding N.V. is the parent company of NIBC Bank N.V. Together with is affiliates 
(mainly NIBC Investments N.V. and NIBC Investments Management N.V.), NIBC Bank N.V. 
is part of the fiscal entity of NIBC Holding N.V.

> 13 Result attributable to minority interest
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Result attributable to minority interest 3  - 

3 -

The minority interest reflects third party participations in investment funds controlled by NIBC.

> 14 Cash and balances with central banks (amortised cost)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Balances with central banks 874 239

874 239

The amounts included in this item are available on demand.

The fair value of this balance sheet item does not materially deviate from its face value, due to 
the short-term nature of the underlying assets.
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> 15 Due from other banks (amortised cost)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Current accounts 457 813

Placements with other banks 2,688 949

3,145 1,762

ANAlySIS:

Payable on demand 684 863

Not payable on demand 2,461 899

3,145 1,762

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE ITEMS NOT PAyABlE ON DEMAND:

In three months or less 2,418 877

In more than three months but not more than one year 5 3

In more than one year but not more than five years 38 6

Longer than five years  - 13

2,461 899

Subordinated loans included in this item amount to EUR 4.6 million (2006: EUR 5.0 million).

The fair value of this balance sheet item does not materially deviate from its face value, due to 
the short-term nature of the underlying assets and the credit quality of the counterparties.

> 16 Loans and receivables (amortised cost)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Loans to corporate entities  1,454  - 

 1,454  - 

THE lEgAl MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE lOANS AND RECEIvABlES 
IS ANAlySED AS FOllOwS:

In three months or less  230  - 

In more than three months but not more than one year  97  - 

In more than one year but not more than five years  423  - 

Longer than five years  704  - 

 1,454 -

If NIBC had fair valued the corporate loans classified as amortised cost using the valuation 
methodology applied to loans designated as available for sale, then the balance sheet amount 
would have decreased at the balance sheet date by EUR 10 million (2006: nil).

The maximum credit risk exposure including unused credit facilities arising on loans and 
receivables at amortised cost amounts to EUR 1,690 million (2006: nil).
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The total amount of subordinated loans in this item, as at 31 December 2007, amounts to  
EUR 196 million (2006: nil), of which EUR 0 million (2006: nil) is guaranteed by the  
State of the Netherlands.

No impairments were recorded in 2007 on loans and receivables at amortised cost.

> 17 Securitised loans (amortised cost)

In EUR mIllIons 2007 2006

Loans to corporate entities  638  - 

 638  - 

The legal MaTuriTy analysis of The securiTised loans 
is analysed as follows:

In three months or less  -  - 

In more than three months but not more than one year  -  - 

In more than one year but not more than five years  -  - 

Longer than five years  638  - 

 638 -

The MoveMenT in securiTised loans  
(available for sale) is suMMarised as follows:

balance aT 1 January  -  - 

Additions  638  - 

balance aT 31 deceMber  638 -

If NIBC had fair valued the securitised loans classified as amortised cost using the valuation 
methodology applied to loans designated as available for sale, then the balance sheet amount 
would have decreased at the balance sheet date by EUR 25 million (2006: nil).

The maximum credit risk exposure including unused credit facilities arising on securitised 
loans at amortised cost amounts to EUR 741 million (2006: nil).

The total amount of subordinated loans in this item, as at 31 December 2007, amounts to  
EUR 0 million (2006: nil), of which EUR 0 million (2006: nil) is guaranteed by the  
State of the Netherlands.

No impairments were recorded in 2007 on securitised loans at amortised cost.
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> 18 Loans and receivables (available for sale)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Loans to corporate entities  5,409  6,976 

Public sector  59  91 

 5,468  7,067 

THE lEgAl MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE lOANS AND RECEIvABlES 
IS ANAlySED AS FOllOwS:

In three months or less  535  707 

In more than three months but not more than one year  337  761 

In more than one year but not more than five years  2,144  3,656 

Longer than five years  2,452  1,943 

 5,468  7,067 

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

IMPAIRMENT lOSSES ON lOANS AND RECEIvABlES 

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  83  119 

IMPAIRMENT lOSSES RECOgNISED: 

Additional allowances  15  14 

Write-offs  (8)  (12)

Amounts released  (14)  (29)

Unwinding of discount adjustment  (5)  (2)

 71  90 

Differences due to foreign currency translation  (5)  (7)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  66  83

Impairment losses are defined as the difference between the fair value of loans and receivables 
that exhibit indicators of impairment and original cost.

The maximum credit risk exposure including unused credit facilities arising on loans and 
receivables recognised as available for sale amounts to EUR 6,916 million  
(2006: EUR 9,490 million).

The total amount of subordinated loans in this item, as at 31 December 2007, amounts to  
EUR 141 million (2006: EUR 270 million), of which EUR 59 million (2006: EUR 91 million) is 
guaranteed by the State of the Netherlands.
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> 19 Equity investments (available for sale)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Listed 18 23

Unlisted  126  162 

144 185

THE MOvEMENT IN EqUITy INvESTMENTS  
MAy BE SUMMARISED AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  185 156

Additions 37 73

Disposals (sale and capital repayments)  (49)  (68)

Changes in fair value  (28) 24

Impairment  (1)  - 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  144 185

IMPAIRMENT lOSSES ON EqUITy INvESTMENTS 

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  17  31

IMPAIRMENT lOSSES RECOgNISED:

Additional allowances  1  - 

Write-offs  (3)  (14)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 15 17

Impairment losses are defined as the difference between the fair value of equity investments 
that exhibit indicators of impairment and original cost.

| NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 196



> 20 Debt securities (available for sale)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Debt securities (available for sale) 311  - 

311 -

DEBT SECURITIES AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE CAN BE CATEgORISED 
AS FOllOwS:

Government  -  - 

Other 311  - 

311 -

Listed  273  - 

Unlisted 38  - 

311 -

THE lEgAl MATURITy OF DEBT SECURITIES (AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE)  
IS ANAlySED AS FOllOwS:

In three months or less  -  - 

In more than three months but not more than one year  -  - 

In more than one year but not more than five years 15  - 

Longer than five years 296  - 

311 -

THE MOvEMENT IN THE DEBT SECURITIES (AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE)  
IS SUMMARISED AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  -  - 

Additions  323  - 

Disposals (sale and redemption)  (4)  - 

Changes in fair value  (8)  - 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 311 -
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> 21 Loans and receivables (designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Loans to corporate entities  1,374  952 

 1,374  952 

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE lEgAl MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE lOANS AND RECEIvABlES 
IS ANAlySED AS FOllOwS:

In three months or less  -  21 

In more than three months but not more than one year  8  3 

In more than one year but not more than five years  53  48 

Longer than five years  1,313  880 

 1,374 952

THE MOvEMENT IN lOANS AND RECEIvABlES MAy BE SUMMARISED 
AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  952  - 

Additions  440  952 

Changes in fair value  (18)  - 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  1,374  952 

Interest income from loans and receivables is recognised in interest and similar income based 
on the effective interest rate. Fair value movements (clean) are recognised in net trading 
income.

The portion of fair value changes in 2007 included in the balance sheet amount (designated as 
fair value through profit or loss) as at 31 December 2007 relating to the movement in credit 
spreads amounts to EUR 18 million credit being a reduction in the balance sheet carrying 
amount (2006: EUR nil).

The maximum credit risk exposure including unused credit facilities amounts to  
EUR 1,740 million (2006: EUR 1,279 million).
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> 22 Residential mortgages own book (designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE lEgAl MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES 
OwN BOOK IS ANAlySED AS FOllOwS:

In three months or less 11 45

In more than three months but not more than one year 14 17

In more than one year but not more than five years 87 9

Longer than five years 5,173 4,367

5,285 4,438

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT IN THE RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES OwN BOOK  
MAy BE SUMMARISED AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  4,438  5,029 

Additions  2,633  2,377 

Disposals (sale and redemption, including transfers to consolidated SPVs)  (1,746)  (2,860)

Changes in fair value  (40)  (108)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  5,285  4,438 

Interest income from residential mortgages own book is recognised in interest and similar 
income based on the effective interest rate. Fair value movements (clean) are recognised in net 
trading income.

The maximum credit exposure including commited but undrawn facilities is  
EUR 5,524 million (2006: EUR 4,791 million).

At 31 December 2007, EUR 964 million (2006: EUR 964 million) of credit protection by means 
of credit default swaps through a synthetic securitisation (Provide Orange) was in place in 
connection with NIBC’s residential mortgages own book.

> 23 Securitised residential mortgages (designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE lEgAl MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE SECURITISED  
RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES:

In three months or less  2  14 

In more than three months but not more than one year  2  2 

In more than one year but not more than five years  17  1 

Longer than five years  6,335  6,971 

 6,356 6,988
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IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT IN THE SECURITISED RESIDENTIAl MORTgAgES 
MAy BE SUMMARISED AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 6,988 8,417

Additions 1,160  506 

Disposals (sale and redemption)  (1,603)  (1,701)

Changes in fair value  (189)  (234)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 6,356 6,988

At 31 December 2007, securitised residential mortgages in the amount of  
EUR 6,356 million (2006: EUR 6,988 million) were pledged as collateral for NIBC’s own 
liabilities (refer to note 49).

Interest income from securitised residential mortgages is recognised in interest and similar 
income at the effective interest rate. Fair value movements (clean) are recognised in net trading 
income.

The maximum credit exposure including submitted commitments (the pipeline) is  
EUR 6,595 million (2006: EUR 7,341 million).

The portion of fair value changes in 2007 included in the balance sheet amount (designated as 
fair value through profit or loss) as at 31 December 2007 relating to the movement in credit 
spreads on residential mortgages own book (note 22) and securitised residential mortgages 
(note 23) amounts to EUR 112 million credit, being a reduction in the balance sheet carrying 
amount (2006: EUR 14 million debit).

This change in fair value related to credit spread movements was determined by a credit spread 
basis point value calculation, based on a number of parameters such as a tranching of the 
portfolio based on internal credit ratings, credit spread migration in the market of benchmark 
RMBS securitisation transactions, and the level of interest rates.

The aggregate difference yet to be recognized in the profit or loss between transaction prices at 
initial recognition and the fair value determined by valuation models is not material in either 
year.

Securitised mortgages are retained on NIBC’s balance sheet based on the risks and rewards 
NIBC retains in the Special Purpose Entities (SPEs) issuing the mortgage backed notes. Risks 
and rewards can be retained by NIBC by (among others) retaining issued notes, providing 
overcollateralisation to the SPEs or implementing reserve accounts in the SPEs. At the balance 
sheet date, NIBC retained EUR 75 million (2006: EUR 68 million) of notes issued by the SPEs, 
overcollateralisation provided to the SPEs amounted to EUR 28 million (2006: EUR 21 million) 
and reserve accounts amounted to EUR 15 million (2006: EUR 16 million).
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> 24 Debt securities (designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Held for trading (non-government) 1,374 5,479

Designated as fair value through profit or loss 955 1,723

2,329 7,202

DEBT SECURITIES HElD FOR TRADINg CAN BE CATEgORISED 
AS FOllOwS:

Listed 1,325 4,142

Unlisted 49 1,337

1,374 5,479

DEBT SECURITIES DESIgNATED AS FAIR vAlUE THROUgH PROFIT 
OR lOSS CAN BE CATEgORISED AS FOllOwS:

Government 356 682

Other 599 1,041

955 1,723

Listed 771 1,285

Unlisted 184 438

955 1,723

THE lEgAl MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE DEBT SECURITIES DESIgNATED 
AS FAIR vAlUE THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS:

In three months or less 155 318

In more than three months but not more than one year 133 180

In more than one year but not more than five years 439 606

Longer than five years 228 619

955 1,723

THE MOvEMENT OF THE DEBT SECURITIES DESIgNATED AS FAIR vAlUE 
THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS MAy BE SUMMARISED AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  1,723  1,787 

Additions  675  946 

Disposals (sale and redemption)  (1,344)  (917)

Exchange differences  (36)  (54)

Changes in fair value  (63)  (39)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 955 1,723

The decrease in 2007 of debt securities reflects the de-risking of the portfolio of US asset 
backed securities, which amounted to EUR 2.2 billion at 31 December 2006 and nil at the end 
of 2007. In 2007 the net loss from this discontinued business was EUR 141 million, after tax. 
This de-risking was executed by means of three actions:

The sale of US securities of EUR 0.7 billion in 2007; n
The sale of a portfolio of EUR 0.4 billion of all US sub-prime residential mortgage backed  n
securities on 24 August 2007 (NIBC therefore no longer has any US sub-prime residential 
mortgage exposure in its portfolios); 

201

ANNUAL REPORT NIBC BANK N.V. | 2007



The sale of a portfolio of EUR 0.9 billion of all US commercial real estate backed securities  n
to NIBC Holding N.V. in the second half of 2007.

The remaining decrease of this portfolio of EUR 0.2 billion reflects fair value losses and the 
devaluation of the US dollar in 2007.

The portion of fair value changes in 2007 included in the balance sheet amount (designated as 
fair value through profit or loss) as at 31 December 2007 relating to the movement in credit 
spreads amounts to EUR 4 million credit, being a reduction in the balance sheet carrying 
amount (2006: nil).

Interest income from debt securities and other fixed-income instruments is recognised in 
interest and similar income at the effective interest rate. Fair value movements (clean) are 
recognised in net trading income.

> 25 Structured investments (designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Structured Investments 1,212 914

1,212 914

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE STRUCTURED INvESTMENTS DESIgNATED 
AS FAIR vAlUE THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS:

In three months or less 618 58

In more than three months but not more than one year 70 76

In more than one year but not more than five years 20 335

Longer than five years 504 445

1,212 914

THE MOvEMENT OF THE STRUCTURED INvESTMENTS DESIgNATED 
AS FAIR vAlUE THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS MAy BE SUMMARISED AS 
FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  914  361 

Additions  587  552 

Disposals  (290)  - 

Changes in fair value  18  (1)

Exchange differences  (17)  2 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  1,212 914

All structured investments are unlisted instruments.

Dividends received from structured investments are recognised in dividend income.  
Fair value movements (clean) are recognised in net trading income.
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The portion of fair value changes in 2007 included in the balance sheet amount (designated as 
fair value through profit or loss) as at 31 December 2007 relating to the movement in credit 
spreads amounts to EUR 5 million credit, being a reduction in the balance sheet carrying 
amount (2006: nil).

> 26 Investments in associates (designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT IN ASSOCIATES MAy BE SUMMARISED AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  -  - 

Additions 69  - 

Changes in fair value  78  - 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  147  - 

All of these associates are unlisted instruments and are held by the SBU Principal Investments.

> 27 Derivative financial instruments (designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

DERIvATIvE FINANCIAl ASSETS

Derivative financial assets held for trading (trading portfolios)  2,041  1,280 

Derivative financial assets held for trading (other por tfolios)  600  657 

Derivative financial assets used for hedging  85  300 

 2,726  2,237 

DERIvATIvE FINANCIAl lIABIlITIES

Derivative financial liabilities held for trading (trading portfolios)  1,786  1,205 

Derivative financial liabilities held for trading (other portfolios)  588  806 

Derivative financial liabilities used for hedging  53  133 

 2,427  2,144 
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Derivative financial instruments – Held for trading (trading portfolios) at 31 December 2007
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than 

three months

Between 
three months 
and one year

More than 
one year Total

2007
Assets

2007
liabilities

INTEREST RATE DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Forward rate agreements  8,925  12,975  -  21,900  35  39 

Interest rate swaps  14,463  11,353  58,623  84,439  959  918 

Interest rate options (purchase)  -  33  749  782  9  - 

Interest rate options (sale)  2  28  675  705  -  13 

SUBTOTAl  23,390  24,389  60,047  107,826  1,003  970 

CURRENCy DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Currency / cross currency swaps  1  3,546  2,894  6,441  937  742 

SUBTOTAl  1  3,546  2,894  6,441  937  742 

OTHER DERIvATIvES  
(INClUDINg CREDIT DERIvATIvES)

otC-produCts:

Other swaps  131  20  1,742  1,893  5  8 

Other options (purchase)  103  52  267  422  96  - 

Other options (sale)  36  24  176  236  -  66 

SUBTOTAl  270  96  2,185  2,551  101  74 

TOTAl DERIvATIvES HElD FOR 
TRADINg (TRADINg PORTFOlIOS)  23,661  28,031  65,126  116,818  2,041  1,786 
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Derivative financial instruments – Held for trading (trading portfolios) at 31 December 2006
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than 

three months

Between 
three months 
and one year

More than 
one year Total

2006
Assets

2006
liabilities

INTEREST RATE DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Forward rate agreements  -  303  -  303  23  14 

Interest rate swaps  14,365  8,433  55,618  78,416  626  596 

Interest rate options (purchase)  -  -  379  379  2  - 

Interest rate options (sale)  -  8  552  560  -  6 

SUBTOTAl  14,365  8,744  56,549  79,658  651  616 

CURRENCy DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Currency / cross currency swaps  103  475  6,586  7,164  481  520 

SUBTOTAl  103  475  6,586  7,164  481  520 

OTHER DERIvATIvES (INClUDINg 
CREDIT DERIvATIvES)

otC-produCts:

Other options (purchase)  77  411  1,186  1,674  145  9 

Other options (sale)  91  129  656  876  3  60 

SUBTOTAl  168  540  1,842  2,550  148  69 

TOTAl DERIvATIvES HElD FOR 
TRADINg (TRADINg PORTFOlIOS)  14,636  9,759  64,977  89,372  1,280  1,205 
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Derivative financial instruments – Held for trading (other portfolios) at 31 December 2007
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than 

three months

Between 
three months 
and one year

More than 
one year Total Assets liabilities

INTEREST RATE DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  1,033  1,276  13,285  15,594  373  372 

SUBTOTAl  1,033  1,276  13,285  15,594  373  372 

CURRENCy DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Forward rate agreements  18  374  145  537  85  85 

Interest currency rate swap  2,883  705  2,009  5,597  117  99 

Other currency contracts  4  48  183  235  -  5 

SUBTOTAl  2,905  1,127  2,337  6,369  202  189 

otC-produCts:

Credit default swaps (guarantees given)  39  104  316  459  20  1 

Credit default swaps (guarantees received)  17  103  255  375  5  26 

SUBTOTAl  56  207  571  834  25  27 

TOTAl DERIvATIvES HElD FOR 
TRADINg (OTHER PORTFOlIOS)  3,994  2,610  16,193  22,797  600  588 

Derivative financial instruments – Held for trading (other portfolios) at 31 December 2006
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than 

three months

Between 
three months 
and one year

More than 
one year Total Assets liabilities

INTEREST RATE DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  573  1,270  13,541  15,384  371  459 

Interest currency rate swap  170  11  1,763  1,944  164  230 

SUBTOTAl  743  1,281  15,304  17,328  535  689 

CURRENCy DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Forward rate agreements  6  -  -  6  75  72 

Interest currency rate swap  1,698  -  -  1,698  11  8 

SUBTOTAl  1,704  -  -  1,704  86  80 

otC-produCts:

Credit default swaps (guarantees given)  -  670  628  1,298  30  - 

Credit default swaps (guarantees received)  81  37  447  565  6  37 

SUBTOTAl  81  707  1,075  1,863  36  37 

TOTAl DERIvATIvES HElD FOR 
TRADINg (OTHER PORTFOlIOS)  2,528  1,988  16,379  20,895  657  806 
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The following table discloses the fair value of the swaps designated in fair value hedging 
relationships.

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Fair value pay – fixed swaps (hedging assets) assets 11  17 

Fair value pay – fixed swaps (hedging assets) liabilities  (18)  (30)

 (7)  (13)

Fair value pay – floating swaps (hedging liabilities) assets 38  207 

Fair value pay – floating swaps (hedging liabilities) liabilities  (36)  (94)

 2  113 

The following table discloses the fair value of the swaps designated in cash flow hedging 
relationships.

Cash flow hedges of interest rate risk
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Fair value receive – fixed swaps assets 36  38 

Fair value receive – fixed swaps liabilities  -  (5)

 36  33 

Fair value receive – floating swaps assets -  38 

Fair value receive – floating swaps liabilities -  (4)

 -  34 

The average remaining maturity (in which the related cash flows are expected to enter into the 
determination of profit and loss) is 4 years (2006: 4 years).
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Derivative financial instruments – Used for hedging at 31 December 2007
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than  

three months

Between three 
months and 

one year
More than 

one year Total Assets liabilities

DERIvATIvES ACCOUNTED  
FOR AS FAIR vAlUE HEDgES OF 
INTEREST RATE RISK

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  430  173  2,326  2,929  33  33 

Interest currency rate swap  7  65  243  315  16  20 

SUBTOTAl  437  238  2,569  3,244  49  53 

DERIvATIvES ACCOUNTED  
FOR AS CASH FlOw HEDgES OF 
INTEREST RATE RISK

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  -  -  407  407  36  - 

SUBTOTAl  -  -  407  407  36  - 

TOTAl DERIvATIvES 
USED FOR HEDgINg  437  238  2,976  3,651  85  53 

Derivative financial instruments – Used for hedging at 31 December 2006
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than three 

months

Between three 
months and 

one year
More than 

one year Total Assets liabilities

DERIvATIvES ACCOUNTED 
FOR AS FAIR vAlUE HEDgES 
OF INTEREST RATE RISK

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  1,573  1,289  4,645  7,507  49  83 

Interest currency rate swap  276  164  2,264  2,704  175  41 

SUBTOTAl  1,849  1,453  6,909  10,211  224  124 

DERIvATIvES ACCOUNTED 
FOR AS CASH FlOw HEDgES 
OF INTEREST RATE RISK

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  591  400  2,589  3,580  76  9 

SUBTOTAl  591  400  2,589  3,580  76  9 

TOTAl DERIvATIvES 
USED FOR HEDgINg  2,440  1,853  9,498  13,791  300  133 
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Hedging activities
Portfolio fair value hedge of plain vanilla funding
According to NIBC’s Hedging Policy, NIBC should not be exposed to interest rate risk from its 
fixed rate plain vanilla funding activities above certain limits prescribed by the Asset and 
Liability Committee (ALCO). Consequently, NIBC uses interest rate swaps to hedge the fair 
value interest rate risk arising on this fixed rate funding. To mitigate any accounting 
mismatches, NIBC has defined a portfolio fair value hedge for the fixed rate plain vanilla 
funding and corresponding hedging transactions.

The hedged risk is the benchmark interest rate (interbank offered rates up to one year and swap 
rates for periods longer than one year) for the currency in question.

The net fair value of the derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments  
in these relationships at 31 December 2007 was EUR 6 million (2006: EUR 92 million).  
The gains on the hedging instruments were EUR 1 million (2006: EUR 58 million). The losses 
on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk were EUR 2 million (2006: EUR 62 million).

Micro fair value hedge of plain vanilla funding
According to NIBC’s Hedging Policy, NIBC should not be exposed to interest rate risk from its 
fixed rate plain vanilla funding activities above certain limits prescribed by ALCO. Consequently, 
NIBC uses interest rate swaps to hedge the fair value interest rate risk arising on this fixed rate 
funding. To mitigate any accounting mismatches, NIBC has defined a micro fair value hedge for 
the fixed rate plain vanilla funding and corresponding hedging transactions.

The hedged risk is the benchmark interest rate (interbank offered rates up to one year and swap 
rates for periods longer than one year) for the currency in question.

The net fair value of the derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in 
these relationships at 31 December 2007 was EUR 3 million credit (2006: EUR 0 million).  
The losses on the hedging instruments were EUR 1 million (2006: EUR 0 million). The gains on 
the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk were EUR 1 million (2006: EUR 0 million).

Portfolio fair value hedge of corporate loans
According to NIBC’s Hedging Policy, NIBC should not be exposed to interest rate risk from  
its corporate loan activities above certain limits as set by ALCO. Consequently, NIBC uses 
interest rate swaps to hedge the fair value interest rate risk arising from these fixed rate loans. 
To mitigate any accounting mismatches, NIBC has defined a portfolio fair value hedge for the 
fixed rate corporate loans and corresponding hedging transactions.

The hedged risk is the benchmark interest rate (interbank offered rates up to one year and swap 
rates for period longer than one year) for the currency in question.

The net fair value of the derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments in 
these hedge relationships at 31 December 2007 was EUR 7 million credit (2006: EUR 7 million). 
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The gains on the hedging instruments were EUR 3 million (2006: EUR 15 million). The losses 
on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk were EUR 4 million (2006: EUR 14 million).

Cash flow hedges
The variability in interest cash flows arising on floating rate corporate loans is hedged on a 
portfolio basis with interest rate swaps that receive fixed and pay floating (generally 1, 3 and  
6 months floating rates). The highly probable cash flows being hedged relate both to the highly 
probable cash flows on outstanding corporate loans and to the future reinvestment of these 
cash flows. NIBC does not hedge the variability of future cash flows of corporate loans arising 
from changes in credit spreads. 

Interest rate swaps with a net fair value of EUR 36 million (2006: EUR 67 million) were 
designated in a cash flow hedge relationship. The cash flow on the hedged item will be reported 
in income over the next 10 years. In 2007, the ineffectiveness recognised in income statements 
that arose from cash flow hedges was EUR 3 million (2006: nil).

There were no transactions in respect of which cash flow hedge accounting had to be ceased in 
2007 or 2006 as a result of the highly probable cash flows no longer being expected to occur.

The amount that was recognised in equity during the year 2007 is EUR 1 million 
(2006: EUR 5 million). The amount that was removed from equity and included in the income 
statement in 2007 was EUR 16 million (2006: EUR 16 million).

Net investment hedge
NIBC hedges part of the currency translation risk arising on its net investments in foreign 
operations by using foreign currency debt as a hedging instrument. Debt amounting to 
USD 231 million (2006: USD 211 million) as included in other liabilities was designated as a 
hedging instrument, and gave rise to currency profits for the year of EUR 18 million 
(2006: EUR 18 million), which were recognised in the translation reserve component of equity. 
No ineffectiveness was recognised in the income statement arising from hedges of net 
investments in foreign operations. No amounts were withdrawn from equity during the year 
(2006: nil), as there were no disposals of foreign operations that were included in the net 
investment hedge.
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> 28 Investments in associates
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  23  21 

Purchases and additional payments  25  - 

Disposals  (2)  (14)

Share of results  1  16 

Impairments  (3)  - 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 44 23

At the end of 2007 and 2006, all investments in associates were unlisted.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of associates to transfer funds to the investor 
in the form of cash dividends, or repayment of loans or advances.

There is no unrecognised share of losses of an associate, both for the period and cumulatively.

We refer to note 53 for further details on the investments in associates.

> 29 Property and other fixed assets (for own use)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Land and buildings 65 68

Other fixed assets 7 13

72 81

MOvEMENTS IN PROPERTy AND OTHER FIxED ASSETS (IN OwN USE) 
wERE AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  81  60 

Additions  8  15 

Disposals  -  (1)

Revaluation  -  18 

Depreciation  (17)  (11)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 72 81

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE ACCUMUlATED DEPRECIATION AS AT 31 DECEMBER IS FOR:

Land and buildings 28 25

Other fixed assets 14 35

42 60
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Buildings in use by the company are insured for EUR 62.5 million (2006: EUR 61.1 million).

Other fixed assets are insured for EUR 25.7 million (2006: EUR 25.1 million).

There is no property and other fixed assets pledged as security for liabilities.

There is no expenditure recognised in the carrying amount of property and other fixed assets 
in the course of construction at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006.

There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property and other fixed assets at 
31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006.

The revaluation in 2006 of EUR 18 million of property and other fixed assets for own use is 
based on an external appraisal carried out in January 2007.

> 30 Investment property
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Land and buildings 1  8 

1  8 

Investment property is stated at fair value. The fair value at 31 December 2007 is based upon 
various external appraisals of which the most recent were made in 2005, on the basis that there 
have been no material changes in the fair value of the investment property since 2005. This 
balance sheet item includes acquired property of EUR 1 million (2006: nil) from work-out and 
restructuring activities related to residential mortgages.

Investment property is insured for EUR 0 million (2006: EUR 7 million.)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

MOvEMENTS IN INvESTMENT PROPERTy wERE AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  8  17 

Additions resulting from acquisition  1  1 

Disposals  (8)  (10)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 1  8 

The amount recognised in profit or loss is EUR 0 million (2006: EUR 1 million), concerning 
rental income.
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> 31 Current tax assets 
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Corporate tax 40 40

40 40

It is expected that the total tax asset will be settled within 12 months.

> 32 Deferred tax assets
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

DEFERRED INCOME TAx ASSETS ARE ATTRIBUTABlE TO TEMPORARy 
DIFFERENCES ARISINg FROM THE FOllOwINg ITEMS:

Employee benefit obligations  -  3 

Loans and receivables (available for sale)  18  - 

Debt securities (available for sale)  2  - 

20 3

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT ON THE DEFERRED INCOME TAx ACCOUNT IS AS 
FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  3  7 

EMPlOyEE BENEFIT OBlIgATIONS:

(Charged) / credited to the income statement  (3)  (4)

lOANS AND RECEIvABlES (REPORTED AS AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE):

Reclassification from deferred tax liabilities  (27)  - 

Fair value remeasurement (charged) / credited to revaluation reserve  44  - 

Fair value hedges through revaluation reserve  (1)  - 

Changes in tax rates  2  - 

DEBT SECURITIES (REPORTED AS AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE):

Fair value remeasurement (charged) / credited to revaluation reserve  2  - 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  20  3 

The recovery period for the deferred tax assets is estimated at 2.5 years.

Tax losses of EUR 5 million (2006: EUR 10 million) have not been tax recognised because it is 
not probable that these losses can be utilised. These unrecognised tax losses have no expiry 
date.
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> 33 Other assets 
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Interest 84 281

Other accruals and receivables 69 30

153 311

The decrease in interest in 2007 reflects the transfer of interest receivables on all financial 
instruments excluding residential mortgages and loans to the carrying values of the underlying 
assets in the balance sheet.

Interest includes interest accrued on corporate loans and residential mortgages, whether 
classified as amortised cost, available for sale or fair value through profit or loss.

The fair value of this balance sheet item does not materially deviate from its face value, due to 
the short-term nature of its related assets.

> 34 Due to banks
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Payable on demand  607  354 

Not payable on demand  4,093  3,047 

 4,700  3,401 

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE ITEMS NOT PAyABlE ON DEMAND:

Three months or less  1,966  1,759 

Longer than three months but not longer than one year  901  2 

Longer than one year but not longer than five years  1,042  1,059 

Longer than five years  184  227 

 4,093  3,047 

Interest is recognised in interest expense and similar charges on an effective interest basis.
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> 35 Other deposits
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Other deposits  1,514 2,789

 1,514 2,789

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF OTHER DEPOSITS:

Three months or less  576 1,638

Longer than three months but not longer than one year  206 237

Longer than one year but not longer than five years  364 366

Longer than five years  368 548

 1,514 2,789

Interest is recognised in interest expense and similar charges on an effective interest basis.

> 36 Other borrowings
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Payable on demand  -  - 

Not payable on demand  2  13 

2 13

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE ITEMS DUE TO CUSTOMERS:

Three months or less  -  - 

Longer than three months but not longer than one year  -  - 

Longer than one year but not longer than five years  -  3 

Longer than five years  2  10 

 2 13

The fair value of this balance sheet item does not materially deviate from its face value.

Interest is recognised in interest expense and similar charges on an effective interest basis.
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> 37 Debt securities in issue structured  
(designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Bonds and notes issued 4,152 4,553

4,152 4,553

lEgAl MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THESE DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE 
STRUCTURED:

Three months or less 404 293

Longer than three months but not longer than one year 253 681

Longer than one year but not longer than five years 1,731 2,373

Longer than five years 1,764 1,206

4,152 4,553

The contractual amounts of these liabilities to be repayed at maturity, including unpaid but 
accrued interest at the balance sheet date, amounts to EUR 4,132 million on 31 December 2007 
(2006: EUR 4,384 million).

The portion of fair value changes in 2007 included in the balance sheet amount at 
31 December 2007 relating to the movement in credit spreads amounts to EUR 81 million 
debit, being a reduction in the carrying value of these liabilities (2006: EUR nil).

> 38 Own debt securities in issue (designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Bonds and notes issued  215  - 

 215  - 

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THESE DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE:

Three months or less  26  - 

Longer than three months but not longer than one year  67  - 

Longer than one year but not longer than five years  90  - 

Longer than five years  32  - 

 215  - 

The contractual amounts of these liabilities to be repayed at maturity, including unpaid but 
accrued interest at the balance sheet date amounts to EUR 223 million on 31 December 2007 
(2006: nil).

In 2007, there were no significant gains or losses attributable to changes in the credit risk for 
these financial liabilities, which are designated as fair value through profit or loss.
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> 39 Own debt securities in issue
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Bonds and notes issued  9,059 9,367

Fair value hedge adjustment  (24)  (32)

 9,035 9,335

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THESE DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE:

Three months or less  1,290  1,000 

Longer than three months but not longer than one year  2,590  281 

Longer than one year but not longer than five years  4,975  7,334 

Longer than five years  180  720 

 9,035  9,335 

> 40 Debt securities in issue related to securitised mortgages
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Bonds and notes issued 7,218 7,257

Fair value hedge adjustment  (4)  (11)

7,214 7,246

THE lEgAl MATURITy ANAlySIS OF DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE 
RElATED TO SECURITISED MORTgAgES:

Three months or less 70  - 

Longer than three months but not longer than one year 528 448

Longer than one year but not longer than five years 5,293 2,177

Longer than five years 1,323 4,621

7,214 7,246

> 41 Other liabilities
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Interest  - 257

Accruals  55 39

Payables  189 192

 244 488

The decrease in interest in 2007 reflects the transfer of interest payable on all liabilities to the 
carrying values of the underlying liabilities in the balance sheet.

The amortisation of any discount or premium and interest related to other liabilities is 
recognised in interest expense and similar charges using the effective interest method.
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> 42 Deferred tax liabilities
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

DEFERRED INCOME TAx lIABIlITIES ARE ATTRIBUTABlE TO TEMPORARy 
DIFFERENCES ARISINg ON THE FOllOwINg ITEMS:

Loans and receivables (available for sale)  -  27 

Equity investments (available for sale)  3  5 

Cash flow hedges  12  17 

Proper ty  9  11 

 24  60 

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT ON THE DEFERRED INCOME TAx ACCOUNT 
IS AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  60  54 

PROPERTy REPORTED AT FAIR vAlUE:

Fair value remeasurement charged / (credited) to revaluation reserve  -  4 

Charged / (credited) to the income statement  (1)  - 

Changes in tax rate  (1)  - 

EqUITy INvESTMENTS REPORTED AS AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE:

Fair value remeasurement charged / (credited) to revaluation reserve  (2)  1 

lOANS AND RECEIvABlES REPORTED AS AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE:

Fair value remeasurement of loans and receivables charged / (credited) 
to revaluation reserve  (27)  - 

Fair value hedge accouting charged / (credited) to revaluation reserve  -  5 

CASH FlOw HEDgES:

Fair value remeasurement charged / (credited) to hedging reserve  (4)  (4)

Changes in tax rates  (1)  - 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  24  60 

The recovery period for the deferred tax liabilities is estimated at 2.5 years.
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> 43 Employee benefit obligations
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Pension benefit obligations  6  6 

Stock appreciation rights  -  6 

Other  5  5 

11 17

Pension benefit obligations
NIBC operates a number of pension plans covering substantially all employees. The schemes 
are generally funded through payments to insurance companies or separate trustee-
administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations. The Group has both defined 
benefit and defined contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under 
which NIBC each year pays a fixed percentage of the salaries of the members into the plan. 
The size of the fund on retirement will be determined by how much was contributed to the 
plan and the investment return achieved. NIBC has no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits 
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. A defined benefit plan is a plan 
that is not a defined contribution plan and where the rules specify the benefits to be paid to the 
members at retirement. These benefits will depend on the number of years of service, the final 
salary (up to a maximum) upon retirement and the accrual rate of the scheme. Most of the 
pension plans are defined benefit plans based on a maximized final pay salary and are funded.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value 
of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past 
service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries 
using the projected unit credit method. The latest actuarial valuation was carried out at 
31 December 2007. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have 
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability. The assets of the 
funded plans are held independently of NIBC’s assets in separate trustee-administered funds.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions in excess of the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the defined 
benefit obligation are charged or credited to the income statement over the employees’ 
expected average remaining working lives. Past-service costs are recognised immediately in 
the income statement.

For defined contribution plans, NIBC pays directly into the member’s plan. NIBC has no 
further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are 
recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised 
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Present value of funded obligations  163  167 

Fair value of plan assets  157  148 

DEFICIT FOR FUNDED PlANS  6  19 

Present value of unfunded obligations  1  2 

Unrecognised actuarial losses  (1)  (15)

PENSION BENEFIT OBlIgATION  6  6 

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

CHANgES IN THE PRESENT vAlUE OF FUNDED AND UNFUNDED 
OBlIgATIONS ARE AS FOllOwS:

BEgINNINg OF yEAR  169  169 

Current service cost  8  8 

Interest cost  7  6 

Actuarial (gains) / losses  (15)  (9)

Benefits paid  (5)  (5)

END OF yEAR  164  169 

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

CHANgES IN THE FAIR vAlUE OF PlAN ASSETS ARE AS FOllOwS:

BEgINNINg OF yEAR  148  147 

Expected return on plan assets  7  5 

Actuarial (gains) / losses  (1)  (9)

Employer contributions  8  10 

Benefits paid  (5)  (5)

END OF yEAR  157  148 

The actual return on plan assets was EUR 6 million (2006: EUR 0 million)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE AMOUNT RECOgNISED IN THE INCOME STATEMENTS ARE AS 
FOllOwS:

Current service cost  8  8 

Interest cost  7  7 

Expected return on plan assets  (7)  (5)

TOTAl INClUDED IN STAFF COSTS  8 10
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IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT IN THE lIABIlITy RECOgNISED IN THE BAlANCE SHEET 
IS RECONCIlED AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  6  6 

Total expense – as above  8  10 

Contribution paid  (8)  (10)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  6 6

THE PRINCIPAl ACTUARIAl ASSUMPTIONS USED wERE AS FOllOwS:

Discount rate 5.25% 4.50%

Expected return on plan assets 5.25% 4.50%

Future salary increases, excluding career developments 2.25% 2.25%

Future pension increases (price inflation) 2.00% 2.00%

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

PlAN ASSETS ARE COMPRISED AS FOllOwS:

Equities  41  44 

Bonds  117  104 

Cash  2  2 

Subordinated loan  (3)  (2)

END OF yEAR  157 148

For the mortality assumptions, NIBC used the Generation tables from the Actuarial Society set 
back by 3 years for males and 1 year for females.

The expected return on plan assets is determined by considering the expected returns available 
on the assets underlying the current investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest 
investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the balance sheet date. Expected returns 
on equity investments reflect long-term real rates of return experienced in the respective markets.

Stock Appreciation Rights

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT IN THE lIABIlITy RECOgNISED IN THE BAlANCE SHEET 
IS RECONCIlED AS FOllOwS: 

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  6  6 

Expenses recognised during the vesting period  -  1 

Exercised  (6)  (1)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER -  6 

For further information on Stock Appreciation Rights and NIBC Choice see note 54.
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Other

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT IN THE lIABIlITy RECOgNISED IN THE BAlANCE SHEET 
IS RECONCIlED AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  5  11 

Releases  -  (6)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  5  5 

Other employee benefit obligations are related to payments to be made to in-active staff and in 
respect of other leave obligations. These obligations are short-term in nature and therefore 
valued at nominal value. EUR 5 million is payable within 12 months (2006: EUR 5 million).

> 44 Subordinated liabilities (amortised cost)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Subordinated loans qualifying as Tier-I capital  136  152 

Other subordinated loans  100  104 

 236  256 

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF SUBORDINATED lIABIlITIES:

One year or less  8  8 

Longer than one year but not longer than five years  55  59 

Longer than five years but not longer than ten years  25  25 

Longer than ten years  148  164 

236  256 

All of the above loans are subordinated to the other liabilities of NIBC. The EUR 136 million 
(2006: EUR 152 million) qualifying as Tier-I capital is subordinated to other subordinated 
loans that rank pari passu. These securities are perpetual securities and may be redeemed by 
NIBC at its option after 10 years with the prior approval of the Dutch Central bank. Interest 
expense of EUR 16 million was recognised on these subordinated liabilities during the year 
2007 (2006: EUR 14 million).
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> 45 Subordinated liabilities (designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Subordinated loans qualifying as Tier-I capital  219  239 

Other subordinated loans  278  193 

497 432

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF SUBORDINATED lIABIlITIES:

One year or less  10  - 

Longer than one year but not longer than five years  49  62 

Longer than five years but not longer than ten years  137  36 

Longer than ten years  301  334 

497 432

The contractual amounts of these liabilities to be repayed at maturity, including unpaid but 
accrued interest at the balance sheet date amount to EUR 537 million on 31 December 2007 
(2006: EUR 450 million).

The portion of fair value changes in 2007 included in the balance sheet amount at 
31 December 2007 relating to the movement in credit spreads amounts to EUR 25 million 
debit, being a reduction in the balance sheet amount (2006: EUR nil).

All of the above loans are subordinated to the other liabilities of NIBC. The EUR 219 million 
(2006: EUR 239 million) qualifying as Tier-I capital is subordinated to other subordinated 
loans that rank pari passu. These securities are perpetual securities and may be redeemed by 
NIBC at its option after 10 years with the prior approval of the Dutch Central bank. Interest 
expense of EUR 28 million was recognised on these subordinated liabilities during the year 
2007 (2006: EUR 31 million).

Fair value of liabilities
Debt securities in issue structured, own debt securities in issue and derivative financial 
instruments are valued at fair value. All other liabilities are valued at amortised cost. For these 
other liabilities, the carrying value is considered to approximate fair value, except for own debt 
securities in issue and subordinated liabilities. The carrying value of own debt securities in 
issue classified at amortised cost amounts to EUR 9,035 million (2006: EUR 9,335 million),  
and the fair market value amounts to EUR 8,917 million (2006: EUR 9,348 million). The 
carrying value of subordinated liabilities amounts to EUR 236 million (2006: EUR 256 million), 
and the fair market value amounts to EUR 226 million (2006: EUR 248 million). The fair 
values of these items are calculated by applying a benchmark curve reflecting current spreads 
for repurchasing debt securities and reflecting current spreads for issuing new debt securities. 

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, interest or redemption amounts during either 
2006 or 2007 on its liabilities.
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> 46 Shareholders’ equity

The main parent company is New NIB limited, a company incorporated in Ireland.

Share capital

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THIS ITEM CAN BE CATEgORISED AS FOllOwS:

Paid up capital 80  80 

 80  80 

2007 2006

THE NUMBER OF AUTHORISED SHARES IS SPECIFIED BElOw:

Number of authorised shares 1  218,937,500  218,937,500 

Number of shares issued and fully paid 2  62,586,794  62,586,794 

Par value per share  1.28  1.28 

1.    The authorised capital amounts to EUR 250 million and is divided into 110,937,500 A shares of EUR 1.28 nominal value and 108,000,000 
preference shares of EUR 1.00 nominal value.

2. The shares issued and fully paid consist of A shares.

Other reserves

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

OTHER RESERvES ARE COMPRISED OF:

Share premium  238  238 

Hedging reserve – cash flow hedges  35  46 

Revaluation reserve – available for sale loans and receivables  (49)  68 

Revaluation reserve – available for sale equity investments  51  92 

Revaluation reserve – available for sale debt securities  (6)  - 

Revaluation reserve – proper ty and other fixed assets (for own use)  27  26 

 296  470 

In 2007, the change in the revaluation reserve for loans and receivables from a credit balance  
of EUR 68 million to a debit balance of EUR 49 million reflects an after-tax impairment of 
EUR 1 million and a negative revaluation of the corporate loan portfolio of EUR 116 million, 
after tax.
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IN euR mILLIONS
Share  

premium
Hedging  
reserve

Revaluation 
reserve Total

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 2006  238  58  137  433 

Net result on cash flow hedging instruments, after tax  -  (12)  -  (12)

Revaluation, after tax  -  -  49  49 

TOTAl gAINS AND lOSSES RECOgNISED DIRECTly IN EqUITy  -  (12)  49  37 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2006 238 46 186 470

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 2007  238  46  186  470 

Net result on cash flow hedging instruments, after tax  -  (11)  -  (11)

Revaluation, after tax  -  -  (163)  (163)

TOTAl gAINS AND lOSSES RECOgNISED DIRECTly IN EqUITy  -  (11)  (163)  (174)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2007 238 35 23 296

Share premium
The proceeds from rights issues and options exercised received net of any directly attributable 
transaction costs deducted with the nominal value are credited to share premium.

Hedging reserve – cash flow hedges
This reserve comprises the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow 
hedge that is determined to be an effective hedge, after tax.

Revaluation reserve – available for sale (loans and receivables, equity  
investments and debt securities)
This reserve comprises changes in fair value of available for sale loans and receivables,  
equity investments, and debt securities respectively, after tax.

Revaluation reserve – property and other fixed assets (for own use)
This reserve comprises changes in fair value of land and buildings, after tax.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings reflect accumulated earnings less dividends accrued and paid to 
shareholders and transfers from other reserves. The cumulative effect of changes in accounting 
policy and the correction of errors is also reflected as an adjustment in retained earnings.
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> 47 Repurchase and resale agreements

On 2 January 2008, NIBC entered into a repo transaction with a third party, in which notes 
amounting to a notional of EUR 940 million were transferred from NIBC to the third party in 
exchange for EUR 838 million in cash for a period starting on 4 January 2008 and ending on 
4 July 2008. 

> 48 Commitments and contingent assets and liabilities

At any time, NIBC has outstanding commitments to extend credit. Outstanding loan 
commitments have a commitment period that does not extend beyond the normal 
underwriting and settlement period of one to three months. Commitments extended to 
customers related to mortgages at fixed interest rates or fixed spreads are hedged with interest 
rate swaps recorded at fair value. These commitments are designated upon initial recognition 
as fair value through profit or loss.

NIBC provides financial guarantees and letters of credit to guarantee the performance of 
customers to third parties. These agreements have fixed limits and generally extend for a 
period of up to five years. Expirations are not concentrated in any period. 

The contractual amounts of commitments (excluding mortgages commitments of 
EUR 239 million at 31 December 2007 (2006: EUR 353 million), which in these financial 
statements are measured at fair value through profit or loss) and contingent liabilities are set 
out in the following table by category. In the table it is assumed that amounts are fully advanced. 

The amounts for guarantees and letters of credit represent the maximum accounting loss that 
would be recognised at the balance sheet date if counterparties failed completely to perform as 
contracted.

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

CONTRACT AMOUNT

Committed facilities with respect to corporate loan financing 2,380 2,750

Guarantees granted 588 1,479

Irrevocable letters of credit 79 63

3,047 4,292

These commitments and contingent liabilities have off-balance sheet credit risk because only 
commitment / origination fees and accruals for probable losses are recognised in the balance 
sheet until the commitments are fulfilled or expire. Many of the contingent liabilities and 
commitments will expire without being advanced in whole or in part. Therefore, the amounts 
do not represent expected future cash flows.

Details of concentrations of credit risk including concentrations of credit risk arising from 
commitments and contingent liabilities as well as NIBC’s policies for collateral for loans are set 
out in the risk management section.
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Legal proceedings
There were a number of legal proceedings outstanding against NIBC at 31 December 2007.  
No provision has been made, as legal advice indicates that it is unlikely that any significant loss 
will arise.

Liquidity facility
On 5 May 2006, twelve financial institutions provided an unconditional liquidity facility to 
NIBC. The size of the facility was EUR 1.25 billion with a tenure of three years. In August 2007, 
the liquidity facility was restructured in light of the proposed acquisition by Kaupthing Bank hf. 
At 31 December 2007, the size of the facility was EUR 850 million, maturing in May 2009. 
During 2006 and 2007, there were no draw downs on these facilities.

> 49 Assets pledged as security
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

ASSETS HAvE BEEN PlEDgED AS SECURITy IN RESPECT OF THE 
FOllOwINg lIABIlITIES AND CONTINgENT lIABIlITIES:

liabilities
Due to other banks 1,900 912

Other deposits  - 42

Due to customers  - 4

Debt securities in issue related to securitised mortgages 7,214 7,246

Derivative financial liabilities 494 551

9,608 8,755

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

DETAIlS OF THE CARRyINg AMOUNTS OF ASSETS PlEDgED AS 
COllATERAl ARE AS FOllOwS:

Assets pledged
Assets utilised as collateral 1,945 945

Due from other banks 263 254

Loans and receivables 231 344

Securitised residential mortgages 6,356 6,988

8,795 8,531

The assets utilised as collateral have been determined based on an average haircut of 2.31% 
(2006: 3.46%) on the total portfolio eligible for use to collateralise funding of EUR 4.0 billion 
(2006: EUR 1.3 billion).

As of 31 December 2007, the excess cash liquidity of NIBC Holding N.V. was EUR 1.8 billion, 
consisting of EUR 0.9 billion cash placed with the Dutch Central Bank and EUR 0.9 billion 
placed overnight with other banks.
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As part of NIBC’s funding and credit risk mitigation activities, the cash flows of selected 
financial assets are transferred to third parties. Furthermore, NIBC pledges assets as collateral 
for derivative transactions. Substantially all financial assets included in these transactions are 
mortgages, other loan portfolios or debt securities. The extent of NIBC’s continuing 
involvement in these financial assets varies by transaction.

> 50 Assets under management

NIBC provides collateral management services, whereby it holds and manages assets or invests 
funds received in various financial instruments on behalf of the customer. NIBC receives fee 
income for providing these services. Assets under management are not assets of NIBC and are 
not recognised in the consolidated balance sheet. NIBC is not exposed to any credit risk 
relating to such placements, as it does not guarantee these investments.

At 31 December 2007, the total assets held by NIBC on behalf of customers were 
EUR 3,346 million (2006: EUR 3,541 million).

> 51 Related party transactions

Transactions related to employees
All transactions with employees are reported in the tables in note 54 ‘Remuneration of 
Statutory Board Members, Supervisory Board Members and Share based payments’.

Transactions related to associates
As at 31 December 2007, NIBC had EUR 286 million of loans advanced to its associates  
(2006: EUR 143 million). Besides interest income on these loans, NIBC earned EUR 1.6 million 
(2006: EUR 3.0 million) in fees from these associates.

In June 2007, NIBC launched the NIBC European Infrastructure Fund I and raised 
EUR 330 million of which NIBC provided EUR 100 million. It is NIBC’s first third party equity 
fund, and the final close at EUR 500 million is expected in 2008. The fund invests in 
infrastructure projects in Western Europe. NIBC sold all of its assets related to this activity  
to the fund, and realised a gain on disposal in 2007 in operating income of EUR 9 million.  
In NIBC’s financial statements, this fund is reported as an associate.

Transactions involving NIBC’s shareholders
Significant related party transactions executed in 2007 concern the following:

At 31 December 2007, NIBC had EUR 296 million of loans advanced to its parent and  n
to entities controlled by its parent entity (2006: EUR 172 million);

In June 2006, the general partner of J.C. Flowers II LP (together with its sister vehicle,  n
‘Flowers Fund II’), an investment fund managed by an affiliate of J.C. Flowers & Co., 
accepted a USD 100 million capital commitment from NIBC. The management fee and 
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the profits interest otherwise payable by limited partners in such fund have been waived 
with respect to the investment by NIBC. In addition, NIBC will receive a portion of 

The profits interest payable to an affiliate of J.C. Flowers & Co. by investors in Flowers  n

Fund II, and 
The management fee payable to J.C. Flowers & Co. by Flowers Fund II, in each case  n

based on the percentage of aggregate capital commitments to Flowers Fund II 
represented by the capital commitment of NIBC. In 2007, NIBC earned fees of 
EUR 1.2 million (2006: EUR 2.7 million) relating to this transaction.

Investment advisory firm J.C. Flowers & Co., receives a management fee from 
Flowers Fund II in consideration for acting as investment adviser to Flowers Fund II. 
NIBC performs fund-raising activities for this fund for which a placement fee is received.  
Mr. Enthoven, the Chairman of the Managing Board and Chief Executive Officer of NIBC, 
and Mr. Jansen Schoonhoven, one of NIBC’s senior managers, serve on the Transaction 
and Advisory Committee of Flowers Fund II. This committee meets weekly to discuss new 
investment prospects, structuring and execution of investments under consideration, and 
enhancing value in current portfolio companies of Flowers Fund II. In addition, three 
members of NIBC’s Managing Board and some of NIBC’s employees have personally 
invested in Flowers Fund II as limited partners;

NIBC’s US sub-prime related portfolio was sold on 24 August 2007 to a company controlled  n
by the shareholders of NIBC Holding N.V. for USD 528 million. The acquisition by that 
company was partially funded by USD 248 million from NIBC Holding N.V. advanced in 
exchange for preference shares in the company, which were subsequently distributed by 
NIBC Holding N.V. to NIBC Holding N.V.’s shareholders as a dividend. During 2007,  
NIBC recognised a pre-tax trading loss of EUR 124 million on this portfolio (2006: nil).  
As of 24 August 2007, both NIBC Bank N.V. and NIBC Holding N.V. are no longer exposed 
to US sub-prime residential mortgage securities;

On 24 August 2007, NIBC entered into a total return swap under which all gains and losses  n
on NIBC’s portfolio of US Commercial Real Estate structured credits (mainly CMBS and 
CRE CDOs) were transferred to NIBC Venture Capital N.V., a public limited liability 
company incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands (Veca). Veca is indirectly a 100% 
subsidiary of NIBC Holding N.V. Under the terms of the total return swap between Veca 
and NIBC, Veca prepaid the equivalent of EUR 948 million to NIBC. Veca financed itself 
through EUR 300 million of equity provided by NIBC Holding N.V., EUR 198 million of 
subordinated financing provided by NIBC, and EUR 450 million of senior debt provided by 
a third party.  
Under the terms of the total return swap between NIBC and Veca, fair value movements on 
the US commercial real estate portfolio are offset by compensating fair value movements on 
the total return swap. On 21 December 2007, NIBC terminated the total return swap by 
transferring the contractual rights to receive cash flows on the portfolio of US Commercial 
Real Estate structured credits to Veca. As a consequence of this transfer, NIBC derecognised 
these assets on 21 December 2007. In the period from 1 January 2007 to 24 August 2007, 
NIBC recognised a trading loss of EUR 48 million net of tax on this portolio (2006: nil);
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On 21 December 2007, NIBC entered into a securities lending agreement with an entity  n
controlled by NIBC Holding N.V. and a related party of NIBC, in which NIBC borrowed  
on an unsecured basis securities with a fair value of EUR 882 million for a period ending 
20 August 2008;

In 2007, fees were paid to NIBC Holding N.V. of EUR 3.1 million (2006: EUR 5.9 million)  n
related to asset management activities. Furthermore, in 2007 a fee of EUR 3.0 million 
(2006: nil) was received from NIBC Holding N.V., relating to NIBC’s role in the sale of an 
associate;

NIBC supported the bid of J.C. Flowers together with J.P. Morgan and Bank of America to  n
acquire SLM Corp (Sallie Mae), the US student loan company. NIBC committed 
USD 75 million to the Sallie Mae acquisition, of which about half is syndicated.  
Through the SBU Principal Investments, NIBC subscribed to a further USD 20 million  
co-investment with J.C. Flowers. NIBC has a commitment of USD 100 million in the  
J.C. Flowers II LP, of which at 31 December 2007 USD 25 million was drawn. J.C. Flowers 
subsequently invoked the ‘material adverse effect’ clause and Sallie Mae responded with 
legal proceedings. In January 2008, Sallie Mae agreed to cease its pending lawsuit against 
JCF and the co-investors. In addition, the parties have agreed to terminate the merger 
agreement. The Buyer Group is not, and will not be, obligated to make any payment of any 
kind to Sallie Mae, which means that NIBC has no Sallie Mae-related exposure.

Loan from NIBC Bank to the Pension Fund
At the balance sheet date, NIBC advanced a subordinated loan (interest charge: 0%) for an 
amount of EUR 3 million to the trustee-administered fund (NIBC’s Pension Fund). There will 
be no repayment of this loan until the fund has reached a solvency ratio of 150%.
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> 52 Discontinued operations

In 2007, NIBC discontinued its US structured credit investments and trading business. The 
income statement, balance sheet, and cash flow statement of these activities in 2006 and 2007 
are displayed below:

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Net interest income  11  11 

Net fee and commission income  (4)  (6)

Net trading income  (196)  9 

OPERATINg INCOME  (189)  14 

OPERATINg ExPENSES  -  - 

OPERATINg PROFIT  (189)  14 

Result on disposal of subsidiaries  -  - 

Tax  48  (4)

RESUlT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  (141)  10 

Net result attributable to minority interest  -  - 

Net result attributable to parent shareholders  (141)  10 

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Financial assets held for trading  -  2,225 

Other assets  -  2 

Due to other banks  -  (2,079)

Financial liabilities held for trading  -  (10)

Other liabilities  -  (118)

Current tax liabilities  -  (6)

NET ASSETS - 14

Cash flow statement discontinued operations
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

OPERATINg ACTIvITIES

Net profit for the year  (141)  10 

Derivatives financial instruments (assets and liabilities)  (11)  6 

Operating assets  2,228  (639)

Operating liabilities  (2,076)  623 

CASH FlOwS FROM OPERATINg ACTIvITIES  
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS -  - 

INvESTINg ACTIvITIES

Cash flows from investing activities discontinued operations  -  - 

FINANCINg ACTIvITIES

Cash flows from financing activities discontinued operations  -  - 
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> 53 Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

% Country Assets liabilities
Operating 

Income Net result

SUBSIDIARIES OF NIBC BANK N.v. 

NIBC Bank Ltd., Singapore 100.0 Singapore

B.V. NIBC Mortgage Backed Assets, 
The Hague 100.0 Netherlands

jOINT vENTURES

SR-Hypotheken N.V., Rotterdam 50.0 Netherlands  543  501  (7)  (5)

ASSOCIATES

De Nederlandse Par ticipatie 
Maatschappij voor de Nederlandse 
Antillen N.V., The Hague 100.0 Netherlands  34  34  125  - 

PE express I B.V. 37.5 Netherlands  17  -  5  1 

PE express II B.V. 37.5 Netherlands  18  -  5  1 

PE express III B.V. 37.5 Netherlands n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.

PE express IV B.V. 1 37.5 Netherlands n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.

Welke Beheer B.V. 1 25.0 Netherlands  15 15 11  - 

ASSOCIATES (DESIgNATED AS FAIR 
vAlUE THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS) 39.0 Netherlands 796 796 55 20

1. n.a. = not available

In view of the control exercised by the government over the policy of the Group’s wholly owned 
associate De Nederlandse Participatie Maatschappij voor de Nederlandse Antillen N.V. (NPMNA), 
this company has not been treated as a subsidiary.

The list of participating interests under which statements of liability have been issued has been 
filed at the Chamber of Commerce in The Hague.
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> 54 Remuneration of the Statutory Board Members, Supervisory Board Members,  
Share based payments and Deferred cash

Remuneration of the Statutory Board Members
In the year under review, the average number of members of the Statutory Board appointed 
under the articles of association was 4.0 (2006: 4.0). The total remuneration (including pension 
costs) paid or granted to the Statutory Board Members appointed under the articles of 
association amounted to EUR 2.8 million in 2007 (2006: EUR 4.7 million). The allocation of 
this amount per member of the Statutory Board is as follows:

 Members 

in EUR 
Mr. Michael 

Enthoven 
Mr. Jurgen B.J. 

Stegmann 
Mr. Jan L. van 

Nieuwenhuizen 
Mr. Kees van 

Dijkhuizen Total

Base Salary 2007  700,000  400,000  400,000  350,000  1,850,000 

Base Salary 2006  650,000  350,000  350,000  350,000  1,700,000 

Shor t-Term Bonus 2007  -    -    140,000  140,000  280,000 

Shor t-Term Bonus 2006  500,000  300,000  300,000  105,000  1,205,000 

Deferred Compensation 2007 1  -    -    140,000  140,000  280,000 

Deferred Compensation 2006 1  650,000  350,000  350,000  125,000  1,475,000 

ToTaL DirEcT coMpENSaTioN 2007  700,000  400,000 680,000 630,000  2,410,000 

ToTaL DirEcT coMpENSaTioN 2006  1,800,000  1,000,000  1,000,000  580,000  4,380,000 

Pension costs 2007 75,400  80,900  80,000  70,000  306,300 

Pension costs 2006 0  70,000  70,000  70,000  210,000 

Expense Allowance 2007  1,200  1,200  1,200  1,200  4,800 

Expense Allowance 2006  5,407  4,084  3,771  1,200  14,462 

Other emoluments 2007  34,050  14,121  -    10,147  58,318 

Other emoluments 2006  22,574  11,706  21,000  7,546  62,826 

ToTaL rEMuNEraTioN 2007  810,650  496,221  761,200  711,347  2,779,418 

ToTaL rEMuNEraTioN 2006  1,827,981  1,085,790  1,094,771  658,746  4,667,288 

Variance 2007 / 2006 (56%) (54%) (30%) 8% (40%)

1.  The after-tax amounts of deferred compensation are mandatorily converted into restricted depositary receipts, based on the fair market value of the depositary 
receipts calculated in accordance with the conditions of administration of the foundation.

remuneration of the Managing Board recognised as personnel expenses in the income statement 2007
 Members 

in EUR
Mr. Michael 

Enthoven 
Mr. Jurgen B.J. 

Stegmann 
Mr. Jan L. van 

Nieuwenhuizen 
Mr. Kees van 

Dijkhuizen Total

ToTaL rEMuNEraTioN 2007  
(SEE prEviouS rEMuNEraTioN TaBLE) 810,650 496,221 761,200 711,347 2,779,418

Deferred compensation 2007  
(see previous remuneration table)  -    -    (140,000)  (140,000)  (280,000)

Vesting of deferred compensation granted in 
previous years 1  (320,206)  (148,808) 1,005,558 73,112 609,656

ToTaL rEMuNEraTioN rEcogNiSED  
iN ThE iNcoME STaTEMENT 2007 490,444 347,413 1,626,758 644,459 3,109,074

1. In light of their resignation Messrs. Enthoven and Stegmann will forfelt their options.
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remuneration of the Managing Board recognised as personnel expenses in the income statement 2006
 Members 

in EUR
Mr. Michael 

Enthoven 
Mr. Jurgen B.J. 

Stegmann 
Mr. Jan L. van 

Nieuwenhuizen 
Mr. Kees van 

Dijkhuizen Total

ToTaL rEMuNEraTioN 2006 (SEE rEMuNEraTioN 
TaBLE aBovE)  1,827,981  1,085,790  1,094,771  658,746  4,667,288 

Deferred compensation 2006 (see remuneration table 
above)  (650,000)  (350,000)  (350,000)  (125,000)  (1,475,000)

Vesting of deferred compensation granted in previous 
years  4,546,407  2,641,868  2,480,810  265,750  9,934,835 

ToTaL rEMuNEraTioN rEcogNiSED  
iN ThE iNcoME STaTEMENT 2006  5,724,388  3,377,658  3,225,581  799,496  13,127,123 

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board members
The remuneration of the Supervisory Board members relates to their position within NIBC 
Holding N.V. and NIBC Bank N.V.

in EUR annual Fixed Fees committee Fees Expense allowance Total remuneration

MEMBErS ovEr 2007

Mr. J. H. M. Lindenbergh 1 55,000 48,000 5,000 108,000

Mr. J. C. Flowers 1 45,000 33,000 5,000 83,000

Mr. C.H. van Dalen 35,000 26,500 5,000 66,500

Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh 1 35,000 38,000 5,000 78,000

Mr. N.W. Hoek 35,000 - 5,000 40,000

Mr. J. R. Inciar te until 30-10-07 1 29,167 8,333 4,166 41,666

Mr. A. de Jong 35,000 - 5,000 40,000

Mr. D.B. Marron until 30-4-07 11,667 - 1,666 13,333

Mr. D. Rümker 1 35,000 23,000 5,000 63,000

Mr. R.S. Sinha 1 35,000 26,500 5,000 66,500

Mr. A.H.A. Veenhof 35,000 - 5,000 40,000

ToTaL 385,834 203,333 50,832 639,999

MEMBErS ovEr 2006

Mr. J. H. M. Lindenbergh 1 55,000 48,000 5,000 108,000

Mr. J. C. Flowers 1 45,000 33,000 5,000 83,000

Mr. C.H. van Dalen 35,000 26,500 5,000 66,500

Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh 1 35,000 38,000 5,000 78,000

Mr. N.W. Hoek 35,000 - 5,000 40,000

Mr. J. R. Inciar te 1 35,000 10,000 5,000 50,000

Mr. A. de Jong 35,000 - 5,000 40,000

Mr. D.B. Marron 35,000 - 5,000 40,000

Mr. D. Rümker 1 35,000 23,000 5,000 63,000

Mr. R.S. Sinha 1 35,000 26,500 5,000 66,500

Mr. A.H.A. Veenhof 35,000 - 5,000 40,000

ToTaL 415,000 205,000 55,000 675,000

1. In line with Dutch tax regulations, an increase of 19% VAT is payable on the total remuneration payable to the relevant Supervisory Board member.
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Remuneration of Statutory Board Members, Supervisory Board Members and 
Share based payments and Deferred cash
Stock Appreciation Rights 
A Stock Appreciation Right (SAR) scheme was introduced in 2001 and is a cash-settled 
variable compensation scheme. A SAR entitles the holder to a share in the growth of the 
Net Asset Value (NAV) of NIBC Holding N.V. The exercise value of part of the SARs awarded 
to Managing Directors (whether or not appointed under the Articles of Association) has been 
capped at EUR 126.37. As of 31 December 2005, all capped SARs were converted into NIBC 
Choice. The expected cost of the outstanding SARs is recognized as personnel expenses during 
the vesting period of five years. 

On 15 November 2007, the Supervisory Board together with the Managing Board decided to 
exercise their right to discontinue the SAR Plan and allow accelerated vesting of all unvested 
SARs against the exercise price of EUR 124.79, being the fair value as at 30 June 2007. All 
outstanding SARs were consequently exercised. The SAR liability as at 31 December 2007 is 
therefore nil (2006: EUR 6.3 million).

The movement of the outstanding Stock Appreciation Rights can be analysed as follows:

 Staff  Total 

 POSITION AT 1-1-2006 163,791 163,791

 SAR rights exercised  (36,872)  (36,872)

 Weighted average exercise price 105.19 105.19

 SAR rights forfeited  (10,320)  (10,320)

 POSITION AT 31-12-2006 116,599 116,599

 Weighted average grant price 75.88 75.88

 POSITION AT 1-1-2007 116,599 116,599

 SAR rights exercised  (115,807)  (115,807)

 Weighted average exercise price 124.79 124.79

 SAR rights forfeited  (792)  (792)

 POSITION AT 31-12-2007  -    -   

With respect to SARs, an amount of EUR 0.8 million credit was recognised in personnel 
expenses in the income statement in 2007 (2006: EUR 1.4 million expenses).
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NIBC Choice 
Introduction 
In 2005, a new share-based compensation plan called NIBC Choice was introduced in close  
co-operation with the then new shareholders. This plan allowed Managing Board members 
and all other employees to convert the after-tax proceeds of their accumulated rights under the 
Bank’s various deferred compensation arrangements into common depositary receipts (with 
respect to vested rights) and restricted depositary receipts (with respect to unvested rights).  
All accumulated vested and unvested rights under the Stock Appreciation Rights plan and the 
Liquidity Event plan qualified for this conversion.

The opportunity to invest was offered in the firm belief that management and employee 
ownership that aligns personal financial interests with those of the other shareholders is 
instrumental in creating long-term value for the Bank. As an additional incentive for all those 
who chose to participate in NIBC Choice, NIBC offered Matching Options for common or 
restricted depositary receipts acquired. Additionally, the new shareholders exercised their 
discretion to grant additional Management Options to the members of the Managing Board 
and selected executives.

All members of the Managing Board of NIBC chose to convert their after-tax proceeds of 
vested amounts under the legacy plans into common depositary receipts and their after-tax 
proceeds of unvested amounts under those plans into restricted depositary receipts. The 
purchase price of a depositary receipt when NIBC Choice was first introduced was EUR 18.25, 
equal to the share price paid by the then new shareholders.
The initial NIBC Choice plan also allowed investment of own funds in depositary receipts.

Components of variable compensation 
Under NIBC’s remuneration policy, NIBC Choice forms the deferred compensation part of the 
variable compensation. The other part of the variable compensation is the award of a 
discretionary short-term cash bonus. NIBC Choice is only open to management and employees 
and contains restrictions relating to termination of employment or certain corporate events, 
such as restructurings, affecting the rights that would otherwise accrue to them.

Additionally, with respect to some investment professionals within Investment Management, 
separate performance-related rewards schemes (‘carried interest’) are agreed upon. These 
rewards are partly related to the employment of the investment professionals and partly related 
to their own investments and carried interest rights in the specific funds. All related expenses 
are recognised under personnel expenses in the income statement. The actual payment of the 
carried interest to the investment professionals is subject to specific conditions. 

Depositary receipts (DRs) 
The DRs, consisting of Common Depositary Receipts (CDRs) and Restricted Depositary Receipts 
(RDRs), are issued by Stichting Administratiekantoor NIBC Holding (the Foundation) in 
accordance with its conditions of administration (administratievoorwaarden) applicable to 
the relevant DRs.
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The Foundation issues a DR for each ordinary share it holds in NIBC Holding N.V. The 
Foundation exercises the voting rights in respect of each of these ordinary shares at its own 
discretion, while the holder of a DR is entitled to the dividends and other distributions 
declared payable in respect of the underlying ordinary share. Holders of DRs cannot exercise 
voting rights or request a power of attorney from the Foundation to vote in respect of our 
ordinary shares.

Under the conditions of administration, the holders of DRs have similar pre-emption rights 
as other shareholders of NIBC Holding N.V., subject to the Foundation having been given   
pre-emptive rights. Consequently, when given these pre-emptive rights, the Foundation will 
exercise the pre-emption rights attached to the ordinary shares underlying the DRs if these 
holders so elect.

The purchase price established for a DR when NIBC Choice was first introduced was EUR 18.25. 
Employees are informed on a quarterly basis of the Fair Market Value for the DRs as defined in 
the applicable conditions of administration.

RDRs cannot be transferred, and 50% of the RDRs granted prior to 30 March 2006 were to vest 
(i.e. convert into CDRs) after the first year and the remainder two years after the date of grant. 
However, on 20 February 2006, the Supervisory Board resolved to accelerate the vesting of the 
first 50% of the RDRs in issue on that date as a result of which these became CDRs as at 
30 December 2005 as opposed to 1 January 2007. The remainder of the RDRs granted prior to 
30 March 2006 (463,963 RDRs) will vest on 1 January 2008. In addition, RDRs are subject to 
certain limitations, including the right of the Foundation to cancel the RDR in the case of 
termination of employment or certain corporate events, such as restructurings.

As part of NIBCs deferred compensation, NIBC Holding N.V. granted 422,806 new RDRs 
(the 2007 RDRs) in 2007 in respect of the financial year 2006. The conditions of 
administration applicable to these 2007 RDRs are in line with the 2006 RDRs with 5 years 
vesting starting on 1 January 2008 whereby each year one fifth vests. When the 2007 RDRs 
were granted, the purchase price of EUR 19.68 was determined based on the changes in the net 
asset value of NIBC Holding N.V., calculated using a fixed formula contained in the conditions 
of administration of the Foundation, compared with the purchase price of EUR 18.25, which 
was determined when NIBC Choice was first introduced.

Stock Option Plan (SOP) 
The initial NIBC Choice plan also comprised an employee option plan (the Option Plan) 
which allowed NIBC Holding N.V. to grant options to members of its Managing Board and 
employees up to a maximum of 5% of its share capital as at 14 December 2005 on a fully 
diluted basis. The Option Plan was introduced with the intention of further enhancing the 
attractiveness of converting accumulated rights under the legacy plans into NIBC Choice by 
granting options to employees who converted their entitlements into DRs. In addition, options 
were granted to encourage investment of own funds by employees in CDRs and as part of the 
compensation of senior management. NIBC may decide to grant any further options under 
the current Option Plan or any other plan.
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Each option gives the option holder the right to be issued one CDR. The options are only 
exercisable by the option holder. Of the options granted on a certain date, 50% vests after three 
years and the remainder vests after four years from the date of grant (or for options granted on 
or after 31 March 2006, from 1 January 2007). Options may be exercised as from the vesting 
date until 14 December 2012, or such other date as determined by the Managing Board of 
NIBC Holding N.V., provided that such period will end no later than 14 December 2015. 
As a general rule, all options shall be forfeited for no consideration upon termination of 
employment of an option holder. However, vested options are exercisable during open periods, 
provided that the option holder is still employed by NIBC or, if no longer employed by NIBC, 
during the next open period following termination. An open period generally is the 21-day 
period following the date of approval of our annual, semi-annual or quarterly results, taking 
into account NIBC’s internal regulations on private investment transactions.

The exercise price of an option is equal to the fair market value of a DR at the date of grant as 
defined and calculated in accordance with the conditions of administration of the Foundation. 
This fair market value is based on the changes in NIBC’s net asset value, calculated using a 
fixed formula, relative to the exercise price of EUR 18.25, which was determined when NIBC 
first introduced the Option Plan in December 2005. The resulting exercise price at the date of 
grant for options granted prior to 31 March 2006 ranged from EUR 18.25 in December 2005 to 
EUR 18.49 in March 2006 per option. 

The exercise price at the date of grant for options granted on or after 31 March 2006 ranged 
from EUR 19.81 in April 2006 to EUR 20.67 in September 2006 (which is the month after 
which no further options have been granted) per option. The exercise price of an option is 
reduced by any dividends paid since the date of grant. Employees are informed on a quarterly 
basis of the exercise price of an option. The Managing Board may allow for a cashless exercise, 
allowing the holder to convert his options into fewer CDRs than he would otherwise be 
entitled to, while not having to pay the exercise price. Upon the occurrence of certain corporate 
events, such as capital adjustments, payment of stock dividends, an issue of shares or 
recapitalisations, the Managing Board, following consultation with the Supervisory Board, may 
adjust the number of options and / or the exercise price as is equitable to reflect the event.
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NIBC Choice: Common depositary receipts (CDRs) 
As at the year-end 2007, 1,964,712 (2006: 1,919,911) CDRs were issued to employees.  
The CDRs are cash-settled to the extent that an employee has the right to demand cash 
settlement against their fair value, as determined in accordance with the conditions of 
administration. Of the position as at year-end 2007, 27,833 which is 1.4%  
(2006: 218,836 and 11.0%) of CDRs were cash settled.

NumBeR Of CdRs 
 Mr. Michael 

Enthoven 
 Mr. jurgen B.j. 

Stegmann 

 Mr. jan l. van 
Nieuwen- 

huizen 
Mr. Kees van 

Dijkhuizen  Subtotal  Staff  Total 

POSITION AS AT 1-1-2006 264,919  178,203  189,329  10,000  642,451  1,243,748  1,886,199 

Investments by / grants to new joiners  -  -  -  -  -  89,633  89,633 

Weighted average grant price per CDR  - - - - - 20.44 20.44 

Vesting of RDRs  -  1,685  1,685 

CDRs repaid  -  -  -  -  -  (57,606)  (57,606)

POSITION AS AT 31-12-2006 264,919  178,203  189,329  10,000  642,451  1,277,460  1,919,911 

Fair Market Value per Share  
as at 31-12-2006 1 19.68 19.68 19.68 19.68 19.68 19.68 19.68

POSITION AS AT 1-1-2007 264,919 178,203 189,329 10,000 642,451 1,277,460 1,919,911

Investments by / grants to new joiners  -  -  -  -  - 28,002 28,002

Weighted average grant price per CDR  -  -  -  -  -  19.68  19.68 

Vesting of RDRs 3,440 1,688 2,236 520 7,884  43,895 51,779

CDRs repaid  -  -  -  -  -  (34,980)  (34,980)

POSITION AS AT 31-12-2007 268,359 179,891 191,565 10,520 650,335 1,314,377 1,964,712

Fair Market Value per depositary receipt 
as at 31-12-2007 1 17.32 17.32 17.32 17.32 17.32 17.32 17.32

1.   The Fair Market Value per CDR is defined by the conditions of administration as parent shareholders’ equity, decreased by the revaluation reserve for corporate 
loans, the hedging reserve and proposed (but not yet paid out) dividend, increased by the difference between the acquisition price of NIBC N.V. in 2005 and the 
fair market value of NIBC N.V. on June 30, 2005, divided by the number of outstanding shares in NIBC Holding N.V. on the applicable balance sheet date. The 
fair market value is calculated including the effect of proposed dividend.
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NIBC Choice: Restricted Depositary Receipts (RDRs)
As at the year-end 2007, 1.047.725 (2006: 733,150) RDRs were issued to employees, with an 
average remaining vesting period of 1.02 (2006: 1.35) years. A requirement for vesting at the 
vesting date is that the holder is still employed by NIBC Holding N.V. or one of its group 
companies.The RDRs are considered cash-settled (as opposed to equity-settled) to the extent 
that an employee has the right to demand payment against their net asset value. Of the position 
as at year-end 2007, 3,902, which is 0.4% (2006: 27,017 and 4%), were considered as cash-settled.

NumBeR Of RdRs 
 Mr. Michael 

Enthoven 
Mr. jurgen B.j. 

Stegmann 

 Mr. jan l. van 
Nieuwen- 

huizen 
Mr. Kees van 

Dijkhuizen  Subtotal  Staff  Total 

POSITION AS AT 1-1-2006 107,202 47,817 57,754 0 212,773  285,675 498,448

Granted in 2006 17,199 8,437 11,180 2,596 39,412 229,818 269,230

Weighted average grant price per CDR 18.49 18.49 18.49 18.49 18.49 18.49 18.49

Forfeited  -  -  -  -  -  (40,343)  (40,343)

Granted in 2006  -  -  -  -  -  7,500 7,500

Weighted average grant price per CDR  -  -  -  -  - 18.51 18.51

Vested into CDRs  -  -  -  -  -  (1,685)  (1,685)

POSITION AS AT 31-12-2006 124,401 56,254 68,934 2,596 252,185 480,965 733,150

Fair Market Value per Receipt  
as at 31-12-2006 1 19,68 19,68 19,68 19,68 19,68 19,68 19,68 

POSITION AS AT 1-1-2007 124,401 56,254 68,934 2,596 252,185 480,965 733,150

Granted in 2007 21,007 8,537 11,311 3,049 43,904 378,902 422,806

Weighted average grant price per RDR 19.68 19.68 19.68 19.68  19.68  19.68  19.68 

Forfeited  -  -  -  -  -  (56,452)  (56,452)

Granted in 2007  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Weighted average grant price per CDR  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Vested into CDRs  (3,440)  (1,688)  (2,236)  (520)  (7,884)  (43,895)  (51,779)

POSITION AS AT 31-12-2007 141,968 63,103 78,009 5,125 288,205 759,520 1,047,725

Fair Market Value per RDR  
as at 31.12.2007 1 17.32 17.32 17.32 17.32 17.32 17.32 17.32

1.  The Fair Market Value per RDR is defined by the conditions of administration as parent shareholders’ equity, decreased by the revaluation reserve for corporate 
loans, the hedging reserve and proposed (but not yet paid out) dividend, increased by the difference between the acquisition price of NIBC N.V. in 2005 and the 
fair market value of NIBC N.V. on June 30, 2005, divided by the number of outstanding shares in NIBC Holding N.V. on the applicable balance sheet date. The 
fair market value is calculated including the effect of proposed dividend.
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NIBC Choice: Options 
As at the year-end 2007, 3,552,569 (2006: 4,931,439) options on depositary receipts of NIBC 
Holding N.V. were in issue, with an average remaining vesting period of 1.6 (2006: 2.6) years.  
A requirement for vesting at the vesting date is that the holder is still employed by NIBC 
Holding N.V. or one of its group companies. The average exercise period of the options is 5.1 
(2006: 6.1) years. All options are equity-settled instruments.

NumBeR Of RdRs 
 Mr. Michael 

Enthoven 
 Mr. jurgen B.j. 

Stegmann 

 Mr. jan l. van 
Nieuwen- 

huizen 
Mr. Kees van 

Dijkhuizen  Subtotal  Staff  Total 

POSITION AS AT 1-1-2006  758,586  432,313  410,286  60,000  1,661,185  2,910,411  4,571,596 

Options 2005 granted  -  -  -  -  -  158,220  158,220 

Weighted Average Exercise Price  -  -  -  -  - 19.00 19.00 

Options 2006 granted  -  -  -  -  -  370,000  370,000 

Weighted Average Exercise Price  -  -  -  -  - 20,67 20,67 

Options forfeited  -  -  -  -  -  (168,377)  (168,377)

POSITION AS AT 31-12-2006  758,586  432,313  410,286  60,000  1,661,185  3,270,254  4,931,439 

POSITION AS AT 1-1-2007 758,586 432,313 410,286 60,000 1,661,185 3,270,254 4,931,439

Options 2006 granted  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Weighted Average Exercise Price  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Options 2007 granted  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Weighted Average Exercise Price  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Options forfeited  (758,586)  (432,313)  -    -    (1,190,899)  (187,971)  (1,378,870)

POSITION AS AT 31-12-2007  -  - 410,286 60,000 470,286 3,082,283 3,552,569

Average fair value at grant date 1 6.07

Weighted Average Exercise Price  
per Option as at 31-12-2007  15.15  15.15 15.15 15.57 15.52

1.   The fair value of the options at grant date is calculated using a Black & Scholes pricing model. For the options issued in 2005, the fair value was calculated using 
an implied volatility of 24%, based on the implied volatility from long-term options of peer-banks, an exercise period of 7 years, an exercise price of EUR 18.25, 
a fair value of the underlying CDR of EUR 18.25, a risk-free rate of return of 3.2% and expected dividend pay-outs of nil (as based on the NIBC Choice option 
regulation, these are periodically adjusted in the exercise price). These options represent 91% of the options outstanding at the end of 2007 (2006: 90%). The 
fair value at grant date of the two smaller series of options issued in 2006 are calculated in the same way using the same volatility, exercise period and dividend 
assumptions, but with updated input variables for the risk-free rate of return, exercise price and fair value of the underlying. The average fair value at grant date 
was EUR 6.07 at the end of 2006. There were no new option series granted in 2007.

With respect to all instruments relating to NIBC Choice (CDRs, RDRs, and options), 
an amount of EUR 20 million was expensed through personnel expenses in 2007 
(2006: EUR 36 million), of which EUR 1 million credit (2006: EUR 6 million) refers to cash-
settled instruments and EUR 11 million (2006: EUR 24 million) to equity-settled instruments. 
With respect to the cash-settled instruments, the amount expensed during the vesting period 
through the income statement is based on the number of instruments originally granted at 
grant date and at balance sheet date, their fair value at grant date and at balance sheet date, 
the vesting period and estimates of the number of instruments that will be forfeited during 
the remaining vesting period. The liability in the balance sheet with respect to cash-settled 
instruments is EUR 1 million (2006: EUR 5 million), which can be exercised at 
31 December 2007. With respect to the equity-settled instruments, options, and RDRs, the 
amount expensed during the vesting period through the income statement is based on the 
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number of instruments granted at balance sheet date, their fair value at grant date, the vesting 
period, and estimates of the number of instruments that will be forfeited during the remaining 
vesting period.

In the current account position with NIBC Holding N.V., an amount of EUR 28 million 
payable is included (2006: EUR 25 million payable) relating to NIBC Choice. This is a result of  
NIBC Holding N.V. pushing down expenses with respect to NIBC Choice (on both cash- and 
equity-settled instruments) to its subsidiaries.

> 55 Subsequent events

On 30 January 2007, both NIBC Holding N.V. and Kaupthing Bank hf. announced not to 
proceed with the acquisition of NIBC Holding N.V. by Kaupthing Bank hf. The relevant 
regulatory submissions were withdrawn and the share purchase agreement was terminated. 
Michael Enthoven, Chief Executive Officer, and Jurgen Stegmann, Chief Risk Officer, of  
NIBC Holding N.V. and NIBC Bank N.V. have offered the Supervisory Board to step down 
from their respective positions. The Supervisory Board has accepted and respects their 
decision to step down. In order to support NIBC’s ratings, the shareholders currently intend 
to contribute approximately EUR 300 million of new equity capital to NIBC Holding N.V.

> 56 Profit appropriation

The profit appropriation is included in the Other Information. 
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Company Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December

IN euR mILLIONS NOTE 2007 2006

Results of par ticipating interests after tax 6  (18) 145

Other results after tax 116 98

NET PROFIT 98 243
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Company Balance Sheet 
Before profit appropriation, as at 31 December

IN euR mILLIONS NOTE 2007 2006

Assets

Cash and balances with central banks 1 874 239

Due from other banks 2 2,778 1,333

lOANS AND ADvANCES TO CUSTOMERS  

Guaranteed by public authorities 3 59 91

To the private sector 3 13,556 19,546

Interest bearing securities 4 4,577 5,576

Equity investments 5 30 35

Par ticipating interests in group companies 6 980 881

Other par ticipating interests 7 1 3

Proper ty and other fixed assets 8 52 61 

Derivative financial instruments 9 2,969 2,535

Prepayments and accrued income 10 199 436

TOTAl ASSETS 26,075 30,736
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IN euR mILLIONS NOTE 2007 2006

liabilities

Due to other banks 11 3,733 2,473

Funds entrusted 12 4,521 9,395

Debt securities 13 12,757 13,882 

Other liabilities 14 88 184

Derivative financial instruments 9 2,700 2,326

Provisions 15 34 72

SUBORDINATED lIABIlITIES 

Amortised cost 16 234 256

Fair value through profit or loss 17 497 432

TOTAl lIABIlITIES 24,564 29,020

SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy

Share capital 18 80 80

Share premium reserve 18 238 238 

Hedging reserve 18 35 46

Revaluation reserve 18 23 186

Retained earnings 1,037 923

Net profit 98 243

TOTAl PARENT SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy 1,511 1,716

TOTAl lIABIlITIES AND SHAREHOlDERS’ EqUITy 26,075 30,736

Contingent liabilities  1,666 2,865

Irrevocable facilities  1,964 2,403
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Company Statement of  
Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Attributable to parent shareholders

IN euR mILLIONS
Share  

capital
Other 

Reserves
Retained 
earnings

Net  
Profit Total

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 2006  80  433  1,057  158  1,728 

Net result on cash flow hedging instruments  -  (12)  -  -  (12)

Revaluation loans and advances  -  15  -  -  15 

Revaluation equity investments  -  20  -  -  20 

Revaluation proper ty in own use  -  14  -  -  14 

TOTAl gAINS AND lOSSES RECOgNISED DIRECTly  
IN EqUITy  -  37  -  -  37 

Profit appropriation - - 158 (158) -

Net result for the period - - - 243 243

COMPREHENSIvE NET RESUlT - 37 158 85 280

Dividends 1  -  -  293  -  (293)

Other movements  -  -  1  -  1 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2006  80  470  923  243  1,716 

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 2007  80  470  923  243  1,716 

Net result on cash flow hedging instruments  -  (11)  -  -  (11)

Revaluation loans and advances  -  (117)  -  -  (117)

Revaluation equity investments 2  -  (41)  17  -  (24)

Revaluation debt securities  (6)  -  -  (6)

Revaluation proper ty in own use  -  1  -  -  1 

TOTAl gAINS AND lOSSES RECOgNISED DIRECTly  
IN EqUITy  -  (174)  17  -  (157)

Profit appropriation - - 243 (243) -

Net result for the period  -  -  -  98  98 

COMPREHENSIvE NET RESUlT - (174) 260 (145) (59)

Dividends 3  -  -  (146) - (146)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2007  80  296  1,037  98  1,511 

1.  Dividends paid in 2006 concern EUR 140 million ordinary dividend over 2005, EUR 51 million interim dividend over 2006 and EUR 102 million extraordinary 
dividend. 

2.  In 2004, the group sold a number of investments and did not release the corresponding revaluation reserve of EUR 17 million. The correction of this error, 
to transfer the revaluation reserve of EUR 17 million directly to retained earnings, has no effect on the income statements for 2006 and 2007, nor on total 
shareholders’ equity and the balance sheet total at 31 December 2007 and 2006.

3. Dividends paid in 2007 concern EUR 61 million final ordinary dividend over 2006 and EUR 85 million extraordinary dividend in 2007.
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Company Accounting Policies 

basis of preparation
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the Company financial 
statements are set out in the Consolidated financial statements. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the legal requirements 
for financial statements contained in Title 9, Book 2, of the Netherlands Civil Code. NIBC 
Bank applies the provisions in Section 362, paragraph 8, Book 2, of the Netherlands Civil Code 
that make it possible to prepare the company financial statements in accordance with the 
accounting policies (including those for the presentation of financial instruments as equity 
or liability) used in its consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in euros rounded to the nearest million. The Euro is the 
functional and presentation currency of NIBC Bank N.V. Under Article 402 of Part 9, Book 2 
of the Netherlands Civil Code, it is sufficient for the Company’s income statement to present 
only the income of Group companies and other income and expenses after income tax.

summary of significant accounting policies
Except as set forth below, the accounting policies applied in the Company financial statements 
are the same as those for the consolidated financial statements.

Investments in subsidiaries
Subsidiaries, as defined in the section ‘Summary of significant accounting policies’ in the basis 
of consolidation of subsidiaries (in the notes to the consolidated financial statements), are 
measured at net asset value. Net asset value is determined by measuring the assets, provisions, 
liabilities and income based on the accounting policies used in the consolidated financial 
statements. The company’s share of its subsidiaries’ profits or losses is recognised in the income 
statement. Its movement in reserves is recognised in reserves.
 
If losses of Group companies that are attributable to the company exceed the carrying value 
of the interest in the Group company (including separately presented goodwill, if any, and 
including other non-secured receivables), further losses are not recognised unless the company 
has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the Group company to satisfy 
obligations of the Group company. In such a situation, the Company recognises a provision 
up to the extent of its obligation.
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Notes to the 
Company Financial Statements 

> 1 Cash and balances with central banks
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Balances with central banks 874 239

874 239

The amounts included in this item are available on demand.

> 2 Due from other banks
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Current accounts 48 286

Placements with other banks 2,284 931

Due from group companies 446 116

2,778 1,333

ANAlySIS:

Payable on demand 756 429

Not payable on demand 2,022 904

2,778 1,333

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE ITEMS NOT PAyABlE ON DEMAND:

In three months or less 1,621 364

In more than three months but not longer than one year 5 355

In more than one year but not longer than five years 1  132 

Longer than five years 395 53

2,022 904

Subordinated loans included in this item amount to EUR 4.6 million (2006: EUR 5.0 million).

The fair value of the item due from other banks does not materially deviate from the face value, 
due to the short-term nature of the assets.

Other than from Group companies, NIBC does not have other receivables from other 
participating interests.

There were no impairments in 2007 and 2006 of this balance sheet item.
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> 3 Loans and advances to customers
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Loans to corporate entities – amortised costs 835  -   

Loans to corporate entities – available for sale 4,455 6,269

Loans to corporate entities – fair value through profit or loss 1,319 952

Public sector – available for sale 59 91

Group companies – amortised costs 6,947 12,325

13,615 19,637

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

lEgAl MATURITy ANAlySIS:

In three months or less 3,995 4,783

In more than three months but not longer than one year 1,533 2,210

In more than one year but not longer than five years 2,195 6,894

Longer than five years 5,892 5,750

13,615 19,637

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

IMPAIRMENT lOSSES ON lOANS AND ADvANCES TO CUSTOMERS

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 76 101

IMPAIRMENT lOSSES RECOgNISED:

Additional allowance 15 14

Write-offs  (9)  (15)

Amounts released  (13)  (17)

Unwinding of discount adjustment  (5)  (2)

64 81

Differences due to foreign currency translation (4) (5)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 60 76

Impairment losses are defined to be the difference between the fair value of loans and advances 
(available for sale or amortised costs) that exhibit indicators of impairment and original cost.

The maximum credit risk exposure including unused credit facilities amounts to 
EUR 14,843 million (2006: EUR 20,522 million).

The total amount of subordinated loans in this item, as at 31 December 2007, amounts to 
EUR 135 million (2006: EUR 250 million), of which EUR 59 million (2006: EUR 91 million) 
is guaranteed by the State of the Netherlands. An amount of EUR 6 million  
(2006: EUR 30 million) is included with respect to Group companies.

As a policy, NIBC does not provide loans to its executives.
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> 4 Interest bearing securities
The table below displays the IFRS accounting treatment of interest bearing securities
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Held for trading  1,410 3,342

Available for sale  309  -   

Fair value through profit or loss  2,858 2,234

 4,577 5,576

All held for trading securities are non-government

INTEREST BEARINg SECURITIES HElD FOR TRADINg CAN BE 
CATEgORISED AS FOllOwS:

Listed  1,361  3,098 

Unlisted  49  244 

 1,410 3,342 

INTEREST BEARINg SECURITIES FAIR vAlUE THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS 
CAN BE CATEgORISED AS FOllOwS:

Government 281  513 

Non-government 2,886 1,721

3,167 2,234

Listed 942 1,113

Unlisted 2,225 1,121

3,167 2,234

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF INTEREST BEARINg SECURITIES DESIgNATED  
AS FAIR vAlUE THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS OR AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE:

In three months or less 89 187

In more than three months but not longer than one year 484 229

In more than one year but not longer than five years 983 833

Longer than five years 1,611 985

3,167 2,234

THE MOvEMENT IN INTEREST BEARINg SECURITIES DESIgNATED  
AS FAIR vAlUE THROUgH PROFIT OR lOSS OR AvAIlABlE  
FOR SAlE MAy BE SUMMARISED AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 2,234 1,715

Additions 1,908 1,291

Disposals (sale and redemption)  (866)  (677)

Exchange differences  (30)  (49)

Changes in fair value  (79)  (46)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 3,167 2,234

Subordinated assets included in interest bearing securities amount to EUR 151 million 
(2006: EUR 307 million). 

Interest bearing securities do not include securities issued and bought by NIBC for market-
making purposes. Any such securities are eliminated from the balance sheet.
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Interest income from interest bearing securities and other fixed-income instruments is 
recognised in interest and similar income at the effective interest rate. Fair value movements 
(clean) are recognised in net trading income.

The portion of fair value changes in 2007 included in the balance sheet amount (designated 
as fair value through profit or loss) as at 31 December 2007 relating to the movement in credit 
spreads amounts to EUR 9 million credit, being a reduction in the carrying value of the asset 
(2006: nil).

This item includes receivables from participating interests totalling EUR 1,083 million 
(2006: EUR 101 million).
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> 5 Equity investments
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Equity Investments 30 35

30 35

Listed 18 20

Unlisted 12 15

30 35

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT IN EqUITy INvESTMENTS MAy BE SUMMARISED 
AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 35 37

Disposals (sale and capital repayments)  (3)  (10)

Gains / losses from changes in fair value  (2)  3 

Less: impairments  -  5 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 30 35

IMPAIRMENT lOSSES ON EqUITy INvESTMENTS 

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  9  13 

IMPAIRMENT lOSSES RECOgNISED: 

Write-offs  (1)  (3)

Amounts released  -  (1)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 8 9

Equity investments are accounted for as available for sale (IFRS).

Impairment losses are defined as the difference between the fair value of loans and receivables 
that exhibit indicators of impairment and original cost.
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> 6 Participating interests in group companies
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 881 956 

Purchases and investments 194  -   

Disposals  (24)  (49)

Revaluation  (29)  21 

Dividend paid  (6)  (178)

Results of group companies  (18)  145 

Exchange differences  (18)  (14)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 980  881

Our group companies are not listed.

Participating interests in group companies are accounted for at net asset value.

The companies NIBC Bank (NA) N.V. and NIBC Bank Ltd. included in Group companies are 
registered credit institutions.

The company NIBC Bank (NA) N.V. was sold in 2006.

> 7 Other participating interests
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  3  3 

Purchases  1  - 

Impairment  (3)  - 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 1 3

Other participating interests are accounted for at net asset value.

On the balance sheet dates at the end of 2007 and 2006, all other participating interests were 
unlisted.

The other participating interests are not registered as credit institutions.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of other participating interests to transfer 
funds to the investor in the form of cash dividends, or repayment of loans or advances.

There is no unrecognised share of losses of other participating interests, either for the period 
or cumulatively.
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> 8 Property and other fixed assets 
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Land and buildings 45 47

Other fixed assets 7 14

52 61

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

MOvEMENTS IN lAND AND BUIlDINgS wERE AS FOllOwS: 

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 47 29

Additions 1 2

Revaluations  -  18 

Depreciation  (3)  (2)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 45 47

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

MOvEMENTS IN OTHER FIxED ASSETS wERE AS FOllOwS: 

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 14 8

Additions 6 12

Depreciation  (13)  (6)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 7 14

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE ACCUMUlATED DEPRECIATION AT 31 DECEMBER IS FOR:

Land and buildings 17 14

Other fixed assets 13 28

30 42

For information about insurance of property and equipment we refer to note 29 of the 
consolidated financial statements.

There are no property and other fixed assets pledged as security for liabilities.

There are no expenditures recognised in the carrying amount of property and other fixed 
assets in the course of its construction at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006.

There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property and other fixed assets  
at 31 December 2007 and 31 December 2006.
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The revaluation in 2006 of EUR 18 million of property and other fixed assets  
for own use is based on an external appraisal carried out in January 2007.

> 9 Derivative financial instruments 
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

DERIvATIvE FINANCIAl ASSETS:

Derivative financial assets held for trading (trading por tfolios)  2,165  1,378 

Derivative financial assets held for trading (other por tfolios)  719  836 

Derivative financial assets used for hedging  85  321 

2,969 2,535

DERIvATIvE FINANCIAl ASSETS:

Derivative financial liabilities held for trading (trading por tfolios)  2,031  1,357 

Derivative financial liabilities held for trading (other por tfolios)  616  834 

Derivative financial liabilities used for hedging  53  135 

2,700  2,326 

257

ANNUAL REPORT NIBC BANK N.V. | 2007



Derivative financial instruments – Held for trading (trading portfolios) at 31 December 2007
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than 

three months

Between three 
months and 

one year
More than 

one year Total Assets liabilities

INTEREST RATE DERIvATIvES

Forward rate agreements  8,925  12,975  -    21,900  35  39 

Interest rate swaps  14,268  12,918  80  27,266  1,097  1,151 

Interest rate options (purchase)  -    33  749  782  9  -   

Interest rate options (sale)  2  28  675  705  -    13 

SUBTOTAl  23,195  25,954  1,504  50,653  1,141  1,203 

CURRENCy DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Currency / cross currency swaps 1  3,546  4,177  7,724  953  754 

SUBTOTAl   1   3,546  4,177  7,724  953  754 

OTHER DERIvATIvES (INClUDINg 
CREDIT DERIvATIvES)

otC-produCts:

Other swaps  131  20  2,742  2,893  5  8 

Other options (purchase)  36  24  176  236  66  -   

Other options (sale)  36  24  176  236  -    66 

SUBTOTAl   203   68  3,094  3,365  71  74 

TOTAl OTC-PRODUCTS  23,399  29,568  8,775  61,742  2,165  2,031 

TOTAl DERIvATIvES HElD FOR 
TRADINg (TRADINg PORTFOlIOS)  23,399  29,568  8,775  61,742  2,165  2,031 
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Derivative financial instruments – Held for trading (trading portfolios) at 31 December 2006
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than 

three months

Between three 
months and 

one year
More than 

one year Total Assets liabilities

INTEREST RATE DERIvATIvES

Forward rate agreements  -    303  -    303  23  13 

Interest rate swaps  15,660  9,618  69,165  94,443  700  714 

Interest rate options (purchase)  -    -    378  378  2  -   

Interest rate options (sale)  -    8  552  560  -    6 

SUBTOTAl  15,660  9,929  70,095  95,684   725   733 

CURRENCy DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Currency / cross currency swaps   103    487   7,063  7,653   505   555 

SUBTOTAl   103    487   7,063  7,653  505   555  

OTHER DERIvATIvES (INClUDINg 
CREDIT DERIvATIvES)

otC-produCts:

Other options (purchase)  77  411  1,188  1,676  145  9 

Other options (sale)  91  129  656  876  3  60 

SUBTOTAl   168    540   1,844  2,552   148   69 

TOTAl OTC-PRODUCTS  15,931  10,956  79,002  105,889  1,378  1,357 

TOTAl DERIvATIvES HElD FOR 
TRADINg (TRADINg PORTFOlIOS)  15,931  10,956  79,002  105,889  1,378  1,357 
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Derivative financial instruments – Held for trading (other portfolios) at 31 December 2007
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than 

three months

Between three 
months and 

one year
More than 

one year Total Assets liabilities

INTEREST RATE DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  1,033  2,074  17,201  20,308  463  396 

SUBTOTAl  1,033  2,074  17,201  20,308  463  396 

CURRENCy DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Forward rate agreements  55  374  145  574  84  85 

Interest currency rate swap  2,883  705  2,269  5,857  117  103 

Other currency contracts  4  48  183  235  -    5 

SUBTOTAl  2,942  1,127  2,597  6,666  201  193 

otC-produCts:

Credit Default Swaps (guarantees given)  39  104  316  459  20  1 

Credit Default Swaps (guarantees 
received)  17  103  255  375  5  26 

Other options (purchase)  67  28  91  186  30  -   

SUBTOTAl  123  235  662  1,020  55  27 

TOTAl  4,098  3,436  20,460  27,994  719   616  

Derivative financial instruments – Held for trading (other portfolios) at 31 December 2006
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than 

three months

Between three 
months and 

one year
More than 

one year Total Assets liabilities

INTEREST RATE DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  659  2,402  19,006  22,067  549  487 

Interest currency rate swap  171  15  1,794  1,980  165  230 

SUBTOTAl   830   2,417  20,800  24,047  714  717 

CURRENCy DERIvATIvES

otC-produCts:

Forward rate agreements  6  -  -  6  75  72 

Interest currency rate swap  1,698  -  -  1,698  11  8 

SUBTOTAl  1,704  -  -  1,704  86  80 

otC-produCts:  - 

Credit Default Swaps (guarantees given)  -    670  628  1,298  30  -   

Credit Default Swaps (guarantees 
received)  81  37  447  565  6  37 

SUBTOTAl  81  707  1,075  1,863  36  37 

TOTAl  2,615  3,124  21,875  27,614  836  834 
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Fair value hedges of interest rate risk
The fair value interest rate risk of financial assets with a fixed interest rate classified as  
Available for Sale are hedged with interest rate swaps under which NIBC pays a fixed rate and 
receives floating rates. Fair value hedge accounting is applied to these so-called hedge 
relationships. 
Interest rate swaps under which NIBC pays a floating rate and receives a fixed rate, are used in 
fair value hedges of fixed interest rate liabilities (as far as not held for trading purposes or 
designated as fair value through profit or loss).

The following table shows the fair value of the swaps designated in fair value hedging 
relationships.

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Fair value pay – fixed swaps (hedging assets) assets 11 39

Fair value pay – fixed swaps (hedging assets) liabilities  (18)  (30)

 (7)  9 

Fair value pay – floating swaps (hedging liabilities) assets 38 207

Fair value pay – floating swaps (hedging liabilities) liabilities  (36)  (96)

 2  111 

Cash flow hedges of interest rate risk
The following table shows the fair value of the swaps designated in cash flow hedging 
relationships.

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Fair value receive – fixed swaps assets 36 38

Fair value receive – fixed swaps liabilities  -  (5)

 36  33 

Fair value receive – floating swaps assets  -  38 

Fair value receive – floating swaps liabilities  -  (4)

 -  34 

The average remaining maturity (in which the related cash flows are expected to enter into the 
determination of profit and loss) is 4 years (2006: 4 years).
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Derivative financial instruments - used for hedging at 31 December 2007
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than 

three months

Between three 
months and 

one year
More than 

one year Total Assets liabilities

DERIvATIvES ACCOUNTED 
FOR AS FAIR vAlUE HEDgES 
OF INTEREST RATE RISK

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  430  173  2,326  2,929  33  33 

Interest currency rate swap  7  65  243  315  16  20 

SUBTOTAl  437  238  2,569  3,244  49  53 

DERIvATIvES ACCOUNTED 
FOR AS CASH FlOw HEDgES 
OF INTEREST RATE RISK

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  -  -  407  407  36  - 

SUBTOTAl  -  -  407  407  36  - 

TOTAl DERIvATIvES USED 
FOR HEDgINg  437  238  2,976  3,651  85  53 

Derivative financial instruments - used for hedging at 31 December 2006
Notional amount with remaining life of

IN euR mILLIONS
less than 

three months

Between three 
months and 

one year
More than 

one year Total Assets liabilities

DERIvATIvES ACCOUNTED 
FOR AS FAIR vAlUE HEDgES 
OF INTEREST RATE RISK

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  1,573  1,289  6,939  9,801  71  85 

Interest currency rate swap  276  164  2,264  2,704  174  41 

SUBTOTAl  1,849  1,453  9,203  12,505  245  126 

DERIvATIvES ACCOUNTED 
FOR AS CASH FlOw HEDgES 
OF INTEREST RATE RISK

otC-produCts:

Interest rate swaps  591  400  2,589  3,580  76  9 

SUBTOTAl  591  400  2,589  3,580  76  9 

TOTAl DERIvATIvES USED 
FOR HEDgINg  2,440  1,853  11,792  16,085  321  135 

262 | NOTES TO THE COMPANy FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



> 10 Prepayments and accrued income
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Interest 89 257

Current tax 45  57 

Deferred tax 20 3

Accrued income 11 117

Pre-payments 34 2

  199   436 

Current tax assets
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Corporate tax 45  57 

 45  57 

It is expected that this tax asset will be settled within 12 months.

Deferred tax assets
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

DEFERRED INCOME TAx ASSETS ARE ATTRIBUTABlE TO TEMPORARy 
DIFFERENCES ARISINg FROM THE FOllOwINg ITEMS:

Employee benefit obligations  -  3 

Loans and advances to customers (available for sale)  18  - 

Debt securities (available for sale)  2  - 

20  3 

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT ON THE DEFERRED INCOME TAx ACCOUNT 
IS AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  3  7 

EMPlOyEE BENEFIT OBlIgATIONS:

(Charged) / credited to the income statement  (3)  (4)

lOANS AND ADvANCES TO CUSTOMERS REPORTED 
AS AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE:

Reclass from deferred tax liabilities  (27)  - 

Fair value remeasurement through revaluation reserve  44  - 

Fair value hedges through revaluation reserve  (1)  - 

Changes in tax rates  2  - 

DEBT SECURITIES REPORTED AS AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE:

Fair value remeasurement through revaluation reserve  2  - 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  20  3 
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The recovery period for the deferred tax assets is estimated at 2.5 years.

Tax losses of EUR 5 million (2006: EUR 10 million) have not been tax recognised because it is not 
probable that these losses can be utilised. These unrecognised tax losses have no expiry date.

> 11 Due to other banks
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Payable on demand  564  404 

Not payable on demand  3,169  2,069 

 3,733  2,473 

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THE ITEMS NOT PAyABlE ON DEMAND:

In three months or less  2,034  1,775 

In more than three months but not longer than one year  889  3 

In more than one year but not longer than five years  140  157 

Longer than five years  106  134 

 3,169  2,069 

Interest is recognised in interest expense and similar charges on an effective interest basis.

> 12 Funds entrusted
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Certificates of deposits  4,122 8,090

Due to customers  399 1,305

 4,521 9,395

Payable on demand  3  3,650 

Not payable on demand  4,518  5,745 

 4,521  9,395 

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF AMOUNTS FUNDS ENTRUSTED:

In three months or less  2,940 1,384

In more than three months but not longer than one year  561 758

In more than one year but not longer than five years  239 891

Longer than five years  778 2,712

 4,518 5,745

Interest is recognised in interest expense and similar charges on an effective interest basis.

The balance sheet item includes EUR 3,461 million (2006: EUR 6,780 million) in respect of 
funds entrusted to Group companies.
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The balance sheet item includes all non-subordinated liabilities other than debt securities and 
amounts owed to credit institutions.

> 13 Debt securities
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Bonds and notes issued – amortised costs 9,052 9,361

Bonds and notes issued – fair value through profit or loss 3,729 4,553

Fair value hedge adjustment  (24)  (32)

 12,757 13,882

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF THESE DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE STRUCTURED:

In three months or less 1,712 1,293

In more than three months but not longer than one year 2,910 962

In more than one year but not longer than five years 6,796 9,706

Longer than five years 1,339 1,921

12,757 13,882

The balance sheet item includes debentures and other negotiable fixed-income debt securities, 
other than subordinated items. 

The amount of debt securities issued by Group companies is EUR 1,083 million  
(2006: EUR 101 million).

> 14 Other liabilities 
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Interest 26 104

Accruals  33  29 

Payables 29  51 

88 184
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> 15 Provisions
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Deferred tax liabilities 24 55

Employee benefit obligations 10 17

34 72

For a specification of the employee benefit obligations we refer to note 43 of the consolidated 
financial statements.

Deferred tax liabilities
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

DEFERRED INCOME TAx lIABIlITIES ARE ATTRIBUTABlE TO TEMPORARy 
DIFFERENCES ARISINg ON THE FOllOwINg ITEMS:

Loans and advances to customers (available for sale)  -  27 

Equity investments (available for sale)  4  2 

Cash flow hedges  12  17 

Proper ty  8  9 

 24  55 

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THE MOvEMENT ON THE DEFERRED INCOME TAx ACCOUNT  
IS AS FOllOwS:

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy  55  54 

PROPERTy:

Fair value remeasurement through revaluation reserve  -  4 

Changes in tax rate  (1)  - 

EqUITy INvESTMENTS REPORTED AS AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE:

Fair value remeasurement through revaluation reserve  2  (4)

lOANS AND ADvANCES TO CUSTOMERS REPORTED  
AS AvAIlABlE FOR SAlE:

Reclass to deferred tax assets  (27) -

Fair value hedges through revaluation reserve  - 5

CASH FlOw HEDgES:

Fair value remeasurement through hedging reserve  (4)  (4)

Changes in tax rates  (1)  - 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER  24  55 
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> 16 Subordinated liabilities (amortised cost)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Subordinated loans qualifying as Tier-I capital  136  152 

Other subordinated loans  98  104 

 234  256 

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF SUBORDINATED lIABIlITIES:

One year or less  6  8 

Longer than one year but not longer than five years  55  59 

Longer than five years but not longer than ten years  25  25 

Longer than ten years  148  164 

  234   256 

All of the above loans are subordinated to the other liabilities of NIBC. The EUR 136 million 
(2006: EUR 239 million) qualifying as Tier-I capital for NIBC is subordinated to other 
subordinated loans that rank pari passu. These securities are perpetual securities and may 
be redeemed by NIBC at its option after 10 years with the prior approval of the Dutch Central 
Bank. Interest expense of EUR 16 million was recognised on these subordinated liabilities 
during the year 2007 (2006: EUR 14 million).

The subordinated liabilities reflect 10 transactions, of which the largest 3 have a size of 
EUR 197 million.
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> 17 Subordinated liabilities (designated as fair value through profit or loss)

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

Subordinated loans qualifying as Tier-I capital  219  239 

Other subordinated loans  278  193 

 497  432 

MATURITy ANAlySIS OF SUBORDINATED lIABIlITIES:

One year or less  10  - 

Longer than one year but not longer than five years  49  62 

Longer than five years but not longer than ten years  137  36 

Longer than ten years  301  334 

  497     432   

All of the above loans are subordinated to the other liabilities of NIBC. The EUR 219 million 
(2006: EUR 152 million) qualifying as Tier-I capital for NIBC is subordinated to other 
subordinated loans that rank pari passu. These securities are perpetual securities and may be 
redeemed by NIBC at its option after 10 years with the prior approval of the Dutch Central 
bank. Interest expense of EUR 28 million was recognised on these subordinated liabilities 
during the year 2007 (2006: EUR 31 million).

The subordinated liabilities reflect 11 transactions, of which the largest three have a size of 
EUR 276 million.

> 18 Shareholders’ equity

The ultimate parent company is New NIB limited, a company incorporated in Ireland.

Share capital
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THIS ITEM CAN BE CATEgORISED AS FOllOwS:

Paid in capital 80  80 

80  80 

THE NUMBER OF AUTHORISED SHARES IS SPECIFIED BElOw:

Number of authorised shares 1  218,937,500  218,937,500 

Number of shares issued and fully paid 2  62,586,794  62,586,794 

Par value per share  1.28  1.28 

1.  The authorised capital amounts to EUR 250 million and is divided into 110,937,500 A shares of EUR 1.28 nominal value and 108,000,000 
preference shares of EUR 1.00 nominal value.

2. The shares issued and fully paid consists of A shares.
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Other reserves
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

THIS ITEM CAN BE CATEgORISED AS FOllOwS:

Share premium  238  238 

Hedging reserve – cash flow hedges  35  46 

Revaluation reserve – loans and receivables  (49)  68 

Revaluation reserve – equity investments  51  92 

Revaluation reserve – debt securities  (6)  - 

Revaluation reserve – proper ty and other fixed assets (for own use)  27  26 

 296  470 

IN euR mILLIONS
Share  

premium
Hedging  
reserve

Revaluation 
reserve Totaal

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 2006  238  58  137  433 

Net result on cash flow hedging instruments, after tax  -  (12)  -  (12)

Revaluation proper ty, after tax  -  -  14  14 

Revaluation loans and receivables, after tax  -  -  16  16 

Revaluation equity investments, after tax  -  -  19  19 

TOTAl gAINS AND lOSSES RECOgNISED DIRECTly 
IN EqUITy  -  (12)  49  37 

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2006 238 46 186 470

BAlANCE AT 1 jANUARy 2007  238  46  186  470 

Net result on cash flow hedging instruments, after tax  -  (11)  -  (11)

Revaluation proper ty, after tax  -  -  1  1 

Revaluation loans and receivables, after tax  -  -  (117)  (117)

Revaluation equity investments, after tax  -  -  (41)  (41)

Revaluation debt securities, after tax  -  -  (6)  (6)

TOTAl gAINS AND lOSSES RECOgNISED 
DIRECTly IN EqUITy  -  (11)  (163)  (174)

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2007 238 35 23 296 

Information on the bank’s solvency ratios is included in the risk management section of the 
consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2007, retained earnings and net profit attributable to parent shareholders 
includes unrealised fair value changes on residential mortgages (own book and securitised), of 
certain non-listed trading assets, of derivatives related to residential mortgages (own book and 
securitised), and to these non-listed trading assets, of associates designated as fair value 
through profit or loss and on liabilities designated as fair value through profit or loss. With 
respect to unrealised fair value gains arising on these instruments, a legal reserve has been 
established of EUR 157 million (2006: EUR 3 million), which is included in other reserves. At 
the balance sheet date, for associates accounted for based on net equity method a further legal 
reserve has been established of EUR 2 million (2006: EUR 2 million), which is included in 
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other reserves. At the balance sheet date, the legal reserve for currency translation differences is 
nil (2006: nil).

Including the Revaluation and Hedging reserves displayed in note 46 of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, total Legal Reserves at 31 December 2007 amount to EUR 234 million 
(2006: EUR 237 million).

> 19 Repurchase and resale agreements

On 2 January 2008, NIBC entered into a repo transaction with a third party, in which notes 
amounting to a notional of EUR 940 million were transferred from NIBC to the third party in 
exchange for EUR 838 million in cash for a period starting on 4 January 2008 and ending on 
4 July 2008. 

> 20 Commitments and contingent assets & liabilities

At any time, NIBC has outstanding commitments to extend credit. Outstanding offers for loan 
commitments have a commitment period that does not extend beyond the normal underwriting 
and settlement period of one to three months. Commitments extended to customers related to 
mortgages at fixed interest rates or fixed spreads are hedged with interest rate swaps recorded at 
fair value. These commitments are designated upon initial recognition as fair value through 
profit or loss.

NIBC provides financial guarantees and letters of credit to guarantee the performance of 
customers to third parties. These agreements have fixed limits and generally extend for a period 
up to five years. Expirations are not concentrated in any period. 

The contractual amounts of commitments (excluding mortgages commitments which are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss) and contingent liabilities are set out in the 
following table by category. In the table it is assumed that amounts are fully advanced. The 
amounts for guarantees and letters of credit represent the maximum accounting loss that would 
be recognised at the balance sheet date if counterparties failed completely to perform as 
contracted.

IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

CONTRACT AMOUNT:

Undrawn facilities 1,964 2,403

Guarantees and letters of credit 1,666 2,865

3,630 5,268

The item includes EUR 1,000 million (2006: EUR 1,321 million) in respect of guarantees to 
group companies.
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These commitments and contingent liabilities have off-balance sheet credit risk because only 
commitment / origination fees and accruals for probable losses are recognised in the balance 
sheet until the commitments are fulfilled or expire. Many of the contingent liabilities and 
commitments will expire without being advanced in whole or in part. Therefore, the amounts 
do not represent expected future cash flows.

Details of concentrations of credit risk including concentrations of credit risk arising from 
commitments and contingent liabilities as well as NIBC’s policies for collateral for loans are set 
out in the risk management section.

Guarantees within the meaning of Section 403, Book 2, of the Netherlands Civil Code have been 
given on behalf of De Nationale Maatschappij voor Industriële Financieringen B.V., PARNIB 
Holding N.V. and B.V. NIBC Mortgage Backed Assets. A complete list of the companies on 
behalf of which NIBC has given guarantees within the meaning of Section 403, Book 2, of the 
Netherlands Civil Code has been filed with the Chamber of Commerce in The Hague. 
Declaration of joint and several liability has also been made to the respective monetary 
authorities of DNI Inter Asset Bank N.V., NIB Securities N.V. and NIBC Bank Ltd.

NIBC Bank N.V. is, together with other group companies and participating interests, a member 
of one fiscal entity NIBC Holding N.V. Besides NIBC Bank N.V. and NIBC Holding N.V.  
the principal other members are B.V. NIBC Mortgage Backed Assets, Parnib Holding N.V., 
Vredezicht ‘s-Gravenhage 110 B.V. and NIBC Principal Investments Mezzanine B.V.

> 21 Assets pledged as security
IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

ASSETS HAvE BEEN PlEDgED AS SECURITy IN RESPECT OF THE 
FOllOwINg lIABIlITIES AND CONTINgENT lIABIlITIES

liabilities
Due to other banks  1,900 912

Other deposits  - 42

Due to customers  - 4

Derivative financial liabilities 494 551

494 597
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IN euR mILLIONS 2007 2006

DETAIlS OF THE CARRyINg AMOUNTS THE ASSETS PlEDgED AS 
COllATERAl ARE AS FOllOwS

Assets pledged
Assets utilised as collateral 1,945 945

Due from other banks 263 254

Loans and advances to customers 231 344

494 598

The assets utilised as collateral have been determined based on an average haircut of 2.31% 
(2006: 3.46%) on the total portfolio eligible for use to collateralise funding of EUR 4.0 billion 
(2006: EUR 1.3 billion).

As of 31 December 2007, the excess cash liquidity of NIBC Holding N.V. was EUR 1.8 billion, 
consisting of EUR 0.9 billion cash placed with the Dutch Central Bank and EUR 0.9 billion 
placed overnight with other banks.

As part of NIBC’s funding and credit risk mitigation activities, the cash flows of selected 
financial assets are transferred to third parties. Furthermore, NIBC pledges assets as collateral 
for derivative transactions. Substantially all financial assets included in these transactions are 
mortgages, other loan portfolios or debt securities. The extent of NIBC’s continuing 
involvement in these financial assets varies by transaction.

> 22 Assets under management

NIBC provides collateral management services, whereby it holds and manages assets or invests 
funds received in various financial instruments on behalf of the customer. NIBC receives fee 
income for providing these services. Assets under management are not assets of NIBC and are 
not recognised in the consolidated balance sheet. NIBC is not exposed to any credit risk 
relating to such placements, as it does not guarantee these investments.

At 31 December 2007, the total assets held by NIBC on behalf of customers were 
EUR 3,346 million (2006: EUR 3,276 million).

> 23 Related party transactions

For a specification of the related party transactions, we refer to note 51 of the consolidated 
financial statements.

On 21 December 2007, NIBC entered into a securities lending agreement with an entity 
controlled by NIBC Holding N.V. and a related party of NIBC, in which NIBC borrowed on  
an unsecured basis securities with a fair value of EUR 882 million for a period ending 
20 August 2008.
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> 24 Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

For a specification of the principal subsidiaries, joint ventures, and associates we refer to 
note 53 of the consolidated financial statements.

> 25 Financial Risk Management

We refer to the risk management section in the consolidated financial statements for NIBC’s 
risk management policies.

> 26 Number of employees

On a Full Time Equivalent basis, the average number of employees was 684 (2006: 625).

> 27 Remuneration

For the remuneration of the Managing Board and Supervisory Board, we refer to note 54 of the 
consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2007, there are no receivables due from members of the Managing Board (2006: nil).

> 28 Profit Appropriation

The profit appropriation is included in the Other Information.

The Hague, 21 February 2008
Managing Board
Mr. Michael Enthoven, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Jurgen Stegmann, Vice-Chairman, Chief Risk Officer
Mr. Kees van Dijkhuizen, Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Jan van Nieuwenhuizen, member

Supervisory Board
Mr. J.H.M. Lindenbergh, Chairman
Mr. J.C. Flowers
Mr. W.M. van den Goorbergh
Mr. N.W. Hoek
Mr. A. de Jong
Mr. D. Rümker
Mr. R.S. Sinha
Mr. A.H.A. Veenhof
Mr. C.H. van Dalen
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Auditor’s Report

To the General Meeting of Shareholders of NIBC Bank N.V.

Auditor’s report

Report on the fi nancial statements

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements 2007 of NIBC Bank N.V.,
The Hague as set out on pages 52 to 273 (excluding narrative and tables labelled
unaudited). The fi nancial statements consist of the consolidated fi nancial statements and
the company fi nancial statements. The consolidated fi nancial statements comprise the
consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2007, the income statement, statement of
changes in equity and cash fl ow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. The company fi nancial
statements comprise the company balance sheet as at 31 December 2007, the company
income statement for the year then ended and the notes.

 The managing board’s responsibility
The managing board of the company is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the fi nancial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Netherlands Civil Code, and for the preparation of the Report of the Managing Board in
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. This responsibility
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

 Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the fi nancial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law. This law requires that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the company’s preparation and fair presentation of
the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
managing board, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements.

Reference: JS/e0043815
PricewaterhouseCoopers is the trade name of among others the following companies: PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. (Chamber
of Commerce 34180285), PricewaterhouseCoopers Belastingadviseurs N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180284), PricewaterhouseCoopers
Advisory N.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180287) and PricewaterhouseCoopers B.V. (Chamber of Commerce 34180289). The services
rendered by these companies are governed by General Terms & Conditions, which include provisions regarding our liability. These General
Terms & Conditions are fi led with the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce and can also be viewed at www.pwc.com/nl

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Accountants N.V.
Prinses Margrietplantsoen 46
2595 BR The Hague
P.O. Box 30715
2500 GS The Hague
The Netherlands
Telephone +31 (70) 342 61 11
Facsimile 31 (70) 342 64 00
www.pwc.com/nl
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

 Opinion with respect to the consolidated fi nancial statements
In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the
fi nancial position of NIBC Bank N.V. as at 31 December 2007, and of its result and its
cash fl ows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Netherlands Civil Code.

 Opinion with respect to the company fi nancial statements
In our opinion, the company fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the fi nancial
position of NIBC Bank N.V. as at 31 December 2007, and of its result for the year then
ended in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Pursuant to the legal requirement under 2:393 sub 5 part e of the Netherlands Civil Code,
we report, to the extent of our competence, that the Report of the Managing Board is
consistent with the fi nancial statements as required by 2:391 sub 4 of the Netherlands
Civil Code.

The Hague, 21 February 2008
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.

Originally signed by J.A.M. Stael
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profit appropriation

List of Principal Participating Interests of NIBC Bank N.V.
NIBC Bank Ltd., Singapore 100%

De Nationale Maatschappij voor Industriële Financieringen B.V., The Hague 100%

B.V. NIBC Mortgages Backed Assets, The Hague 100%

SR-Hypotheken N.V., Rotterdam 50%

Parnib Holding N.V., The Hague 100%

YCAP Group B.V., The Hague 100%

NIBC Principal Investments B.V., The Hague 100%

Profit appropriation
In EUR mIllIons 2007

Profit available for shareholders’ distribution 98

ProfIt aVaILaBLe for sharehoLders’ dIstrIButIoN 98

In EUR mIllIons 2007

Extraordinary dividend 2007 85

Transferred to retained earnings 13

totaL ProfIt aPProPrIatIoN 98

Subsequent events 
On 30 January 2007, both NIBC Holding N.V. and Kaupthing Bank hf. announced not to 
proceed with the acquisition of NIBC Holding N.V. by Kaupthing Bank hf. The relevant 
regulatory submissions were withdrawn and the share purchase agreement was terminated. 
Michael Enthoven, Chief Executive Officer, and Jurgen Stegmann, Chief Risk Officer, of 
NIBC Holding N.V. and NIBC Bank N.V., offered the Supervisory Board to step down from 
their respective positions. The Supervisory Board has accepted and respects their decision to 
step down. In order to support NIBC’s ratings, the shareholders currently intend to contribute 
approximately EUR 300 million of new equity capital to NIBC Holding N.V.
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articles of association
Profit Distribution – Article 45

1 Distribution of profits pursuant to this Article shall be made following the adoption of 
the annual accounts evidencing that such distribution is allowed.

2 The General Meeting resolves whether dividends shall be paid on the preference shares of 
the series B through E. If the General Meeting resolves to pay dividends on the preference 
shares of the series B through E then, to the extent possible, the dividend due to each of 
them shall be paid to the holders of preference shares series B through E.

3a The dividend – expressed as a percentage of the nominal amount paid up on each share 
of the series of preference shares B1 through B12, C1 through C12 and D1 through D12, 
increased with the share premium paid on each share of this series – to which each holder 
of preference shares of a series is entitled is equal to the percentage meant in sub b. hereof.

 b The percentage of the dividend for the preference shares B, C and D of a particular series is, 
as determined by the Board of Managing Directors for such particular series, equal to: 
(i)  a fixed percentage which may be linked to a specific fixed interest rate (or an average 

thereof) whith or without an increase or reduction, or 
(ii)   a floating percentage linked to a specific floating interest rate (benchmark) with or 

without an increase or reduction, or 
(iii)  a combination of (i) and (ii), which percentage, including the applicable increase or 

reduction, if any, at the moment of the determination thereof, for the series preference 
shares B, C, and D set out below, between: 

B1: three and four per cent (3-4%);
B2: three and a half to four and a half per cent (3.5-4.5%);
B3: four and five per cent (4-5%);
B4: four and a half to five and a half per cent (4.5-5.5%);
B5: five and six per cent (5-6%);
B6: five and a half to six and a half per cent (5.5-6.5%);
B7: six andseven percent (6-7%);
B8: six and a half to seven and a half per cent (6.5-7.5%);
B9: seven and eight per cent (7-8%);
B10: seven and a half to eight and a half percent (7.5-8.5%);
B11: eight to nine per cent (8-9%);
B12: eight and a half-to nine and a half per cent (8.5-9.5%);
C1: three and four per cent (3-4%);
C2: three and a half to four and a half per cent (3.5-4.5%);
C3: four and five per cent (4-5%);
C4: four and a half to five and a half per cent (4.5-5.5%);
C5: five and six per cent (5-6%);
C6:  five and a half to six and a half per cent (5.5-6.5%);
C7: six and seven per cent (6-7%);
C8: six and a half to seven and a half percent (6.5-7.5%);
C9: seven and eight per cent (7-8%);

279

ANNUAL REPORT NIBC BANK N.V. | 2007



C10: seven and a half to eight and a half per cent (7.5-.8.5%);
C11: eight and nine per cent (8-9%);
C12: eight and a half to nine and a half per cent (8.5-9.5%);
D1: three and four per cent (34%);
D2: three and a half to four and a half per cent (3.5-4.5%);
D3: four and five per cent (4-5%);
D4: four and a half to five and a half per cent (4.5-5.5%);
D5: five and six percent (5-6%);
D6: five and a half to six and a half per cent (5.5-6.5%);
D7: six and seven percent (6-7%);
D8: six and a half to seven and a half per cent (6.5-7.5%);
D9: seven and eight per cent; (7-8%)
D10: seven and a half to eight and a half per cent (7.5-8.5%);
D11: eight and nine per cent (8-9%);
D12: eight and a half to nine and a half per cent (8.5%-9.5%).

 c The fixed or floating interest rate as well as the increase or reduction meant in b. are 
determined by the Board of Managing Directors in relation to prevailing market conditions. 
The fixed or floating interest rate, as applicable, must be an interest rate which is commonly 
used in the market, determined every working day and published on Reuters, Bloomberg 
and / or Telerate or otherwise easily verifiable for shareholders of the Company, The interest 
rate and the increase or reduction may differ per series of preference shares B, C and D.

4a The dividend – expressed as a percentage of the nominal amount paid up on each share of 
preference shares E in United States Dollars increased by the share premium paid on each 
share E in United States Dollars – which accrues to each holder of preference shares of 
series E is a percentage related to the United States Dollar interest swap for a period as 
described hereafter (the ‘Fixed Dividend Period’) in this subclause, calculated and 
established in the manner as described hereafter in this subclause, without prejudice to 
the provisions of E below. 

 b For each of the series of preference shares E below the Fixed Dividend Period is the period 
as mentioned next to the relevant series;
(i) Series E1 and E7: ten years;
(ii) Series E2and E8: eleven years;
(iii) Series E3and E9: twelve years;
(iv) Series E4 and El0: thirteen years;
(v) Series E5 and Ell: fourteen years; and
(vi) Series E6 and E12: fifteen years,

 whereby the Fixed Dividend Period for the preference shares of a series E (‘Tier-I 
Preference Shares E’) shall be reduced if such preference shares are issued upon conversion 
of notes which the Dutch Central Bank regards as forming part of the Tier-Icapital of the 
Company (‘Tier-I Notes’) – in that case the Fixed Dividend Period shall be the period 
remaining after deduction of 
(a)  the period during which the Tier-I Notes, failing conversion or redemption or a 

similar event, would have carried a fixed rate interest according to their terms; 
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(b)  the period from date of issue of the Tier-I Notes until date of conversion of the Tier-I 
Notes into Tier-I PreferenceShares E.

 c The calculation of the dividend percentage for preference shares E (other than Tier-I 
Preference Shares E) of a series is done by taking the rate of the dollar denominated interest 
swap as published on Bloomberg page(s) IRSB «GO», 18«GO», page 1, under column ASK 
(the ‘Bloomberg Rate’), for the relevant period, at eleven hundred hours (11.00 am) London 
time, two London banking days (as described hereafter) before the day of first issuance of 
the preference shares E of the relevant series or the day when the dividend percentage is 
adapted or the latest time preceding the time of eleven hundred hours (11.00 am), or the 
Bloomberg page(s) replacing the page(s) mentioned and whereby the dividend percentage 
shall be equal to this relevant rate, increased or decreased by an adjustment amount of not 
more than three hundred (300) basis points (3%), depending on the then current market 
situation, by means of a resolution of the Board of Managing Directors with the approval of 
the Board of Supervisory Directors, whereby the adjustment amount may differ from one 
series to another. The calculation of the dividend percentage for Tier-I Preference Shares E 
of a series is done by taking the Bloomberg Rate, for the relevant period, at eleven hundred 
hours (11.00 am) London time, two London banking days (as described hereafter) before 
the day of issuance of the relevant Tier-I Notes (which are converted into the relevant Tier-I 
Preference Shares E) or the day when the dividend percentage is adapted or the latest time 
preceding the time of eleven hundred hours (11.00 am), or the Bloomberg page(s) replacing 
the page(s) mentioned, and whereby the dividend percentage shall be equal to this relevant 
rate, increased or decreased by an adjustment amount of not more than three hundred 
(300) basis points (3%), depending on the then current market situation, by means of a 
resolution of the Board of Managing Directors with the approval of the Board of 
Supervisory Directors, whereby the adjustment amount may differ from one series to another.  
For the application of the above a London banking day is each day on which transactions 
are cleared in United States Dollars in the interbank London market. For the calculation of 
the dividend to be paid in respect of a certain period of time the annual dividend basis shall 
be multiplied by a fraction of which the numerator is the number of days in the relevant 
period (whereby every past month is counted as thirty (30) days) and the denominator is 
three hundred sixty (360).

 d For the first time on the last day of the Fixed Dividend Period, for preference shares E other 
than Tier-I Preference Shares E, respectively, for Tier-I Preference Shares E, for the first 
time on the latest date on which the interest rate was amended pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of the relevant Tier-I Notes (which are converted into the relevant Tier-I 
Preference Shares E), and thereafter (for all preference shares E) each three months 
thereafter (a ‘Dividend Reset Date’), the dividend percentage of all preference shares E of 
the relevant series will be adapted to the rate for United States Dollar deposits with a three 
month maturity, as published on the DOW Jones Money line Telerate Service page 3750 
(the ‘Tolerate LIBOR Page’) at eleven hundred hours (11.00 am) London time, two London 
banking days before a Dividend Reset Date, and whereby the rate may be increased or 
decreased by an adjustment amount of not more than three hundred (300) basis points 
(3%), depending on the then current market situation, by means of a resolution of the 
Board of Managing Directors with the approval of the Board of Supervisory Directors, 
whereby the adjustment amount may differ from one series to another. LIBOR means 
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London Interbank Offered Rate. If as a result of the rate not being available on this page 
of the Telerate LIBOR page no dividend percentage can be set in accordance with the 
preceding sentences, the rate will be established on the basis of the rate for deposits in 
United States Dollars as offered by Merrill Lynch International, Goldman Sachs 
International, Deutsche Bank AG London and J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd, (the ‘Reference 
Banks’) at eleven hundred hours (11.00 am) London time, two London banking days before 
a Dividend Reset Date and for an amount equal to the nominal amount of the relevant 
series of preference shares E increased with the amount paid up on these shares as share 
premium. A request will be made to the main office of the Reference Banks to indicate the 
rate. If at least two of such rates are being provided, the rate for the relevant Dividend Reset 
Date shall be the arithmetic mean of those rates. If less than two such rates are being 
provided, the rate for the relevant Dividend Reset Date will be the arithmetic mean of the 
rates provided by Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Goldman, 
Sachs & Co, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc and JP Morgan Securities Inc, at eleven hundred 
hours (11.00 am) New York City time, United States of America, at the relevant Dividend 
Reset Date for United States Dollar loans to prominent European banks for a period of 
three months starting on the day of the relevant Dividend Reset Date and for an amount 
equal to the nominal value of the relevant series of preference shares E increased by the 
share premium amount paid on the shares. In case one or more of the Reference Banks has 
(i) transferred offering of such rates to another financial institution then this financial 

institution will take the place of the bank which has transferred these activities, or 
(ii)  stopped providing such rates, then one of the following banks will take the place of 

this bank which has stopped these activities, in the following order:
1. ABN Amro Bank. N.V.;
2. Lehman Brothers International (Europe);
3. Bear, Stearns International Limited;
4. Citigroup Global Markets Limited;
5. Barclays Bank Plc;
6. UBS Limited;
7. Morgan Stanley & Co International Limited;
8. Nomura International Plc;
9. BNP Paris, and
10. Credit Suisse First Boston (Europe) Limited.

 The rate referenced in the preceding sentences may be increased or decreased as referenced 
at the end of the first sentence of this paragraph d. For the calculation of the dividend to be 
paid in respect of a certain period of time the annual dividend basis shall be multiplied by a 
fraction of which the numerator is the number of days in the relevant financial year and the 
denominator is three hundred sixty (360).

 e All payment of dividends on preference shares in series E1 through E6 shall be made 
without withholding tax or other levies, which are imposed by any part of Dutch 
authorities, unless such withholding is required by statute. In case such withholding is 
required by statute, the Company will make additional payments so that the holders of the 
preference shares of series E1 through E6 shall receive net amounts which are equal to the 
amounts they would have received if no taxes or levies had been withheld, taking into 
acount the next sebtence. The Board of Managing Directors may with the approval of the 
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Board of Supervisory Directors resolve upon further conditions for making these additional 
payments.

5 The dividend to which each holder of preference shares of the series B through E is entitled 
is calculated on the basis of the number of days in respect of which the distribution is made.

6 If in any year the General Meeting determines that dividends will be distributed on the 
preference shares of the series B through E, but the profits do not or not completely permit 
the distributions as referred to in the preceding paragraphs, the amount permitted for the 
distribution shall be ditributed to the holders of preference shares of the series B through E, 
in proportion to the amounts to which they are then entitled.

7 Of any amount which remains after application of the preceding provisions of this Article, 
the Board of Managing Directors will, with the approval of the Board of Supervisory 
Directors, reserve as much as it deems necessary into the company reserves (statutair 
reservefonds) or the free reserves, on the understanding that the Board of Managing 
Directors cannot in any year reserve into the company reserves, if in that year the General 
Meeting does not resolve to distribute or cannot distribute dividends on the preference 
shares of the series B through E. No distributions to shareholders can be made from the 
company reserves. To the extent profits are not being reserved in application of the 
preceding sub-clause, profits are at the disposal of the General Meeting for reservation into 
the free reserves or for distribution, on the understanding that 
(i)  distributions on shares not fully paid up shall be determined by having regard to the 

nominal amount paid up on such shares and 
(ii) the General Meeting cannot in any year resolve to distribute dividends on ordinary 

shares, if in that year it does not resolve to distribute or cannot distribute the full 
amount of dividends on the preference shares of the series B through E.

8 The Company may only make distributions to shareholders and other persons entitled to 
distributable profits to the extent that its equity exceeds the total amount of its issued and 
called up share capital and the reserves to be maintained pursuant to the law.

9 A loss may only be discharged against reserves to be maintened by law, to the extent the law 
allows such discharge.
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investor relations

CoRpoRatE CalEndER 2008

Publication Q1 results 2008 16 May

Publication Q2 results 2008 15 August

Publication Q3 results 2008 14 November

Investor Relations contact details
To receive press releases and other NIBC news, please subscribe to the e-mail service by 
sending an e-mail to corporate.communications@nibc.com.
Investor Relations & Corporate Communications
Address PO Box 380, 2501 BH The Hague
Telephone +31 (0) 70 342 5625
Fax +31 (0) 70 344 9129
E-mail corporate.communications@nibc.com
Internet www.nibc.com

Sources of information
You can find out more about NIBC from the sources shown below.
Annual Report 2007 This report is available in English.
Annual Review 2007 This report is available in English.
Quarterly Results Releases These releases are available in English and Dutch.
How to order reports  The above-mentioned publications can be downloaded from
 www.nibc.com. Where available, printed copies can be ordered 
 by e-mail: corporate.communications@nibc.com

Information tools for investors and analysts
Website  Our website at www.nibc.com offers a wide range of 
 information about NIBC, financial information, corporate
 information, corporate calendar and press releases.  
 The information on the website is available in English.
Results presentations   Senior management presents NIBC’s annual and half-year results
 These presentations are broadcasted live over the internet and 
 can be downloaded on demand at www.nibc.com
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Disclaimer

Certain of the statements contained in this Annual Report are statements of future expectations and other forward-looking 

statements. These expectations are based on management’s current views and assumptions and involve known and unknown risks and 

uncertainties.  Actual results, performance or events may differ from those in such statements due to, among other things, (i) general 

economic conditions including persistency near absence of liquidity in credit markets, in particular in NIBC’s core and niche markets, 

(ii) performance of financial markets, including developing markets, (iii) persistency levels, (iv) interest rate levels, (v) credit spread 

levels, (vi) currency exchange rates, (vii) general competitive factors, (viii) general changes in the valuation of assets (ix) changes in law 

and regulations, and (x) changes in policies of governments and / or regulatory authorities. NIBC assumes no obligation to update any 

forward-looking information contained in this document.
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